
 

 High Peak Borough Council 

 
 
 

THE EXECUTIVE AGENDA 
 

You can view the 
agenda online by using 
a smart phone camera 
and scanning the code 
below: 

 
 

Date: 
 

Thursday, 5 August 2021 

Time: 
 

6.00 pm 

Venue: 
 

The Board Room, Pavilion Gardens, Buxton 

28 July 2021 
 

 

PART 1 

1. Apologies for absence  

2. Declarations of Interest  

 i) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
ii) Other Interests 

 
 

3. To approve the minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 8) 

4. Fourth Quarter Financial, Procurement & Performance Review 2020/21 (Pages 9 - 
50) 

5. Update on Air Quality Monitoring (Pages 51 - 272) 

6. Anti-Social Behaviour (Pages 273 - 324) 

7. To resolve that the public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following 
items because there may be disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.  

PART 2 

8. To approve the exempt minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 325 - 326) 

 (Paragraph 1, 3, 4, 5 - Information relating to any individual.  
Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 
person (including the authority holding that information)  
Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated 
consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter 
arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or 
office holders under the authority.  
Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could 
be maintained in legal proceedings. ) 

 

Public Document Pack



 

9. Lift Replacement Procurement (Pages 327 - 334) 

 (Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information) ) 
 

10. Application for write off of non- recoverable debts (Pages 335 - 338) 

 (Paragraph 7 - Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in 
connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime. ) 
 

 
MARK TRILLO 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND MONITORING OFFICER 
 

Membership of The Executive 
Councillor A McKeown (Chair) Councillor D Greenhalgh (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor A Barrow Councillor F Sloman 
Councillor J Todd  

 



 
 

 

 
THE EXECUTIVE 

 
Meeting: Thursday, 1 July 2021 at 6.00 pm in The Octagon Lounge, Pavilion Gardens, 

Buxton 
 

Present: Councillor A McKeown (Chair)   
 

 Councillors A Barrow, D Greenhalgh and J Todd 
 
Councillor T Ashton was also in attendance. 
 

 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors F Sloman 
 

22/1 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
(Agenda Item 2) 
 
There were no declarations made. 
 

22/2 TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
(Agenda Item 3) 
 
RESOLVED:  
 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on 1 April 2021 be 
approved as a correct record.  
 

22/3 CLIMATE CHANGE PLAN (PART 1) 
(Agenda Item 4) 
 
The report presented the Council’s 2021/22 Climate Change Plan (Part 1) 
‘Towards Carbon Neutrality 2030’. 
 
Options considered: 
 
1. To approve the Climate Change Plan (Part 1). 

 
2. To amend or delay approval of the draft Climate Change Plan (Part1) 

pending further development (Not recommended – by its nature the Plan 
needed to be dynamic with further actions to be developed and included 
as more analysis is completed and in response to opportunities such as 
may arise from new Government policy initiatives). 

 
RESOLVED: 

 
1. That the 2021/22 Climate Change Plan (Part 1) be approved subject to 

comments received at the next Climate Change Working Group which 
the Executive Councillor for Climate Change will consider for inclusion in 
the Plan. 

 

 High Peak Borough Council 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



The Executive 
Thursday, 1 July 2021 

 

 
 

2. That the Executive Councillor for Climate Change be approved to make 
any subsequent amendments and additions to part one of the plan, 
subject to agreement at the Climate Change Working Group. 

 
22/4 PARKS STRATEGY 

(Agenda Item 5) 
 
The report presented documents which delivered on the corporate priority of 
Develop a Parks Development Plan as part of Aim 4 of the Council’s 2019-
2023 Corporate Plan to protect and improve the environment, including 
responding to the climate change emergency. The report was considered by 
the Community Select Committee on 16 June 2021. 
 
Options considered: 
 

There were three options available to the Council: 
 
1. To recommend that the Executive approve the documents within the scope of 

this report to help deliver on Aim 4 of the Council’s 2019-2023 Corporate Plan 
which sets out an aspiration to protect and improve the environment, including 
responding to the climate change emergency. (Recommended) 

2. Option to review areas of the proposed documents where there is concern or 
changes required with these documents brought back to committee for further 
review at a later stage. (Not Recommended) 

3. Do nothing (Not Recommended) 
 
RESOLVED: 

 
1. That the new Parks Strategy and associated Park Management Plans be 

approved. 
 

2. That the proposed introduction of a Parks Development Fund be approved. 

 
3. That the Play and Outdoor Sports Facilities Investment and Delivery Plan be 

approved. 

 
22/5 COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP REVIEW AND REFRESHED 

COMMUNITY SAFETY STRATEGY 
(Agenda Item 6) 
 
The Borough Council was required by statute to work in partnership with 
other listed organisations to tackle community safety problems in the High 
Peak. The Council’s corporate plan committed the Council to ‘review the 
Community Safety Strategy to ensure that the Council was supportive in 
fighting crime and anti social behaviour’. This report delivers that 
commitment.  The report was considered by the Community Select 
Committee on 16 June 2021. 
 
Options considered: 
 

None identified. 
 
 
 
 Page 4



The Executive 
Thursday, 1 July 2021 

 

 
 

RESOLVED: 

 
1. That the creation of a Strategy Group that focuses just on High Peak be 

approved. 
 

2. That the Community Safety Partnership’s plan be noted. 
 
3. That the contributions that the Council makes towards community safety 

be noted. 
 

22/6 WORKING IN PARTNERSHIP TO DELIVER AIM 1 OF THE CORPORATE 
PLAN 
(Agenda Item 7) 
 
The Council’s Corporate Plan identified effective relationships with strategic 
partners as a key objective. The report described how the Council worked in 
partnership to deliver Aim 1 of the Corporate Plan and made 
recommendations for further developing partnership working.  The report 
was considered by the Community Select Committee on 16 June 2021. 
 
Options considered: 
 

Working in partnership with community, voluntary and partner groups and 
organisations was an essential part of the Council’s work and the report 
looked at how we can strengthen those arrangements. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 
1. That the principles at 11.3 for partnership working that are set out in the 

report be adopted. 
 

2. That each key partnership be invited annually to the relevant Select 
Committee to present an overview of activity. 

 
3. Councillors should be provided with regular updates on work in 

partnership with an emphasis on how this has helped to achieve the 
Council’s corporate objectives. 
 

4. That the appointment of a representative on the Place Alliance be 
formally agreed, and added to list of outside body appointments. 

 
5. That training for Officers and Elected Members be arranged to further 

develop the tools and practical approaches needed for managing 
relationships and effective partnership working.  

 
6. That officers continue discussions with key partners to review and further 

strengthen partnership working. 
 

22/7 PURCHASE OF ADDITIONAL STOCK TO THE HRA 
(Agenda Item 8) 
 
The purpose of the report was to propose a policy methodology to enable 
the Council to purchase additional housing stock to the Housing Revenue Page 5



The Executive 
Thursday, 1 July 2021 

 

 
 

Account (HRA).  This included properties previously sold under the Right to 
Buy, former Council properties advertised on the open market and bespoke 
purchase of properties for families with complex needs. The report was 
considered by the Corporate Select Committee on 28 June 2021. 
 
Options considered: 
 
There were two options:- 
 

 To approve the policy methodology and delegated decision making to 
enable the timely purchase of appropriate additional stock to the HRA 
(recommended) 

 

 Not to approve – each individual property will need separate reporting 
and decision making, delaying the process and making the Council less 
attractive to vendors, potentially preventing the purchase of appropriate 
stock (not recommended). 

 
RESOLVED: 

 
1. That the policy methodology be agreed. 
 
2. That approval of purchasing suitable properties be delegated to the 

Executive Director (Finance & Customer Services), in liaison with the 
Executive Councillor for Housing & Licensing and Executive Councillor 
for Corporate Services & Finance, with a maximum net expenditure of 
£300,000.  

 
3. That prior to formal appointment of the Executive Director (Finance & 

Customer Services), it be approved that delegation will be to the 
Executive Director & Monitoring Officer and Interim Executive Director & 
S151 Officer. 

 
22/8 APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES 

(Agenda Item 9) 
 
The purpose of the report was to appoint councillors to Outside Bodies. 
 
Options considered: 
 
Statutory guidance for authorities operating executive arrangements, states that 
the Executive should make appointments to all those outside bodies whose 
functions are executive functions.  All other appointments should be made by 
Council.  Appendix A lists the organisations for which representatives are 
appointed. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 
1. That councillors be appointed to the various outside bodies, as detailed 

in Appendix A to the report. 
 
2. That in line with the discussion as part of the working in partnership 

agenda item, and the potential impact of ICS arrangements that 
Page 6



The Executive 
Thursday, 1 July 2021 

 

 
 

consideration of a representative for the High Peak Alliance will be 
deferred to a later date. 

 
 

22/9 TO RESOLVE THAT THE PUBLIC AND PRESS BE EXCLUDED FROM 
THE MEETING FOR THE FOLLOWING ITEMS BECAUSE THERE MAY BE 
DISCLOSURE TO THEM OF EXEMPT INFORMATION AS DEFINED IN 
PART 1 OF SCHEDULE 12A OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972. 
(Agenda Item 10) 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following 
items because there may be disclosure to them of exempt information as 
defined in Part I of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

22/10 TO APPROVE THE EXEMPT MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
(Agenda Item 11) 
 
RESOLVED:  
 
That the exempt minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on 1 April 
2021 be approved as a correct record.  
 

22/11 GLOSSOP TOWN HALL COMPLEX UPDATE 
(Agenda Item 12) 
 
The Executive approved a report that provided an on the Glossop Halls 
project, including the renovation of the Glossop Market Hall and Municipal 
Buildings’ roof, and to outline the Phase 2 works including costings and the 
scope/schedule of works to renovate the buildings to bring them back into 
use.   
 
 
The meeting concluded at 6.34 pm 
 
 
 
 
 
CHAIRMAN 

 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

 
 

HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

The Executive 
 

5 August 2021 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Appendices Attached 

 Appendix A – 2020/21 – Fourth Quarter Financial Report 

 Appendix B – 2020/21 – Fourth Quarter Procurement Report  

 Appendix C – 2020/21 – Fourth Quarter Performance Report 

 Appendix D – 2020/21 – Fourth Quarter (Write Offs) – CONFIDENTIAL  
 
 
1. Reason for the Report  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform members of the Council’s overall 

performance and financial position for the period ended 31st March (“Fourth 
Quarter 2020/21”) 

 
2. Recommendations 

2.1 It is recommended that the Executive:  
 

 Note the Fourth Quarter 2020/21 financial, procurement and performance 
position detailed in Appendices A, B and C and summarised at 3.3 of this 
covering report; and 

 Approves the allocation of the surplus on the General Fund Revenue 
Account to reserves as explained in Appendix A (paragraph 2.11) 

 Approves the proposal to carry forward unspent revenue budget as 
described in Appendix A (Paragraph 2.14) 

 Approves the proposals to carry forward unspent capital budget as set out in 
Appendix A (Paragraph 6.5 and 7.5) 

 Approves the write offs set out in Appendix D  
 
 
 

TITLE: Fourth Quarter Financial, Procurement & 
Performance Review 2020/21 

 
EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Cllr Alan Barrow – Executive Councillor for 

Corporate Services and Finance 
  
CONTACT OFFICERS: Keith Pointon – Head of Finance  

Vanessa Higgins – Information Business Partner 
   
WARDS INVOLVED:  Non-Specific 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4

SMDC%20-%20Q4%20(Prov%20Out)%2011-12%20App%20A%20(11-07-12).doc
SMDC%20-%20Q4%20(Prov%20Out)%2011-12%20App%20B%20(11-07-12).doc
SMDC%20-%20Q4%20(Prov%20Out)%2011-12%20App%20C%20(11-07-12).doc


 2 

 
 
 
 

3. Executive Summary 
 
3.1 This report summarises the Council’s performance and financial position after 

considering service activity up to the end of the Fourth Quarter (i.e. 31st 
March 2021).  

 
3.2 Detailed analysis is provided in Appendix A (Finance), Appendix B 

(Procurement) & Appendix C (Performance). 
 
3.3 The position can be summarised as follows: 
 

Subject Headline Reference 

Finance The Finance headlines for the Fourth Quarter are: 
Performance against Budget 

 At the Quarter Four stage the General Fund provisional outturn for 
2020/21 is an underspend of £4,921,342 (including £3,360,640 of 
s31 grants, in respect of Business Rates reliefs, received in advance 
to be applied in 2021/22) 

Efficiency Programme 

 At Quarter 4 £210,000 in savings have been achieved against the 
2020/21 revised efficiency target of £257,000 (General Fund)  

Housing Revenue Account 

 The Housing Revenue Account is in surplus (against budget) by 
£2,240,494 at the Quarter Four (provisional outturn) stage. 

Capital Programme 

 The General Fund Capital Programme budget for 2020/21 as 
revised is £2.7 million.  The outturn is £2.8 million, representing an 
overspend of £0.12 million at year end. 

 The HRA Programme for 2020/21 as revised is £3.97 million.  The 
outturn is £3.73 million which represents a £0.25 million 
underspend. 

Treasury Management 

 Cash investments held at 31st March 2021 totalled £28.4 million. 

 Council borrowing at 31st March 2021 totalled £66.8 million. 

 The Council’s net interest general fund budget is in surplus by 
£32,306 with a £7,984 deficit on the HRA 

Revenue Collection 

 97.83% of Council Tax was collected by 31st March 2021, compared 
to 98.41% for the same period last year. 

 98.11% of Business Rates was collected by 31st March 2021 
compared with 98.39% for the same period last year. 

 At the end of Quarter Four the value of sundry debt over 60 days old 
was £182,978 which compares to £162,981 at 31st March 2020 

Appendix A 

Procurement The Procurement headlines for the Fourth Quarter are: 

 14 procurement activities were completed  

 The Procurement forward plan includes 88 procurement activities for 
completion/start in 2021/22 (either HPBC only or joint) 

 At the 31st March 2021, 62% of procurement activity undertaken was 
on the forward plan and the Council paid 95% of its invoices within 
30 days 

Appendix B  

Page 10



 3 

Performance The Performance headlines for the Fourth Quarter are: 

 67% of the key performance indicators met target, with 41% of 
measures performing  better than last year 

 The Council received 86 complaints, 328 comments and 174 
compliments in the Fourth Quarter.  

 

Appendix C 

 
4.       How this Report Links to Corporate Priorities  
 
4.1 The successful delivery of all corporate priorities is dependent upon the 

effective management of performance and financial resources, which is the 
subject of this report. 

 
5.       Options and Analysis 
 
5.1 Detailed Analysis is contained within the appendices 

 
6. Implications 
 
6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 

None 
 

6.2 Workforce 
None 
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's Equality 
and Diversity policies. 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 
There are substantial financial considerations contained throughout the 
report. 

 
6.5 Legal 

None 
 

6.6 Sustainability 
None 
 

6.7 External Consultation 
None 

 
6.8       Risk Assessment 

There are a number of risks to the financial position presented, which are 
identified and explained in the financial report attached at Appendix A. 
 

JOHN BETTS 
Interim Executive Director Finance and Revenues & Benefits 

 

Page 11



 4 

Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Location Contact details 

 
Appendices A-C 

 
 

 
Keith Pointon 
01538 395400 Ext. 4193 
Vanessa Higgins  
01538 395400 Ext. 4195 
 
 

 

Page 12



1 
 

 
 

 
 

APPENDIX A 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2020/21       
Fourth Quarter 

(Provisional 
Outturn) 
Financial 
Review 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 13



2 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

1. Background and Introduction  

 

1.1. In accordance with the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules and recommended 
good practice, a quarterly financial report is presented to members. This is the 
fourth and final such report for 2020/21. 

 

1.2. The report summarises overall financial performance for 2020/21 with particular 
emphasis on the key sources of financial risk to the Council. Specific 
considerations are as follows: 

 

 General Fund Revenue Account (Section 2) – considers budgetary 
performance on the General Account by looking at variations in income and 
expenditure and the funding received by the Council.  

 

 Alliance Environmental Services (Section 3) – highlights the performance of 
the Council’s Joint Venture Company providing Waste and Fleet services. 
 

 Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme (Section 4) – considers 
progress in achieving the efficiency and rationalisation savings forecast.  

 

 Housing Revenue Account (Section 5) – highlights the budgetary position in 

respect of the operation of the Council’s housing stock. 

 

 General Fund Capital Programme (Section 6) – provides an update to 

Members on progress against the Council’s General Fund capital plans. 

 

 HRA Capital Programme (Section 7) – provides an update to Members on 

progress against the Council’s HRA capital plans. 
 

 Treasury Management (Section 8) – sets out the key statistics in terms of 
investments and borrowings. 

 

 Revenue Collection (Section 9) – considers progress-to-date in collecting the 
Council Tax, Business Rates and Sundry Debts. 

 

Page 14



3 
 

2. General Fund Revenue Account 

 

2.1. This section of the report considers the financial performance of the General 
Fund Revenue Account against budget by looking at variations in income and 
expenditure and funding received by the Council. 

Service (with staff*) 
2020/21 
Budget 

Provisional 
Outturn 
2020/21 

Variance 

Contributi
on to / 

(Use of) 
Earmarked 
Reserves 

Net 
Variance 

  £ £ £ £ £ 

Alliance Leadership Team 379,720 356,727 (22,993) - (22,993) 

Audit 98,920 94,970 (3,950) - (3,950) 

ICT 565,210 605,958 40,748 (25,000) 15,748 

Human Resources 69,480 46,623 (22,857) - (22,857) 

Member Services 195,220 148,490 (46,730) - (46,730) 

Property Services 379,680 897,288 517,608 - 517,608 

Benefits 201,950 421,169 219,219 (39,057) 180,162 

Planning Applications 118,950 217,829 98,879 (800) 98,079 

Building Control 56,140 5,931 (50,209) - (50,209) 

Customer Services 501,040 424,461 (76,579) - (76,579) 

Legal Services 203,870 201,097 (2,773) - (2,773) 

Electoral Services 59,470 49,189 (10,281) (8,793) (19,074) 

Licensing and Land Charges (317,480) (273,335) 44,145 - 44,145 

Regeneration 474,400 612,216 137,816 (121,840) 15,976 

Communities and Cultural 481,610 364,419 (117,191) 81,109 (38,082) 

Housing Strategy** 67,930 (46,567) (114,497) 23,842 (90,655) 

Transformation 195,620 187,363 (8,257) - (8,257) 

Community Safety and Enforcement 109,580 58,326 (51,254) - (51,254) 

Finance Income & Procurement 382,330 397,879 15,549 - 15,549 

Corporate Finance* 1,625,420 547,631 (1,077,789) - (1,077,789) 

Waste Collection 2,048,060 2,006,504 (41,556) 48,428 6,872 

Street Scene 409,850 429,413 19,563 (60) 19,503 

Leisure Services 146,770 1,170,259 1,023,489 2,352 1,025,841 

Horticulture 334,420 293,516 (50,904) (780) (51,684) 

Environmental Health 448,370 373,361 (75,009) - (75,009) 

       

Net Total of Services 9,248,530 9,590,717 344,187 - 303,588 

        

Net Interest 1,679,940 1,647,634 (32,306)  (32,306) 

  10,926,470 11,238,351 311,881 (40,599) 271,282 

Funding:       

- external (10,951,820) (14,507,719) (3,555,899) 3,360,640 (195,259) 

- reserves contribution to/(from)      

     general contingency 138,290 138,290 - - - 

     use of carry forward from 19/20 (24,000) (24,000) - - - 

     earmarked (88,940) (40,599) 48,341 40,599 88,940 

- covid 19 support  (1,725,665) (1,725,665)  (1,725,665) 

      

Projected (Surplus)/Deficit - (4,921,342) (4,921,342) 3,360,640 (1,560,702) 

          

* In previous quarters Staff costs were budgeted and recorded in Finance & Procurement.  They were considered a corporate 
resource to be the main source of savings realised by the Authority’s Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme, However to 
show the true use of resources by individual services it is necessary to include the actual staff  costs incurred.  Therefore the 
Quarter Four provisional outturn position includes the actual staff costs (and matching budgets) at the service level. 

  ** The Council’s Housing management costs are charged to the Housing Revenue Account 

Page 15



4 
 

 
2.2. A revenue budget of £10,902,470 was set for 2020/21.  In accordance with 

Financial Procedure Rules, the roll forward of £24,000 in unused budgets from 

2019/20 has been authorised. 
 

Corporate Finance (£6,000): relating to completion of risk management work 

around the safeguarding of the Buxton Spring Water source.  

Assets (£18,000): in respect of works to Whaley Bridge War Memorial. 

 

This brought the 2020/21 budget to £10,926,470. 

 
2.3. The table above shows how this budget has been allocated to services. 

 
2.4. The Q4 provisional outturn on the General Fund Revenue Account for 2020/21 is 

£6,005,128.  This represents a surplus for the year of £4,921,342.  
 
2.5. There are seven service areas of significant underspend (>£50,000): 

 

 Building Control (£50,209 underspend); service was overbudgeted for the 
existing delivery model and level of activity.  
 

 Customer Services (£76,579 underspend); Changes in working practices 
brought on by the pandemic built on existing initiatives to reduce spend across 
a number of budget heads including post and print.  

 

 Housing Strategy (£90,655 underspend); Carelink has contributed £73,000 
to this underspend as a result of increased income including that arising from 
the first full year of its CCTV monitoring service. Third party funding of the 
Homelessness service was above expectations generating an in year 
operating surplus of £41,000 allowing £24,000 to be earmarked to support 
future years.  

 

 Community Safety & Enforcement (£51,254 underspend); Income accruing 
to the Clean & Green Team, in relation to abandoned vehicles, brought that 
service in £15,000 underspent.  The CCTV service achieved a £35,000 saving 
against its repair budget as a consequence of capital investment in new 
equipment. 

 

 Corporate Finance (£1,077,789 underspend); Corporate Finance has been 
the recipient of Government funding to support the administration costs 
incurred by the Borough issuing Covid 19 grants on their behalf. The time and 
effort involved was spread across the Authority’s workforce so the credits have 
been taken at the Corporate level, with £413,300 received in relation to 
Business Support Grants and £24,762 in regard to Self-Isolation.  Changes in 
the Authority’s capital funding requirements have led to the £298,810 Minimum 
Revenue Provision budget being showing as underspent.  Performance 
against centrally held budgets for staff, inflation and efficiencies generated the 
remaining underspend. One further item of note within this service is the 
Buxton Water income shortfall (£120,000) arising out of the detrimental effects 
of the pandemic on bottled water sales during the year. 

Page 16



5 
 

 Horticulture (£51,684 underspend); Service income levels have been higher 
than anticipated. 

 

 Environmental Health (£75,009 underspend); The response to Covid-19 has 
significantly impacted the nature and volume of work carried out in this 
service, as it was involved in both Track and Trace and Enforcement.  It did 
receive third party funding in 2020/21 totalling some £99,818.  However much 
of the work and costs have occurred in 2021/22 generating a £60,000 in-year 
surplus.  A further £15,000 surplus was generated within the Housing Strategy 
function as a result of a Disabled Facilities Grant being repaid.  
  

 
2.6. There are four service areas of significant overspends (>£50,000). 

 

 Property (£517,608 overspend); Covid-19 has impacted this service 
significantly in two areas.  Car parking where a £487,000 reduction in net 
income has resulted and Public Conveniences with additional cleaning costs 
causing a £95,000 overspend.   
 

 Benefits (£180,162 overspend); As a result of the pandemic a £122,000 bad 
debt provision was charged to the service in relation to the higher likelihood 
that historically overpaid benefits would not be recovered.  The remaining 
overspend reflects the levels of subsidy accruing against the benefits paid in 
the year. 
 

 Planning (£98,079 overspend); Underspends across a number of budget 
heads partially offset a £144,000 shortfall in income from planning 
applications.  

 
 

 Leisure (£1,025,841 overspend); The pandemic has seen the closure and 
curtailment of leisure facilities and activities significantly impacting the 
council’s leisure contractor. The additional in-year cost consequence to the 
authority of providing financial support to the contractor was £601,000 for 
leisure centre provision and £427,000 in regard to Pavilion Gardens. 

 

2.7. The £32,306 underspend on net interest costs is detailed in section 8. 
 

 

2.8. The level of funding for the year is £5,233,223 above that budgeted due to the 
following: 
 

Business Rates (£3,555,899): 
 

 The Council received £3,360,640 in additional S31 grants in the year to 
compensate for the award of Extended Retail Relief of 100% (33% was 
forecast in the budget based on the best knowledge at the time); and 
Nursery Discount (which was not anticipated in the budget). Both of these 
increases to relief were announced by the government in response to the 
Covid-19 situation. Accounting practice dictates that these grants are 
treated as general fund revenue in the year. However, the extended reliefs 
impact the Collection Fund by increasing the deficit in the year, which will 

Page 17



6 
 

need to be distributed in future years, therefore this additional funding 
needs to be earmarked to accommodate this and cannot be used to 
support other services. 
 

 The Business Rates Retention funding in the year also benefits by £99,330 
from an over accrued commitment of levy payable to the Derbyshire 
Business Rates Pool for 2019/20 which was based on best estimates 
available at the time.  
 

 The levy payable to the Derbyshire Business Rates Pool for 2020/21 is 
currently forecast £95,929 lower than the budgeted amount, further 
increasing the business rates funding for the year. It should be noted that 
this is only based on estimates as the amount due is calculated on the 
performance of all members of the Pool and the necessary information is 
not yet available to produce a final figure because of national delays and 
extensions to the Business Rates reporting requirements. Any variance to 
the actual figure will therefore be included in future year’s business rates 
funding outturn. 

 
 
Use of Reserves (£48,341) 
 

 The original budget for 2020/21 assumed a contribution of £114,290 into 
general fund contingency and a £88,940 use of earmarked reserves 
 

 The outturn reported in table 2.1 assumes that the £114,290 contribution to 
contingency reserves included in the 2020/21 budget was made.   In 
practice however owing to the general fund surplus generated in the year 
the actual contribution to reserves was £5,035,632. 

 

 The £40,599 contribution to reserve reported in table 2.1 reflects that the 
Borough’s net use of earmarked reserves was £48,341 less than the 
£88,940 budgeted. 

 
Earmarked 
 

 ICT £25,000 use: monies drawn from reserve earmarked for IT infrastructure to 
cover costs of homeworking IT equipment. 

 

 Benefits £39,057 use: monies previously earmarked to address service budget 
pressures arising out of Housing Benefits reform have been used.  

 

 Planning Applications £800 use: Certain activities of the Arboriculture section 
have been part funded by drawing down on Section 106 monies previously 
received from Developers as part of their planning obligations.   

 

 Electoral Services £8,793 use: this includes the application in year of the 
£11,792 balance of grant previously received to fund the transition to Individual 

Page 18



7 
 

Electoral Registration. There has also been a £3,000 contribution to the 
Election Equalisation Reserve earmarked to meet costs of future elections. 

 

 Regeneration £121,840 use: 2020/21 saw the application of a number of the 
Borough’s earmarked reserves to support economic development projects.  
They included £26,900 from the Future High Streets pot, £49,900 of monies 
set aside in regard to Toddbrook and £45,000 from a Custom Build reserve. 

 

 Communities and Cultural £81,109 contribution: Grant received from 
Derbyshire County Council has been set aside for application in future years in 
accordance with the terms of the Local Strategic Partnership. 

 

 Housing Strategy £23,842 contribution: Third party funds received in-year are 
being set aside to support homelessness initiatives that will run into future 
years. 

 

 Waste Collection £48,428 contribution: The service saw an in year reduction 
against budgeted vehicle maintenance costs of £48,428 as it benefitted from 
having a younger fleet.  In the knowledge that these costs would increase as 
the fleet aged this money has been earmarked towards future year 
maintenance costs. 

 

 Street Scene £60 use: Certain activities have been part funded by drawing 
down on Section 106 monies previously received from Developers as part of 
their planning obligations.   

 

 Leisure Services £2,352 contribution: £20,000 has been drawn down from the 
Authority’s Future Leisure reserve to fund the cost of consultations carried out 
in the year.  Owing to Covid 19 restricting a number of leisure initiatives during 
2020/21 £22,352 has been placed into the Sport Active reserve for application 
in future years. 

 

 Horticulture £780 use: maintenance of certain sites across the Borough has 
been part funded by drawing down on Section 106 monies previously received 
from Developers as part of their planning obligations.   

 
 

  Covid 19 funding (£2,263,545) 
 
 

In response to the financial strain placed on local authorities by the pandemic the 
Government is providing financial support in the form of grants towards 
exceptional costs and compensation for loss of income.  This support amounted to 
£2,263,545 made up of the amounts below. 
 

Service Specific Costs Support: (£537,880) 

Page 19



8 
 

 
These grants were credited direct to Services and are included in their outturns for 
2020/21 as reported in Table 2.1 
 

 

 Business Grants Administration (£413,300 funding): 
This additional grant, credited to Corporate Finance, relates to the costs 
incurred administering the allocation of grants to Covid impacted 
businesses in the Borough. 
 

 Isolation Grants Administration (£24,762 funding): 
This funding, credited to Corporate Finance, relates to the costs 
incurred administering the allocation of Isolation grants to Covid 
impacted individuals in the Borough. 
 

 Enforcement Grant (£38,818 funding): 
This funding, credited to Environmental Health, relates to the costs 
incurred enforcing lock down requirements in the Borough. 
 

 Track and Trace (£61,000 funding): 
This funding from the County Council, credited to Environmental Health, 
is towards the Council’s responsibilities for local track and trace. 

 
 

General Costs Support: (£1,725,665) 
 
This represents funding provided to support all the Authorities activities and is shown 
as Covid Funding in Table 2.1. 

 

 General Support (£1,256,991 funding): 
The Council has received these monies to support its general activities 
as impacted by the pandemic.  
 
 

 Loss of Income (£465,750 funding): 
Councils were granted the facility to claim for up to 75% of net losses 
against budget for income streams that satisfy set criteria.  Based on a 
prudent interpretation of the guidance. 
 

 Council Tax Losses Support (£2,924 funding): 
Government made an in-year contribution against anticipated losses in 
Council Tax receipts. 

 
 
 

General Fund Revenue Reserves    
    
2.9     The provisional outturn for the year on the General Fund Revenue Account was a 

£4,921,342 surplus. 
 

2.10  The surplus generated is calculated inclusive of the £114,290 contribution into 
general reserves budgeted for in 2020/21.  Therefore, the Authority’s contingency 
reserves have increased overall by £5,035,632. 

Page 20



9 
 

 
Of this a new Business Rates earmarked reserve of £3,360,640 is to be created to 

match S31 grant income received to the future needs of the Collection Fund in 

2021/22. (see section 2.8) 

 

2.11 The Authority’s calculated minimum for its contingency reserve is £1,540,000.  A 
review of the Authority’s reserves has been performed to identify areas where 
earmarking for future projects was considered prudent while maintaining a 
satisfactory level for contingency.  As a result the following moves into earmarked 
reserves are proposed; 
 

 
- £100,000 added to an earmarked reserve to fund future costs of the Covid-19 

recovery programme 
 

- £100,000 added to an earmarked reserve set aside to support with the costs 
associated with the Future Leisure Provision project 

 
- £100,000 added to an earmarked reserve set aside to support with the 

delivery of Climate change related projects. 
 

- £75,000 used to create a new reserve earmarked to support partner 
organisations in short term financial difficulty. 

 
- £100,000 used to create a new reserve earmarked to support with the costs 

of maintaining and revising the Local Plan 
 

- £150,000 added to an earmarked reserve set aside to support the digital 
strategy. 

 
- £50,000 used to create a new reserve earmarked to support development 

costs in connection with the Parks Strategy. 
 

- £50,000 used to create a new reserve earmarked to support costs associated 
with organisational development and the HR process. 

 
- £950,000 balance of the underspend has been added to Contingency 

 
 
2.12 In addition a balance of £220,000 has been moved from the obsolete Pensions   

Reserve to Contingency in line with the 2021/22 Medium Term Financial Plan. 
 

2.13 The effect of these changes results in a balance on general fund reserves as at 
31st March 2021 of £4.1million – which is £2.6million above minimum contingency 
level. The current Medium Term Financial Plan approved in February 2021 assumed 
a General Fund contingency balance of £3.82m at the end of 2020/21. The Council 
expects to use £1,082,070 of general contingency reserves over the next four years 

Page 21



10 
 

2021/22 – 2024/25 as a result of the pressures being felt by the Council in the current 
Covid-19 situation. 

 
 
 
 

Carry Forward Request:- 
 
2.14 The following requests for carry forward have been received: 

 

 Communities (£24,010): carry forward of underspent budget in respect of 
Victoria Hall (£20,000) to be spent in early 2021/22 and underspend (£4,010) in 
the Councillor Initiative fund to be added to the 2021/22 allocation. 

 Customer Services (£2,500): carry forward of underspent uniforms budget 
arising out of the effects of the pandemic. This will be required to meet 
increased expenditure in 2021/22 when the receptions reopen. 

 
 

  

3. Alliance Environmental Services 
  

3.1. Alliance Environmental Services Ltd (AES) delivers waste, fleet, street cleansing 
and grounds maintenance services to both High Peak Borough and Staffordshire 
Moorlands District Councils. The Councils are shareholders of the company 
along with Ansa, which is a wholly owned subsidiary of Cheshire East Council.  
 

3.2. AES’s financial performance and impact on this Council’s budget is summarised 
below: 
 

2020-21 
General 

Fund 
HRA Total 

 
£ £ £ 

AES Contract budget 4,155,710 200,800 4,356,510 

    
Management fee 4,356,442 210,094 4,566,536 

Additional Fee 37,547 1,448 38,995 

Covid-19 costs 109,361 813 110,174 

Fleet maintenance fund (48,428) (35,117) (83,545) 

Total management fee payable 4,454,922 177,238 4,632,160 

Allocation of Joint Operation Profit (128,654) (6,205) (134,859) 

Net total 4,326,268 171,033 4,497,301 

Variance to budget 170,558 (29,767) 140,791 
  

3.3. The AES business plan for all services delivered to the Council during 2020/21 
included a budgeted management fee of £4,566,536. The  £38,995 additional fee 
relates to the increased pay award where 2.75% was settled but only 2% 
budgeted at the time; and costs relating to the closure of the Melandra depot. 
Additional costs of £110,174 were incurred as a result of the Covid-19 outbreak; 
these relate to provision of cleaning products, PPE and additional agency costs. 

 

Page 22



11 
 

3.4. It is acknowledged that new vehicles require less maintenance expenditure in the 
early years, but these costs will increase with a vehicle’s age, therefore AES has 
reimbursed the Council with the underspend on this budget of £83,545 to be held 
specifically in an earmarked reserve to be drawn down in future years when the 
burden becomes greater than the budgeted amount. 

 
3.5. Under accounting standards, AES’s financial performance is consolidated in to 

the Councils’ single entity statements as a ‘Joint Operation’ as opposed to 
separate group accounts being reported.  The profit is therefore apportioned 
between the two Councils and the respective services in line with the input of 
budgeted resources from each department. The Council’s share of the profit 
based on the draft outturn is £134,859 and is offset against the management fee 
costs. 
 

4.       Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme 
 

4.1. This section of the report considers the financial performance of the Council’s 
Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme in 2020/21. 

 

4.2. The Council’s Medium-Term Financial Plan (approved in February 2017) included 
the four-year (2017/18 – 2020/21) Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy 
targeting savings of £2.1 million. 

 

4.3. The Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy is premised on the need to both 
reduce expenditure and increase income. The need to grow income is now more 
of a priority as the Council moves more towards being self-financing. The strategy 
has been developed with the underlying principles of protecting frontline service 
delivery. It is also intended that the strategy is a tool to enable the Council to 
ensure that its service spending is determined by the established priorities set out 
in Corporate Plan. 

  

4.4. The 2020/21 budget was set in February 2020 with the assumption of £410,000 of 
savings in the year. This figure comprised £810,000 from the original strategy 
reduced by £305,000 in re-profiled savings and £95,000 income generation 
savings deferred into 2021/22.  A further £153,000 of savings were realised in 
quarter 4 of 2019/20 (after the MTFP was presented), reducing the amount to be 
achieved in 2020/21 to £257,000.  The major focus of the savings programme in 
2020/21 being on growth and income generation. 

 

4.5. At the end of 2020/21, £210,000 savings have been taken against the 20/21 
efficiency target. 

 
4.6. The current situation, regarding the on-going effect of the Covid-19 pandemic, 

places into doubt some of the savings taken out of the budget during 2019/20; 
particularly those relating to the Leisure Services contract. This is being kept 
under review as the impact of the pandemic become clearer. The £47,000 
shortfall in current year savings is as forecast in Quarter 3. In line with the current 
MTFP the unmet savings requirement will be carried forward into 2021/22.  

 

Page 23



12 
 

4.7. The Authority carries a longstanding reserve earmarked to support the Efficiency 
Strategy which can be drawn on to offset one-off costs of delivering the efficiency 
programme, such as redundancy costs. The reserve currently stands at £200,000. 
It has not been necessary to draw on this reserve in previous years so it remains 
intact to underwrite performance against future savings targets in the Efficiency 
Programme. 
 

5.       Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
 

5.1. This section of the report considers the financial performance of the Council’s 
Housing Revenue Account and highlights the budgetary position in respect of the 
operation of the Council’s housing stock.  

 

5.2. The 2020/21 Housing Revenue Account budget was originally set to produce a 
deficit of £814,870 supported by reserves. Following various updates, approved 
by the Chief Finance Officer and then the Executive in August 2020, it was revised 
and set at a deficit position of £934,870. 

 

5.3. Provisional outturn expenditure on the Housing Revenue Account for 2020/21 is 
£13,839,767 with provisional outturn income of £15,145,391. This represents a 
surplus for the year of £1,305,624 (i.e. £2,240,494 below budget – therefore no 
reserves are required to fund HRA activities in year). 

 

Housing Revenue Account 

2020-21 
Revised 
Budget 

2020-21 
Provisional 

Outturn 

 
Variance 

 
£ £ £ 

INCOME      

Dwellings Rents (14,370,910) (14,383,462) (12,552) 

Non - Dwelling Rents Etc (671,660) (761,929) (90,269) 

Sub-total income (15,042,570) (15,145,391) (102,821) 

     EXPENDITURE    

Repairs & Maintenance  4,341,520 4,283,707 (57,813) 

Supervision & Management 2,618,150 2,333,642 (284,508) 

Rents, rates, taxes Etc. 113,030 102,216 (10,814) 

Other Operating Expenditure 761,310 619,301 (142,009) 

Depreciation & Impairment 2,099,030 2,130,437 31,407 

Interest & Debt Management 2,746,340 2,738,356 (7,984) 

Contribution to Capital 3,298,060 1,632,108 (1,665,952) 

Sub-total expenditure 15,977,440 13,839,767 (2,137,673) 

     Surplus(-)/Deficit 934,870 (1,305,624) (2,240,494) 

(Use of) / Contribution to 
Reserves 

(934,870) 1,305,624 2,240,494 

Balance - - - 

 

5.4. The Council has a duty, in accordance with Part VI (Section 74) of the Local   
Government and Housing Act 1989, to maintain a “Housing Revenue Account” 
(HRA).  By “ring -fencing’ the Housing Revenue Account, the Council ensures that 
the management and maintenance of the Council’s housing stock is funded from 
the income generated by rents and other related sources. The Council is required 

Page 24



13 
 

under Part VI (Section 76) to prevent a debit balance each year on the HRA by 
setting the appropriate budget and monitoring progress against that budget 
throughout the financial year. The Council comfortably maintained a credit 
balance on the Housing Revenue Account in 2020/21. The surplus balance will be 
transferred to reserves within the Housing Revenue Account. 

 

5.5. There are no significant (>£50,000) overspend on the HRA. 
 

5.6. There are five significant (>£50,000) underspends to be noted: 
 

 Income - Non-Dwelling Rents (£90,269) – Increased income from service 
charges has been responsible for the majority of this positive variance. 
 

 Repairs and Maintenance (£57,813) – There are a number of compensating 
under and overspends resulting in this variance.  The most significant are 
additional costs in agency staff (£27,000); additional costs in materials and 
Covid related PPE  (£103,000) offset by underspends in the installation of 
radon fans (£136,000) and maintenance and compliance costs (£53,000). 
 
 

 Supervision and Management (£284,508) – Almost half of this variance 
relates to underspends in employee costs; predominantly salary and travel 
costs.  The remainder of the variance is due to numerous underspends 
across a number of budget areas including tenant participation (£38,000); 
decorating allowances (£17,000); printing, stationary and corporate support 
costs (£40,000). 
 

 Other Operating Expenditure £142,009 – The majority of this variance relates 
to a lower than anticipated contribution to the bad debts provision.   
 
 

 Contribution to Capital (£1,665,952) – The HRA capital programme was 
revised during the MTFP process in February 2021, lowering the expected 
contribution by £1,425,160 to just £1,872,900 and represents the largest 
proportion of this variance. This underspend relates to delays in 
commencement and completion of a number of Capital Schemes and is 
reflective of the changes to the capital programme detailed in Section 7 
below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 25



14 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6.      General Fund Capital Programme 
 

6.1. The General Fund Capital Programme approved by members in February 2021 
was set at  £2,701,210. 

6.2. The 2020/21 provisional outturn at 31st March 2021 is summarised in the table   
below, with further detail provided at Annex A 

 

  
2020/21 

Approved 
Budget  

Out- Turn 
2020/21 

Variance  

  £ £ £ 

Housing       170,000      190,319         20,319  

Housing Standards      330,000      354,541         24,541  

Property Services   1,557,060   1,396,936     (160,124)  

ICT 198,360 186,100 (12,260) 

Fleet /CCTV 222,540     165,747  (56,793) 

Leisure Services       70,000        10,000       (60,000)  

Regeneration       63,250      424,005       360,755  

Horticulture       90,000  90,000               -    

Total   2,701,210   2,817,647       116,437  
Funding:-       

External Contributions 523,070 1,045,727 522,657 

Planning Obligations 43,000 43,000               -    

Capital Receipts(Land)       57,180  27,730 (29,450) 

Capital Receipts(one for one)      170,000      190,319  20,319 

Capital Reserves 100,000 100,000               -    

Earmarked Reserves       64,450               -    (64,450) 

Borrowing    1,743,510   1,410,871  (332,639) 
Total 2,701,210 2,817,647 116,437 

 

6.3. The Council incurred capital expenditure of £2,817,647  during the year against a 
revised budget of £2,701,210  - this represents overspend of £116,437. The 
underspend reflects the net impact of Capital Programme projects which are either 
behind schedule or have progressed quicker than expected with the most 
significant variances being:   
  

 Property (£160,124 underspend) – various under and over spends 
on Asset Management Plan projects, including £99,376 underspend 
against the roofing works at Glossop Market Hall  
 

 CCTV  (£59,790 underspend) upgrade of CCTV Control Centre  has 
been delayed due to the prioritisation of emergency repairs by the 
supplier during the pandemic. It is anticipated that the works will now 
go ahead during this year. The necessary carry forward of budget 
will be made  

Page 26



15 
 

 Leisure Services – (£60,000 underspend) Sports Facilities Fund  – 
Allocation available to support requests for funding of improvements 
to small outdoor sports facilities, no grants were released in 2020/21 
the budget is being carried forward to support sports clubs in  
2021/22 
 

 Regeneration – (£355,874 overspend) Fairfield roundabout and link 
roads, more pre construction expenditure was incurred against the 
project  in 2020/21 than anticipated – the balance of the remaining 
budget has been reprofiled accordingly   
 

 

6.4. Consequently, capital funding applied to the 2020/21 Capital Programme is higher  
than forecast, reflecting the incidence and timing of capital spend. 
 

6.5. As a result of the variances detailed above, approval is sought to increase / 
decrease the Capital budgets for 2021/22 as shown in the table below:- 
 

 
 

7.      Housing Revenue Account Capital Programme 
 

7.1. This section of the report provides an update to Members on the Council’s HRA 
capital spending. 

7.2. The HRA Capital Programme approved by members in February 2021 was set at 
£3,971,930 

7.3. The table below shows a high level summary of the HRA Capital Programme 
provisional outturn at 31st March 2021. Further detail on a scheme by scheme 
basis is contained in Annex B. 

 
 

Scheme 
2020-21 
Revised 
Budget 

2020-21 
Provisional 

Outturn 

2020-21 
Variance 

Carry 
Forward  
2021-22 

2020-21  
Over / 

(Under) 
Spend 

  £ £ £ £ £ 

Asset Management Works 3,577,090 3,397,597 (179,493) 185,000 5,507 

Repairs Team Capital Works 204,840 209,999 5,159 - 5,159 

Service  Variance  

Carry Forward to 
2021/22 

Over/(Under) 
Spend 

Over/(Under  
spend) Completed 

Projects 

  £ £ £ 

Housing           20,319                  -             20,319  

Housing Standards          24,541        (30,000)           54,541  

Property Services     (160,124)      (160,124)                  -    

ICT (12,260) (12,260)                 -    

Fleet /CCTV (56,793) (56,793)                 -    

Leisure Services       (60,000)  (60,000)                 -    

Regeneration        360,755         360,755                  -    
Total        116,437           41,578           74,859  

Page 27



16 
 

Commissioning Fees 100,000 111,144 11,144 - 11,144 

Vehicle Purchasing 90,000 - (90,000) 90,000 - 

HRA IT Projects - 12,398 12,398 (12,000) 398 

Total 3,971,930 3,731,138 (240,792) 263,000 22,208 

Funding:      

Major Repairs Reserve 2,099,030 2,099,030 - - - 

HRA Contribution 1,872,900 1,632,108 (240,792) 263,000 22,208 

 3,971,930 3,731,138 (240,792) 263,000 22,208 

  

7.4. The Council incurred capital expenditure of £3,731,138 during the year against a 
revised budget of £3,971,930; this represents an under spend of £240,792.  The 
underspend reflects the net impact of Capital Programme projects which are either 
behind schedule or have progressed quicker than expected with the most 
significant variances being:   
 

 Asset management Works - £179,493 underspend.  The majority of this 
relates to the replacement of components such as kitchens; bathrooms and 
windows and doors and reflects the impact of Covid 19 restrictions during 
the year. 

 Vehicle Purchasing - £90,000 underspend.  This relates to specific 
purchases of new vehicles for new staff however it has been delayed to 
coincide with the full fleet management replacement programme in 21/22.  
 

7.5. As a result of the variances detailed above, approval is sought to increase / 
(decrease) the Capital budgets for 2021/22 for the following schemes: 

 Disabled Adaptations – wet room conversions – £50,000.  

 Component Replacements – kitchens; bathrooms; windows and doors 
£280,000 

 Lift Replacement Programme - survey works – £18,000 

 External Works – Gladstone Street – £85,000 

 Fleet Management – Additional Vehicles – £90,000 

 Gamesley Cladding – (£248,000) 

 Housing IT System – Civica Pay – (£12,000) 
 

7.6. The HRA Capital programme outturn is lower than anticipated and this is reflected 
in the reduced funding direct from the HRA and associated capital reserves, 
however there will be a requirement for the use of additional reserves in 2021-22 
to accommodate the requested carry forwards. 

 

 

8.      Treasury Management 
 

8.1. This section of the report sets out the key Treasury Management statistics in 
relation to the Council’s investments and borrowings. This report comprises a high 
level Treasury Management summary.  The Audit and Regulatory Committee 
receives detailed operational updates on Treasury Management. 

 

Page 28



17 
 

Investments 
 

8.2. Cash Investments held at the end of the year totalled £28.4million. The average 
level of funds available for investment during the year was £32.4million and 
£83,384 interest was earned. 

 

8.3. At the end of July the Council received an unexpected 16th dividend payment from 
the former Icelandic investment with Heritable Bank of £10,518.59. This is treated 
as windfall in the year towards investment income. 

 

8.4. £15,000 interest was earned on the loan to Buxton Crescent Heritage Trust. There 
was also £169 earned on another local loan. 
 

8.5. Overall there was a shortfall of £50,928 on investment income against a budget of 
£160,000 due to falling interest rates following the reduction of the Bank of 
England base rate to 0.10% in March 2020. 

 

Borrowing 
 

8.6. Outstanding borrowing at the end of the year totalled £66.8 million. The Council’s 
general fund and HRA budgeted to incur £1,837,940 and £1,746,340 respectively 
in interest charges and other financing costs in 2020/21. This was based on 
existing external debt and new external debt to be taken during quarter 4 to fund 
the borrowing requirements arising from general fund capital programmes. 

 

8.7. No ‘new’ borrowing or refinancing activity occurred during the year. In addition the 
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) charge for the year was smaller than 
anticipated relating to the smaller borrowing requirement on the 2019-20 capital 
programme. Therefore there was an underspend of £83,234 on overall borrowing 
costs. 

 

9.       Revenue Collection 

 

9.1. The collection rate outturn for 2020/21 was as follows: 
 

 Council Tax – 97.83% of Council Tax was collected, compared to 98.41% for 
the same period last year. 
o By the end of quarter 1 of the following financial year 2021/22, the 

collection rate for the year had improved to 98.43% 
 

 Business Rates – 98.11% of Business Rates was collected, compared with 
98.39% for the same period last year. 
o By the end of quarter 1 of the following financial year 2021/22, the 

collection rate for the year had improved to 98.61%. 
 

 Sundry Debts - The value of sundry debts over 60 days old at the end of 
Quarter 4 was £182,978 which compares with £162,980 at 31st March 2020.  
The level of arrears has been impacted by a delay in recovery action following 
onset of the pandemic. 

 

Page 29



18 
 

  

Page 30



19 
 

Annex A     
 

                   General Fund Capital Programme Update 31st  March 2021  

 

Scheme 
2020/21 

Approved 
Budget  

Out- Turn 
2020/21 

Variance  

Carry 
Forward to 

2021/22 
Over/(Under) 

Spend 

Over/(Under  
spend) 

Completed 
Projects 

  £ £ £ £ £ 

Housing & Housing 
Standards           

Affordable Housing Project  170,000 190,319 20,319                -    20,319 

Disabled Facilities Grants 300,000 354,541 54,541                -    54,541 

Landlord Accreditation  30,000              -      (30,000)        (30,000)                -    

  500,000    544,859  44,859       (30,000)         74,859  

Property Services           
Asset Management 
Programme 

 
1,557,060  

 
1,396,936  

  
(160,124)      (160,124)                -    

  1,557,060  1,396,936  (160,124)      (160,124)                -    

ICT 
    

198,360  
    

186,100  
    

(12,260)        (12,260)                -    

     198,360     186,100    (12,260)        (12,260)                -    

Fleet Management            

Vehicle/Plant  Acquisitions    162,750  165,747 2,997           2,997                -    

CCTV      59,790               -      (59,790)        (59,790)                -    

     222,540     165,747    (56,793)        (56,793)                -    

Leisure Services           
Outdoor Sports Facilities 
Fund 

      
60,000               -    

    
(60,000)        (60,000)                -    

Football Development       10,000       10,000               -                   -                  -    

       70,000       10,000    (60,000)        (60,000)                -    

Regeneration           

Fairfield Roundabout               -       355,874  355,874 355,874               -    

Buxton Crescent & Spa      63,250       68,131  4,881 4,881               -    

       63,250     424,005    360,755        360,755                -    

Horticulture           

Play Facilities       90,000       90,000               -                   -                  -    

       90,000       90,000               -                   -                  -    

Total General Fund 2,701,210  2,817,647    116,437          41,578         74,859  

 

Page 31



20 
 

Annex B 
 

Housing Revenue Account Capital Programme Update 31st March 2021 
 

Scheme 

2020-21 
Revised 
Budget 

2020-21 
Provisional 

Outturn 

2020-21 
Variance 

Carry 
Forward  
2021-22 

2020-21  
Over / (Under) 

Spend 

ASSET MANAGEMENT WORKS: £ £ £ £ £ 

Roofing & External Works 536,000 534,217 (1,783) - (1,783) 

Gamesley Cladding Works 125,000 373,702 248,702 (248,000) 702 

Bathroom Programme 200,000 100,376 (99,624) 100,000 376 

Kitchen Programme 1,074,170 899,930 (174,240) 170,000 (4,240) 

Electrical Works 169,430 193,810 24,380 - 24,380 

Central Heating Works - - - - - 

Queens Court Boiler Replacement - - - - - 

Windows and Doors Programme 1,126,930 1,116,198 (10,732) 10,000 (732) 

Aids & Adaptations 162,000 103,548 (58,452) 50,000 (8,452) 

Structural Works (Various) 136,470 46,720 (89,750) 85,000 (4,750) 

Lift Replacements 18,000 - (18,000) 18,000 - 

Queens Court Lightning Protection 29,090 29,096 6 - 6 

      

  3,577,090 3,397,597 (179,493) 185,000 5,507 

REPAIRS TEAM CAPITAL WORKS      

Void Rewires  48,890 44,814 (4,076) - (4,076) 

Void Kitchens   96,450 96,402 (48) - (48) 

Void Bathrooms   59,500 68,783 9,283 - 9,283 

  204,840 209,999 5,159 - 5,159 

STAFFING & PROFESSIONAL FEES      

Staffing Recharges/ Commissioning Costs 100,000 111,144 11,144 - 11,144 

  100,000 111,144 11,144 - 11,144 

VEHICLE PURCHASING      

Vehicle Purchases 90,000 - (90,000) 90,000 - 

  90,000 - (90,000) 90,000 - 

HOUSING IT SYSYEMS      

Housing Civica Pay - 12,398 12,398 (12,000) 398 

 - 12,398 12,398 (12,000) 398 

       

TOTAL SPEND 3,971,930 3,731,138 (240,792) 263,000 22,208 

 
 

Page 32



 

 
APPENDIX B 

 

 
 

2020/21 
 

Fourth Quarter 
 Procurement  

Review 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 33



1. Introduction 
 

1.1 A key element of the financial savings included in the Council’s Efficiency & 
Rationalisation Strategy is being met from Procurement activity which was 
approved by Full Council in February 2017.  
 

1.2 The current Procurement Strategy was developed to ensure that its objectives 
linked closely with the Council’s overall strategic vision and aims and objectives.  
The key actions included, delivery of cashable savings, development of a 
professional Procurement unit, updated Procurement Rules to support 
transparency and the implementation of electronic tendering processes and 
procurement systems. 
 

1.3 The Procurement Strategy is now due for updating and is scheduled for 
presentation during 2021 initially as an Information Digest report to obtain 
Member feedback prior to final approval (this was planned for 2020, but has been 
delayed due to Covid related workload).  The revised strategy will focus on the 
following key objectives to support the aims of the Council’s Corporate plan: 

 

 Delivering Value for Money 

 Commercial focus and effective Contract Management 

 Maintaining Transparency and Ethical practices through effective leadership 

 Promoting Responsible and Sustainable Procurement  

 Supporting the Local Economy and Business Growth 

 Delivering Social Value (CSR) through our Contracts 

2. Fourth Quarter Completed Procurements 

2.1 The activity supported by the procurement function for the fourth quarter January 
2021 to March 2021 is summarised below: 

Fourth Quarter   
High Value  

(> £181,000) 

Low Value 

 (< £181,000) 

Total 

HPBC Only 

 

 8 8 

JOINT (HP/SM) 1 5 6 

TOTAL   14 

 
2.2 Annex A provides details of the 14 procurement exercises completed during 

Quarter four.   
 
2.3 In addition to the above contracts which have been let on behalf of the Councils.  

The Council’s procurement team have supported Chinley, Buxworth and 
Brownside Parish Council as an income generation initiative during quarter four. 

 
2.4 The procurement team delivered a complete tender procedure for the Parish 

Council to appoint a lead Architect for a forthcoming project.  The initiative was 
very successful and there was a proportion of income into the Council for this 
work.  This supports the direction of travel for support services in generation of 

Page 34



income through commercial driven strategies for service delivery outside of our 
own organisations. 

 

 
3. 2021/2022 Procurement Forward Plan  

3.1 The table below details the number of exercises which fall into either low or high 
value (profiled over full contract term) scheduled for either completion or starting 
in 2021/22. 

2021/22 

Activity 

High Value  

(> £181,000k) 

 Low Value 

 (< £181,000k) 

Total 

HPBC 

 

13 37 50 

JOINT (HP/SM) 7 31 38 

TOTAL   88 

 
 In addition to the above, there are 170 listed entries brought forward from 

previous years (for review and completion for both HPBC and SMDC combined). 
It should be noted that the items listed are a combination of recurring contracts 
coming up to expiry, one offs, new items off contract and aggregate spend 
opportunities 

 
3.2 Some of the more significant ‘high level’ procurement activity that is scheduled for 

delivery in 2021/22 includes: 
 

 

 Fairfield Roundabout (A6 Hogshaw) main Contractor procurement 

 Glossop Halls project – Concession EOI Market and commercial let operator  

 Glossop Market Halls projects redevelopment works – Main contractor 
procurement 

 Buxton HAZ and Future High Street Spring Gardens – related project 
appointments 

 Supporting delivery of the Fleet Replacement Strategy 

 Facilities Management & Building Condition Surveys  

 Accelerated Housing Delivery programme support  

 Pavilion Gardens Phase 3 works  

 Construction Materials Supplies – Direct Services 

 Kitchen Supplies Contract – Capital and Direct Services 

 Passenger Lift replacement Capital programme – Sheltered schemes 

 Gas Servicing and Maintenance contract 
 
 

4. Procurement Performance 

4.1 This reports on the Council performance in terms of procurement activity and the 
payment of suppliers. 

 
4.2 Performance for the fourth quarter is highlighted below:- 

 

Page 35



Performance Indicator Target 
Performance at 31at 

March 2021 

% of Alliance Procurement 
Activity on Forward Plan 

65% 62% 

Annual contract spend as % 
of gross expenditure budget 

85% 91% 

% Of invoices paid within 30 
days 

96% 95% 

 

 Performance Indicators – targets off track 
 
 4.3 Invoice payments made within 30 days for the third quarter did not achieve target, 

the additional duties in relation to administering the Business payments and 
reduced resources in the team over the summer due to long term sick has affected 
the performance on invoice payments. Although the position is recovered in terms 
of backlog the impact of quarter two has had affected the cumulative position over 
the year. 

 
4.4 For 2020/2021 additional new performance indicators have been introduced, these 

are currently being measured to establish targets to implement for 2021/2022. 

Performance Indicator 
Target TBC for 21/22 

(baseline to be established 20/21) 
Supplier (Creditor) spend 
within the local area as a % of 
total spend 

In progress: establishing baseline 

% of Contracts awarded to 
local suppliers following 
submission of EOI* (over 
£5,000) 

In progress: Method review of source data 
extraction 

% of EOI* that come from 
businesses within the local 
area (over £5,000) 

In progress: Method review of source data 
extraction 

  *EOI – Expression of Interest 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 36



ANNEX A 
Fourth Quarter Procurement Activity Completed – HPBC 

Contract Title Brief contract description Recurring 
or One Off  

Service Area  Procedure  Award Detail Term / 
Duration 

 
 

 Total 
Contract 
Value  £     

Footfall survey 
Spring Gardens 
Buxton 

To inform wider Spring 
Gardens regeneration 
project 

One Off Regeneration RFQ Spring Board 1 (1+1) 
yrs 

17,900 

Marketing for 
Whaley Bridge/ 
Central Area  
Local Business 
engagement 
 

Marketing and local business 
engagement following Todd 
brook incident 

One Off Regeneration Open 

Tender 

East Midlands 
Chamber of 
Commerce 

6 
months 

22,000 

Security Fencing 
Under Croft 
Pavilion 
Gardens 

Secure fencing and gates at 
Pavilion Gardens lower car 
park – main contractor 
procured by BCH.  
Contribution to the additional 
security measures by HPBC 
 

One Off Regeneration Contribution 

funding 

Buxton 
Crescent Hotel 

n/a 18,775 

Replacement 
Fencing at 
Fairfield Open 
Space project 

Repair to existing Fencing 
where there has been 
damage - External Funding 
granted 

One Off Service 
Commissioning 

RFQ SP Rose n/a 6,967 

Independent 
review of 
stability report – 
Planning 
Application 
 

Specialist independent 
consultancy services 
 
(Application ref redacted) 
 

One Off Development 
Control 

RFQ Wardell 
Armstrong 

n/a  5,000 

Viability 
Appraisal – 
Planning 
Application 
 
 

Planning Application – 
Viability Assessment 
Consultancy 
 
(Application ref redacted) 

 

One Off Development 
Control 

RFQ Bruton 
Knowles 

n/a 3,100 

Development of 
‘Branding 
Toolkit’ 
Buxton  

Development of toolkit for 
branding project already 
completed 

One Off Regeneration Single 
Source 

Common 
Ground 
Communicatio
ns Ltd 

n/a 2,950 

Viability 
Appraisal – 
Planning 
Application 

Planning Application – 
Viability Assessment 
Consultancy 
 
(Application ref redacted) 
 

One Off Development 
Control 

RFQ Keppie Massie n/a 2,600 

  

Page 37



Fourth Quarter Procurement Activity Completed – JOINT (HPBC & SMDC) 

Contract Title Brief contract 
description 

Recurring 
or One Off  

Service Area  Procedure  Award Detail Term / 
Duration 

 
 

 Total 
Contract 
Value £     

IT Managed 
Service Contract 

Fully managed IT service 
contract for the Alliance 

Recurring Transformation CCS 
framework 
call off 
agreement 

Northgate Public 
Services  

3 
(+1+1) 

yrs 

2,895,000 

Rental on-site 
print units 

Central print and satellite 
print units – rental  

Recurring Customer 
Services 

Call off 
agreement 
framework 

Ricoh 5 yrs 51,652 

Personal 
Protective 
Equipment 
(PPE) inc. 
Cleaning 
materials 

Supply contract for PPE 
items and cleaning 
materials 
 
(2 contracts combined) 

Recurring Corporate 
Contract 

Open 
tender 

Accommodation 
Supplies 

1 
(1+1+1) 

yrs 

49,450 
(variable 

p/a) 

Security 
services 

Provision of security 
services at public 
meetings / Elections – As 
and when required 

Recurring Member 
services 

[not to be renewed as fixed term contract) 

Waste Skip hire  Provision for skip hires 
across High Peak and 
Staffordshire Moorlands 
for Direct Services / 
public buildings / 
Grounds  
 

Recurring Direct Services [not to be renewed as fixed term contract) 

 

Page 38



 

 

High Peak Performance and Customer Feedback Report: 2020/ 2021 (Q4 Outturn) 

 

  

P
age 39



 

 

P
age 40



67%

28%

5%
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Target Met Off Track N/a

Results 2020/21

41% 39%

20%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Better Weaker No Change

Trends 2020/21

High Peak Q4 Summary  

The following report provides an overview of performance at High Peak for the period 1st April 2020 to 31st March 2021 in relation to the 

Council’s corporate plan priorities. As well as the summary below, the report also provides insight into the council’s performance against each 

of its four strategic aims, including both successes and areas for further improvement.    

Performance Overview  

There are 76 targeted measures against which the council reports on a monthly, quarterly and annual basis. The remaining measures in the 

council’s performance framework are considered contextual in nature and feature in the Annual Report. The charts below show the results for 

the year in terms of both attainment and trend data. At the end of the financial year 2020/21 the council had met 67% of all targets and had 

improved upon or maintained its performance level compared to last year, in 61% of all measures. The council revised a small proportion of its 

2020/21 targets last year in response to the assessed impact of the pandemic on operational performance.  The year-end results are +3% up 

on last year in terms of attainment of targets but the trend data is -6% down on last year, as expected due to the impact on operations from 

lockdown. The full framework and the actions being taken to address the ‘off track’ measures can be accessed here.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Customer Feedback Overview  

This report also provides an overview of the results from the Council’s customer feedback system in terms of complaints, comments and 

compliments. The number of complaints closed during 2020/21 was much lower than the previous year, at just 86 cases. There have been no 

repeat complaints reported and the council responded to 99% of complaints in 20 working days. This report includes further details of the 

lessons learned from complaints and any repeat issues, where relevant.      

 

P
age 41

https://hpbc.alliance-online.org/system/files/documents/attachments/high_peak_q4_2020-21_2.pdf


Aim 1: Help create a safer and healthier environment for our residents to live and work   

Fit for purpose housing 

✓ 96% of right to buy transactions completed within time 

✓ 99.89% of benefit cases calculated correctly 

✓ 73% of homelessness prevention duty discharges resulted in a settled accommodation outcome 

✓ No gas safety checks were overdue in council homes 

At the 31st March the council had 21 households in temporary accommodation for over six weeks, including one family 

waiting for an identified property to be made ready. Only two of the placements were in B&B type accommodation.  

Currently, there are 108 active homeless cases but all B&B placements due to covid ended on 17th May with positive 

move on solutions. The ban on eviction was lifted on June 1st with no significant increase in homelessness 

presentations as yet. The turnover of family homes remains sluggish, affecting performance on settled outcomes and 

demand is exceptionally high. A Homeless and Home options training session was held for Councillors in June. 

Carelink Service:  

✓ Over 99% of emergency calls responded to within 45 minutes 

✓ Over 99% of referrals installed within 15 days 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Accelerated housing delivery programme: 

• HIF - Early engagement with potential contractors is underway with an appointment expected to be made in August. Fisher 

German have been appointed to negotiate with land promoters / developers at Hogshaw and Waterswallows. Draft HoT’s issued 

aiming for signed agreements by end of July. A key risk remains around timescales as the project must complete by March 2022 

with no payments permitted after this time. Committed costs exceed sum remaining from early grant release (£58,021) 

• Granby Road B – Jigsaw Homes/Partner construction seeking to leave LAAC delivery and instead proceed with disposal via a 

conditional contract. Revised offers received in line with this. IED report prepared outlining bids and seeking approval for early 

withdrawal from the Homes England LAAC programme in order to accept the bid considered most advantageous for the Council. 

 

P
age 42



 

High quality leisure facilities 

✓ Over £188k in external funding awarded in support of the physical activity and sports strategy 

✓ Place-based work is taking place in 3 priority areas to reduce inactivity 

✓ New Mills Leisure centre has received a new flat roof, guttering system and facias, and the car park has been resurfaced. 

Leisure projects – Draft energy audits of leisure centre sites are now back. Member working group attendees have reviewed the needs 

assessment work detailing what services could be delivered inside our facilities in future, shaped by facilities planning models from Sport 

England and stakeholder feedback. 

High quality public amenities, clean streets and environmental health 

✓ 130 community clean-up campaigns 

✓ 96.6% of street and environment inspections achieved top grades for cleanliness 

✓ 75% of high risk premises were inspected 

The ability of the Environmental Health Team to carry out regulatory inspections in food and other premises last year was severly affected by 

the lockdown and the pull on resources for public health work. Resource needs within the service are being addressed corporately in order to 

ensure the team is able to get back on track with its schedule of inspections as businesses reopen. 

 

 

Working in Partnership: 

The Fit pick scheme has now been launched in conjunction with AES 

across the Borough.  

The scheme aims to get residents moving more whilst engaging in 

community litter picking, supporting several of our corporate objectives. 

Residents are given litter picking equipment and in return for litter 

picking, will be given a week-long pass to use at one of our leisure centres 

free of charge. Over 100 requests for equipment were received across the 

Alliance within the first few days of the scheme launching.  

 

P
age 43



 

Aim 2: Meet financial challenges and provide value for money 

Financial resilience and value for money 

✓ Over 90% of expenditure is on-contract spend 

✓ Over 96% of internal audit recommendations were implemented in time 

        

At the end of the financial year, sundry debt levels were £20k higher than last year due to the effects of the pandemic on recovery, particularly 

in relation to vulnerable customers of our Carelink Service. The creditors team narrowly missed the target for invoice processing due to 

working all year on the payment of business grants and self-isolation payments.   

 

 

Available services provided ‘right first time’ 

✓ 49% of contacts made via the web 

✓ Over 36,000 customer portal accounts open 

✓ Over 8500 social media followers 

✓ 99% of complaints dealt with in 20 working days and no repeat complaints 

FOI response times have increased due to the demand on resources caused by the pandemic, with 59% issued on time. A new Access to 

Services Strategy is being prepared with the help of the Institute of Customer Services, which will both influence and reflect the new Digital IT 

Strategy also being prepared this year with professional expertise provided by SOCITM.    

High performing and motivated workforce 

✓ Sickness absence rates have halved to just 4.6 days in 2020/21 

✓ Only 3 workplace accidents last year 

✓ No reportable / lost time accidents 

 

 

 

 

Positive Legacy Project Update: 

The retention of agile working and access to flexible working 

arrangements is currently being reviewed, and new policies are 

currently being developed. Alongside this, the council is 

identifying the benefits of reduced mileage, virtual access to 

meetings and training, and the overall reduction in sickness. 

 

P
age 44



 

A leadership development programme is underway with Heads of Service and a new Organisational Development Strategy is nearing 

completion, which will bring together and provide direction for the workstreams that underpin employee and business performance. 

 

Effective use of assets 

✓ Over 90% of business units occupied 

✓ Less than 1% of rent lost due to vacant properties 

✓ 100% of system and network availability 

It took an average of 38 days to re-let council stock last year, 10 days 

longer than the year before. Covid restrictions have added three days to 

each void property, and the Council  completed eight major voids in 

March which required significant work by external contractors.  

 

 Procurement with a focus on local businesses 

✓ 32% of contracts were awarded to local businesses following expressions of interest 

✓ Almost 8% of supplier spend is made within the local area 

 

Technology and innovation 

A new 5-year IT contract has been agreed with Northgate following a procurement exercise. There are future opportunities from a wider 

digital workspace yet to be fully realised and there are likely to be outcomes from the new Digital IT Strategy that will rely on this virtual 

platform. Socitm has been engaging widely with stakeholders across the Council as well as reviewing our existing digital landscape. These 

sessions will identify opportunities to leverage the existing investments in technology, as well as providing insight into areas of opportunity to 

inform the future roadmap.     

 

Asset Management Plan Update: 

Stock condition project must be completed before refreshed 

Asset Management Plan can be agreed. Significant work will be 

required around decarbonisation.   

HRA Capital program – there are 14 Projects and Programmes 

targeted for 21/22.  

Glossop Cemetery - contactors should be on site over the 

summer with a September 2022 completion date. 

 

P
age 45



 

Aim 3: Support economic development and regeneration  

High quality development with an open for business approach 

✓ all planning processing targets met, including 100% of major applications in time 

✓ over 10% of applications had pre-app enquiries 

✓ no major developments allowed on appeal and only 2% of minor developments 

✓ 100% of priority palnning enforcement cases visited within 24 hours 

Agent satisfaction with the planning process is below the desired level due to the inability to conduct site visits, and increased workloads in the 

team due to staff absence last year. The vacant posts have now been filled, enabling the team to focus on addressing the backlog and 

improved customer care. The resolution of enforcement cases has also been more difficult during lockdown due to accessing premises, and 

increased caseloads due to lockdown. This is expected to improve now that resources are back in place and restrictions begin to be relaxed. 

Flourishing Town Centres 

✓ The borough vacancy rate for town centre shops 

was 9% (Sept 2020 survey) 

The national vacancy rate stands at 10.8%, and although 

the vacancy rate a cross the Borough has increased it is 

still ahead of the regional and national trends. A new 

survey is planned for 

September 2021 

which will show more 

clearly the effect the 

pandemic has had on 

the local high street. 

(Photo: DDEP and DCC) 

 

 

Growth Strategy Update: 

- Buxton future high street fund: the project is progressing at pace following the 

successful revised Business Case and the award of £6.6m. Payment will be 

made on annual basis in advance in line with spend profile against an agreed 

Memorandum of Understanding. Draft key task list being agreed. External 

advice being obtained on valuation and structural condition, led by Head of 

Assets. 

- Buxton HAZ: Terms of Reference have been drafted for the Community 

Engagement sub group and will be  issued to community/voluntary groups for 

comment with an invitation to join the group. A leaflet has been drafted - this 

will be issued to the above groups for comment shortly. The next steps are  to 

set up the  group and develop an action plan to identify who is responsible for 

each task. 

 

P
age 46



 

Aim 4: Protect and Improve the Environment 

Quality Parks and Open Spaces 

✓ Green Flag award retained for Whaley Bridge for the 5th year running 

 

We have seen a significant reduction in volunteering across all friends groups due to the ongoing pandemic. Some volunteering has taken 

place but this is substantially under the levels we would have expected.  

Effective recycling and waste management 

✓ 50.8% of waste recycled (awaiting verification) 

✓ Only 28.5 bins missed per 100,000 collections 

At 441kg, the level of residual waste collected last year was higher than expected. Residual waste tonnages collected in 2020-21 are estimated 

to be 5.6% higher (1038 tonnes) than in 2019-20, we assume this is linked to the pandemic and the changing behaviours of households. The 

new cab-based waste management technology (Collective) went live at the end of June, enabling the sharing of live data around collections. 

Meeting the challenge of climate change 

✓ Paper consumption is less than half last year’s level at 755 reams across the alliance 

We were unable to meet all of the national reporting requirements for air quality reporting due to Covid restrictions. There is a possibility of 

securing some funds from DCC via their public health team towards local initiatives which would help improve health outcomes (particularly 

young people) and local cycling infrastructure. The focus is on places where there are gaps in the Key Cycle Network. 

Parks Development Plans: 

A Play and Outdoor Sports Facilities Investment and Delivery Plan has been created, costed and included in a 

report for consideration by Members together with the Parks Strategy. 

Bankswood Park Improvement Plan - agreement for funding from British Cycling has now been signed and a 

procurement process will shortly commence to deliver the new pump track. 

P
age 47



 

Developing a climate change strategy and an action plan of response to a declared climate emergency: 

Since declaring a climate emergency in October 2019, the Council has started a number of activities in order to reduce its own carbon 

emissions. The work undertaken so far, and the action plan of activities going forward was presented to The Executive at its July meeting and is 

encapsulated in the 2021/22 Climate Change Plan (Part 1). 

 

Work done to date includes: 

Housing – the council will be installing energy efficiency measures 

such as cavity wall and loft insulation, and triple glazing with the 

support of a £485k government grant.  

Leisure Centres – assessment of options to reduce emissions has 

been carried out with the results expected in July 

Fleet – AES are trialling electric vehicles and the Energy Saving Trust 

have been engaged to help the council plan its fleet replacement 

programme with an emphasis on decarbonisation.   

In addition, the new ways of working introduced in response to lockdown have resulted in a  60% reduction in business mileage; as well as 

increased customer self-service and reduced paper consumption. Plans to sustain these changes began last year and the new agile working 

policy is expected in the summer.  

The Council’s Climate Change Working Group, which includes representatives from the High Peak Green Network, has been focusing on 

Borough-wide greenhouse gas emissions; the role of key agencies, and the actions that the Council can take going forward.  This work will 

inform Part 2 of the Climate Change Plan which will be published by November 2021 – in time for the UN climate change conference (COP26).  

The Plan will need to be a dynamic document that gets added to as new actions become viable and we learn more about emissions in the area 

and the role the council can play, in partnership with others, to help reduce them.  

 

 

 

P
age 48



P
age 49



 

 

P
age 50



  

 
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
The Executive 

 
5 August 2021 

 

 
TITLE: 

 
Update on Air Quality Monitoring 

 
EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: 

 
Councillor Todd - Executive Councillor for 
Climate Change, Environment and 
Community Safety 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
Alicia Patterson – Head of Environmental 
Health 

 
WARDS INVOLVED: 
 

 
All Wards  

 
 

Appendices Attached  
 
Appendix 1: HPBC Air Quality Data 2020 
Appendix 2: HPBC Annual Status Report 2020 
Appendix 3: HPBC Air Quality Action Plan 

 
 
1. Reason for the Report 
 
1.1 To update the Executive on the latest Air Quality Data across the High Peak 

and measures being proposed and undertaken in relation to the two declared 
Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) as part of the Air Quality Action Plan.   

 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the Executive notes the updated information and data. 
 

2.2 That the Executive notes the potential for the declaration of an AQMA in 
Fairfield in 2022 in the event that monitoring results and data analysis from 
2021 support this.  

 
3. Executive Summary 
 
3.1 In accordance with the Council’s statutory duty to manage air quality in the 

Borough, monitoring of Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) was completed across the 
Borough during 2019.  The NO2 annual mean concentrations generally 
showed improvement, decreasing at 70% of the sites from the previous year. 

 
3.2 The results, once adjusted to be representative of a location of relevant 

exposure, showed only two exceedances of the Air Quality Objective 

Page 51

Agenda Item 5



  

(40μg/m³).  Both of these exceedances were outside the current Air Quality 
Management Areas in the Borough, having been recorded along Fairfield 
Road in Buxton, at locations HP 33 (42.3 μg/m³) and HP 42 (41.9 μg/m³)  

 

3.3 No exceedances of the Air Quality Objective were observed in either of the 
current AQMAs in Tintwistle (No1) or Dinting Vale (No 2) during 2019. 

 

3.4 A detailed assessment of Fairfield Road was conducted by AECOM at the 
request of officers in the Environmental Health service as part of the proposed 
Hogshaw roundabout. The results from the modelling exercise indicate that 
the Air Quality Objective should be met by in the area by 2022.  Full details of 
the air quality results and modelling can be found in the Annual Status report 
2020 (attached at Appendix 2). 

 
3.5 Despite the difficulties presented by the Covid pandemic, monitoring of NO2 

was also fully completed across the Borough during 2020.  
 

3.6 No exceedance of the Air Quality Objective was seen at any location across 
the Borough in 2020, including the two declared AQMA’s at Tintwistle and 
Dinting vale, or the potential AQMA in Fairfield.   

 
3.7 Results from 2020 should, however, be viewed with some caution as they 

reflect a large reduction in traffic across the Borough due to the Covid-19 
pandemic and associated lockdowns, notably the first lockdown in April.  
However, they do provide valuable data and confirm that road traffic sources 
are the primary  source of  NO2 pollution across the Borough, which supports 
the measures outlined in the Air Quality Action Plan (attached at Appendix 3). 

 

3.8 The disruption to monitoring as a result of the pandemic has, however, made it 
difficult to establish if the downward trend predicted by the modelling has 
occurred. There are also some concerns raised regarding the source of 
emissions affecting location HP 33 on Fairfield Road. 

 

3.9 It is  proposed to continue to monitor and investigate Fairfield during 2021, 
with a view to declaring a further AQMA in 2022, should monitoring results not 
indicate a decrease consistent with model predictions.  

 

3.10 Full details of the air quality results for 2020 can be found in HPC Air Quality 
Data 2020  (attached at Appendix 1). 

 
4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 
    

4.1 Aim 1: Supporting our communities to create a healthier, safer, cleaner 
High Peak 

 
4.2 Aim 4: Protect and improve the environment including responding to the 

climate emergency 
 

 
 

Page 52



  

 
5. Alternative Options 
 
5.1 There are no alternative options to consider.  
 
6. Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
 

There are no Community Safety issues arising from this report. 
 
6.1 Workforce 
 

There are no workforce implications arising from this report. 
 
6.2 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
 

This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's Diversity and 
Equality Policies, there are no equality and diversity implications arising from 
this report. 

 
6.3 Financial Considerations 
 

There are no initial financial implications arising from this report. All 
assessments will be carried out as part of the Council’s routine work. 
However, the Council may need to seek support from external bodies should 
any further modelling be required for the preparation of the action plan. 
Typically the cost of this would be in the region of £5,000. 

 
6.4 Legal 
 

The Council has a statutory duty to manage air quality in its area and, where 
nationally set criteria are exceeded, to declare an Air Quality Management 
Area (AQMA). Having declared an AQMA, the Council is obliged to prepare, 
following due consultation with interested parties, an Air Quality Action Plan. 
The Plan must subsequently be implemented. Failure to do so may result in 
legal action being taken against the Council. 

 
6.5 Sustainability 
 

There are no sustainability implications arising from this report. 
 
6.6 Internal and External Consultation 
 
 All internal and external consultations have been undertaken as appropriate 

with the relevant partners including County Council and Highways.  
 
6.8 Risk Assessment 
 
 No Issues  
 
 
 

Page 53



  

 
 

Mark Trillo  
Executive Director (Governance & Commissioning) & Deputy Chief Executive 

 
 
Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Contact details 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Ccte2dAsfoY 
 

Alicia Patterson 
Head of Environmental Health 
alicia.patterson@highpeak.gov.uk  

 
 
 
7 Detail 
 
7.1 The report provides details of the monitoring of air quality which has been 

undertaken in the Borough as part of the Council’s statutory duty to manage 
air quality in its area. It is suggested that results from monitoring carried out in 
2020 should be viewed with caution as they reflect a large reduction in traffic 
across the district due to the Covid-19 pandemic and associated lockdowns, 
notably during the first lockdown in April.  However, they do provide valuable 
data and confirm that road traffic sources are the primary  source of  NO2 
pollution across the Borough, which supports the measures outlined in the Air 
Quality Action Plan (AQAP).  

 
7.2      Full details of the air quality results for 2020 can be found in HPBC Air Quality 

Data 2020 attached at Appendix 1.  
 
7.3      Appendix 3 to the report details the Council’s AQAP which contains the 

actions which the Council and others intend to take to improve air quality in the 
Borough and to respond to the AQMAs already declared by the Council. 
Unfortunately, the implementation of some of the action plan measures 
outlined in the AQAP were hampered during 2020 due to the Covid-19 
pandemic, and the delay in the submission of the Trans-Pennine Upgrade 
Programme Development Consent Order.  

 
7.4 Despite this disruption several measures were implemented during 2020, 

including the completion of phase 2 of the EV charging infrastructure, with the 
support of the D2N2 funding, meaning that 9 carparks across High Peak now 
have EV charging ports installed.  

 
7.5 In addition, suggested new policies have been put forward for inclusion in the 

next review of the local plan; a green fleet review has been initiated; and a 
new video has been produced that will form part of a wider air aware 
campaign. The video can be viewed here: 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Ccte2dAsfoY 

 
 
7.6 Further details of the AQAP measures proposed, and progress on the 

implementation of these measures, can be found in Appendices 1 & 3 of the 
report.   

Page 54

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Ccte2dAsfoY
mailto:alicia.patterson@highpeak.gov.uk
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Ccte2dAsfoY


  

 
 

 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



  

High Peak Borough Council 
 

 

 

Air Quality Monitoring Results & Action Plan 
Update 2020 

1: Air Quality Monitoring Results 2020 

 At the start of 2020, 3 additional locations were monitored, 2 in Hadfield and an 

additional site in Buxton. Detail of these locations is presented in Appendix 1.  

 The results for HPBC diffusion tube data for 2020 are shown in Table 1; details of 

monitoring locations are presented in Appendix 1.  

 No exceedances of AQ objectives were seen at any location in 2020 across the 

Borough, including the two declared AQMAs in Tintwistle and Dining Vale and 

continued the recent trend in a general improvement in AQ across the borough.  

 However, results from 2020 should be viewed with caution as they reflect a large 

reduction in traffic across the Brough due to the Covid-19 pandemic and associated 

lockdowns, notably the first lockdown in April. This can be seen in Figure 1, which 

shows (raw) monitoring data from several locations along A628, Woodhead Road.    

Figure 1; Monthly Trend in Nitrogen Dioxide data along the A628 

 

Page 57



  

High Peak Borough Council 
 

 

 Results though do provide valuable data and confirm that road traffic sources are the 

primary source of Nitrogen Dioxide pollution across the Borough.   

Fairfield Road Update 

 At the start of 2019, four additional monitoring locations were installed along Fairfield 

road (HP41-HP44 – Appendix 1) after exceedances were observed at HP33 in the 

previous year.  

 The results for 2019 indicated an additional exceedance of the Air Quality Objective 

(AQO-40ug/m3) at HP 41 (Table 1) once results have been corrected for relevant 

exposure (shown in brackets -41.9 ug/m3) . The other 3 new locations were below the 

AQO. 

 Modelling of the Fairfield Road (ARS 2020 – Appendix 2) conducted by AECOM, 

indicated that these two current areas of exceedance (HP 41) and (HP 33) should 

reduce by 2022 to below action levels  

 There are also some concerns noted regarding tube 33, which is consistently the 

highest result along Fairfield Road, occasionally recording unusually high results not 

reflected elsewhere along the road.  It is not clear why this is the case at this stage, but 

it has been identified that cars are possibly parking beneath this monitor, which may be 

influencing results and not be directly reflective of road conditions (e.g. figure 1 below): 

Figure 1; Tube 33 Location, Fairfield Road 

 

Page 58



  

High Peak Borough Council 
 

 

 As noted previously, 2020 results across the Borough showed a marked decrease in 

pollution due to the Covid 19 pandemic and levels along Fairfield were no different, so it 

was impossible to investigate these trends during 2020.   

 In view of this uncertainty, it is proposed to continue to monitor/investigate Fairfield 

during 2021, with a view to declaring an AQMA in 2022, should results not indicate a 

decrease consistent with model predictions.  

 

Page 59



  

High Peak Borough Council 
 

 

 

Table 1 – Annual Mean NO2 Monitoring Results 
 

 

 
Site ID 

 
X OS 

Grid Ref 
(Easting) 

 
Y OS Grid 

Ref 
(Northing) 

 
 

Site 
Type 

 
 

Monitoring 
Type 

NO2 Annual Mean Concentration (µg/m
3
)  

 
2018

(3)
 

 
2019

(3)
 

 
2020 

UKA00171 416585 389645 Rural Automatic 5.7 6.1  

HP1 403591 394050 Roadside Diffusion Tube 22.9 19.6 15.1 

HP3 402891 397536 Roadside Diffusion Tube 28.7 25.7 18.2 

HP4 402823 397491 Roadside Diffusion Tube 27.7 32.6 28.1 

HP5 402686 397437 Roadside Diffusion Tube 47.0 37.2 20.3 

HP6 402539 397353 Roadside Diffusion Tube 32.8 30.0 19.7 

HP8 402240 397265 Roadside Diffusion Tube 39.3 35.5 24.8 

HP9 402192 397274 Roadside Diffusion Tube 22.7 21.0 14.7 

HP10 400837 373752 Roadside Diffusion Tube 27.5 25.8 19.1 

HP11 407668 378239 Roadside Diffusion Tube 21.6 20.5 15.5 

HP13 406581 373419 Roadside Diffusion Tube 13.8 13.8 10.8 

HP14 401111 395390 Roadside Diffusion Tube 24.1 23.0 18.3 

HP16 401221 395993 Roadside Diffusion Tube 25.8 23.9 23.2 

HP17 399411 384561 Roadside Diffusion Tube 32.6 31.4 25.1 

HP18 407629 379482 Roadside Diffusion Tube 38.1 35.8 19.4 

HP20 401957 397280 Kerbside Diffusion Tube 28.4 26.3 29.3 

HP21 402060 394343 Roadside Diffusion Tube 41.3 38.3        29.3 

HP22a/b 402418 394220 Roadside Diffusion Tube 33.6 31.3 24.7 

HP24 403794 394089 Roadside Diffusion Tube 29.8 29.4 22.9 

HP25 401797 394508 Roadside Diffusion Tube 53.6 46.3 (35) 36.1 

HP26a/b 401025 395670 Roadside Diffusion Tube 34.5 30.8 23.2 

P
age 60



  

High Peak Borough Council 
 

 

 

 

 
Site ID 

 
X OS 

Grid Ref 
(Easting) 

 
Y OS Grid 

Ref 
(Northing) 

 
 

Site 
Type 

 
 

Monitoring 
Type 

NO2 Annual Mean Concentration (µg/m
3
) 

 
2018

(3)
 

 
2019

(4)
 

 
2020 

HP27 401014 395872 Roadside Diffusion Tube 32.7 33.8 24.4 

HP28 401272 395970 Roadside Diffusion Tube 23.0 21.6 18.5 

HP29a/b  401215 396967 Roadside Diffusion Tube 30.7 27.3 18.8 

HP30 401641 397240 Roadside Diffusion Tube 28.3 27.3 19.4 

HP31 401876 397261 Roadside Diffusion Tube 37.8 35.9 24.9 

HP32a/b 401227 382556 Roadside Diffusion Tube 40.3 38.6 (32.9) 28.8 

HP33a/b  406594 373949 Roadside Diffusion Tube 48.2 45.4 (42.3) 33.8 

HP34 407541 377764 Roadside Diffusion Tube 23.6 26.3 21.6 

HP35 407677 378326 Roadside Diffusion Tube 29.0 29.2 22.5 

HP36 407737 383534 Roadside Diffusion Tube 32.3 30.8 23.6 

HP37 400682 383623 Roadside Diffusion Tube 25.3 27.3 21.4 

HP38 399676 384579 Roadside Diffusion Tube 27.4 33.3 23.2 

HP39 399716 384578 Roadside Diffusion Tube 23.0 23.5 17.5 

HP40 399622 384581 Roadside Diffusion Tube 26.3 27.9 19 

HP41 406405 373760 Roadside Diffusion Tube - 44.4 (37.2) 34.1 

HP42 406402 373898 Roadside Diffusion Tube - 50.3 (41.9) 36.5 

HP43 406450 373920 Roadside Diffusion Tube - 34.0 26.5 

HP44 406606 373972 Roadside Diffusion Tube - 36.2 30.6 

HP45 401081 380736 Roadside Diffusion Tube - 28.5 22.6 

HP46 401107 381054 Roadside Diffusion Tube - 20.8 14.7 

HP47 400526 392905 Roadside Diffusion Tube - 32.2 24.1 

HP48 402440 395897 Roadside Diffusion Tube   22.5 

HP49 401932 395946 Roadside Diffusion Tube   15.5 

HP50 405959 372781 Roadside Diffusion Tube   21.3 

P
age 61



High Peak Borough Council 

  

 

 

 

 

☒ Diffusion tube data has been bias corrected 

☒ Annualisation has been conducted where data capture is <75% 

☒ 2018 data shows reported concentrations are those at the location of the monitoring site (bias adjusted and annualised, as required),  

☒ 2019 data shows reported concentrations are those at the location of the monitoring site (bias adjusted and annualised, as required) and where 

applicable, the result that have been distance corrected for relevant with distance adjustment 

 
Notes: 

Exceedances of the NO2 annual mean objective of 40µg/m3 are shown in bold. 

NO2 annual means exceeding 60µg/m3, indicating a potential exceedance of the NO2 1-hour mean objective are shown in bold and underlined. 

(1) Data capture for the monitoring period, in cases where monitoring was only carried out for part of the year. 

(2) Data capture for the full calendar year (e.g. if monitoring was carried out for 6 months, the maximum data capture for the full calendar year is 50%). 

(3) Means for diffusion tubes have been corrected for bias. All means have been “annualised” as per Boxes 7.9 and 7.10 in LAQM.TG16 if valid data capture for 
the full calendar year is less than 75%. 
(4) Distance corrected to nearest relevant public exposure shown in brackets 

 
 

P
age 62



  

High Peak Borough Council High Peak Borough Council  

 

 
 

2.  Action Plan Updates  
 

High Peak Borough Council has taken forward a number of direct measures 2020 in 

pursuit of improving local air quality.  

 

Transport Measures: Traffic review A628 and A57 

Trans-Pennine Upgrade Programme (TPUP) 

An assessment of the current transport issues along the A628 and A57 identified in the 

AQAP is currently being undertaken as part of the Glossop Gateway masterplan project 

and the Local Impact Report being prepared in response to the Trans-Pennine Upgrade 

Programme (TPUP), proposed by Highways England.  However, the DCO has yet to be 

submitted containing the current and proposed Traffic Data. Once the DCO submission 

has occurred, and the data made available, the review can be completed. 

 

Greater Manchester Clean Air Zone 

Government ministers have agreed to consider extending Greater Manchester’s Clean 

Air Zone (CAZ) charges to the sections of the A628/A57 in Tameside which form part of 

the Strategic Road Network, within the proposed CAZ boundary. Normally, roads 

managed by Highways England are exempt from CAZ. 

The outcome of this decision will have an impact on both AQMAs in the Borough, most 

notably the A628, as concern was raised that without its inclusion it may lead to “rat 

running” of commercial vehicles seeking to divert routes within High Peak to avoid a 

charge.   

It is hoped that the inclusion of the A628/A57 in Tameside, will have a positive knock on 

effect, to both the A628 and A57, on emissions from commercial vehicles, particularly 

those that have to pass through Greater Manchester as part of their journey on a regular 

basis. The inclusion of this stretch will mean that operators will have to either upgrade 

their vehicles or take an alternative route via the strategic road network around High 

Peak.   

The above noted adoption of the GM-CAZ (with or without the A628/A57) will likely have 

an economic impact on businesses in the High Peak area that regularly cross the border 

into Greater Manchester, as they will not be eligible for grants to improve their vehicles as Page 63



  

High Peak Borough Council High Peak Borough Council  

 

they are based outside the zone.   

The exception to this is bus companies that may pass into the zone as part of a normal 

bus route. This is of relevance to Dinting Vale school bus stop which is close to the 

border with GM-CAZ.  We have actively engaged with the bus commissioners at DCC  to 

make them aware of this opportunity and for them to seek funding to reduce emissions 

from buses using this stop and others that may enter the GM-CAZ as part of their route.  

To help with the economic concerns of the wider business community, we have started to 

engage with them to make them aware of the proposal and provide information on grants 

that may be available to help them comply with the requirements of the GM-CAZ. 

Transport Measures: EV Update 

The installation of Electric Vehicle (EV) charge points across the Borough is considered a 

key component in aiding the public to switch more easily to less polluting vehicles by 

providing the infrastructure to do so.  

The first stage of this project was completed at the end of 2019 and resulted in the 

installation of rapid charge points for electric vehicles, at several Council owned car parks 

across the Borough, including one in Glossop considered to impact on AQMA No1 & No2. 

These are: 

o Sylvan Car Park, Buxton 

o Municipal Buildings Car Park, Glossop 

o Station Road Car Park, Hadfield 

o Hope Valley Car Park, Hope 

The second phase was completed  at the end of 2020 and was specifically aimed at high 

density housing where residents may wish to invest in an EV but have limited scope to 

charge their car because of lack of a private garage or driveway, therefore require on-

street/local charge points.  

The choice of EV locations was, in part, informed by a Borough wide survey aimed at 

residents without off street parking facilities who would be interested in purchasing an 

electric vehicle if charge points were available. Around 156 responses were received, with 

the majority indicating would consider switching to an EV if charge points were available. 

The following locations were chosen for Phase 2:  

o Bernard Street Car park, Glossop 

o Miry Meadow car park, Chapel-en-le-Frith 

o Canal Street car park, Whaley Bridge and  
Page 64



  

High Peak Borough Council High Peak Borough Council  

 

o Victoria Park Road shops, Fairfield, Buxton 

o Sylvan car park, Buxton  

Leading by Example measures: Local Plan Update 

The first stage of the new High Peak Local plan review was implemented in the June 2020 

and sought to update the associated Policies. The Environmental Health team have 

proposed that a specific AQ policy is incorporated into the new local plan, to address 

development around AQMAs and also to drive forwards improvements in local air quality 

across the Borough, minimizing exposure to pollution, and to improve the health and well-

being of residents.  

Leading by Example measures: Green Fleet Review 

The Council has engaged with the Energy Saving Trust to undertake a review to identify 

opportunities to reduce emissions, decarbonise, improve air quality and increase electric vehicle 

adoption of our existing fleet.  This work is ongoing and is at the data collection stage.  

Leading by Example measures: Communications update 

As part of the Derbyshire Air Quality Working Group we have recently produced a public 

video highlighting air quality concerns across Derbyshire. This will form part of an increased 

campaign information available to the public.  

The video can be viewed here:  

Air Pollution in Derbyshire 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 65

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Ccte2dAsfoY


  

High Peak Borough Council  

 

 Appendix 1:  Details of AQ Monitoring Locations and AQMAs 
 

Table 2 – Details of Automatic Monitoring Sites 
 

 

 
Site ID 

 

 
Site Name 

 

 
Site Type 

 
X OS 

Grid Ref 
(Easting) 

 
Y OS Grid 

Ref 
(Northing) 

 
 

Pollutants 
Monitored 

 
 

In 
AQMA? 

 
 

Monitoring 
Technique 

Distance 
to    

Relevant 
Exposure 

(m) (1) 

Distance 
to kerb 

of   
nearest 
road (m) 

(2) 

 
 

Inlet Height 
(m) 

UKA00171 
Ladybower 

AURN 
Rural 416585 389645 

NO2, O3, 
SO2 

NO Chemiluminescent n/a n/a 4.0 

 
Notes: 

(1) 0m if the monitoring site is at a location of exposure (e.g. installed on the façade of a residential property). 

(2) N/A if not applicable 

P
age 66



  

High Peak Borough Council  

 

 

Table 3 – Details of Non-Automatic Monitoring Sites 
 

 
 

 
Site ID 

 
 

 
Site Name 

 
 

Site 
Type 

 
 

X OS Grid Ref 
(Easting) 

 

 
Y OS Grid 

Ref 
(Northing) 

 
 

Pollutants 
Monitored 

 
 

In 
AQMA? 

 

Distance to 
Relevant 
Exposure 

(m) (1) 

 

Distance 
to kerb of 
nearest 

road (m) (2)
 

 
Tube 

collocated 
with a 

Continuous 
Analyser? 

 
 

Height 
(m) 

 

HP1 
Glossop - Howard 

Town Hall 

 

Roadside 
 

403591 
 

394050 
 

NO2 

 

NO 
 

0.2 
 

5.5 
 

NO 
 

2.7 

HP3 Tintwistle Woodhead 
Road (L1) EB 

Roadside 402891 397536 NO2 NO 0.1 4.5 NO 2.1 

HP4 Tintwistle - Woodhead 
Road (L2) WB 

Roadside 402823 397491 NO2 YES 0.1 2.0 NO 2 

HP5 Tintwistle - Woodhead 
Road (L3) EB 

Roadside 402686 397437 NO2 YES 0.2 4.8 NO 2 

HP6 Tintwistle - Woodhead 
Road (L4) EB 

Roadside 402539 397353 NO2 YES 0.1 4.1 NO 2.5 

HP8 Tintwistle - Church 
Road 

Roadside 402240 397265 NO2 YES 0.2 2.1 NO 2.4 

HP9 Tintwistle - The 
Stocks 

Roadside 402192 397274 NO2 NO 0.2 9.1 NO 2 

HP10 Furness Vale Primary 
School 

Roadside 400837 373752 NO2 NO 0.2 4.1 NO 2.3 

HP11 Dove Holes C of E 
Primary School 

Roadside 407668 378239 NO2 NO 0.2 3.6 NO 2.8 

HP13 
Buxton - Granby Rd 

Roadside 406581 373419 NO2 NO 0.2 11.2 NO 2 

HP14 Hadfield - Brookfield / 
Tavern Road junction 

Roadside 401111 395390 NO2 NO 6.1 1.5 NO 2.5 

HP16 Hadfield - Woolley 
Bridge Road (L2) 

Roadside 401221 395993 NO2 NO 1.5 1.4 NO 2.8 

HP17 Newtown traffic lights 
(A6/A6015 Junction) 

Roadside 399411 384561 NO2 NO 4.1 1.1 NO 2.7 

P
age 67



  

High Peak Borough Council  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Site ID 

 

 

 

Site Name 

 

 

Site 
Type 

 

 

X OS Grid Ref 
(Easting) 

 

 

Y OS Grid 
Ref 

(Northing) 

 

 

Pollutants 
Monitored 

 

 

In 
AQMA? 

 

Distance to 
Relevant 
Exposure 

(m) (1) 

 

Distance 
to kerb of 
nearest 
road (m) 

(2) 

 

Tube 
collocated 

with a 
Continuous 
Analyser? 

 

 

Height 
(m) 

HP18 
Dove Holes North -  
Buxton Road - SB 

Roadside 407629 379482 NO2 NO 103.0 2.6 NO 2.5 

 

HP20 

Tintwistle - 
Manchester Road / 
New Road junction 

 

Kerbside 
 

401957 
 

397280 
 

NO2 

 

NO 
 

0.9 
 

0.9 
 

NO 
 

2.6 

HP21 Dinting C of E Primary 
School (A57) 

Roadside 402060 394343 NO2 YES 0.2 1.6 NO 2.5 

HP22a/b 
Glossop - High Street 
West, Glossop (A57) 

Roadside 402418 394220 NO2 NO 0.2 3.1 NO 2.6 

HP24 
Glossop - High Street 
East, Glossop (A57) 

Roadside 403794 394089 NO2 NO 2.3 1.4 NO 2.4 

 

HP25 
Dinting Vale - Dinting 

Vale (L1) (A57) 

 

Roadside 

 

401797 

 

394508 

 

NO2 

 

YES 

 

2.7 

 

0.6 

 

NO 

 

2.5 

 

HP26a/b 
Hadfield - Woolley 

Bridge 

 

Roadside 
 

401025 
 

395670 
 

NO2 

 

NO 
 

0.3 
 

2.3 
 

NO 
 

2.5 

 

HP27 
Hadfield - Woolley 
Bridge Road/A57 

Roundabout 

 

Roadside 

 

401014 

 

395872 

 

NO2 

 

NO 

 

9.5 

 

2.9 

 

NO 

 

2.6 

 

HP28 
Hadfield - Hadfield 

Road (L1) 

 

Roadside 
 

401272 
 

395970 
 

NO2 

 

NO 
 

2.8 
 

2.0 
 

NO 
 

2.6 

HP29a/b 
Tintwistle - 

Manchester Road 
(L1) 

Roadside 401215 396967 NO2 NO 0.2 2.4 NO 2.4 

HP30 
Tintwistle - 

Manchester Road / 
Matthew Close 

junction 

Roadside 401641 397240 NO2 NO 3.1 2.3 NO 2.5 

P
age 68



  

High Peak Borough Council  

 

 

 

 

 

 
Site ID 

 

 

 

Site Name 

 

 

Site 
Type 

 

 

X OS Grid Ref 
(Easting) 

 

 
Y OS Grid 

Ref 
(Northing) 

 

 

Pollutants 
Monitored 

 

 

In 
AQMA? 

 

Distance to 
Relevant 
Exposure 

(m) (1) 

 

Distance 
to kerb of 
nearest 

road (m) (2)
 

 
Tube 

collocated 
with a 

Continuous 
Analyser? 

 

 

Height 
(m) 

HP31 
Tintwistle - 

Manchester Road 
(L2) 

Roadside 401876 397261 NO2 NO 0.4 1.5 NO 2.6 

HP32a/b 
Bridgemont - Buxton 

Road 
Roadside 401227 382556 NO2 NO 2.1 1.4 NO 2.5 

HP33a/b 
Buxton - Fairfield 
Road (L1) - SB 

Roadside 406594 373949 NO2 NO 0.2 2.9 NO 2.5 

 

HP34 
Dove Holes South - 
Buxton Road - SB 

 

Roadside 
 

407541 
 

377764 
 

NO2 

 

NO 
 

0.8 
 

1.9 
 

NO 
 

2.5 

HP35 
Dove Holes - 

Hallsteads - NB 
Roadside 407677 378326 NO2 NO 0.4 2.8 NO 2.5 

 

HP36 
Furness Vale - War 
memorial, Buxton 

Road 

 

Roadside 
 

407737 
 

383534 
 

NO2 

 

NO 
 

9.4 
 

1.9 
 

NO 
 

2.6 

 

HP37 
Furness Vale - Buxton 

Road 

 

Roadside 
 

400682 
 

383623 
 

NO2 

 

NO 
 

2.5 
 

2.3 
 

NO 
 

2.6 

 

HP38 
Newtown - Buxton 

Road EB 

 

Roadside 
 

399676 
 

384579 
 

NO2 

 

NO 
 

2.3 
 

1.6 
 

NO 
 

2.6 

 

HP39 
Newtown - Buxton 

Road WB 

 

Roadside 
 

399716 
 

384578 
 

NO2 

 

NO 
 

3.5 
 

2.0 
 

NO 
 

2.6 

 

HP40 
Newtown - Mill, 
Buxton Road 

 

Roadside 
 

399622 
 

384581 
 

NO2 

 

NO 
 

2.8 
 

2.9 
 

NO 
 

2.5 

HP41 Buxton - Fairfield 
Road (L2) - SB 

Roadside 406405 373760 NO2 NO 0.2 2.1 NO 2.4 

HP42 Buxton - Fairfield 
Road (L3) - NB 

Roadside 406402 373898 NO2 NO 3.1 2.2 NO 2.6 

P
age 69



  

High Peak Borough Council  

 

 

 

 

 

 
Site ID 

 

 

 
Site Name 

 

 

Site 
Type 

 

 

X OS Grid Ref 
(Easting) 

 

 
Y OS Grid 

Ref 
(Northing) 

 

 

Pollutants 
Monitored 

 

 

In 
AQMA? 

 

Distance to 
Relevant 
Exposure 

(m) (1) 

 

Distance 
to kerb of 
nearest 

road (m) (2)
 

 
Tube 

collocated 
with a 

Continuous 
Analyser? 

 

 

Height 
(m) 

HP43 Buxton - Fairfield 
Road (L4) - SB 

Roadside 406450 373920 NO2 NO 3.6 1.5 NO 2.6 

HP44 
Buxton - Fairfield 
Road - Bulls Head 

Roadside 406606 373972 NO2 NO 0.2 1.6 NO 2.6 

HP45 
Whaley Bridge - 

Buxton Road 
Roadside 401081 380736 NO2 NO 0.2 3.0 NO 2.5 

HP46 
Whaley Bridge 
Primary School 

Roadside 401107 381054 NO2 NO 7.8 2.6 NO 2.6 

HP47 Charlesworth - 
George & Dragon 

Roadside 400526 392905 NO2 NO 0.7 0.2 NO 2.6 

HP48 Hadfield - Park Road Roadside 402440 395897 NO2 NO 0.4 2.8 NO 2.6 

HP49 Hadfield - Hadfield 
Road (L2) 

Roadside 
401932 395946 

NO2 NO  

9.4 

 

1.9 
NO 2.6 

HP50 Buxton - London 
Road 

Roadside 
405959 372781 

NO2 NO  

2.5 

 

2.3 
NO 2.6 

 

Notes: 

(1) 0m if the monitoring site is at a location of exposure (e.g. installed on the façade of a residential property). 

(2) N/A if not applicable. 
 
 
 

Locations are shown on the maps in Appendix 1

P
age 70



  

High Peak Borough Council 

  

 

Appendix 2. Maps of Monitoring Locations  

Figure 1 – Overview of High Peak Air Quality Monitoring 

Page 71



  

High Peak Borough Council 

  

 

Figure 2 – Monitoring Locations: Whaley Bridge, Newtown and Furness Vale 

Page 72



  

High Peak Borough Council 

  

 

Figure 3 – Monitoring Locations: Dove Holes 

Page 73



  

High Peak Borough Council 

  

 

Figure 4 – Monitoring Locations: Hadfield 

Page 74



  

High Peak Borough Council 

  

 

Figure 5 – Ladybower AURN Site 

Page 75



High Peak Borough Council 

Figure 6 – Dinting Vale and Glossop Monitoring Locations 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 76



 

High Peak Borough Council 

Figure 7 – Monitoring Location: HP47 

 

 

 

 

P
age 77



 

High Peak Borough Council 

Figure 8 – Monitoring Locations: Buxton 

 

 

 

 

P
age 78



 

High Peak Borough Council 

Figure 9 – Tintwistle Monitoring Locations 

 

 

 

 

P
age 79



 

High Peak Borough Council 
 

 

 

Page 80



LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 
 

High Peak Borough Council 

 
 

 

 
 

High Peak Borough Council 

Annual Status Report 2020 
Bureau Veritas 
December 2020 

 

Page 81



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 

 

 

 

Document Control Sheet 
 
 

Identification 

Client High Peak Borough Council 

Document Title 2020 Annual Status Report 

Bureau Veritas Ref 
No. 

9540163/UK/V1.0 

 

Contact Details 

Company Name Bureau Veritas UK Limited High Peak Borough Council 

Contact Name Hannah Smith Daniel McCrory 

Position Senior Consultant Regulatory Services 

 

 
Address 

 
5th Floor 

66 Prescot Street 
London 
E1 8HG 

Staffordshire Moorlands District 
Council & High Peak Borough 
Council, 
Moorlands House 
Stockwell Street 
Leek 
ST13 6HQ 

 

Configuration 

Version Date Author 
Reason for Issue/Summary of 

Changes 
Status 

1.0 11/12/20 D Clampin   
     

 

 Name Job Title Signature 

 
Prepared By 

 

D Clampin 

 

Senior Consultant 

 

 

 
Approved By 

 
P Bentley 

 
Senior Consultant 

 

 

Commercial In Confidence 
 

© Bureau Veritas UK Limited 
 

The copyright in this work is vested in Bureau Veritas UK Limited, and the information contained herein is confidential. This 
work, either in whole or in part, may not be reproduced or disclosed to others or used for any purpose, other than for internal 

client evaluation, without Bureau Veritas’ prior written approval. 
Bureau Veritas UK Limited, Registered in England & Wales, Company Number: 01758622 

Registered Office: Suite 206 Fort Dunlop, Fort Parkway, Birmingham B24 9FD 
 

Disclaimer 
 

This Report was completed by Bureau Veritas on the basis of a defined programme of work and terms and conditions agreed 
with the Client. Bureau Veritas confirms that in preparing this Report it has exercised all reasonable skill and care taking into 

account the project objectives, the agreed scope of works, prevailing site conditions and the degree of manpower and resources 
allocated to the project. 

 

Bureau Veritas accepts no responsibility to any parties whatsoever, following the issue of the Report, for any matters arising 
outside the agreed scope of the works. 

 

This Report is issued in confidence to the Client and Bureau Veritas has no responsibility to any third parties to whom this 
Report may be circulated, in part or in full, and any such parties rely on the contents of the report solely at their own risk. 

Unless specifically assigned or transferred within the terms of the agreement, the consultant asserts and retains all Copyright, 
and other Intellectual Property Rights, in and over the Report and its contents. 

 

Any questions or matters arising from this Report should be addressed in the first instance to the Project Manager. 

Page 82



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 

 

 

 
 
 

 

2020 Air Quality Annual Status Report 
(ASR) 

In fulfilment of Part IV of the 
Environment Act 1995 
Local Air Quality Management 

December 2020 

Page 83



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 

 

 

 
 
 

Local Authority 
Officer 

Daniel McCrory 

Department Regulatory Services 

 

 
Address 

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council & 
High Peak Borough Council 
Moorlands House 
Stockwell Street 
Leek 
ST13 6HQ 

Telephone 01538 395400 

E-mail Daniel.Mccrory@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 

Report Reference 
number 

High Peak 2020 ASR 

Date December 2020 

Page 84

mailto:Daniel.Mccrory@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk


High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 v 

 

 

 
 
 

Executive Summary: Air Quality in Our Area 

Air Quality in High Peak Borough Council 

Air pollution is associated with a number of adverse health impacts. It is recognised 

as a contributing factor in the onset of heart disease and cancer. Additionally, air 

pollution particularly affects the most vulnerable in society: children and older people, 

and those with heart and lung conditions. There is also often a strong correlation with 

equalities issues, because areas with poor air quality are also often the less affluent 

areas1,2
 

The annual health cost to society of the impacts of particulate matter alone in the UK 

is estimated to be around £16 billion3. 

High Peak is one of nine district authorities within Derbyshire. It is located in the 

north west of the County and abuts the Greater Manchester conurbation to the west. 

To the east of High Peak are the metropolitan areas of Sheffield and Barnsley. It is 

home to approximately 93,000 people who live primarily in the main market towns of 

Glossop, New Mills, Whaley Bridge, Chapel-en-le-Frith and Buxton. 

High Peak is crossed by the A6, the A628 and the A57. The A628 traverses the 

north of the area, from Hollingworth and through Tintwistle. The A6 enters High 

Peak at New Mills, follows an easterly and then a southerly direction, through 

Chapel-en-le- Frith and Buxton, crossing the borough boundary east of Buxton. The 

A57 runs from Glossop eastwards to Ladybower Reservoir. 

The main source of air pollution in the Borough is road traffic emissions within the 

towns of Glossop and Tintwistle. As a result, High Peak Borough Council (HPBC) 

have declared two Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) for the exceedance of 

the Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) annual mean objective of 40µg/m3 within these towns in 

2019. Details of these AQMAs can be seen at uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/local- 

authorities?la_id=128. Details of the AQMAs are provided in Table 2.1 and boundary 

maps are presented in Maps of Monitoring Locations and AQMAs. Due to their 

declaration in 2019, an Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) is currently being written for 

these newly declared AQMAs therefore Table 2.2 will be updated in full once this 

plan has been completed. 

 
 

1 Environmental equity, air quality, socioeconomic status and respiratory health, 2010 
2 Air quality and social deprivation in the UK: an environmental inequalities analysis, 2006 
3 Defra. Abatement cost guidance for valuing changes in air quality, May 2013 Page 85



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 vi 

 

 

 
 

 

In addition, a Detailed Assessment was completed for Hogshaw Roundabout in 

Buxton which is included in Appendix G. The findings of this assessment are 

currently being deliberated upon with the consideration of declaring a new AQMA in 

Buxton. A further update will be provided within the 2021 ASR. 

NO2 is the principal pollutant of concern for the Council attributed to traffic sources, 

and as a result is currently solely monitored. During 2019, NO2 was monitored at 42 

sites across the Borough inclusive of one AURN automatic rural background 

monitoring site and 41 non-automatic sites roadside sites. 

During 2019, two sites (HP33 and HP42) reported exceedances of the NO2 annual 

mean objective at locations representative of receptors, three additional sites (HP5, 

21 and 41) reported NO2 annual mean concentrations to be within 10% of the annual 

mean objective. 

NO2 annual mean concentrations have decreased at 25 of 35 sites for which data 

was also available for 2018. The greatest increase experienced is 5.9µg/m³ at Site 

HP38. The two monitoring sites that exceeded the annual mean objective are located 

outside of the two declared AQMA areas. The monitoring sites are located within the 

study are of the Detailed Assessment presented in Appendix G and will be used to 

inform the decision on whether a new AQMA is to be declared within the borough. 

The annual mean NO2 concentration was not greater than 60µg/m3 at any non- 

automatic monitoring site. Therefore exceedance of the 1-hour mean objective during 

2019 at any monitoring location within HPBC is considered to be unlikely. 

Furthermore, the continuous NO2 monitor present within HPBC reported no 

exceedance of the short term NO2 1-hour objective throughout 2019. 

Actions to Improve Air Quality 

HPBC are currently in the process of completing the AQAP that has been developed 

in response to the AQAMA declarations in both Tintwistle and Glossop. The actions 

to be defined within this AQAP are designed to improve NO2 concentrations within 

the AQMAs, and across the borough as a whole, with a full updated to Table 2.2 to 

be completed in the 2021 ASR once the AQAP has been completed. 

Conclusions and Priorities 

From the monitoring completed in 2019 there were two monitoring sites that reported 

Page 86



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 vii 

 

 

 

annual mean concentrations at a point of relevant exposure that were greater than 

the annual mean objective. These two monitoring sites are located outside of the two 

existing AQMAs, within Buxton. 

The main priorities for the Council in 2020 are to: 
 

 Continue to monitor NO2 concentrations throughout the borough, and consider 

the relocation and/or deployment of additional monitors; 

 Finalise the AQAP for the two declared AQMAs; and 

 Investigate declaring a new AQMA around Hogshaw Roundabout, Buxton 

based upon the Detailed Assessment completed and the continuation of 

monitoring established in 2019. 

 

Local Engagement and How to get Involved 

HPBC publishes Air Pollution information via the council website and provides a 

portal for reporting air pollution concerns and suggestions on how to improve air 

quality ( https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/342/Air-quality). 

 

As main source of air pollution within HPBC arises transport sources, a way for 

the public to get involved with helping improving air quality within the area is to 

look at alternatives modes of travel and HPBC encourages the promotion of 

sustainable transport choices and further can be found 

at:https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/transport-roads/transport-plans/sustainable- 

travel/sustainable-travel-and-smarter-choices.aspx. 

 

In addition HPBC is also in a strategic alliance with Staffordshire Moorlands 

District Council and contribute to the air aware website. The air aware website a 

great deal of information on air quality and including lots of suggested alternatives 

to private travel such as; 

 

Commute 

 
 Use of public transport – The use of the bus facilities, which in turn reduces 

pollutant concentration through the number of vehicles and reducing congestion;

 

 Avoid vehicle idling and/or use of air conditioning running continuously. By 

switching your engine off you can save fuel, money and improve local air quality.

 

 Walk or cycle if your journey allows – From choosing to walk or cycle for your
Page 87

https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/342/Air-quality
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/342/Air-quality
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/transport-roads/transport-plans/sustainable-travel/sustainable-travel-and-smarter-choices.aspx
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/transport-roads/transport-plans/sustainable-travel/sustainable-travel-and-smarter-choices.aspx
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/transport-roads/transport-plans/sustainable-travel/sustainable-travel-and-smarter-choices.aspx


High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 vii 

 

 

 

journey the number of vehicles is reduced and also there is the added benefit of 

keeping fit and healthy; 

 

 Car/lift sharing – Where a number of individuals are making similar journeys, 

such as travelling to work or to school car sharing reduces the number of vehicles 

on the road and therefore the amount of emissions being released. This can be 

promoted via travel plans through the workplace and within schools; and

 

 Alternative fuel / more efficient vehicles – Choosing a vehicle that meets the 

specific needs of the owner, fully electric, hybrid fuel and more fuel efficient cars 

are available and all have different levels benefits by reducing the amount of 

emissions being released.

 

Further information on the above, including downloadable resources is available 

via the Air aware website: 

 

https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/DoingOurBit/Get-Inspired/Clean-green-and- 

safe/Air-aware/Air-aware.aspx 

 

There are also a number of ways you can improve air quality from activities within 

your home or business, these are; 

 

Energy Efficiency 

 
 Be energy efficient - make sure your house is well insulated and use energy 

efficient appliances https://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/home-energy-efficiency

 

Smoke Control 

 
 You can check if you live in a smoke control zone here: 

https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/355/Smoke-control-areas

In a Smoke Control Area you need to make sure that any appliance is exempt or is 

included in the list of authorised fuels. Defra keeps a list of approved appliances 

and authorised fuels that are permitted for use in smoke control areas at 

https://smokecontrol.defra.gov.uk/appliances.php?country=england. 

 

Due to the rise in popularity of wood burning stoves defra has recently published 

guidance on the use of this type of appliance 

Page 88

https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/DoingOurBit/Get-Inspired/Clean-green-and-safe/Air-aware/Air-aware.aspx
https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/DoingOurBit/Get-Inspired/Clean-green-and-safe/Air-aware/Air-aware.aspx
https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/DoingOurBit/Get-Inspired/Clean-green-and-safe/Air-aware/Air-aware.aspx
https://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/home-energy-efficiency
https://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/home-energy-efficiency
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/355/Smoke-control-areas
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/355/Smoke-control-areas
https://smokecontrol.defra.gov.uk/appliances.php?country=england


High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 ix 

 

 

 

https://ukair.defra.gov.uk/assets/documents/reports/cat09/1901291307_Ready_to_ 

Burn_Web.pdf 

 

The key message is to ensure that all wood used in these appliances need to be 

clean and less than 20% moisture.  Consequently HPBC would encourage the 

use of Woodsure Certified Supplier (www.woodsure.co.uk), when purchasing fuel 

for these appliances. 

 

Other Sources of Information 

 
Global Action Plan, a charity that is working for a green and thriving planet have 

for the first time provided a hub called the Clean Air Hub, that brings together 

public accessible information on air pollution all in one place. Whether you want to 

learn more about what air pollution is, how it affects your health, what you can do 

to protect yourself from it and the action you can take to tackle it, then the 

collection of information, resources and expert advice on the Clean Air Hub will 

help and inspire you to get informed and involved. The Clean Air Hub can be 

accessed from the following web link; 

 

https://www.cleanairday.org.uk/pages/category/clean-air-hub 

Page 89

https://ukair.defra.gov.uk/assets/documents/reports/cat09/1901291307_Ready_to_Burn_Web.pdf
https://ukair.defra.gov.uk/assets/documents/reports/cat09/1901291307_Ready_to_Burn_Web.pdf
http://www.woodsure.co.uk/
https://www.cleanairday.org.uk/pages/category/clean-air-hub
https://www.cleanairday.org.uk/pages/category/clean-air-hub


High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 x 

 

 

 
 

Table of Contents 

Executive Summary: Air Quality in Our Area .......................................................... i 

Air Quality in High Peak Borough Council ........................................................................... i 

Actions to Improve Air Quality ............................................................................................ ii 

Conclusions and Priorities .................................................................................................. ii 

Local Engagement and How to get Involved...................................................................... iii 

1 Local Air Quality Management ........................................................................ 1 

2 Actions to Improve Air Quality ........................................................................ 2 

2.1 Air Quality Management Areas .............................................................................. 2 

2.2 Progress and Impact of Measures to address Air Quality in High Peak 

Borough Council ............................................................................................................... 4 

2.3 PM2.5 – Local  Authority  Approach  to  Reducing  Emissions  and/or 

Concentrations.................................................................................................................. 8 

3 Air Quality Monitoring Data and Comparison with Air Quality 

Objectives and National Compliance ...................................................................... 9 

3.1 Summary of Monitoring Undertaken ...................................................................... 9 

3.1.1 Automatic Monitoring Sites ............................................................................................. 9 

3.1.2 Non-Automatic Monitoring Sites ..................................................................................... 9 

3.2 Individual Pollutants .............................................................................................. 9 

3.2.1 Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) ................................................................................................... 9 

3.2.2 Sulphur Dioxide (SO2) .................................................................................................. 10 

Appendix A: Monitoring Results ........................................................................... 11 

Appendix B: Full Monthly Diffusion Tube Results for 2019 ................................ 24 

Appendix C: Supporting Technical Information / Air Quality Monitoring 

Data QA/QC ............................................................................................................. 27 

Appendix D: Maps of Monitoring Locations and AQMAs .................................... 31 

Appendix E: Summary of Air Quality Objectives in England .............................. 42 

Appendix F: Dinting Vale AQMA Supplementary Information ............................ 43 

Appendix G: Hogshaw Roundabout Detailed Air Quality Assessment .............. 44 

Glossary of Terms .................................................................................................. 45 

References .............................................................................................................. 46 

Page 90



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 xi 

 

 

 
 

 
List of Tables 

Table 2.1 – Declared Air Quality Management Areas .................................................. 3 
Table 2.2 – Progress on Measures to Improve Air Quality ........................................... 5 
Table A.1 – Details of Automatic Monitoring Sites ..................................................... 11 
Table A.2 – Details of Non-Automatic Monitoring Sites ............................................. 12 
Table A.3 – Annual Mean NO2 Monitoring Results .................................................... 16 
Table A.4 – 1-Hour Mean NO2 Monitoring Results .................................................... 22 
Table A.5 – SO2 Monitoring Results .......................................................................... 23 
Table B.1 – NO2  Monthly Diffusion Tube Results: 2019 ............................................. 24 
Table E.1 – Air Quality Objectives in England ........................................................... 42 

 
List of Figures 

Figure A.1 – Trends in Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations: Tintwistle AQMA ............. 19 
Figure A.2 – Trends in Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations: Dinting Vale .................... 20 
Figure A.3 – Trends in Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations: Outside AQMAs ............. 21 
Figure D.1 – Overview of High Peak Air Quality Monitoring ....................................... 31 
Figure D.2 – Monitoring Locations: Whaley Bridge, Newtown and Furness Vale ....... 32 
Figure D.3 – Monitoring Locations: Dove Holes ......................................................... 33 
Figure D.4 – Monitoring Locations: Hadfield .............................................................. 34 
Figure D.5 – Ladybower AURN Site .......................................................................... 35 
Figure D.6 – Dinting Vale AQMA and Glossop Monitoring Locations ......................... 36 
Figure D.7 – Monitoring Location: HP47 .................................................................... 37 
Figure D.8 – Monitoring Locations: Buxton ................................................................ 38 
Figure D.9 – Tintwistle AQMA and Monitoring Locations ........................................... 39 
Figure D.10 – Tintwistle AQMA .................................................................................. 40 
Figure D.11 – Dinting Vale AQMA ............................................................................. 41 

Page 91



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 1 

 

 

 

 

1 Local Air Quality Management 

This report provides an overview of air quality in High Peak Borough Council during 

2019. It fulfils the requirements of Local Air Quality Management (LAQM) as set out 

in Part IV of the Environment Act (1995) and the relevant Policy and Technical 

Guidance documents. 

The LAQM process places an obligation on all local authorities to regularly review 

and assess air quality in their areas, and to determine whether or not the air quality 

objectives are likely to be achieved. Where an exceedance is considered likely the 

local authority must declare an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) and prepare 

an Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) setting out the measures it intends to put in place 

in pursuit of the objectives. This Annual Status Report (ASR) is an annual 

requirement showing the strategies employed by High Peak Borough Council to 

improve air quality and any progress that has been made. 

The statutory air quality objectives applicable to LAQM in England can be found in 

Table E.1 in Appendix E. 

Page 92



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 2 

 

 

 

2 Actions to Improve Air Quality 

2.1 Air Quality Management Areas 

Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) are declared when there is an exceedance 

or likely exceedance of an air quality objective. After declaration, the authority must 

prepare an Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) within 12-18 months setting out measures 

it intends to put in place in pursuit of compliance with the objectives. These are 

currently being drafted. 

High Peak Borough Council currently has two AQMAs: 
 

 Tintwistle AQMA No.1; and 
 

 Dinting Vale AQMA No. 2 
 

A summary of the declared AQMAs can be found in Table 2.1. Further information 

related to declared or revoked AQMAs, including maps of AQMA boundaries are 

available online at https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/local-authorities?la_id=128. 

Alternatively, see Appendix D Maps of Monitoring Locations and AQMAs, which 

provides for a map of air quality monitoring locations in relation to the AQMAs. 

We are investigating declaring a new AQMA in Buxton area following the completion 

of a Detailed Assessment and due to two monitored exceedances of the NO2 annual 

mean objective in 2019. Further information is provided in the technical report 

included in Appendix G. 

Page 93

https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/local-authorities?la_id=128


LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 3 

 

 

High Peak Borough Council 

 

Table 2.1 – Declared Air Quality Management Areas 
 

 
 

 
AQMA 
Name 

 
 

 
Date of 

Declaration 

 

 
Pollutants 

and Air 
Quality 

Objectives 

 
 

 
City / 
Town 

 
 
 

One Line Description 

Is air 
quality in 
the AQMA 
influenced 
by roads 

controlled 
by 

Highways 
England? 

Level of Exceedance (maximum 
monitored/modelled concentration at a 

location of relevant exposure) 

 
Action Plan 

 

At Declaration 

 

Now 

 

Name 

 
Date of 

Publication 

 

Link 

 
 

HPBC 
AQMA 
No.1: 

Tintwistle 

 
 

 
11/09/2019 

 
 
 

NO2 

Annual 
Mean 

 
 
 
 

Tintwistle 

The designated area 
incorporates the 

following section of 
the Woodhead 

Road; between the 
Bank Lane/ 

Woodhead Road 
Junction and the Old 

Road/ Woodhead 
Road Junction 

 
 
 
 

No 

 
 
 
 

46.6 

 
 
 
 

µg/m³ 

 
 
 
 

37.2 

 
 
 
 

µg/m³ 

 
 
 
 

Ongoing 

 
HPBC 
AQMA 
No. 2 
Dinting 
Vale 

 
 
 

04/12/2019 

 
 

 
NO2 

Annual 
Mean 

 
 
 

 
Glossop 

The AQMA 
encompasses the 
properties between 
the A626 Glossop 
Road / A57 Dinting 
Vale Junction and 
the A57 Dinting 

Vale/ Dinting Lane 
Junction. 

 
 
 

 
No 

 
 
 

 
40.6 

 
 
 

 
µg/m³ 

 
 
 

 
38.3 

 
 
 

 
µg/m³ 

 
 
 

 
Ongoing 

P
age 94

https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/details?aqma_ref=3368
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/details?aqma_ref=3368
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/details?aqma_ref=3368
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/details?aqma_ref=3368
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/details?aqma_ref=3369
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/details?aqma_ref=3369
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/details?aqma_ref=3369
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/details?aqma_ref=3369
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/details?aqma_ref=3369


LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 4 

 

 

High Peak Borough Council 
 

2.2 Progress and Impact of Measures to address Air 
Quality in High Peak Borough Council 

Defra’s appraisal of last year’s ASR included the following key comments. 

Responses are provided in italics as appropriate: 

1. Trends are clearly presented and discussed but would look better if 

presented graphically. 

Charts have been included to present monitoring results both within the 

declared AQMAs and outside of the AQMAs. 

2. The end of Section 2.2 states a detailed assessment is underway for Dinting 

Vale. It is noted that this is already completed. 

Further information relating to the Detailed Assessment completed within 

Buxton is provided in Appendix G. 

3. Further study of exceedances outside the AQMA and possible deployment 

of further monitoring is encouraged. 

Seven additional monitoring sites were established during 2019, HP41- 

HP47. 

4. The Council needs to finalise the Tintwistle AQAP as soon as possible to 

tackle the continuing exceedances of the NO2 annual-mean objectives. 

The report is currently in draft format and will be submitted to Defra as part 

of the consultation exercise to be competed. 

High Peak Borough Council has taken forward a number of direct measures during 

the current reporting year of 2019 in pursuit of improving local air quality. Details of 

all measures completed, in progress or planned are set out in Table 2.2. and the 

commentary below. 

 

Transport Measures: EV Update 
 

The installation of Electric Vehicle charge points across the district is considered a key 

component in aiding the public to more easily switch to less polluting vehicles by 

providing the infrastructure to do so. 

High Peak Borough Council has been working with Derbyshire County Council, 

Nottingham City Council and BP Chargemaster as part of a D2N2 known as the “Go 

Ultra Low Programme”, which has the aim to bring electric vehicle (EV) charge points 

to the area. 

Page 95



LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 4 

 

 

The first stage of this project was completed at the end of 2019 and resulted in the 

installation of rapid charge points for electric vehicles, at several Council owned Car 

parks across the district including one in Glossop, considered to impact on AQMA 

No1 & No2. 

These are 
 

o Sylvan car park, Buxton, Buxton 
 

o Municipal Buildings Car Park, Glossop 
 

o Station Road Car Park, Hadfield 
 

o Hope Valley Car Park, Hope 
 

The second phase is due for completion at the end of 2020, and was specifically 

aimed a high density houses where housing where residents may wish to invest in  

an EV put have limited scope to charge their car because of lack of a private garage 

or driveway, therefore require on-street / local charge points. 

The choice of EV locations was, in part , informed with a district wide survey aimed at 

residents without off street parking facilities who would be interested in purchasing an 

electric vehicle charge points were available. Around 156 responses were received, 

with the majority indicating would consider switching EV if charge points were 

available. 

The following locations were chosen for Phase 2 

o  Bernard street Car park, Glossop 

o Miry meadow car park, Chapel-en-le-Frith 
 

o Canal street car park, Whaley Bridge and 
 

o Victoria Park road shops, Fairfield, Buxton 
 
 

An example of the EV charge point at Bernard street Car park, Glossop is shown in 

Figure 3.1 

Page 96



LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 4 

 

 

Figure 3.1 EV charge point at Bernard street Car park, Glossop 
 

 

 
Leading by Example measures: Local Plan Update 

 

The first stage of the new High Peak Local plan review was implemented in the June 

2020 and sort to update the associated Policies. Environmental Health have proposed 

that a specific AQ policy is incorporated into the new local plan, to address 

development around AQMA’s and also drive forwards improvements in local air 

quality across the borough, minimising exposure to pollution, and to improving the 

health and well-being of the residents. Whilst, a policy in itself is unlikely provide 

immediate solutions to improving air quality, it can ensure that future problems are 

prevented or minimised. 

The proposed policy is: 
 

Development will be permitted where it can be demonstrated: 
 

1. that it does not lead to significant adverse effects on health, the environment or 

amenity from polluting or malodorous emissions, or dust 

2. where a development is a sensitive end-use, that there will not be any significant 

adverse effects on health, the environment or amenity arising from existing poor 

air quality, sources of odour or other emissions to air. 

According to the end-use and nature of the area and application, applicants must 

demonstrate that: 

a. there is no adverse effect on air quality in an air quality management area 

(AQMA); 

b. pollution levels within the AQMA will not have a significant adverse effect Page 97



LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 4 

 

 

on the proposed use/users; 
 

c. the development will not lead to the declaration of a new AQMA; 
 

d. the development will not interfere with the implementation of the current 

Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP); 

e. any sources of emissions to air, odours and fugitive dusts generated by 

the development are adequately mitigated so as not to lead to loss of 

amenity for existing and future occupants and land uses; and 

f. any impacts on the proposed use from existing poor air quality, odour and 

emissions are appropriately monitored and mitigated by the developer. 

In addition new supplementary planning documents (SPD) have been developed in 

conjunction with the East Midlands Air Quality Network that is hoped to be formally 

adopted that details the types of assessments and appropriate pollution prevention 

or mitigation measures that may be adopted to facilitate development. 

 

Leading by Example measures: Green Fleet Review 
 

The Energy Saving Trust are aiding HPBC in reviewing the Councils fleet, type and 

use of vehicles, travel distances and patterns, and advise on a transition. The data 

and information required is being complied and the Energy Saving Trust will start to 

analyse this in late September 2020. 

Since October 2019, a total of 19 new vehicles have been purchased All the feature 

Euro-6 engines which reduce harmful pollutants from vehicle exhausts. The engines 

aren’t the only improvement, all the wagons include state of the art technology such 

electric bin lifts, an in-cab screen for drivers to monitor any potential hazards and a 

better fuel management system 

HPBC’s priority for the coming year is to finalise the draft AQAP, complete the 

required level of consultation, and following any amends required adopt the plan. The 

measures stated within Table 2.2 continue to help improve air quality conditions 

across the district, but the additional measures to be added upon the completion of 

the AQAP will be required to achieve compliance with the NO2 annual mean objective 

within the two declared AQMAs. 

Page 98



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 5 

 

 

 

Table 2.2 – Progress on Measures to Improve Air Quality 
 

 

Measure 
No. 

 
Measure 

 
EU Category 

 

EU 
Classification 

Date 
Measure 

Introduced 

 

Organisations 
involved 

 

Funding 
Source 

Key 
Performance 

Indicator 

Reduction in 
Pollutant / 

Emission from 
Measure 

 
Progress to Date 

Estimated / 
Actual 

Completion 
Date 

Comments / 
Barriers to 

implementation 

 
1 

Installation of public 
rapid EV Charging 

points across 
borough 

Promoting 
Low Emission 

Transport 

Promote Low 
Emission 
Vehicles 

 
2018/ 2019 

 

HPBC / 
DCC/NCC 

 

HPBC / 
DCC/NCC 

 
Unknown 

 

Reduced Vehicle 
emissions 

 
Phase 1 complete 

 
Ongoing 

https://www.transport 
nottingham.com/drivi 

ng/ultra-low- 
emission-vehicles/ 

 
2 

Installation of off 
street EV Charging 

points across 
borough 

Promoting 
Low Emission 

Transport 

Promote Low 
Emission 
Vehicles 

 
2019 

 

HPBC / 
DCC/NCC 

 

HPBC / 
DCC/NCC 

 
Unknown 

 

Reduced Vehicle 
emissions 

 
Ongoing 

 
Ongoing 

https://www.transport 
nottingham.com/drivi 

ng/ultra-low- 
emission-vehicles/ 

 
 

 
3 

 
 

Develop Electric 
Vehicle Charging 

Strategy for 
borough 

 

 
Promoting 

Low Emission 
Transport 

Developing 
infrastructure 

to promote Low 
Emission 

Vehicles, EV 
recharging, 

Gas fuel 
recharging 

 
 

 
Ongoing 

 
 

HPBC / 
DCC/NCC 

 
 

HPBC / 
DCC/NCC 

 
 

 
Unknown 

 
 

Reduced Vehicle 
emissions 

 
 

 
Ongoing 

 
 

 
Ongoing 

 
 

https://www.transport 
nottingham.com/drivi 

ng/ultra-low- 
emission-vehicles/ 

 
4 

HPBC Core 
Strategy 

PolicyEQ10 

Policy 
Guidance and 
Development 

Control 

 
Other policy 

 
2014 

 
HPBC 

 
HPBC 

 
TBC 

Reduced vehicle 
and building 
emissions 

 

Implementation on- 
going 

 
Operational 

 
None 

 
 

5 

 
Peak District Core 
Strategy Policy T1 

Policy 
Guidance and 
Development 

Control 

 
 

Other policy 

 
 

2013 

 

Peak District 
National Park 

Authority 

Peak 
District 
National 

Park 
Authority 

 
 

TBC 

 

Reduced vehicle 
and building 
emissions 

 
Implementation on- 

going 

 
 

Operational 

 
 

None 

 
 

6 

 
Peak District Local 
Plan Policy LC21 

Policy 
Guidance and 
Development 

Control 

 
 

Other policy 

 
 

2000 

 

Peak District 
National Park 

Authority 

Peak 
District 
National 

Park 
Authority 

 
 

TBC 

 

Reduced vehicle 
and building 
emissions 

 
Implementation on- 

going 

 
 

Operational 

 
 

None 

 

 
7 

 
 

Local Transport 
Plan (LTP3) 

 
Transport 

Planning and 
Infrastructure 

 

 
Other Policy 

 

 
2011 

 

 
DCC 

 

 
DCC 

 

 
TBC 

 
 

Reduced Vehicle 
emissions 

 
 

Implementation 
ongoing 

 

 
2026 

https://www.derbyshir 
e.gov.uk/transport- 

roads/transport- 
plans/ltp3/local- 
transport-plan- 

three.aspx 

 
 

8 

 
Workplace Travel 

Planning 

 

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives 

 

Workplace 
Travel 

Planning 

 
 

Ongoing 

 
 

DCC 

 
 

DCC 

 
 

Ongoing 

 
Air Quality 
Objective 

 
Reduced vehicle 

emissions 

 
 

Ongoing 

https://www.derbyshir 
e.gov.uk/transport_ro 
ads/transport_plans/ 
sustainable_travel/de 

fault.asp 

 
 

9 

 
Workplace Travel 

Planning 

 

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives 

 

Workplace 
Travel 

Planning 

 
 

Ongoing 

 
 

DCC 

 
 

DCC 

 
 

Ongoing 

 
Air Quality 
Objective 

 
Reduced vehicle 

emissions 

 
 

Ongoing 

https://www.derbyshir 
e.gov.uk/transport_ro 
ads/transport_plans/ 
sustainable_travel/de 

fault.asp 

 
10 

Encourage / 
facilitate home- 

working 

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives 

Workplace 
Travel 

Planning 

 
Ongoing 

 
DCC 

 
DCC 

 
Ongoing 

 

Air Quality 
Objective 

 

Reduced vehicle 
emissions 

 
Ongoing 

https://www.derbyshir 
e.gov.uk/working_for 
_us/smarter_travel/d 

efault.asp 

P
age 99



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 6 

 

 

 
 

 
11 

 
 

School Travel 
Plans 

 

 
Promoting 

Travel 
Alternatives 

 

 
Workplace 

Travel 
Planning 

 
 

 
Ongoing 

 
 

 
DCC 

 
 

 
DCC 

 
 

 
Ongoing 

 
 

Air Quality 
Objective 

 
 

Reduced vehicle 
emissions 

 
 

 
Ongoing 

https://www.derbyshir 
e.gov.uk/transport_ro 
ads/transport_plans/ 
sustainable_travel/tra 
vel_smart/default.asp 

&              
https://modeshiftstars 

.org/ 

 
12 

 

Promotion of 
cycling 

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives 

Workplace 
Travel 

Planning 

 
Ongoing 

 
DCC 

 
DCC 

 
Ongoing 

 

Air Quality 
Objective 

 

Reduced vehicle 
emissions 

 
Ongoing 

https://www.derbyshir 
e.gov.uk/leisure/coun 
tryside/access/cyclin 

g/default.asp 

 
13 

 

Promotion of 
walking 

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives 

Workplace 
Travel 

Planning 

 
Ongoing 

 
DCC 

 
DCC 

 
Ongoing 

 

Air Quality 
Objective 

 

educed vehicle 
emissions 

 
Ongoing 

https://www.derbyshir 
e.gov.uk/leisure/coun 
tryside/access/walkin 

g/default.asp 

 
14 

 

Car Share 
Derbyshire 

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives 

Workplace 
Travel 

Planning 

 
Ongoing 

 
DCC 

 
DCC 

 
Ongoing 

 

Air Quality 
Objective 

 

Reduced vehicle 
emissions 

 
Ongoing 

https://liftshare.com/u 
k/community/derbysh 

ire 

 
 

15 

 

Promote use of rail 
– Community rail 

partnerships 

 

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives 

 

Workplace 
Travel 

Planning 

 
 

Ongoing 

 
 

DCC 

 
 

DCC 

 
 

Ongoing 

 
Air Quality 
Objective 

 
Reduced vehicle 

emissions 

 
 

Ongoing 

https://www.derbyshir 
e.gov.uk/transport_ro 
ads/public_transport/ 
community_rail_partn 

erships/default.asp 

 
 

16 

 
Public cycle hire 

schemes 

 

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives 

 

Workplace 
Travel 

Planning 

 
 

Ongoing 

 
 

DCC 

 
 

DCC 

 
 

Ongoing 

 
Air Quality 
Objective 

 
Reduced vehicle 

emissions 

 
 

Ongoing 

https://www.derbyshir 
e.gov.uk/leisure/coun 
tryside/access/cyclin 
g/cycle_hire/default.a 

sp 

 
17 

 

Improving Cycle 
network 

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives 

Workplace 
Travel 

Planning 

 
Ongoing 

 
DCC 

 
DCC 

 
Ongoing 

 

Air Quality 
Objective 

 

Reduced vehicle 
emissions 

 
Ongoing 

https://www.derbyshir 
e.gov.uk/leisure/coun 
tryside/access/cyclin 

g/default.asp 

 
 

18 

 

Strategic 
Environmental 
Assessments 

 

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives 

 

Workplace 
Travel 

Planning 

 
 

Ongoing 

 
 

DCC 

 
 

DCC 

 
 

Ongoing 

 
Air Quality 
Objective 

 
Reduced vehicle 

emissions 

 
 

Ongoing 

https://www.derbyshir 
e.gov.uk/transport_ro 
ads/transport_plans/l 
tp3/env_assessment 

s/default.asp 

 
19 

 

Planning Guidance 
for developers 

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives 

Workplace 
Travel 

Planning 

 
Ongoing 

 
DCC 

 
DCC 

 
Ongoing 

 

Air Quality 
Objective 

 

Reduced vehicle 
emissions 

 
Ongoing 

https://www.derbyshir 
e.gov.uk/transport_ro 
ads/transport_plans 

 
 
 

20 

 
 

 
East Midlands Air 
Quality Network 

 

 
Policy 

Guidance and 
Development 

Control 

Regional 
Groups Co- 
coordinating 
Area wide 

Strategies to 
reduce 

emissions and 
improve air 

quality 

 
 
 

Ongoing 

 
 

 
PHE /East 

Midlands Councils 

 
 

PHE /East 
Midlands 
Councils 

 
 
 

N/A 

 
 

 
Reduction in a 

range of pollutants 

 
 

 
Work Plans / Action 

Plans Developed 

 
 
 

N/A 

 
 

Air Quality Working 
Group involves key 

players at senior 
level in Public sector 
and voluntary sectors 

 
 

21 

 
East Midlands Air 
Quality Network 

Guidance for 
Developers 

 
Policy 

Guidance and 
Development 

Control 

 
Air Quality 

Planning and 
Policy 

Guidance 

 
 

2018 

 

 
PHE /East 

Midlands Councils 

 
 

PHE /East 
Midlands 
Councils 

 
 

N/A 

 

 
Reduction in a 

range of pollutants 

Establishes a range 
of measures 
expected by 
developers 

Reduction in a 
range of pollutants 
from development 

 
 

N/A 

To be adapted locally 
taken to the Planning 
and Health Group on 

completion for 
discussion and local 

adoption and 
implementation 

P
age 100



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 7 

 

 

 
 
 

22 

 
 

Derbyshire Air 
Quality Working 

Group 

 

 
Policy 

Guidance and 
Developm ent 

Control 

Derbyshire 
Groups Co- 
coordinating 
Area wide 

Strategies to 
reduce 

emissions and 
improve air 

quality 

 
 
 

2016 

 
 

Derby City 
Council/ DCC/ 

District Councils 

 
 

Derby City 
Council/ 

DCC/ 
District 

Councils 

 
 
 

n/a 

 
 

 
Reduction in a 

range of pollutants 

 
 

 
Work Plans / Action 

Plans Developed 

 
 
 

Ongoing 

Annual report from 
group taken to 

Health and Wellbeing 
Board. Annual work 
plan created and a 
ten year Derbyshire 
Air Quality Strategy 

in production 

 
 
 
 

23 

 
 
 

Raise awareness of 
impacts of coal and 

wood burning 

 
 
 

 
Public 

Information 

Regional 
Groups Co- 
ordinating 

programmes to 
develop Area- 
wide Strategies 

to reduce 
emissions and 

improve air 
quality 

 
 
 
 

onwards 

 
 
 
 

HPBC/Defra 

 
 
 

 
HPBC/Defr 

a 

 
 
 
 

Unknown 

 
 
 
 

Unknown 

 
 
 
 

Ongoing 

 
 
 
 

Ongoing 

DEFRA Leaflet now 
on Council websites 
(City and County). In 

addition, DCC 
Healthy Homes 

Programme 
continues to offer 
grant funding to 

convert coal fires to 
gas central heating 

systems. 

 
 

 
24 

Inspect under the 
Environmental 

Permit regime and 
enforce legislation 

to reduce 
combustion 
processes 

 
 

Environmental 
Permits 

Introduction/ 
increase of 

environment 
charges 

through permit 
systems and 

economic 
instruments 

 
 

 
Ongoing 

 
 

 
HPBC 

 
 

 
HPBC 

 

Installations 
adhering to 
permits and 

enforcement/pen 
alties for 
breaches 

 
 

By restricting 
emissions from 

industrial 
processes 

 
 

 
on-going 

 
 

 
Continual 

 
 

This is standard 
HPBC work in 
Environmental 

Protection 

 
 

 
25 

 
 

Air quality 
monitoring 

 
 

Public 
Information 

 
 

 
Other 

 
 

 
Completed 

 
 

 
HPBC 

 
 

 
HPBC 

 
 

# monitoring 
locations and On- 
time submittal of 

ASRs 

 

 
Through 

EHO/public 
awareness 

 
 

 
On-going annually 

 
 

 
Annual 

Possibly liaise with 
Defra regarding need 

for additional 
monitoring and/or 
AURN funding. 

Consider continuous 

monitoring and AQ 
grant application 

P
age 101



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 8 

 

 

 

2.3 PM2.5 – Local Authority Approach to Reducing 
Emissions and/or Concentrations 

As detailed in Policy Guidance LAQM.PG16 (Chapter 7), local authorities are 

expected to work towards reducing emissions and/or concentrations of PM2.5 

(particulate matter with an aerodynamic diameter of 2.5µm or less). There is clear 

evidence that PM2.5 has a significant impact on human health, including premature 

mortality, allergic reactions, and cardiovascular diseases. 

While there is no proposed monitoring of PM2.5 in the borough. However, as primary 

emissions of both NO2 and particulates predominately originate from the same 

source, measures which attempt to reduce NO2 levels within High Peak will 

simultaneously reduce levels of PM10 and PM2.5. Examples of such measures can be 

found in Table 2.2. 

In the absence of monitoring, the current Defra 2019 background maps4 for High 

Peak (2018 based) show that all background concentrations of PM2.5 are far below 

the 2020 annual mean AQS objective for PM2.5. The highest concentration is 

predicted to be 7.2μg/m3 within the 1 x 1km grid square with the centroid grid 

reference of 406500, 381500. This grid square is located adjacent to the A6 Road 

where the PM secondary fraction (formed from gaseous pollutants), constitutes as 

the key contributor to PM2.5. 

The Public Health Outcomes Framework5 data tool complied by Public Health 

England quantifies the mortality burden of PM2.5 within England on a county and local 

authority scale. The 2018 fraction of mortality attributable to PM2.5 pollution in High 

Peak is 3.6%, which is the lower than the national average of 5.2%, and lower than 

the regional average (East Midlands) of 4.9%. 

Within the drafted AQAP, measures to reduce NO2 concentrations will also improve 

PM2.5 concentrations as a result of traffic management and mitigation measures. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4 https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/data/laqm-background-maps?year=2017 
5 Public Health Outcomes Framework, Public Health England. data tool available online at 

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/fine#page/0/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000004/ati/201/are/E07000037/cid/4/page-options/ovw-do-0 

Page 102

https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/data/laqm-background-maps?year=2017
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/fine%23page/0/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000004/ati/201/are/E07000037/cid/4/page-options/ovw-do-0
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/fine%23page/0/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000004/ati/201/are/E07000037/cid/4/page-options/ovw-do-0
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/fine%23page/0/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000004/ati/201/are/E07000037/cid/4/page-options/ovw-do-0


High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 9 

 

 

3 Air Quality Monitoring Data and Comparison 
with Air Quality Objectives and National Compliance 

3.1 Summary of Monitoring Undertaken 

3.1.1 Automatic Monitoring Sites 
 

This section sets out what monitoring has taken place and how it compares with 

objectives. 

Automatic monitoring was completed at one continuous monitoring during 2019 

within the borough as part of the AURN network. Table A.1 in Appendix A shows the 

details of the site. National monitoring results are available at https://uk- 

air.defra.gov.uk/networks/site-info?site_id=LB. 

Maps showing the location of the monitoring sites are provided in Appendix D. 

Further details on how the monitors are calibrated and how the data has been 

adjusted are included in Appendix C. 

 

3.1.2 Non-Automatic Monitoring Sites 
 

High Peak Borough Council undertook non- automatic (passive) monitoring of NO2 at 

41 sites during 2019, four sites more than the previous year. Table A.2 in Appendix A 

shows the details of the sites. 

Maps showing the location of the monitoring sites are provided in Appendix D. 

Further details on Quality Assurance/Quality Control (QA/QC) for the diffusion tubes, 

including bias adjustments and any other adjustments applied (e.g. “annualisation” 

and/or distance correction), are included in Appendix C. 

 

3.2 Individual Pollutants 

The air quality monitoring results presented in this section are, where relevant, 

adjusted for bias6, “annualisation” (where the data capture falls below 75%), and 

distance correction7. Further details on adjustments are provided in Appendix C. 

3.2.1 Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) 

Table A.3 in Appendix A compares the ratified and adjusted monitored NO2 annual 

mean concentrations for the past five years with the air quality objective of 40µg/m3. 

 

6 https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/bias-adjustment-factors/bias-adjustment.html 
7 Fall-off with distance correction criteria is provided in paragraph 7.77, LAQM.TG(16) 

Page 103

https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/networks/site-info?site_id=LB
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/networks/site-info?site_id=LB
https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/bias-adjustment-factors/bias-adjustment.html


High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 10 

 

 

Note that the concentration data presented in Table A.3 represents the concentration 

at the location of the monitoring site, following the application of bias adjustment and 

annualisation, as required (i.e. the values are exclusive of any consideration to fall-off 

with distance adjustment). 

For diffusion tubes, the full 2019 dataset of monthly mean values is provided in 

Appendix B. Note that the concentration data presented in Table B.1 includes 

distance corrected values, only where relevant. 

Table A.4 in Appendix A compares the ratified continuous monitored NO2 hourly 

mean concentrations for the past five years with the air quality objective of 200µg/m3, 

not to be exceeded more than 18 times per year. 

During 2019, two sites (HP33 and HP42) reported an exceedance of the NO2 annual 

mean objective at locations representative of receptors, three additional sites (HP5, 

HP21 and HP41) reported NO2 annual mean concentrations to be within 10% of the 

AQS objective. 

NO2 annual mean concentrations have decreased at 25 of the 35 sites for which data 

was also available for 2018. An increase of 5.9µg/m³ was experienced at Site HP38 

between 2018 and 2019, this was the maximum level of increase experienced. 

The annual mean NO2 concentration was not greater than 60 µg/m3 at any non- 

automatic monitoring site. Therefore exceedance of the 1-hour mean objective during 

2019 at any monitoring location within HPBC is considered to be unlikely. 

Furthermore, the continuous NO2 monitor present within HPBC reported no 

exceedance of the short term NO2 1-hour objective throughout 2019. 

Following distance correction to a point of relevant exposure there were no 

monitoring locations within either AQMA that exceeded the annual mean objective. 

However there were two monitoring sites (HP5 and HP21) within 10% of the annual 

mean objective. There were two monitored exceedances of the annual mean 

objective recorded within Buxton, at HP33 and HP41. 

 

3.2.2 Sulphur Dioxide (SO2) 

Table A.5 in Appendix A compares the ratified continuous monitored SO2 

concentrations for 2019 with the air quality objectives for SO2. At the Ladybower 

AURN site, there were no recorded exceedances of any of the objectives for SO2. 

Page 104



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 11 

 

 

 

Appendix A. Monitoring Results 

Table A.1 – Details of Automatic Monitoring Sites 
 

 

 
Site ID 

 

 
Site Name 

 

 
Site Type 

 
X OS 

Grid Ref 
(Easting) 

 
Y OS Grid 

Ref 
(Northing) 

 
 

Pollutants 
Monitored 

 
 

In 
AQMA? 

 
 

Monitoring 
Technique 

Distance 
to   

Relevant 
Exposure 

(m) (1) 

Distance 
to kerb 

of   
nearest 
road (m) 

(2) 

 
 

Inlet Height 
(m) 

UKA00171 
Ladybower 

AURN 
Rural 416585 389645 

NO2, O3, 
SO2 

NO Chemiluminescent n/a n/a 4.0 

 
Notes: 

(1) 0m if the monitoring site is at a location of exposure (e.g. installed on the façade of a residential property). 

(2) N/A if not applicable 

P
age 105



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 12 

 

 

 

Table A.2 – Details of Non-Automatic Monitoring Sites 
 

 
 

 
Site ID 

 
 

 
Site Name 

 
 

Site 
Type 

 
 

X OS Grid Ref 
(Easting) 

 

 
Y OS Grid 

Ref 
(Northing) 

 
 

Pollutants 
Monitored 

 
 

In 
AQMA? 

 

Distance to 
Relevant 
Exposure 

(m) (1) 

 

Distance 
to kerb of 
nearest 

road (m) (2)
 

 
Tube 

collocated 
with a 

Continuous 
Analyser? 

 
 

Height 
(m) 

 

HP1 
Rear of Howard 

Town House, 
Glossop 

 

Roadside 
 

403591 
 

394050 
 

NO2 

 

NO 
 

0.2 
 

5.5 
 

NO 
 

2.7 

HP3 
95 Woodhead Road, 

Tintwistle 
Roadside 402891 397536 NO2 NO 0.1 4.5 NO 2.1 

HP4 
60 Woodhead Road, 

Tintwistle 
Roadside 402823 397491 NO2 YES 0.1 2.0 NO 2 

HP5 
81 Woodhead Road, 

Tintwistle 
Roadside 402686 397437 NO2 YES 0.2 4.8 NO 2 

HP6 
75 Woodhead Road, 

Tintwistle 
Roadside 402539 397353 NO2 YES 0.1 4.1 NO 2.5 

HP8 
34 Church Street, 

Tintwistle 
Roadside 402240 397265 NO2 YES 0.2 2.1 NO 2.4 

HP9 
8 The Stocks, 

Tintwistle 
Roadside 402192 397274 NO2 NO 0.2 9.1 NO 2 

HP10 
Furness Vale School 

(A6) 
Roadside 400837 373752 NO2 NO 0.2 4.1 NO 2.3 

HP11 
Dove Holes School 

(A6) 
Roadside 407668 378239 NO2 NO 0.2 3.6 NO 2.8 

HP13 8 Granby Rd, Buxton Roadside 406581 373419 NO2 NO 0.2 11.2 NO 2 

HP14 Brookfield, Hadfield Roadside 401111 395390 NO2 NO 6.1 1.5 NO 2.5 

HP16 
10 Woolley Bridge 

Hadfield HP12B 
Roadside 401221 395993 NO2 NO 1.5 1.4 NO 2.8 

HP17 
Newtown traffic 

lights (A6) New Mills 
Roadside 399411 384561 NO2 NO 4.1 1.1 NO 2.7 

P
age 106



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 13 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
Site ID 

 
 

 
Site Name 

 
 

Site 
Type 

 
 

X OS Grid Ref 
(Easting) 

 

 
Y OS Grid 

Ref 
(Northing) 

 
 

Pollutants 
Monitored 

 
 

In 
AQMA? 

 

Distance to 
Relevant 
Exposure 

(m) (1) 

 

Distance 
to kerb of 
nearest 

road (m) (2)
 

 
Tube 

collocated 
with a 

Continuous 
Analyser? 

 
 

Height 
(m) 

HP18 
Barmoor Clough, 

Dove Holes 
Roadside 407629 379482 NO2 NO 103.0 2.6 NO 2.5 

 

HP20 
Manchester Rd / 
New Rd junction, 

Tintwistle 

 

Kerbside 
 

401957 
 

397280 
 

NO2 

 

NO 
 

0.9 
 

0.9 
 

NO 
 

2.6 

HP21 Dinting School (A57) Roadside 402060 394343 NO2 YES 0.2 1.6 NO 2.5 

HP22a/b 
237 High Street 

West, Glossop (A57) 
Roadside 402418 394220 NO2 NO 0.2 3.1 NO 2.6 

HP24 
64 High Street East, 

Glossop (A57) 
Roadside 403794 394089 NO2 NO 2.3 1.4 NO 2.4 

 

HP25 
A57 / Dinting Vale / 

Glossop Road (West 
Bound) 

 

Roadside 
 

401797 
 

394508 
 

NO2 

 

YES 
 

2.7 
 

0.6 
 

NO 
 

2.5 

 

HP26a/b 
Lampost near 70-72 

Woolley Bridge (East 
Bound) 

 

Roadside 
 

401025 
 

395670 
 

NO2 

 

NO 
 

0.3 
 

2.3 
 

NO 
 

2.5 

 
HP27 

North of 41 Wooley 
Bridge Road – Tom 

Howley (North 
Bound) 

 
Roadside 

 
401014 

 
395872 

 
NO2 

 
NO 

 
9.5 

 
2.9 

 
NO 

 
2.6 

 

HP28 
Near 411 Hadfield 
Road (lamppost) 

(south Bound) 

 

Roadside 
 

401272 
 

395970 
 

NO2 

 

NO 
 

2.8 
 

2.0 
 

NO 
 

2.6 

HP29a/b 
11 Manchester Rd 

(row of Houses) 
Roadside 401215 396967 NO2 NO 0.2 2.4 NO 2.4 

HP30 
25 Manchester Road 

(East Bound) 
Roadside 401641 397240 NO2 NO 3.1 2.3 NO 2.5 

P
age 107



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 14 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
Site ID 

 
 

 
Site Name 

 
 

Site 
Type 

 
 

X OS Grid Ref 
(Easting) 

 

 
Y OS Grid 

Ref 
(Northing) 

 
 

Pollutants 
Monitored 

 
 

In 
AQMA? 

 

Distance to 
Relevant 
Exposure 

(m) (1) 

 

Distance 
to kerb of 
nearest 

road (m) (2)
 

 
Tube 

collocated 
with a 

Continuous 
Analyser? 

 
 

Height 
(m) 

HP31 
58 Manchester Road 

(West Bound) 
Roadside 401876 397261 NO2 NO 0.4 1.5 NO 2.6 

HP32a/b 
A5004 Buxton Road 

(junction) 
Roadside 401227 382556 NO2 NO 2.1 1.4 NO 2.5 

HP33a/b 
136 Fairfield Road 

(lamp post) 
Roadside 406594 373949 NO2 NO 0.2 2.9 NO 2.5 

 

HP34 
25 Buxton Road, 

Dove Holes (A6) S- 
Bound 

 

Roadside 
 

407541 
 

377764 
 

NO2 

 

NO 
 

0.8 
 

1.9 
 

NO 
 

2.5 

HP35 
85 Hallsteads, Dove 
Holes (A6) N- Bound 

Roadside 407677 378326 NO2 NO 0.4 2.8 NO 2.5 

 

HP36 
144 Buxton 

Road,Furness Vale 
(A6) N- bound 

 

Roadside 
 

407737 
 

383534 
 

NO2 

 

NO 
 

9.4 
 

1.9 
 

NO 
 

2.6 

 

HP37 
81 Buxton Road, 

Furness Vale (A6) S- 
bound 

 

Roadside 
 

400682 
 

383623 
 

NO2 

 

NO 
 

2.5 
 

2.3 
 

NO 
 

2.6 

 

HP38 
86 Buxton Road, 

New Town, (A6) N - 
Bound 

 

Roadside 
 

399676 
 

384579 
 

NO2 

 

NO 
 

2.3 
 

1.6 
 

NO 
 

2.6 

 

HP39 
79 Buxton Road, 

New Town, (A6) S - 
Bound 

 

Roadside 
 

399716 
 

384578 
 

NO2 

 

NO 
 

3.5 
 

2.0 
 

NO 
 

2.6 

 

HP40 
33 Buxton Road, 

New Mills, (A6) S - 
Bound 

 

Roadside 
 

399622 
 

384581 
 

NO2 

 

NO 
 

2.8 
 

2.9 
 

NO 
 

2.5 

HP41 22 Fairfield SB Roadside 406405 373760 NO2 NO 0.2 2.1 NO 2.4 

HP42 52 Fairfield NB Roadside 406402 373898 NO2 NO 3.1 2.2 NO 2.6 

P
age 108



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 15 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
Site ID 

 
 

 
Site Name 

 
 

Site 
Type 

 
 

X OS Grid Ref 
(Easting) 

 

 
Y OS Grid 

Ref 
(Northing) 

 
 

Pollutants 
Monitored 

 
 

In 
AQMA? 

 

Distance to 
Relevant 
Exposure 

(m) (1) 

 

Distance 
to kerb of 
nearest 

road (m) (2)
 

 
Tube 

collocated 
with a 

Continuous 
Analyser? 

 
 

Height 
(m) 

HP43 101 Fairfield (SB) Roadside 406450 373920 NO2 NO 3.6 1.5 NO 2.6 

HP44 
Bulls Head Fairfield 

NB 
Roadside 406606 373972 NO2 NO 0.2 1.6 NO 2.6 

HP45 
117 Buxton road 
whaley bridge NB 

Roadside 401081 380736 NO2 NO 0.2 3.0 NO 2.5 

HP46 
Whaley Bridge 

Primary School NB 
Roadside 401107 381054 NO2 NO 7.8 2.6 NO 2.6 

HP47 Charlesworth; G&D Roadside 400526 392905 NO2 NO 0.7 0.2 NO 2.6 

 

Notes: 

(1) 0m if the monitoring site is at a location of exposure (e.g. installed on the façade of a residential property). 

(2) N/A if not applicable. 

P
age 109



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 16 

 

 

 

Table A.3 – Annual Mean NO2 Monitoring Results 
 

 

 
Site ID 

 
X OS 

Grid Ref 
(Easting) 

 
Y OS Grid 

Ref 
(Northing) 

 
 

Site 
Type 

 
 

Monitoring 
Type 

Valid Data 
Capture 

for  
Monitoring 
Period (%) 

(1) 

Valid 
Data 

Capture 
2019 (%) 

(2) 

NO2 Annual Mean Concentration (µg/m
3
) 

(3)
 
(4)

 

 
2015 

 
2016 

 
2017 

 
2018 

 
2019 

UKA00171 416585 389645 Rural Automatic 93.7% 93.7% 4.9 7.4 6.4 5.7 6.1 

HP1 403591 394050 Roadside Diffusion Tube 83.3% 83.3% 15.1 17.8 22.5 22.9 19.6 

HP3 402891 397536 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100.0% 100.0% 34.5 32.3 31.9 28.7 25.7 

HP4 402823 397491 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100.0% 100.0% 34.3 32.0 34.1 27.7 32.6 

HP5 402686 397437 Roadside Diffusion Tube 83.3% 83.3% 51.8 49.9 50.9 47.0 37.4 

HP6 402539 397353 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100.0% 100.0% 35.4 32.1 33.0 32.8 30.0 

HP8 402240 397265 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100.0% 100.0% 38.6 36.2 46.4 39.3 35.5 

HP9 402192 397274 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100.0% 100.0% 23.7 23.0 25.6 22.7 21.0 

HP10 400837 373752 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100.0% 100.0% 25.4 26.6 27.1 27.5 25.8 

HP11 407668 378239 Roadside Diffusion Tube 83.3% 83.3% 21.2 22.7 19.9 21.6 20.5 

HP13 406581 373419 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100.0% 100.0% 12.1 15.8 12.5 13.8 13.8 

HP14 401111 395390 Roadside Diffusion Tube 91.7% 91.7% 21.8 20.4 25.8 24.1 23.0 

HP16 401221 395993 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100.0% 100.0% - 23.6 27.0 25.8 23.9 

HP17 399411 384561 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100.0% 100.0% 20.6 19.1 32.8 32.6 31.4 

HP18 407629 379482 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100.0% 100.0% 36.4 33.7 37.7 38.1 35.8 

HP20 401957 397280 Kerbside Diffusion Tube 91.7% 91.7% 32.0 30.8 38.5 28.4 26.3 

HP21 402060 394343 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100.0% 100.0% - - 44.4 41.3 38.9 

HP22a/b 402418 394220 Roadside Diffusion Tube 91.7% 91.7% - - 37.2 33.6 31.3 

HP24 403794 394089 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100.0% 100.0% - - - 29.8 29.4 

HP25 401797 394508 Roadside Diffusion Tube 91.7% 91.7% - - - 53.6 46.3 

HP26a/b 401025 395670 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100.0% 100.0% - - - 34.5 30.8 

P
age 110



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 17 

 

 

 
 

 

 
Site ID 

 
X OS 

Grid Ref 
(Easting) 

 
Y OS Grid 

Ref 
(Northing) 

 
 

Site 
Type 

 
 

Monitoring 
Type 

Valid Data 
Capture 

for  
Monitoring 
Period (%) 

(1) 

Valid 
Data 

Capture 
2019 (%) 

(2) 

NO2 Annual Mean Concentration (µg/m
3
) 

(3)
 
(4)

 

 
2015 

 
2016 

 
2017 

 
2018 

 
2019 

HP27 401014 395872 Roadside Diffusion Tube 91.7% 91.7% - - - 32.7 33.8 

HP28 401272 395970 Roadside Diffusion Tube 75.0% 75.0% - - - 23.0 21.6 

HP29a/b (5) 401215 396967 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100.0% 100.0% - - - 30.7 27.3 

HP30 401641 397240 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100.0% 100.0% - - - 28.3 27.3 

HP31 401876 397261 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100.0% 100.0% - - - 37.8 35.9 

HP32a/b 401227 382556 Roadside Diffusion Tube 94.4% 70.8% - - - 40.3 38.6 

HP33a/b (5) 406594 373949 Roadside Diffusion Tube 83.3% 83.3% - - - 48.2 45.4 

HP34 407541 377764 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100.0% 100.0% - - - 23.6 26.3 

HP35 407677 378326 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100.0% 100.0% - - - 29.0 29.2 

HP36 407737 383534 Roadside Diffusion Tube 83.3% 83.3% - - - 32.3 30.8 

HP37 400682 383623 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100.0% 100.0% - - - 25.3 27.3 

HP38 399676 384579 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100.0% 100.0% - - - 27.4 33.3 

HP39 399716 384578 Roadside Diffusion Tube 91.7% 91.7% - - - 23.0 23.5 

HP40 399622 384581 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100.0% 100.0% - - - 26.3 27.9 

HP41 406405 373760 Roadside Diffusion Tube 81.8% 75.0% - - - - 44.4 

HP42 406402 373898 Roadside Diffusion Tube 90.9% 83.3% - - - - 50.3 

HP43 406450 373920 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100.0% 91.7% - - - - 34.0 

HP44 406606 373972 Roadside Diffusion Tube 90.9% 83.3% - - - - 36.2 

HP45 401081 380736 Roadside Diffusion Tube 90.9% 83.3% - - - - 28.5 

HP46 401107 381054 Roadside Diffusion Tube 90.9% 83.3% - - - - 20.8 

HP47 400526 392905 Roadside Diffusion Tube 100.0% 25.0% - - - - 32.2 

P
age 111



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 18 

 

 

 
 

☒ Diffusion tube data has been bias corrected 

☒ Annualisation has been conducted where data capture is <75% 

☒ Reported concentrations are those at the location of the monitoring site (bias adjusted and annualised, as required), i.e. prior to any fall-off with 

distance adjustment 

 
Notes: 

Exceedances of the NO2 annual mean objective of 40µg/m3 are shown in bold. 

NO2 annual means exceeding 60µg/m3, indicating a potential exceedance of the NO2 1-hour mean objective are shown in bold and underlined. 

(1) Data capture for the monitoring period, in cases where monitoring was only carried out for part of the year. 

(2) Data capture for the full calendar year (e.g. if monitoring was carried out for 6 months, the maximum data capture for the full calendar year is 50%). 

(3) Means for diffusion tubes have been corrected for bias. All means have been “annualised” as per Boxes 7.9 and 7.10 in LAQM.TG16 if valid data capture for 
the full calendar year is less than 75%. See Appendix C for details. 

(4) Concentrations are those at the location of monitoring and not those following any fall-off with distance adjustment. 

(5) Both HP29 and HP33 are duplicate sites. For HP29b and HP33b there was only one month of valid data capture therefore the data capture and annual mean 
presented are solely HP29a and HP33a. The monthly results for all diffusion tubes are presented in Table B.1. 

P
age 112



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 19 

 

 

 

Figure A.1 – Trends in Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations: Tintwistle AQMA 
 

P
age 113



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 20 

 

 

 

Figure A.2 – Trends in Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations: Dinting Vale 
 

P
age 114



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 21 

 

 

 

Figure A.3 – Trends in Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations: Outside AQMAs 
 

P
age 115



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 22 

 

 

 

Table A.4 – 1-Hour Mean NO2 Monitoring Results 
 

 
 

Site ID 

 

X OS Grid 
Ref 

(Easting) 

 

Y OS Grid 
Ref 

(Northing) 

 
 

Site Type 

 
Monitoring 

Type 

Valid Data 
Capture for 
Monitoring 
Period (%) (1)

 

Valid 
Data 

Capture 
2019 (%) 

(2) 

NO2 1-Hour Means > 200µg/m
3
 
(3)

 

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 

UKA00171 416585 389645 Rural Automatic 93.7 93.7 0 0 0 0 0 

 
Notes: 

Exceedances of the NO2 1-hour mean objective (200µg/m3 not to be exceeded more than 18 times/year) are shown in bold. 

(1) Data capture for the monitoring period, in cases where monitoring was only carried out for part of the year. 

(2) Data capture for the full calendar year (e.g. if monitoring was carried out for 6 months, the maximum data capture for the full calendar year is 50%). 

(3) If the period of valid data is less than 85%, the 99.8th percentile of 1-hour means is provided in brackets. 

P
age 116



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 23 

 

 

 

Table A.5 – SO2 Monitoring Results 
 

 

 
Site ID 

 

X OS Grid 
Ref 

(Easting) 

 

Y OS Grid 
Ref 

(Northing) 

 

 
Site Type 

 

Valid Data Capture 
for monitoring 
Period (%) (1)

 

 
 

Valid Data Capture 
2019 (%) (2)

 

Number of Exceedances 2019 
(percentile in bracket) (3)

 

15-minute 
Objective 
(266 µg/m3) 

1-hour 
Objective 

(350 µg/m3) 

24-hour 
Objective 

(125 µg/m3) 

UKA00171 416585 389645 Rural Automatic 58.4 0 (20.2) 0 (17.1) 0 (7.6) 

 
Notes: 

Exceedances of the SO2 objectives are shown in bold (15-min mean = 35 allowed a year, 1-hour mean = 24 allowed a year, 24-hour mean = 3 allowed a year) 

(1) Data capture for the monitoring period, in cases where monitoring was only carried out for part of the year. 

(2) Data capture for the full calendar year (e.g. if monitoring was carried out for 6 months, the maximum data capture for the full calendar year is 50%). 

(3) If the period of valid data is less than 85%, the relevant percentiles are provided in brackets. 

P
age 117



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 24 

 

 

 

Appendix B. Full Monthly Diffusion Tube Results for 2019 

Table B.1 – NO2 Monthly Diffusion Tube Results: 2019 
 

 
 

 
Site ID 

 
 

X OS Grid 
Ref 

(Easting 

 
 

Y OS Grid 
Ref 

(Northing) 

NO2 Mean concentrations (µg/m³) 

 
 
 

Jan 

 
 
 

Feb 

 
 
 

Mar 

 
 
 

Apr 

 
 
 

May 

 
 
 

Jun 

 
 
 

Jul 

 
 
 

Aug 

 
 
 

Sep 

 
 
 

Oct 

 
 
 

Nov 

 
 
 

Dec 

Annual Mean 

 

Raw 
Data 

Bias 
Adjusted 
(0.93) and 
annualised 

(1) 

Distance 
Corrected 

to    
Nearest 

Exposure 
(2) 

HP1 403591 394050 IS 26.9 23.7 17.8 16.9 18.9 19.1 TM 21.3 20.0 24.4 22.0 21.1 19.6  

HP3 402891 397536 33.8 30.8 23.9 22.2 26.1 27.8 27.3 25.2 29.2 29.3 29.3 26.9 27.7 25.7  

HP4 402823 397491 37.1 34.6 31.0 17.7 28.4 27.0 28.2 29.7 46.4 45.2 41.0 54.4 35.1 32.6  

HP5 402686 397437 47.1 42.6 40.3 33.0 44.2 45.1 40.2 47.6 30.4 TM TM 31.8 40.2 37.4 37.2 

HP6 402539 397353 34.6 36.9 35.7 28.0 30.1 31.3 32.2 31.0 32.7 29.8 30.5 34.9 32.3 30.0  

HP8 402240 397265 48.7 47.0 40.4 26.9 33.4 37.2 35.5 39.4 40.7 35.6 35.8 37.8 38.2 35.5  

HP9 402192 397274 26.7 26.3 21.5 19.5 20.7 20.5 22.7 21.6 21.7 23.8 23.2 23.3 22.6 21.0  

HP10 400837 373752 37.7 30.7 30.0 21.8 26.8 28.2 24.7 22.2 30.0 27.7 27.6 25.2 27.7 25.8  

HP11 407668 378239 25.1 27.8 TM 21.9 18.6 22.5 TM 16.9 22.9 21.9 29.8 13.3 22.1 20.5  

HP13 406581 373419 21.3 21.9 13.3 13.6 10.1 11.2 9.3 8.7 13.1 16.1 23.8 15.4 14.8 13.8  

HP14 401111 395390 32.7 31.3 24.2 15.8 21.1 19.2 TM 22.7 23.6 26.2 28.2 27.0 24.7 23.0  

HP16 401221 395993 34.1 31.2 22.3 19.5 21.4 20.0 23.2 20.0 25.8 27.9 33.1 30.2 25.7 23.9  

HP17 399411 384561 40.5 34.5 33.3 37.7 32.8 37.8 28.0 24.9 37.1 34.4 38.8 25.8 33.8 31.4  

HP18 407629 379482 49.1 39.4 32.3 31.2 37.7 40.7 32.9 33.1 41.7 43.7 53.4 26.3 38.5 35.8  

HP20 401957 397280 38.6 37.2 TM 25.7 21.0 23.6 25.7 24.3 26.1 28.9 30.7 29.7 28.3 26.3  

HP21 402060 394343 50.0 44.5 39.3 40.8 38.9 43.3 35.4 33.2 44.3 44.5 47.0 40.3 41.8 38.9 38.3 

HP22a  

402418 
 

394220 
40.5 42.8 34.8 26.9 28.3 29.6 29.9 29.7 35.4 34.1 39.8 PP 33.8  

31.3 
 

HP22b 42.5 41.9 34.2 28.9 27.7 31.3 30.8 29.7 36.1 34.8 30.2 PP 33.5 

P
age 118



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 25 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
Site ID 

 
 

X OS Grid 
Ref 

(Easting 

 
 

Y OS Grid 
Ref 

(Northing) 

NO2 Mean concentrations (µg/m³) 

 
 
 

Jan 

 
 
 

Feb 

 
 
 

Mar 

 
 
 

Apr 

 
 
 

May 

 
 
 

Jun 

 
 
 

Jul 

 
 
 

Aug 

 
 
 

Sep 

 
 
 

Oct 

 
 
 

Nov 

 
 
 

Dec 

Annual Mean 

 

Raw 
Data 

Bias 
Adjusted 
(0.93) and 
annualised 

(1) 

Distance 
Corrected 

to    
Nearest 

Exposure 
(2) 

HP24 403794 394089 41.9 36.1 32.4 26.7 22.4 31.1 28.7 23.7 31.9 30.5 42.4 31.6 31.6 29.4  

HP25 401797 394508 50.2 53.3 49.9 46.3 44.4 47.5 56.4 42.7 49.9 ER 52.8 54.8 49.8 46.3 35.0 

HP26a  

401025 
 

395670 
41.3 37.4 30.2 28.5 26.7 31.6 32.0 27.8 36.0 36.0 39.1 31.0 33.1  

30.8 
 

HP26b 40.3 32.9 29.4 30.0 27.5 31.6 32.9 25.9 36.3 33.7 42.1 33.7 33.0 

HP27 401014 395872 43.9 44.0 35.8 29.1 31.6 33.5 32.2 35.9 35.0 TM 37.6 40.7 36.3 33.8  

HP28 401272 395970 ER ER 27.6 19.6 19.6 18.5 21.8 19.5 19.8 TM 32.8 29.6 23.2 21.6  

HP29a  

401215 
 

396967 
29.3 37.1 28.1 19.0 25.3 28.9 32.7 29.3 28.7 30.7 30.0 33.3 29.4  

27.3 
 

HP29b 35.2 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 35.2 

HP30 401641 397240 39.3 35.6 27.9 21.5 23.2 27.5 25.6 28.5 29.9 30.6 31.5 31.8 29.4 27.3  

HP31 401876 397261 49.6 44.7 38.1 35.2 35.1 37.5 35.4 36.8 37.0 37.7 38.1 38.2 38.6 35.9  

HP32a  

401227 
 

382556 
47.9 41.7 40.3 36.0 45.7 44.2 TM 31.5 46.6 59.4 49.9 33.2 43.3  

38.6 
 

32.9 
HP32b 44.6 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 33.5 44.0 46.6 47.1 32.9 41.5 

HP33a  

406594 
 

373949 
55.3 52.3 40.3 43.7 46.6 52.7 42.2 40.4 58.4 PP ER 56.8 48.9  

45.4 
 

42.3 
HP33b N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A PP ER 44.3 44.3 

HP34 407541 377764 29.8 34.4 17.9 34.4 28.7 34.2 30.7 23.6 31.3 27.6 31.6 15.1 28.3 26.3  

HP35 407677 378326 38.0 41.9 24.3 33.1 24.6 29.2 30.8 26.6 35.0 33.2 35.6 24.7 31.4 29.2  

HP36 407737 383534 41.4 37.2 27.9 33.2 TM 36.9 32.3 TM 38.4 36.6 35.1 12.7 33.2 30.8  

HP37 400682 383623 35.8 34.8 27.3 28.1 24.9 26.8 23.9 24.2 32.3 28.3 42.0 24.0 29.4 27.3  

HP38 399676 384579 46.4 43.4 35.6 25.8 30.9 33.9 33.5 28.7 36.7 34.0 50.6 29.6 35.8 33.3  

HP39 399716 384578 38.5 27.4 23.9 20.4 21.2 23.2 TM 19.3 27.6 26.7 29.2 20.8 25.3 23.5  

HP40 399622 384581 39.8 29.1 28.3 24.1 26.2 29.2 27.1 21.9 30.9 32.0 50.6 20.4 30.0 27.9  

P
age 119



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 26 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
Site ID 

 
 

X OS Grid 
Ref 

(Easting 

 
 

Y OS Grid 
Ref 

(Northing) 

NO2 Mean concentrations (µg/m³) 

 
 
 

Jan 

 
 
 

Feb 

 
 
 

Mar 

 
 
 

Apr 

 
 
 

May 

 
 
 

Jun 

 
 
 

Jul 

 
 
 

Aug 

 
 
 

Sep 

 
 
 

Oct 

 
 
 

Nov 

 
 
 

Dec 

Annual Mean 

 

Raw 
Data 

Bias 
Adjusted 
(0.93) and 
annualised 

(1) 

Distance 
Corrected 

to    
Nearest 

Exposure 
(2) 

HP41 406405 373760 N/A 49.9 33.6 64.5 44.9 52.9 42.1 37.1 48.9 TM TM 55.5 47.7 44.4 37.2 

HP42 406402 373898 N/A 64.8 52.5 51.8 54.6 59.4 52.9 55.7 61.1 IS 54.8 33.5 54.1 50.3 41.9 

HP43 406450 373920 N/A 46.7 28.7 47.0 33.4 37.9 34.2 33.8 35.2 36.6 33.7 35.4 36.6 34.0  

HP44 406606 373972 N/A 42.8 36.0 33.7 39.0 43.4 37.1 32.0 53.1 ER 50.0 21.9 38.9 36.2 35.6 

HP45 401081 380736 N/A 35.1 32.3 25.6 25.2 32.2 TM 27.3 34.1 29.6 33.7 31.6 30.7 28.5  

HP46 401107 381054 N/A 26.6 19.0 19.6 17.3 21.6 TM 15.0 23.5 23.0 34.8 23.2 22.4 20.8  

HP47 400526 392905 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 44.3 48.3 24.1 38.9 32.2  

 

☐ Local bias adjustment factor used 

☒ National bias adjustment factor used 

☒ Annualisation has been conducted where data capture is <75% 

☒ Where applicable, data has been distance corrected for relevant exposure in the final column 

Notes: 

Exceedances of the NO2 annual mean objective of 40µg/m3 are shown in bold. 

NO2 annual means exceeding 60µg/m3, indicating a potential exceedance of the NO2 1-hour mean objective are shown in bold and underlined. 

(1) See Appendix C for details on bias adjustment and annualisation. 

(2) Distance corrected to nearest relevant public exposure. 

IS – Invalid Sample, TM – Tube Missing, ER – Erroneous Result, PP – Poor Precision, N/A – Tube not Deployed 

P
age 120



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 27 

 

 

 

Appendix C. Supporting Technical 
Information / Air Quality Monitoring Data 
QA/QC 

Diffusion Tube National Bias Adjustment Factors 
 

The diffusion tubes for the year 2019 were supplied and analysed by Staffordshire 

Scientific Services, the tubes were prepared using the 20% Triethanolamine (TEA) in 

water preparation method. The national bias adjustment factor for is 0.93 (based on 

17 studies, version 09/20) as derived from the national bias adjustment calculator8. 

 

Discussion of Choice of Factor to Use 
 

The diffusion tube data has been corrected using a bias adjustment factor, which is 

an estimate of the difference between diffusion tube concentration and continuous 

monitoring, the latter assumed to be a more accurate method of monitoring. 

LAQM.TG(16) provides guidance with regard to the application of a bias adjustment 

factor to correct diffusion tube monitoring. Triplicate co-location studies can be used 

to determine a local bias factor based on the comparison of diffusion tube results with 

data taken from NOx/NO2 continuous analysers. Alternatively, the national database 

 
 

 
8 National Diffusion Tube Bias Adjustment Factor Spreadsheet version 03/19 available at https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/bias- 
adjustment-factors/national-bias.html 

Page 121

https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/bias-adjustment-factors/national-bias.html
https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/bias-adjustment-factors/national-bias.html


High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 28 

 

 

of diffusion tube co-location surveys provides bias factors for the relevant laboratory 

and preparation method. 

 

With regard to the application of a bias adjustment factor for diffusion tubes, the 

Defra Technical Guidance LAQM.TG(16) and the LAQM Helpdesk9 recommend the 

use of a local bias adjustment factor where available and relevant to diffusion tube 

sites. There is no co-location study locally; therefore, the national bias adjustment of 

0.93 is used to correct diffusion tube monitoring. 
 

Previous year’s bias adjustment are shown below. 

 
Table C.1 – Previous Years Bias Adjustment Factors 

 

Year Factor Used Local or National 
2017 0.88 National 

2018 0.89 National 

2019 0.93 National 
 

Distance from Road Correction 

In line with LAQM.TG(16) distance correction has been applied to NO2 monitoring 

sites that have recorded an annual mean concentration above or within 10% of the 

annual mean objective. There were eight monitoring locations in 2019 that have 

recorded concentrations greater than 36µg/m3 and are not sited at locations of 

relevant exposure. 

The NO2 Fall-Off with Distance Calculator (v4.2) has been used to derive the NO2 

concentration at a location of relevant exposure for these eight monitoring sites; the 

results of the calculations are presented in Table C.1. 

 

Table C.1 – NO2 Fall-Off With Distance Calculations 
 

 

 
Site ID 

Distance (m) NO2 Annual Mean Concentration (µg/m
3
) 

Monitoring 
Site to 
Kerb 

Receptor 
to Kerb 

 
Background 10

 
Monitoring at 

Site 
Predicted at 

Receptor 

HP5 4.8 5.0 9.5 37.4 37.2 

HP21 1.6 1.8 9.8 38.9 38.3 

HP25 0.6 3.4 9.9 46.3 35.0 

HP32 1.4 3.5 9.2 38.6 32.9 

HP34 1.9 2.7 7.1 45.4 42.3 

HP42 2.2 5.2 10.3 44.4 37.2 

 
9 Laqm.defra.gov.uk 
10 https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/data/laqm-background-home 

Page 122



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 29 

 

 

 

 

 
Site ID 

Distance (m) NO2 Annual Mean Concentration (µg/m
3
) 

Monitoring 
Site to 
Kerb 

Receptor 
to Kerb 

 
Background 10

 
Monitoring at 

Site 
Predicted at 

Receptor 

HP43 2.2 5.2 10.3 50.3 41.9 

HP45 1.6 1.8 10.3 36.2 35.6 
 

Annualisation 

In regards to the 2019 diffusion tube data set, annualisation was required at two 

diffusion tube locations due to data capture being below 75% (and greater than 

25%). Annualisation has been completed in line with Box 7.10 within LAQM.TG(16) 

using the LAQM annualisation tool. Full working details are presented in Table C.2 

and Table C.3. 

In completing the annualisation process, data has been taken from a number of 

automatic background monitoring sites that are part of the AURN. In line with 

LAQM.TG(16) the monitoring sites that have been used lie within a radius of 

approximately 50 miles of the sites to be annualised and have a data capture of 85% 

or above. The background monitoring sites that were used are listed in Table C.2 and 

the calculations shown in Table C.2. 

 

Table C.2 – AURN Monitoring Stations used for Annualisation 
 

 
Pollutant 

 
Background AURN Sites used for Annualisation 

 

NO2 

1. Ladybower 

2. Chesterfield Loundsley 

3. Manchester Piccadilly 

 

Table C.3 – Annualisation of NO2 Data 
 

 

 
Diffusion 
Tube ID 

 
Annualisation 

Factor 
Ladybower 

 

Annualisation 
Factor 

Chesterfield 
Loundsley 

 

Annualisation 
Factor 

Manchester 
Piccadilly 

 
Average 

Annualisation 
Factor 

Raw 
Data 

Simple 
Annual 
Mean 

(µg/m3) 

Annualised 
Data 

Simple 
Annual 
Mean 

(µg/m3) 

HP47 0.9049 0.8566 0.9054 0.8890 38.9 34.6 

HP32a 1.0009 0.9316 0.9483 0.9603 41.5 39.8 

Page 123



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 30 

 

 

QA/QC of Automatic Monitoring 
 

The Ladybower monitoring station is managed as part of the Automatic Urban and 

Rural Network (AURN), thus data and QA/QC are managed to strict AURN 

standards. 

 

QA/QC of Diffusion Tube Monitoring 
 

The diffusion tubes for 2019 were supplied and analysed by Staffordshire Scientific 

Services using the 20% TEA in water preparation method. All results have been bias 

adjusted before being presented in Table A.3. 

 

Staffordshire Scientific Services participate in the AIR-PT Scheme (a continuation of 

the Workplace Analysis Scheme for Proficiency (WASP)) for NO2 tube analysis and 

the Annual Field Inter-Comparison Exercise. These provide strict performance 

criteria for participating laboratories to meet, thereby ensuring NO2 concentrations 

reported are of a high caliber. In the latest available AIR-PT results, AIR-PT AR 0030 

(January to February 2019), AIR-PT AR031 (April to May 2019), AIR-PT AR033 (July 

to August 2019), AIR-PT AR034 (September to November 2019). Gradko has scored 

between 75% and 100%. The percentage score reflects the results deemed to be 

satisfactory based upon the z-score of < ± 2. 

 

Additionally, the precision of the NO2 diffusion tubes supplied by Staffordshire 

Scientific Services have been classified as ‘good’ for all but one observations during 

2019. This precision reflects the laboratory’s performance and consistency in 

preparing and analysing the tubes, as well as the subsequent handling of the tubes in 

the field. Precision summary results are available from the LAQM website, at: 

https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/diffusion-tubes/precision.html. 

Page 124

https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/diffusion-tubes/precision.html


High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 31 

 

 

 

Appendix D. Maps of Monitoring Locations 
and AQMAs 

Figure D.1 – Overview of High Peak Air Quality Monitoring 

Page 125



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 32 

 

 

Figure D.2 – Monitoring Locations: Whaley Bridge, Newtown and Furness Vale 

Page 126



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 33 

 

 

Figure D.3 – Monitoring Locations: Dove Holes 

Page 127



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 34 

 

 

Figure D.4 – Monitoring Locations: Hadfield 

Page 128



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 35 

 

 

Figure D.5 – Ladybower AURN Site 

Page 129



High Peak Borough Council 

Figure D.6 – Dinting Vale AQMA and Glossop Monitoring Locations 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 36 

 

 

 

 

P
age 130



High Peak Borough Council 

Figure D.7 – Monitoring Location: HP47 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 37 

 

 

 

 

P
age 131



High Peak Borough Council 

Figure D.8 – Monitoring Locations: Buxton 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 38 

 

 

 

 

P
age 132



High Peak Borough Council 

Figure D.9 – Tintwistle AQMA and Monitoring Locations 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 39 

 

 

 

 

P
age 133



High Peak Borough Council 

Figure D.10 – Tintwistle AQMA 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 40 

 

 

 

 

P
age 134



High Peak Borough Council 

Figure D.11 – Dinting Vale AQMA 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 41 

 

 

 

 

P
age 135



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 42 

 

 

 

Appendix E: Summary of Air Quality Objectives in 
England 

Table E.1 – Air Quality Objectives in England 
 

 

Pollutant 
Air Quality Objective11

 

Concentration Measured as 

Nitrogen Dioxide 
(NO2) 

200 µg/m3 not to be exceeded more 
than 18 times a year 

1-hour mean 

40 µg/m3
 Annual mean 

Particulate Matter 
(PM10) 

50 µg/m3, not to be exceeded more 
than 35 times a year 

24-hour mean 

40 µg/m3
 Annual mean 

 
 

Sulphur Dioxide 
(SO2) 

350 µg/m3, not to be exceeded more 
than 24 times a year 

1-hour mean 

125 µg/m3, not to be exceeded more 
than 3 times a year 

24-hour mean 

266 µg/m3, not to be exceeded more 
than 35 times a year 

15-minute mean 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

11 The units are in microgrammes of pollutant per cubic metre of air (µg/m3). 

Page 136



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 43 

 

 

Appendix F: Dinting Vale AQMA Supplementary 
Information 

Introduction 

Measurements indicate that the annual mean nitrogen dioxide objective has been 

exceeded along the A57 in Dinting Vale, Glossop. High Peak Borough Council 

(HPBC) has therefore decided to undertake a Detailed Assessment of air quality 

within the Dinting Vale area of Glossop. 

The purpose of this Detailed Assessment is to determine whether an exceedance of 

an air quality objective is likely and the geographical extent of that exceedance, 

which will determine the extent of the AQMA that has to be declared. Subsequent to 

the declaration of an AQMA, an Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) should be prepared 

within one year and approved by Defra. The AQAP will identify measures to improve 

local air quality and to achieve the air quality objectives. In order to inform the Action 

Plan process the magnitude of reduction in emissions required to achieve the 

objective has also be calculated. 

This report presents a Detailed Assessment, following the findings of HPBC’s 

pollutant monitoring which is described in Section 3. 

 

Background 

The Air Quality Strategy (Defra, 2007) published by the Department for Environment, 

Food, and Rural Affairs (Defra) and Devolved Administrations, provides the policy 

framework for air quality management and assessment in the UK. It provides air 

quality standards and objectives for key air pollutants, which are designed to protect 

human health and the environment. It also sets out how the different sectors: 

industry, transport and local government, can contribute to achieving the air quality 

objectives. Local authorities are seen to play a particularly important role. The 

strategy describes the Local Air Quality Management (LAQM) regime that has been 

established, whereby every authority has to carry out regular reviews and 

assessments of air quality in its area to identify whether the objectives have been, or 

will be, achieved at relevant locations, by the applicable date. If this is not the case, 

the authority must declare an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA), and prepare an 

action plan which identifies appropriate measures that will be introduced in pursuit of 

the objectives. 

Page 137



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 44 

 

 

Technical Guidance for LAQM (LAQM.TG16) (Defra, 2016) sets out a streamlined 

approach to the Review and Assessment process. This prescribes the submission 

of a single Annual Status Report (ASR) which all local authorities in England must 

submit each year by the 30th June. It should identify new non-compliant areas and 

report progress made within existing AQMA’s. When an exceedance has been 

identified, the local authority can either use the “Fast Track Option” and immediately 

declare an AQMA, or obtain further information and/or data before deciding on the 

declaration of an AQMA. The latter approach is being treated as a ‘Detailed 

Assessment’ for the purposes of this report4. 

The Air Quality Objectives 

The Government’s Air Quality Strategy (Defra, 2007) provides air quality standards 

and objectives for key air pollutants, which are designed to protect human health and 

the environment. The ‘standards’ are set as concentrations below which health 

effects are unlikely even in sensitive population groups, or below which risks to 

public health would be exceedingly small. They are based purely upon the scientific 

and medical evidence of the effects of a particular pollutant. The ‘objectives’ set out 

the extent to which the Government expects the standards to be achieved by a 

certain date. They take account of the costs, benefits, feasibility and practicality of 

achieving the standards. It also sets out how the different sectors: industry, transport 

and local government, can contribute to achieving the air quality objectives. The 

objectives are prescribed within The Air Quality (England) Regulations 2000 (2000) 

and The Air Quality (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2002 (2002). Table E.1 

summarises the objectives which are relevant to this report. Studies have shown 

associations of nitrogen dioxide in outdoor air with adverse health effects; respiratory 

and cardiovascular morbidity and mortality. Evidence associating nitrogen dioxide 

with health effects has strengthened substantially in recently years. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

4 Detailed Assessments were part of the previous approach to LAQM, but they are no longer required in 

current TG16 guidance. Page 138



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 45 

 

 

Table D.1: Air Quality Objectives for Nitrogen Dioxide 
 

Pollutant Time Period Objective 

 

Nitrogen Dioxide 

1-hour mean 200 g/m3 not to be exceeded more than 18 times a year 

Annual mean 40 g/m3 

The air quality objectives only apply where members of the public are likely to be 

regularly present for the averaging time of the objective (i.e. where people will be 

exposed to pollutants). For annual mean objectives, relevant exposure is limited to 

residential properties, schools and hospitals. The 1-hour objective applies at these 

locations as well as at any outdoor location where a member of the public might 

reasonably be expected to stay for 1 hour or more, such as shopping streets, parks 

and sports grounds, as well as bus stations and railway stations that are not fully 

enclosed. 

Measurements across the UK have shown that the 1-hour nitrogen dioxide objective 

is unlikely to be exceeded unless the annual mean nitrogen dioxide concentration is 

greater than 60 µg/m3 (Defra, 2016). Thus exceedances of 60 µg/m3 as an annual 

mean nitrogen dioxide concentration are used as an indicator of potential 

exceedances of the 1-hour nitrogen dioxide objective. 

 

Modelling 

Annual mean nitrogen dioxide concentrations have been predicted using detailed 

dispersion modelling (ADMS-Roads v4.1). Details of the model inputs, assumptions 

and the verification are provided in Appendix E, together with the method used to 

derive background concentrations. Where assumptions have been made, a realistic 

worst-case approach has been adopted. 

The modelling has sought to determine the area within which the annual mean 

nitrogen dioxide objective is likely to have been exceeded. The model outputs have 

been verified against 2018 data from the diffusion tube monitoring sites HP21, HP22 

and HP25; further details of model verification are supplied in Appendix E. 

Concentrations have been predicted at specified receptor locations along Dinting 

Road and Simmondly Lane (Figure D.1). The receptors are modelled at the façades 

of buildings considered to represent worst-case locations, in terms of nitrogen 

dioxide concentrations. All receptors were modelled at a height of 1.5 m, except 

receptors 6 and 7 which were modelled at 3.5 m to account for the houses being 

elevated above road level. 

Page 139



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 46 

 

 

 

 
 

Figure D.1: Receptor and Monitor Locations 

Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2019. Ordnance Survey licence number 

100046099. 

Results 

Predicted concentrations exceed the annual mean objective at locations within the 

study area, as shown in Figure D.2. The figure shows the receptors exceeding 

40 µg/m3 (red), between 36 µg/m3 and 40 µg/m3 (yellow), and below 36 µg/m3 in 

green. 

Page 140



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 47 

 

 

 

 
 

Figure D.2: Predicted Annual Mean Nitrogen Dioxide Concentrations (µg/m3) 
in 2018 at Ground-Floor Level 

Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2019. Ordnance Survey licence number 

100046099. 

There are relevant receptors with exceedances, thus an AQMA should be declared. 

The AQMA should include, as a minimum, the receptors which have modelled 

exceedances in 2018. 

Air Quality Improvements Required 

The degree of improvement needed in order for the annual mean nitrogen dioxide 

objective to be achieved is defined by the difference between the predicted 

concentration at a worst-case relevant exposure location and the objective level (40 

μg/m3). 

In terms of describing the reduction in emissions required, it is more useful to 

consider nitrogen oxides (NOx). The required reduction in local nitrogen oxides 

emission has been calculated in line with guidance presented in LAQM.TG16 (Defra, 

2016). Table D.2 sets out the required reduction in local emissions of NOx  that 

would be required at each of the receptor locations where an exceedance is 

predicted, in order for the annual mean objective to be achieved. 

The annual mean nitrogen dioxide concentrations at receptors 3 to 5, and 8 to 23 are 

predicted to exceed 40 μg/m3 in 2018. The worst case receptor, receptor 18, Page 141



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 48 

 

 

requires a reduction of 11.6 μg/m3 in order to achieve the objective. Table D.2 

shows the receptor locations which are predicted to have experienced exceedances 

in 2018, and the NOx emissions which would be required in order to achieve the 

objective. 

 

Table D.2: Improvement in Annual Mean Nitrogen Dioxide Concentrations 
and Nitrogen Oxides Concentrations Required in 2018 to Meet the Objective 

Page 142



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 49 

 

 

 

 
 

Receptor 

Required Reduction in annual 
mean nitrogen dioxide (NO2 ) 

Required Reduction in annual 
mean nitrogen oxides (NOx) 

µg/m3
 

% of total 
predicted NO2 

µg/m3
 

% of total 
predicted NOx 

Receptor 3 2.7 6.3 7.1 10.7 

Receptor 4 2.9 6.8 7.6 11.3 

Receptor 5 7.0 14.9 18.0 23.2 

Receptor 8 2.7 6.3 7.0 10.5 

Receptor 9 2.3 5.4 6.1 9.2 

Receptor 10 1.9 4.5 5.1 7.9 

Receptor 11 1.8 4.3 5.0 7.7 

Receptor 12 1.8 4.3 4.9 7.6 

Receptor 13 2.7 6.3 7.1 10.6 

Receptor 14 4.2 9.5 10.8 15.3 

Receptor 15 4.3 9.7 11.2 15.7 

Receptor 16 4.6 10.3 11.9 16.8 

Receptor 17 9.6 19.4 24.7 29.5 

Receptor 18 11.6 22.5 30.3 33.9 

Receptor 19 9.3 18.9 24.0 28.9 

Receptor 20 9.6 19.4 24.9 29.6 

Receptor 21 9.9 19.8 25.6 30.2 

Receptor 22 1.3 3.1 3.6 5.7 

Receptor 23 1.0 2.4 2.9 4.6 

 

Conclusions and Recommendations 

A Detailed Assessment has been carried out for nitrogen dioxide at Dinting Vale in 

Glossop. This area was identified as being at risk of exceeding the annual mean air 

quality objective for nitrogen dioxide through passive diffusion tube monitoring 

carried out by HPBC. 

The Detailed Assessment has been carried out using a combination of monitoring 

data and modelled concentrations. Concentrations of nitrogen dioxide have been 

modelled for 2018 using the ADMS-Roads dispersion model. The model has been 

Page 143



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 50 

 

 

verified against measurements made at three diffusion tube monitoring locations 

which are adjacent to the road network included in the model. 

The assessment has identified that the annual mean nitrogen dioxide objective is 

being exceeded at relevant locations along Dinting Vale, between Glossop Road and 

Simmondly Lane. It is recommended that an AQMA is declared to include, as a 

minimum, those residential properties that are predicted to be exceeding 40 µg/m3 

(see Figure D.2). The proposed Glossop AQMA area can be seen in Figure D.3. 

 

Figure D.3: Proposed Glossop AQMA 

Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2019. Ordnance Survey licence number 

100046099. 

It is also recommended that HPBC continues monitoring nitrogen dioxide at the 

existing locations. 

Uncertainty in Road Traffic Modelling Predictions 

There are many components that contribute to the uncertainty of modelling 

predictions. The road traffic emissions dispersion model used in this assessment is 

dependent upon the traffic data that have been input, which will have inherent 

uncertainties associated with them. There are then additional uncertainties, as 

models are required to simplify real-world conditions into a series of algorithms. 

Page 144



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 51 

 

 

An important stage in the process is model verification, which involves comparing 

the model output with measured concentrations. Because the model has been 

verified and adjusted, there can be reasonable confidence in the prediction of 2018 

concentrations. 

 

Model Inputs 

Predictions have been carried out using the ADMS-Roads dispersion model (v4.1). 

The model requires the user to provide various input data, including emissions from 

each section of road and the road characteristics (including road width, and canyon 

height and porosity, where applicable). Vehicle emissions have been calculated 

based on vehicle flow, composition and speed data using the EFT (Version 9.0) 

published by Defra (2019c). 

Hourly sequential meteorological data from Emley Moor for 2018 have been used in 

the model. The Emley Moor meteorological monitoring station is located 

approximately 26 km to the north east of Glossop town centre. It is deemed to be 

the nearest monitoring station representative of meteorological conditions in the 

vicinity of the study area. The Emley Moor meteorological monitoring station will be 

influenced by the effects of inland meteorology over hilly topography. 

Traffic data for the assessment have been provided by Highways England. The 

traffic data were provided in the form of am/pm peaks from a traffic survey taken on 

the 20th March 2018. The data was then factored to AADT using government road 

traffic statistics for ‘average daily traffic flow by month’, ‘average traffic distribution by 

day of the week’, and ‘traffic distribution on all roads by time of day and day of the 

week’. Traffic speeds have been determined based on professional judgement, 

taking account of the road layout, speed limits and the proximity to a junction. The 

traffic data used in this assessment are summarised in Table E.1. Diurnal flow 

profiles for the traffic have been derived from the national diurnal profiles published 

by DfT (2019b). 

Table E.1:Summary of Traffic Data used in the Detailed Assessments (1)
 

 

Road Link AADT % HDV 

Two-way Flows 

Dinting Vale (West of Glossop Road) 17,730 4.61 

Glossop Road 12,232 2.16 

Dinting Vale (East of Glossop Road) 20,457 4.38 

Dinting Vale (East of Dinting Lane) 20,620 4.32 

Page 145



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 52 

 

 

 

Road Link AADT % HDV 

Two-way Flows 

Simmondly Lane 4,546 1.69 

Dinting Vale (East of Simmondly Lane) 16,746 3.61 

Primrose Lane 5,216 9.06 

High Street West 16,675 2.81 

Turning Counts 

Glossop Road to Dinting Road (West) 2,215 1.98 

Glossop Road to Dinting Road (East) 3,496 2.45 

Dinting Road (West) to Glossop Road 2,538 1.90 

Dinting Road (East) to Glossop Road 3,984 2.15 

Dinting Road (West) to Dinting Road (East) 6,770 6.36 

Dinting Road (East) to Dinting Road (West) 6,207 4.74 

Notes: 

(1) This is just a summary of the data entered into the model, which have been input as 24-hour 
AADT flows with hourly diurnal flow profiles. 

Figure E.1 shows the road network included within the model for Glossop, along with 

the speed at which each link was modelled, and the width of the modelled canyons. 

 

Figure E.1: Modelled Road Network, Canyons & Speed 

Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2019. Ordnance Survey 
licence number 100046099. Additional data sourced from third parties, including public sector 
information licensed under the Open Government Licence v1.0. Page 146



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 53 

 

 

Background Concentrations 

Background concentrations of nitrogen dioxide for the study area have been defined 

using the 2017-based national pollution maps published by Defra (2019c). These 

cover the whole of the UK on a 1x1 km grid and are published for each year from 

2017 until 2030. The background annual mean nitrogen dioxide maps for 2018 have 

been calibrated against concurrent measurements from national monitoring sites 

(AQC, 2019b). The calibration factor calculated has also been applied to future year 

backgrounds. This has resulted in slightly higher predicted nitrogen dioxide 

concentrations for the future assessment year than those derived from the Defra 

maps. The background concentration for the study area for 2018 ranged from 11.5 

μg/m3 to 11.8 μg/m3. 

Model Verification 

In order to ensure that ADMS-Roads accurately predicts local concentrations, it is 

necessary to verify the model against local measurements. 

Most nitrogen dioxide (NO2) is produced in the atmosphere by reaction of nitric oxide 

(NO) with ozone. It is therefore most appropriate to verify the model in terms of 

primary pollutant emissions of nitrogen oxides (NOx = NO + NO2). The model has 

been run to predict the annual mean NOx concentrations during 2018 at the 

locations of diffusion tube monitoring sites. 

The model output of road-NOx (i.e. the component of total NOx coming from road 

traffic) has been compared with the ‘measured’ road-NOx. Measured road-NOx has 

been calculated from the measured nitrogen dioxide concentrations and the 

predicted background nitrogen dioxide concentration using the NOx from NO2 

calculator (Version 6.1) available on the Defra LAQM Support website (Defra, 

2018b). 

An adjustment factor has been determined as the slope of the best-fit line between 

the ‘measured’ road contribution and the model derived road contribution, forced 

through zero. The calculated adjustment factor has been applied to the modelled 

road-NOx concentration to provide adjusted modelled road-NOx concentrations. 

The adjustment factor applied was 3.1215. 

The total nitrogen dioxide concentrations have then been determined by combining 

the adjusted modelled road-NOx concentrations with the predicted background NO2 

concentration within the NOx to NO2 calculator. 

Page 147



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 54 

 

 

The results imply that the model has under predicted the road-NOx contribution. 

This is a common experience with this and most other road traffic emissions 

dispersion models. The monitors used for verification, and much of the study areas, 

are within street-canyons, where poor dispersion conditions lead to increased 

concentrations of pollutants. Street-canyons have been modelled, and can be seen 

in Figure F.1, and have been modelled with location specific height and porosity. 

The model has been verified using the results at diffusion tubes HP21, HP22, and 

HP25. The comparison of the measured road NOx and unadjusted modelled road 

NOx concentrations used to determine the verification factor is shown in Figure E.3. 

A comparison of measured total NO2 to final adjusted modelled total NO2 

concentrations is shown in Figure E.4. 

Page 148



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 55 

 

 

 

 
 

Figure E.3: Comparison of Measured Road NOx to Unadjusted Modelled Road 
NOx Concentrations. The dashed lines show ± 25%. 

Figure E.4: Comparison of Measured Total NO2 to Final Adjusted Modelled 
Total NO2 Concentrations. The dashed lines show ± 25%. 

 

Model Post-processing 

The model predicts road-NOx concentrations at each receptor location. These 

concentrations have been adjusted using the adjustment factor set out above, which, 
Page 149



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 56 

 

 

along with the background nitrogen dioxide, has been processed through the NOx to 

NO2 calculator available on the Defra LAQM Support website (Defra, 2018b). The 

traffic mix within the calculator has been set to “All other urban UK traffic”, which is 

considered suitable for the study area. The calculator predicts the component of 

nitrogen dioxide based on the adjusted road-NOx and the background nitrogen 

dioxide. 

 

Sensitivity Test 

The verification factor for the model is relatively high, and this was investigated 

further. It was discovered that to some extent, the meteorology site used was driving 

this verification factor.  When the model was run with Manchester airport 

meteorology site (located 22.5 km to the south west of the study area), this resulted 

in a lower verification factor (1.86). The results using Emley Moor meteorology site 

form the basis of the studies results, due to the site being more representative of the 

conditions at the study area. However, it is useful to note that the outcomes of the 

modelling were the same in relation to which receptors were exceeding the  

objective. A comparison of the results calculated using the Manchester airport met 

site sensitivity test, compared with those using the Emley Moor meteorology site is 

set out in Table E.2. 

 

Table E.2:Comparison of the Official and Sensitivity Test Results (1)
 

Page 150



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 57 

 

 

 

Receptor 
Predicted Concentrations using 

Emley Moor Met Site (µg/m3) 
Predicted Concentrations using 

Manchester Airport Met Site (µg/m3) 

Receptor 1 33.3 34.9 

Receptor 2 31.0 28.7 

Receptor 3 42.7 46.6 

Receptor 4 42.9 47.1 

Receptor 5 47.0 51.3 

Receptor 6 21.1 19.4 

Receptor 7 19.8 18.4 

Receptor 8 42.7 44.7 

Receptor 9 42.3 44.0 

Receptor 10 41.9 43.8 

Receptor 11 41.8 43.8 

Receptor 12 41.8 43.9 

Receptor 13 42.7 44.5 

Receptor 14 44.2 46.2 

Receptor 15 44.3 46.2 

Receptor 16 44.6 46.7 

Receptor 17 49.6 51.7 

Receptor 18 51.6 50.6 

Receptor 19 49.3 51.7 

Receptor 20 49.6 52.0 

Receptor 21 49.9 52.0 

Receptor 22 41.3 42.8 

Receptor 23 41.0 42.5 

Receptor 24 33.5 33.3 

Receptor 25 33.2 33.3 

Receptor 26 33.6 33.8 

Receptor 27 34.1 34.7 

Receptor 28 20.4 21.1 

Page 151



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 58 

 

 

(1) Exceedances shown in bold. 

Table E.2 shows the receptors which are predicted to experience exceedances of 

the annual mean nitrogen dioxide objective are concordant between the main set of 

results, using Emley Moor meteorology site, and the sensitivity test, using 

Manchester Airport meteorology site. 

The recommendation for an AQMA covering the area shown in Figure D.3 is 

therefore considered to be robust. 

Page 152



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 59 

 

 

Appendix G: Hogshaw Roundabout Detailed Air 
Quality Assessment 

Page 153



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Hogshaw Roundabout, 
Buxton 

Air Quality Assessment 

 
 
 
 

 
Reference: HOG-AEC-XX-XX-RP-AQ-00001 

 

 
28 May 2020 

Page 154



Hogshaw Roundabout, Buxton 

Project number: 60580883 R2 

AECOM 

 

 

Quality information 

Prepared by Checked by Verified by Approved by 

 

 
    

Nichola Egan 
Air Quality Consultant 

Rachel Perryman 

Principal Air Quality 

Consultant 

Gareth Hodgkiss 

Associate Director – Air 

Quality 

 
 

Revision History 
 

Revision Revision date Details Authorized Name Position 

1 28th May 2020 FINAL yes Gareth Hodgkiss Associate 
Director 

2 28th May 2020 FINAL, (typo yes Gareth Hodgkiss Associate 
  corrected)   Director 

 
 

Distribution List 
 

# Hard Copies PDF Required Association / Company Name 

N/A Yes Derbyshire County Council 

Page 155



Hogshaw Roundabout, Buxton 

Project number: 60580883 R2 

AECOM 

 

 

 

 

Prepared for: 

Derbyshire County Council 

 
 

Prepared by: 

 
AECOM Limited 

5th Floor, 2 City Walk 

Leeds LS11 9AR 

United Kingdom 

 
T: +44 (0)113 391 6800 

aecom.com 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
© 2020 AECOM Limited. All Rights Reserved. 

 

This document has been prepared by AECOM Limited (“AECOM”) for sole use of our client (the 

“Client”) in accordance with generally accepted consultancy principles, the budget for fees and the 

terms of reference agreed between AECOM and the Client. Any information provided by third parties 

and referred to herein has not been checked or verified by AECOM, unless otherwise expressly stated 

in the document. No third party may rely upon this document without the prior and express written 

agreement of AECOM. 

Page 156



Hogshaw Roundabout, Buxton 

Project number: 60580883 R2 

AECOM 

 

 

Table of Contents 

1. Introduction .............................................................................................. 6 

2. Policy Context.......................................................................................... 7 
European Air Quality Directives .................................................................................................................. 7 

National Air Quality Legislation ................................................................................................................... 7 

Local Air Quality Management .................................................................................................................... 8 

Land-use Planning & Development Control: Planning for Air Quality Guidance ...................................... 8 

Legislative Uncertainty for the UK .............................................................................................................. 8 

Pollutants of Concern .................................................................................................................................. 8 

National Planning Policy ............................................................................................................................. 9 

Local Planning Policy ................................................................................................................................ 10 

3. Assessment Methodology ...................................................................... 11 
Scope of the Assessment .......................................................................................................................... 11 

Emissions Modelling ................................................................................................................................. 12 

Significance Criteria .................................................................................................................................. 15 

Sensitivity Test .................................................................................................................................................................. 16 

Source Apportionment Methodology ........................................................................................................ 16 

Assumptions, Limitations, and Uncertainties ........................................................................................... 17 

4. Baseline Conditions ............................................................................... 18 
Air Quality Management Areas ................................................................................................................. 18 

Pollutant Monitoring .................................................................................................................................. 18 

Background Pollution ................................................................................................................................ 18 

5. Results ................................................................................................... 20 
Operational Modelling ............................................................................................................................... 20 

Sensitivity Test .................................................................................................................................................................. 22 

Source Apportionment .............................................................................................................................. 25 

6. Mitigation Measures .............................................................................. 27 

7. Residual Impacts ................................................................................... 27 

8. Summary and Conclusion ..................................................................... 27 

9. References ............................................................................................ 29 

Appendix A Proposed Scheme ........................................................................ 31 

Appendix B Proposed AQMA, Modelled Receptors and Monitoring 
Locations ......................................................................................................... 32 

Appendix C Traffic Data ................................................................................... 34 

Appendix D Meteorological Data ..................................................................... 36 

Appendix E Model Verification ......................................................................... 37 

Figures 

Figure 1: Contribution of Emission Source to TotalNOX Background Concentrations ........................... 25 

Figure 2: Contribution of Vehicle Type to Fairfield Road NOX Emissions ............................................... 26 

Figure 3: Location of the Proposed Scheme ............................................................................................ 31 

Figure 4: Location of Proposed AQMA on Fairfield Road ........................................................................ 32 

Figure 5: Location of Monitoring Sites and Modelled Receptors in Relation to the Proposed AQMA and 

Proposed Scheme ..................................................................................................................................... 33 

Figure 6: Roads Modelled in the Assessment .......................................................................................... 35 

Figure 7: Wind Rose for Leek Thorncliffe, 2019 ....................................................................................... 36 

Page 157



Hogshaw Roundabout, Buxton 

Project number: 60580883 R2 

AECOM 

 

 

 

 
Tables 

Table 1: IAQM/EPUK, stage 2 criteria for requiring an air quality assessment ....................................... 11 

Table 2. General ADMS-Roads Model Conditions .................................................................................. 12 

Table 3.  Modelled Sensitive Receptors ................................................................................................... 14 

Table 4. Description of Operational Phase Impacts ................................................................................ 16 

Table 5.  Local Air Quality Monitoring ....................................................................................................... 18 

Table 6. Annual Mean Background Pollutant Concentrations................................................................. 19 

Table 7. Predicted Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations (µg/m3) at Modelled Receptors ......................... 20 

Table 8. Predicted Changes in Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations between Scenarios (µg/m3) at 

Modelled Receptors .................................................................................................................................. 21 

Table 9. Predicted Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations (µg/m3) at Modelled Receptors using Long Term 

Trends (LTT06) .......................................................................................................................................... 22 

Table 10. Predicted Changes in Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations between Scenarios (µg/m3) at 

Modelled Receptors using Long Term Trends (LTT06)............................................................................ 23 

Table 11. Traffic Data Used in the Assessment ....................................................................................... 34 

Table 12. Summary Meteorological Data for Leek Thorncliffe, 2019 ...................................................... 36 

Table 13. Analysis of Suitability of Local Monitors for Model Verification ............................................... 37 

Table 14. Comparison of Modelled and Monitored Total NO2 Concentrations, 2019 ............................ 37 

Table 15. Comparison of Road NOX Concentrations, Pre-Adjustment ................................................... 37 

Table 16. Comparison of Road NOX Concentrations, Post-Adjustment ................................................. 38 

Table 17. Comparison of Modelled and Monitored Total NO2 Concentrations, Post-Adjustment .......... 38 

Page 158



Hogshaw Roundabout, Buxton Project number: 60580883 R2 

AECOM 

6 

 

 

 
 

1. Introduction 
1.1 An air quality assessment has been undertaken to determine the potential local air quality 

effects of the proposed Hogshaw Roundabout, a new 4-arm roundabout on the A6, to the north 

of Buxton, hereinafter referred to as the ‘proposed scheme’. The purpose of the proposed 

scheme is to provide access to future residential developments in the area. The proposed 

scheme is illustrated in Appendix A. 

1.2 The planning application for the proposed scheme was submitted in February 2020. As part of 

the planning application an air quality assessment and emissions statement (Ref 1) was 

prepared which stated that, ‘the proposed roundabout development in itself would not result in 

an increase in vehicular traffic and as such it is envisaged that these factors would not increase 

when the roundabout was installed.’ The statement acknowledged the location of the nearest 

Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) in Tintwistle; however, this is located over 18 miles away 

and therefore would not be affected by the proposed scheme. 

1.3 Since the planning application was submitted, High Peak Brough Council (HPBC) is now in the 

process of declaring an AQMA on Fairfield Road for the annual mean nitrogen dioxide (NO2) 

objective, approximately 220 m to the south west of the proposed scheme. HPBC are 

concerned that the presence of the proposed scheme and developments for which it would 

provide access to, will adversely affect the air quality in the AQMA. As such an air quality 

assessment has been undertaken to determine the potential nitrogen dioxide impacts of the 

proposed scheme, and the associated future developments it will provide access for, within the 

AQMA. 

1.4 The air quality assessment has been undertaken with reference to Environmental Protection 

UK and the institute of Air Quality Management (Ref 9) ‘Guidance on land-use planning and 

development control: planning for air quality’. The potential changes in annual mean nitrogen 

dioxide concentrations have been determined for the following scenarios: 

 Base year (2019) without the proposed scheme (for verification purposes); 

 Future year (2020) without the proposed scheme; 

 Future year (2022) without the proposed scheme; 

 Future year (2022) with the proposed scheme; 

 Future year (2030) without the proposed scheme; 

 Future year (2030) with the proposed scheme; and 

 Future year (2030) with the proposed scheme and with the allocated developments 

(Hogshaw, Waterswallows and Granby Road). 

1.5 In addition, a source apportionment study has been undertaken for the base and future years 

with and without the proposed scheme and developments in place. This study will determine 

the proportion of emissions from roads and non-road sources and also provide information 

regarding the proportion of emissions from each vehicle type. 

Page 159



Hogshaw Roundabout, Buxton Project number: 60580883 R2 

AECOM 

7 

 

 

2. Policy Context 

European Air Quality Directives 
The Air Quality Framework Directive (96/62/EC) (Ref 2) on ambient air quality assessment and 

management defines the policy framework for 12 air pollutants known to have a harmful effect on human 

health and the environment. Ambient concentration limit values for the specific pollutants are set  

through a series of Daughter Directives. 

Following the Daughter Directives, Council Directive 2008/50/EC (Ref 3) on ambient air quality and 

cleaner air for Europe came into force in 2008 and was transposed into national legislation in 2010 (The 

Air Quality Standards Regulations 2010) (Ref 4). It consolidated existing air quality legislation and 

made provisions for Member States to postpone limit value attainment deadlines and allow an 

exemption from the obligation to limit values for certain pollutants, subject to strict conditions and 

assessment by the European Commission (EC). 

 

National Air Quality Legislation 

Air Quality Standards Regulations (2010) (as amended) 

The principal air quality legislation within the United Kingdom is the Air Quality Standards Regulations 

2010 (as amended by the Air Quality Standards (Amendment) Regulations 2016) (Ref 5), which  

transposes relevant EU Air Quality Directives into national legislation and sets legally binding limits for 

concentrations in outdoor air of major air pollutants that impact public health such as particulate matter 

(PM10 and PM2.5) and nitrogen dioxide (NO2). 

 

Environment Act (1995) 

The provisions of Part IV of the Environment Act 1995 (Ref 6) establish a national framework for air 

quality management, which requires all Local Authorities to conduct local air quality reviews. Section 

82(1) of the Act requires these reviews to include an assessment of the current air quality in the area 

and the predicted air quality in future years. Should the reviews indicate that the objectives prescribed 

in the UK Air Quality Strategy (Ref 7) and the Air Quality Standards Regulations 2010 (Ref 4) will not 

be met, the Local Authority is required to designate an AQMA. Action must then be taken at a local level 

to ensure that air quality in the area improves. 

The UK Air Quality Strategy (Ref 7) identifies nine ambient air pollutants that have the potential to cause 

harm to human health. These pollutants are associated with local air quality problems, with the 

exception of ozone, which is instead considered to be a regional problem. Similarly, the Air Quality 

Regulations set objectives, but for just seven of the pollutants that are associated with local air quality. 

These objectives aim to reduce the health effects of the pollutants to negligible levels. 

The air quality objectives and limit values currently applicable to the UK can be split into two groups. 

Each has a different legal status and is therefore handled differently within the framework of UK air 

quality policy. These are: 

 UK air quality objectives set down in regulations for the purposes of local air quality 

management; and 

 European Union (EU) limit values transcribed into UK legislation for which compliance is 

mandatory. 

 

Clean Air Strategy 

In January 2019, Defra published its Clean Air Strategy (Ref 8) which outlined proposals to tackle  

emissions from a range of sources. This included providing clear effective guidance on how AQMAs, 

Clean Air Zones (CAZ) and Smoke Control Areas interrelate and how they can be used by local 

government to tackle pollution. 

Page 160



Hogshaw Roundabout, Buxton Project number: 60580883 R2 

AECOM 

8 

 

 

In relation to NOx the UK Clean Air Strategy sets the following reduction target: 
 

 Nitrogen oxides (NOX) – reduce emissions against the 2005 baseline by 55% by 2020, 

and by 73% by 2030; 

It is noted within the strategy document that the “current legislative framework has not driven sufficient 

action at a local level”. New legislation will seek to shift the focus towards prevention of exceedances 

rather than tackling pollution when limits have been surpassed. The shift of focus encourages more of 

a proactive rather than reactive policy framework at regional and local levels on air quality. 

 

Local Air Quality Management 
Under the requirements of Part IV of the Environment Act (1995) (Ref 6) , Local Authorities have been 

responsible for carrying out a phased review and assessment of local air quality since 1998. This  

responsibility includes the identification of areas at risk of exceeding the air quality objectives as set out 

above, and declaring an AQMA if required. Once an AQMA has been declared the local authority has a 

responsibility to make efforts to improve the air quality within it, including publishing Air Quality Action 

Plans. 

 

Land-use Planning & Development Control: 

Planning for Air Quality Guidance 
Environmental Protection UK (EPUK) and the Institute of Air Quality Management (IAQM) have 

produced a guidance document (Ref 9) on how individual schemes may be considered in relation to 

air quality. This is not a legal document. However, it provides useful advice and guidance on land use 

planning and development control processes. The document sets out principles of dealing with 

planning applications, but recognises that decisions made by local authorities have to be made on a 

case by case basis. 

The significance of the effects arising from air quality impacts depends on a number of factors 

including the long-term average concentration at sensitive receptor locations in the year the 

development is proposed to be operational and the percentage change in concentration relative to air 

quality assessment level. This is therefore key when attempting to consider what an unacceptable 

contribution may be upon air quality concentrations. 

 

Legislative Uncertainty for the UK 

UK leaving the European Union 

The UK left the European Union (EU) on 31st January 2020 (exiting the EU is commonly referred to as 

“Brexit”). Air Quality legislation and policy is currently primarily driven by the EU, as set out in the 

sections above. Air pollution limits set by the EU technically remain in UK law after Brexit, having been 

enshrined through the Air Quality Standards Regulation. 

 

Pollutants of Concern 
The local air quality review and assessment procedure has identified that NO2 is main pollutant of 

concern for the purpose of this assessment, with the proposed Fairfield Road AQMA declared for the 

annual mean objective. 

Nitrogen Dioxide 
NO2 and nitric oxide (NO) are both oxides of nitrogen and are collectively referred to as NOX. All 

combustion processes produce NOX emissions, largely in the form of NO, which is then converted to 

NO2, mainly as a result of its reaction with ozone in the atmosphere. Therefore, the ratio of NO2 to NO 

is primarily dependent on the concentration of ozone and the distance from the emission source. 

The Government and the Devolved Administrations adopted two Air Quality Objectives for NO2 which 

were to be achieved by the end of 2005. In 2010, mandatory EU air quality limit values on pollutant 

Page 161



Hogshaw Roundabout, Buxton Project number: 60580883 R2 

AECOM 

9 

 

 

concentrations were to apply, although it continues to be breached in locations throughout the UK. The 

EU limit values for NO2 in relation to human health are the same as the national objectives (Ref 7): 

 An annual mean concentration of 40 µg/m3 (micrograms per metre cubed); and 

 An hourly mean concentration of 200 µg/m3, to be exceeded no more than 18 times per 

year. 

In practice, meeting the annual mean objective has been and is expected to be considerably more 

demanding than achieving the 1-hour objective. The annual mean objective of 40 µg/m3 is currently 

widely exceeded at roadside sites throughout the UK, with exceedances also reported at urban 

background locations in some major conurbations. Exceedances are associated almost exclusively 

with road source emissions. 

There is considerable year-to-year variation in the number of exceedances of the hourly objective, 

driven by meteorological conditions which give rise to winter episodes of poor dispersion and summer 

oxidant episodes. Analysis of the relationship between 1-hour and annual mean NO2 concentrations at 

roadside and kerbside monitoring sites indicate that exceedances of the 1-hour objective are unlikely 

where the annual mean is below 60 µg/m3 (Ref 11). 

Exposure to NO2 is understood to be linked with decreased lung function, growth, increases in 

respiratory symptoms, asthma prevalence and incidence, cancer incidence, adverse birth outcomes 

and mortality. However, whilst evidence indicates direct health effects, it is also understood that 

cumulative effects may occur from exposure to associated pollutants, such as combustion products 

(Ref 12). Therefore, whilst NO2 is used as an indicator pollutant, the direct health effects associated 

with exposure to this pollutant are very complex. 

 

National Planning Policy 
2.1 The revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in February 2019 (Ref 

13) and concisely sets out national policies and principles on land use planning. 
 

2.2 Air quality is considered as an important element of the natural environment. On conserving 

and enhancing the natural environment, Paragraph 170 states that: 

“Planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and 

local environment by: … 

e) preventing new and existing development from contributing to, being put at 

unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of soil, air, 

water or noise pollution or land instability. Development should, wherever possible, 

help to improve local environmental conditions such as air and water quality …” 

2.3 The effect of a proposed development on the implementation of air quality action plans and the 

achievement of the Air Quality Objectives (AQO) may be a material consideration by planning 

authorities, when making decisions for individual planning applications. Paragraph 181 of the 

NPPF states that: 

“Planning policies and decisions should sustain and contribute towards compliance 

with relevant limit values or national objectives for pollutants, taking into account the 

presence of Air Quality Management Areas and Clean Air Zones, and the cumulative 

impacts from individual sites in local areas. Opportunities to improve air quality or 

mitigate impacts should be identified, such as through traffic and travel management, 

and green infrastructure provision and enhancement. So far as possible these 

opportunities should be considered at the plan-making stage, to ensure a strategic 

approach and limit the need for issues to be reconsidered when determining 

individual applications. Planning decisions should ensure that any new development 

in Air Quality Management Areas and Clean Air Zones is consistent with the local air 

quality action plan.” 

2.4 The Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) with respect to air quality was updated in November 

2019 (Ref 14). When deciding whether air quality is relevant to a planning application the PPG 

states that a number of factors should be taken into consideration including if the development 

will: 

Page 162



Hogshaw Roundabout, Buxton Project number: 60580883 R2 

AECOM 

10 

 

 

 “Lead to changes (including any potential reductions) in vehicle-related emissions in the 

immediate vicinity of the proposed development or further afield. This could be through the 

provision of electric vehicle charging infrastructure; altering the level of traffic congestion; 

significantly changing traffic volumes, vehicle speeds or both; or significantly altering the 

traffic composition on local roads. Other matters to consider include whether the proposal 

involves the development of a bus station, coach or lorry park; could add to turnover in a 

large car park; or involve construction sites that would generate large Heavy Goods 

Vehicle flows over a period of a year or more; 

 Introduce new point sources of air pollution. This could include furnaces which require 

prior notification to local authorities; biomass boilers or biomass-fuelled Combined Heat 

and Power plant; centralised boilers or plant burning other fuels within or close to an air 

quality management area or introduce relevant combustion within a Smoke Control Area; 

or extraction systems (including chimneys) which require approval or permits under 

pollution control legislation; 

 Expose people to harmful concentrations of air pollutants, including dust. This could be by 

building new homes, schools, workplaces or other development in places with poor air 

quality; 

 Give rise to potentially unacceptable impacts (such as dust) during construction for nearby 

sensitive locations; 

 Have a potential adverse effect on biodiversity, especially where it would affect sites 

designated for their biodiversity value.” 

2.5 On how detailed an air quality assessment needs to be, the PPG states: 
 

“Assessments need to be proportionate to the nature and scale of development 

proposed and the potential impacts (taking into account existing air quality 

conditions), and because of this are likely to be locationally specific. The scope and 

content of supporting information is best discussed and agreed between the local 

planning authority and applicant before it is commissioned.” 

 

Local Planning Policy 
2.6 HPBC’s Local Plan (Ref 15), adopted in April 2016, sets out the council’s vision and strategy for 

the borough until 2031. The Local Plan includes the following policy (EQ10: Pollution Control 

and Unstable Land) which is relevant to air quality: 

“The Council will protect people and the environment from unsafe, unhealthy and 

polluted environments. This will be achieved by: 

Ensuring developments avoid potential adverse effects and only permitting 

developments that are deemed (individually or cumulatively) to result in the following 

types of pollution if any remaining potential adverse effects are mitigated to an 

acceptable level by other environmental controls or measures included in the 

proposals. This may be achieved by the imposition of planning conditions or through a 

planning obligation. The Council will not permit any proposal that has an adverse 

effect on a European site: 

 Air pollution (including odours or particulate emissions); … or 

 Other nuisance, environmental pollution or harm to amenity, health or safety” 

Page 163



Hogshaw Roundabout, Buxton Project number: 60580883 R2 

AECOM 

11 

 

 

3. Assessment Methodology 

Scope of the Assessment 
3.1 As described in Section 1, the purpose of the proposed scheme is to provide access to future 

residential developments. HPBC are in the process of declaring an AQMA on Fairfield Road, 

220 m to the south west of the proposed scheme. The introduction of the proposed scheme 

and future residential developments will change the traffic composition on roads within Buxton 

and therefore has the potential to affect air quality at sensitive receptors, both near the 

proposed scheme and within the AQMA. The proposed scheme in shown in Appendix A and 

the Proposed AQMA in Appendix B. 

3.2 There is currently no statutory guidance on the method by which an air quality assessment 

should be undertaken. The Institute of Air Quality Management (IAQM) (Ref 9), Environmental 

Protection UK (EPUK) (Ref 10) and Defra (Ref 11) have all however published guidance for 

carrying out air quality assessments for development control purposes. 

3.3 The air quality assessment has been undertaken with reference to the EPUK/IAQM Guidance 

‘Land-Use Planning & Development Control: Planning for Air Quality’ (Ref 9) with reference to 

Defra’s Local Air Quality Management Technical Guidance note (LAQM.TG16) (Ref 11) as 

appropriate. 

3.4 This guidance sets out a two-stage approach to determine the need and scope of an air quality 

assessment. Stage 1 determines the need for an assessment and provides a criteria, which if 

exceeded, an air quality assessment is required. The Stage 1 criterion concerns developments 

rather than road schemes and therefore is not applicable to this assessment. However, due to 

the presence of the AQMA and the potential for the scheme to adversely affect annual mean 

NO2 concentrations within it, an air quality assessment has been requested by HPBC. 

3.5 Stage 2 details more specific criteria to determine whether the level of assessment is needed. 

The relevant criteria to this assessment are summarised in Table 1. 

Table 1: IAQM/EPUK, stage 2 criteria for requiring an air quality assessment 

The development will: Indicative Criteria to proceed to an 

assessment 
 

 

Cause significant change in Light Duty 

Vehicles (LDV) traffic flows on local roads 

with relevant receptors. 

 

 
Cause significant change in Heavy Duty 

Vehicles (HDV) traffic flows on local roads 

with relevant receptors. 

 

 
Introduce a new junction or remove an 

existing junction near to relevant receptors 

A change of LDV flows of: 

 More than 100 AADT within or adjacent to an 
AQMA 

 More than 500 AADT elsewhere 

A change of HDV flows of: 

 More than 25 AADT within or adjacent to an 
AQMA 

 More than 100 AADT elsewhere 

Applies to junctions that cause traffic to 

significantly change vehicle 

acceleration/deceleration e.g. roundabout. 

 
 

3.6 The proposed scheme results in several roads exceeding the above criteria and therefore a 

quantitative air quality assessment was undertaken. 

3.7 The air quality assessment has been undertaken using detailed dispersion modelling software 

ADMS-Roads, to determine annual mean nitrogen dioxide concentrations at receptors 

anticipated to experience the largest impacts due to the proposed scheme, as well as those 

located within the proposed AQMA. The modelled outputs were verified using existing HPBC 

Page 164



Hogshaw Roundabout, Buxton Project number: 60580883 R2 

AECOM 

12 

 

 

measurement data. The potential changes in annual mean NO2 concentrations has been 

determined for a number of scenarios, as described in Section 1. 

3.8 Furthermore, a source apportionment exercise based on available traffic data has been 

undertaken for the base and future years with and without the proposed scheme and 

developments in place. This exercise determines the proportion of emissions from roads and 

non-road sources and also provides information regarding the proportion of emissions from 

each vehicle type. 

3.9 The scope of this assessment has been agreed with Dr Daniel McCrory, Environmental Health 

Officer at High Peaks Borough Council, via e-mail on 6th May 2020. 

 

Emissions Modelling 
3.10 This assessment has used the latest version of dispersion model software ADMS-Roads (v5.0) 

to quantify baseline, and future year pollution levels at selected receptors. ADMS-Roads is a 

modern dispersion model that has an extensive published track record of use in the UK for the 

assessment of local air quality impacts, including model validation and verification studies. 

3.11 ADMS-Roads calculates concentrations of pollutants emitted from roads at sensitive receptor 

locations using the following parameters: 

 Locational information of the modelled road links and receptors from Arc-GIS; 

 Emission factors which account for fleet size, composition, and speed; 

 Gradient of the road; 

 Meteorological information from a suitable nearby met station; and 

 The height and distance between roadside buildings and their influence on dispersion 

(canyon effect); 

3.12 The particular inputs chosen for the modelling described here are given in Table 2. 
 

Table 2. General ADMS-Roads Model Conditions 

Variables ADMS-Roads Model Inputs 

Emissions NOX 
 

Emission factors Emission Factor Toolkit v9.0 (Ref 17) 

Surface Roughness at source 0.5 

Minimum Monin-Obukhov length for stable conditions 10 

Meteorological data Hourly sequential data from Leek Thorncliffe in 2019 
 

Receptors Selected receptors only 

Model Output Road contributions to long term annual mean NOX 

concentrations 
 

Additional input file Advanced canyons module 

 

Traffic Data 

3.13 The project transport consultants provided annual average daily traffic (AADT) flows and Heavy 

Goods Vehicle (HGV) percentages of those flows, for roads around the proposed scheme and 

the proposed AQMA, including those which exceed the criteria detailed in Table1. 

3.14 According to the traffic data, in 2022, the roundabout will result in a redistribution of 

approximately 5000 vehicles per day from Waterswallows Road between the junctions with 

Fairfield Road and the new road leading to the roundabout onto this new road as vehicles use 

this new route in preference to avoid the Waterswallows/Fairfield Road junction. 

3.15 For this scenario the following roads exceed the criteria outlined in Table 1: 

Page 165



Hogshaw Roundabout, Buxton Project number: 60580883 R2 

AECOM 

13 

 

 

 Waterswallows Road, between Fairfield Road and the junction with new road leading to 

the proposed roundabout 

 New road between Waterswallows Road and the proposed roundabout. 

3.16 A comparison of the 2030 traffic data with and without the proposed scheme and development 

indicated that the redistribution of approximately 5,500 vehicles from the section of 

Waterswallows Road to the new road joining Waterswallows Road to the A6 will occur. In 

addition, an increase in traffic flow of approximately 2300 vehicles per day is predicted on 

Fairfield Road, whilst a reduction of traffic flows was predicted on Waterswallows Road, 

between Fairfield Road and the junction with the new road leading to the proposed roundabout. 

3.17 For this scenario the following roads exceed the criteria outlined in Table 1: 

 Both access roads to the developments from the proposed roundabout; 

 Waterswallows Road 

 Fairfield Road, south west of the proposed scheme; 

 Bakewell Road; and 

 Spring Gardens. 

3.18 For all modelled scenarios, all traffic data provided by the project transportation consultants 

was included in the model. 

3.19 Vehicle speeds were estimated using professional judgement considering the relevant speed 

limits, likelihood of congestion, and proximity to junctions. 

3.20 The traffic data used to inform the air quality assessment is detailed inAppendix C. 

 

Meteorological Data 

3.21 The meteorological dataset used in the assessment was recorded at the meteorological station 

at Leek Thorncliffe in 2019, located 15.7 km to the south west of the proposed scheme, at an 

altitude 24.5 m lower than that at the proposed scheme. 

3.22 This site had missing cloud cover data for 10.9% of the year, which was therefore filled in from 

Manchester Airport meteorological station. This station is 26.9 km to the north west of the 

proposed scheme, at an altitude 245.2 m lower than that at the proposed scheme. 

3.23 The meteorological data is considered to be representative of regional meteorological 

conditions and sufficient to satisfy the requirements of this assessment. The wind rose for Leek 

Thorncliffe and further details are provided in Appendix D. 

 

Background Pollutant Concentration Data 

3.24 To obtain predictions for pollutant concentrations at receptors, the model outputs of road 

contributions of NOX must be combined with background concentrations. Background 

concentrations are those from many sources which individually may not be significant, but 

collectively, over a large area, need to be considered. 

3.25 Monitored background concentrations were unavailable as HPBC does not undertake any 

monitoring in background locations. Therefore background concentrations were obtained from 

Defra, which provides modelled estimations of background air pollutant concentrations for each 

1 km square in the UK using a baseline of 2017 (Ref 18). 

3.26 NOX and NO2 background concentrations were obtained for the years of relevance to this 

assessment (2019, 2020, 2022 and 2030). The contributions to the backgrounds from in-square 

primary A roads and trunk A roads was removed using Defra’s sector removal tool (Ref 19) to 

avoid double counting, as these roads will be directly modelled. Further details are provided in 

Section 4. 

Page 166



Hogshaw Roundabout, Buxton Project number: 60580883 R2 

AECOM 

14 

 

 

Conversion of NOX to NO2 

3.27 The proportion of NO2 in NOX varies greatly with location and time according to a number of 

factors including the amount of oxidant available and the distance from the emission source. 

NOX concentrations are expected to decline in future years due to falling emissions, therefore 

NO2 concentration will not be limited as much by ozone and consequently it is likely that the 

NO2/NOX ratio will in the future increase. In addition, a trend has been noted in recent years 

whereby roadside NO2 concentrations have been increasing at certain roadside monitoring 

sites, despite emissions of NOX falling. The direct NO2 phenomenon is having an increasingly 

marked effect at many urban locations throughout the UK and must be considered when 

undertaking modelling studies. 

3.28 In this study modelled road NOX concentrations have been converted to total NO2 

concentrations using Defra’s ‘NOX to NO2’ calculator (V7.1) (Ref 20), released in April 2019. 

The year and region for which the modelling has been undertaken are specified, and the 

appropriate Defra background NO2 concentrations at each receptor. The calculation then uses 

an appropriate factor of NOX emitted as NO2. 

 

Receptors 

3.29 Air quality receptors sensitive to changes in air quality typically include residential properties, 

schools, care homes, hospitals and designated ecological sites. 

3.30 A total of 26 sensitive receptors were selected, all of which were residential properties. These 

represent worst-case receptor locations, based on their proximity to the proposed scheme and 

the roads anticipated to experience the largest change in traffic data. Of the receptors selected, 

17 out of the 26 were located within the proposed Fairfield Road AQMA. 

3.31 There are no ecological receptors in the vicinity of the site. 
 

3.32 In addition, annual mean NO2 concentrations at the HPBC monitoring sites used for verification 
purposes were also included in the 2019 base year scenario. 

 

3.33 The air quality sensitive receptors considered in this assessment are shown in Appendix B and 

listed in Table 3. 

Table 3. Modelled Sensitive Receptors 
 

ID In AQMA? Location Height (m) X Y 

R01 No 31 Waterswallows Road 1.5 406960 374114 

R02 No 27 Waterswallows Road 1.5 406908 374108 

R03 No 23 Waterswallows Road 1.5 406893 374102 

R04 No 25 Waterswallows Road 1.5 406900 374105 

R05 No 14 North Road 1.5 406737 374169 

R06 No 52 St Peter's Road 1.5 406640 374239 

R07 No The Old Vicarage, North Road 1.5 406719 374081 

R08 Yes 149 Fairfield Road 1.5 406624 373972 

R09 Yes 147 Fairfield Road 1.5 406621 373969 

R10 Yes 139 Fairfield Road 1.5 406607 373957 

R11 Yes 88 Fairfield Road 1.5 406597 373965 

R12 Yes 86 Fairfield Road 1.5 406594 373963 

R13 Yes 84 Fairfield Road 1.5 406586 373958 

R14 Yes 82 Fairfield Road 1.5 406582 373956 

R15 Yes 119 Fairfield Road 1.5 406527 373926 

Page 167



Hogshaw Roundabout, Buxton Project number: 60580883 R2 

AECOM 

15 

 

 

 

ID In AQMA? Location Height (m) X Y 

R16 Yes 76 Fairfield Road 1.5 406514 373944 

R17 Yes 60A Fairfield Road 1.5 406423 373921 

R18 Yes 56 Fairfield Road 1.5 406411 373912 

R19 Yes 44 Fairfield Road 1.5 406390 373886 

R20 Yes 87 Fairfield Road 1.5 406418 373893 

R21 Yes 40 Fairfield Road 1.5 406382 373868 

R22 Yes 65 Fairfield Road 1.5 406399 373818 

R23 Yes 16 Fairfield Road 1.5 406380 373810 

R24 Yes 21 Fairfield Road 1.5 406408 373746 

R25 No 3 Brooklyn Place, Fairfield Road 1.5 406360 373605 

R26 No 2 Silverlands Close 1.5 406390 373451 

HP33 Yes 135 Fairfield Road (lamp post) 2.5 406599 373952 

HP41 Yes 22 Fairfield Road (southbound) 2.4 406405 373759 

HP42 Yes 52 Fairfield Road (northbound) 2.6 406402 373898 

HP43 Yes 101 Fairfield Road (southbound) 2.6 406451 373920 

HP44 Yes Bulls Head Fairfield (northbound) 2.6 406608 373973 

 

Model Verification 

3.34 When using modelling techniques to predict concentrations, it is necessary to make a 

comparison between the modelling results and available roadside monitoring data, to ensure 

that the model is reproducing actual observations, and factoring the modelled results to better 

match the monitoring data if necessary. The accuracy of the future year modelling results are 

relative to the accuracy of the base year results, therefore greater confidence can be placed in 

the future year concentrations if good agreement is found for the base year. 

3.35 For this purpose, annual mean NO2 concentrations were predicted at five HPBC monitoring 
sites on Fairfield Road (HP33 and HP41 to HP44). 

3.36 The adjustment factor between modelled and monitored concentrations was found to be 2.35, 

with a Root Mean Square Error value of 4.7 µg/m3. The factor was then applied to the modelled 

road NOX contribution at all receptor locations considered in this assessment, before being 

converted into total NO2 concentrations. 

3.37 Further details are provided in Appendix E. 

 

Significance Criteria 
3.38 Air quality effects may be considered to be significant if AQO are predicted to be breached or if 

the proposed scheme leads to significant effects on air quality due to road traffic emissions at 

sensitive receptors. According to IAQM/EPUK Guidance there is a two-stage process to be 

followed in the assessment: 

 Magnitude: a qualitative or quantitative description of the impacts on local air quality 

arising from the drive-through restaurant; and 

 Significance: a judgement on the overall significance of the effects of any impacts. 

3.39 The EPUK/IAQM guidance states that a meaningful description to the degree of an impact is to 

express the magnitude of incremental change as a proportion of a relevant assessment level 

(for example an AQO), and then to examine this change in the context of the new total 

concentration and its relationship with the assessment criterion. 

Page 168



Hogshaw Roundabout, Buxton Project number: 60580883 R2 

AECOM 

16 

 

 

Table 4. Description of Operational Phase Impacts 
 

Long term average concentration 
at receptor in assessment y 

 

% change in concentration relative to air quality assessment level 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Source: EPUK/IAQM 'Land-Use Planning & Development Control: Planning For Air Quality' (Ref 9) 

3.40 An air quality effect can be described as ‘significant’ or ‘not significant’. The impact descriptors 

in Table 4, are intended for application at the modelled sensitive receptors and whilst there may 

be a ‘slight’, ‘moderate’ or ‘substantial’ impact at one or more receptors, the overall effect may 

not necessarily be judged as being significant in some circumstances. Any judgement on the 

overall significance of the effects of the proposed scheme will need to consider such factors as: 

 The existing and future air quality in the absence of the proposed scheme; 

 The extent of current and future population exposure to the impacts; and 

 The influence and validity of any assumptions adopted when undertaking the prediction of 

impacts. 

 

Sensitivity Test 
3.41 A key element of the local air quality impact assessment is the rate of improvement in air quality 

over time as cleaner vehicles enter the national vehicle fleet. There is inherent uncertainty in 

making these predictions. For this assessment, Defra’s predicted fleet compos itions, as 

incorporated in the emission factor toolkit (EFT) (Ref 17), was used. 

3.42 An alternative methodology, as published by Highways England, is known as gap analysis and 

is outlined in the DMRB Air Quality guidance LA 105 (Ref 21). This is a very cautious approach 

to future improvements in vehicle emission rates and background concentrations than Defra’s. 

Highways England have published the long-term trend spreadsheet (LTTE6) to accompany this 

approach. 

3.43 Trends in annual mean NO2 concentrations across Buxton indicated that concentrations have 

been increasing slightly since 2015. Therefore, a sensitivity test was undertaken using the very 

cautious gap analysis approach, as it may better reflect the real-world environment in Buxton in 

2022. By 2030, the gap analysis approach is considered to be too cautious and will likely 

overestimate absolute concentrations. By 2030 improvements in emissions technologies and 

the evolution of the vehicle fleet is likely to have a greater influence on emission rates and 

background pollutant concentrations than the assumptions provided by the LTTE6 

spreadsheets. Therefore, in reality the annual mean NO2 concentrations are likely to be lower 

than those predicted in the 2030 sensitivity scenarios. 

 

Source Apportionment Methodology 
3.44 Source apportionment has been undertaken using the background data provided by Defra (Ref 

18). This data is presented for the total NOX contributions from road, industrial, domestic, rural, 

and other sources, in 2019, 2020, 2022 and 2030. 

3.45 Source apportionment has also been undertaken for vehicle emissions on Fairfield Road, 

where the proposed AQMA will be declared. The contribution to the total emissions of NOX on 

each road by diesel cars, petrol cars, cars with alternative technologies, other light goods 

vehicles (LGVs), articulated heavy goods vehicles (HGVs), rigid HGVs, and buses, for each of 

the modelled scenarios was calculated. 

<2 2 – 5 6 – 10 >10 

75% or less of AQAL Negligible Negligible Slight Moderate 

76% - 94% of AQAL Negligible Slight Moderate Moderate 

95% - 102% of AQAL Slight Moderate Moderate Substantial 

103% - 109% of AQAL Moderate Moderate Substantial Substantial 

110% or more of AQAL Moderate Substantial Substantial Substantial 

 

Page 169



Hogshaw Roundabout, Buxton Project number: 60580883 R2 

AECOM 

17 

 

 

Assumptions, Limitations, and Uncertainties 
3.46 Modelling results are subject to systematic and random error; such errors arise due to many 

factors, such as uncertainty in the traffic data and the composition of the vehicle fleet, and 

uncertainty in the meteorological dataset. 

3.47 These errors have been minimised where possible by using the latest tools and software, and 

by verifying the model against local monitored concentrations. Additionally, the uncertainty 

involved in predicting the way the fleet will change in the future has been reflected in the 

sensitivity test undertaken. 

3.48 For source apportionment, the national fleet split for urban areas was used to determine source 

contributions, using a basic fleet split of %HDVs, rather than fleet information specific to 

Buxton. 

Page 170



Hogshaw Roundabout, Buxton Project number: 60580883 R2 

AECOM 

18 

 

 

4. Baseline Conditions 

Air Quality Management Areas 
4.1 The proposed scheme is located within HPBC which undertakes the local air quality 

management review and assessment responsibilities for the area. 

4.2 HPBC have declared one AQMA within the region, Tintwistle, with respect to the annual mean 

NO2 objective. This AQMA is 24 km from the proposed scheme and therefore not under 

consideration in this assessment. 

4.3 HPBC is in the process of declaring an additional AQMA on Fairfield Road due to the 

occurrence of exceedances of the AQO for annual mean NO2 in the area in 2018 and 2019 

(see Table 5). The proposed AQMA encompasses Fairfield Road from the junction with Alma 

Street to the junction with Lightwood Road, approximately 220 m to the south west of the 

proposed scheme. The location of the proposed scheme in relation to the proposed AQMA is 

illustrated in Appendix B. 

 

Pollutant Monitoring 
4.4 HPBC operates an extensive network of NO2 diffusion tubes across the borough. 

4.5 A summary of the HPBC monitoring within the air quality study area, over the past five years is 

provided in Table 5. The location of these sites is illustrated in Appendix B 

4.6 Exceedances of the AQO for NO2 (indicated in bold) were measured at site HP33 in 2018. 

Subsequently four new diffusion tubes were commissioned in 2019. Two of these new sites, 

HP41 and HP42 measured exceedances of the AQO for NO2 in 2019, as well as site HP33. 

Table 5. Local Air Quality Monitoring 

Annual Mean NO2 Concentration (µg/m3) 

Bias Adjusted and Annualised 
 

ID Within Proposed 
AQMA? 

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 

HP12 Y 27.0 26.4 28.8 31.5 - 

HP13 N 12.1 15.8 12.5 13.8 - 

HP19 N 21.5 22.1 31.1 27.8 - 

HP33 Y - - - 48.2 44.9 

HP41 Y - - - - 44.4 

HP42 Y - - - - 50.3 

HP43 Y - - - - 34.0 

HP44 Y - - - - 36.0 

Source: High Peak Borough Council 2018 and 2019 Air Quality Annual Status Report 

 

Background Pollution 
4.7 Modelled estimations of background air quality concentrations are provided by Defra for each 1 

km square in the UK for each year between 2017 and 2030 (Ref 18). The estimated 

background concentrations of NO2 for the Ordnance Survey grid squares containing the 

proposed scheme are provided in Table 6 for each of the relevant scenario years. 

Page 171



Hogshaw Roundabout, Buxton Project number: 60580883 R2 

AECOM 

19 

 

 

Table 6. Annual Mean Background Pollutant Concentrations 

Background NO2 Concentration (µg/m3) 
 

Grid Square 2019 2020 2022 2030 

406500, 374500 8.5 8.1 7.5 6.3 

406500, 373500 11.2 10.7 9.9 8.0 

 
 

Source: Background Mapping Data for Local Authorities, Defra 

4.8 Annual mean background concentrations of NO2 are well below the AQO in 2019 and are 

predicted to trend downwards due to the renewal of the vehicle fleet with cleaner vehicles over 

time. 

Page 172



Hogshaw Roundabout, Buxton Project number: 60580883 R2 

AECOM 

20 

 

 

5. Results 

Operational Modelling 
5.1 The predicted annual mean concentrations of NO2 at the selected sensitive receptors in the 

seven scenarios modelled are listed in Table 7. Exceedances of the AQO are indicated in bold. 

5.2 Table 8 provides the predicted change in concentration at the modelled sensitive receptors and 

a description of the impacts in accordance with the EPUK/IAQM Guidance. The description of 

the impacts was determined based on the change in concentration associated with the 

proposed scheme as well as the predicted absolute concentrations, compared with the AQO. 

Table 7. Predicted Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations (µg/m
3
) at Modelled Receptors 

 

Receptor Base 2019 2020 2022 
Without 
Scheme 

2022 With 
Scheme 

2030 
Without 
Scheme 

2030 With 
Scheme 

2030 With 
Scheme 
and Dev. 

R01 12.0 11.4 10.3 10.5 7.7 7.8 7.9 

R02 15.8 14.9 13.3 10.6 9.4 7.9 8.1 

R03 16.4 15.5 13.8 10.3 9.6 7.7 7.9 

R04 15.8 14.9 13.3 10.4 9.3 7.8 7.9 

R05 10.9 10.3 9.4 9.4 7.2 7.3 7.4 

R06 9.4 8.9 8.2 8.3 6.6 6.6 6.7 

R07 18.0 16.8 14.8 14.7 10.1 10.1 10.6 

R08 44.1 41.6 37.0 37.0 24.0 24.0 25.8 

R09 44.3 41.8 37.1 37.1 24.1 24.1 25.9 

R10 42.8 40.4 35.9 35.9 23.3 23.3 25.1 

R11 45.5 43.0 38.2 38.2 24.8 24.8 26.6 

R12 44.2 41.7 37.1 37.1 24.1 24.1 25.9 

R13 44.5 41.9 37.3 37.3 24.2 24.2 26.0 

R14 45.0 42.5 37.8 37.8 24.5 24.5 26.3 

R15 38.3 36.0 32.0 32.0 21.0 21.0 22.1 

R16 35.4 33.3 29.6 29.6 19.5 19.5 20.6 

R17 44.8 42.2 37.5 37.5 24.4 24.4 25.8 

R18 45.9 43.2 38.3 38.3 24.9 24.9 26.4 

R19 46.7 43.9 39.0 39.0 25.3 25.3 26.8 

R20 42.8 40.3 35.8 35.8 23.3 23.3 24.7 

R21 47.4 44.6 39.6 39.6 25.7 25.7 27.2 

R22 42.3 39.9 35.4 35.4 23.1 23.1 24.4 

R23 37.1 34.9 31.0 31.0 20.4 20.4 21.5 

R24 42.9 40.4 35.9 35.9 23.4 23.4 24.7 

R25 38.4 36.1 32.0 32.0 21.0 21.0 22.1 

R26 14.4 13.7 12.4 12.4 9.4 9.4 9.5 

Page 173



Hogshaw Roundabout, Buxton Project number: 60580883 R2 

AECOM 

21 

 

 

Table 8. Predicted Changes in Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations between Scenarios (µg/m
3
) at 

Modelled Receptors 
 

Receptor Change between 2022 With 
Scheme and Without 

 

Change between 2030 With 
Scheme and Without 

 

Change between 2030 With 
Scheme and Development 
and Without 

 

R01 0.2 Negligible 0.1 Negligible 0.2 Negligible 

R02 -2.7 Slight Beneficial -1.5 Negligible -1.3 Negligible 

R03 -3.5 Slight Beneficial -1.9 Negligible -1.7 Negligible 

R04 -2.9 Slight Beneficial -1.6 Negligible -1.4 Negligible 

R05 <0.1 Negligible <0.1 Negligible 0.2 Negligible 

R06 <0.1 Negligible <0.1 Negligible 0.1 Negligible 

R07 -0.2 Negligible <-0.1 Negligible 0.4 Negligible 

R08 <0.1 Negligible <0.1 Negligible 1.8 Negligible 

R09 <0.1 Negligible <0.1 Negligible 1.8 Negligible 

R10 <0.1 Negligible <0.1 Negligible 1.7 Negligible 

R11 <0.1 Negligible <0.1 Negligible 1.9 Negligible 

R12 <0.1 Negligible <0.1 Negligible 1.8 Negligible 

R13 <0.1 Negligible <0.1 Negligible 1.8 Negligible 

R14 <0.1 Negligible <0.1 Negligible 1.8 Negligible 

R15 <0.1 Negligible <0.1 Negligible 1.1 Negligible 

R16 <0.1 Negligible <0.1 Negligible 1.0 Negligible 

R17 <0.1 Negligible <0.1 Negligible 1.4 Negligible 

R18 <0.1 Negligible <0.1 Negligible 1.5 Negligible 

R19 <0.1 Negligible <0.1 Negligible 1.5 Negligible 

R20 <0.1 Negligible <0.1 Negligible 1.4 Negligible 

R21 <0.1 Negligible <0.1 Negligible 1.5 Negligible 

R22 <0.1 Negligible <0.1 Negligible 1.3 Negligible 

R23 <0.1 Negligible <0.1 Negligible 1.1 Negligible 

R24 <0.1 Negligible <0.1 Negligible 1.3 Negligible 

R25 <0.1 Negligible <0.1 Negligible 1.1 Negligible 

R26 <0.1 Negligible <0.1 Negligible 0.1 Negligible 

 

 
5.3 Annual mean NO2 concentrations are predicted to decrease year on year in the baseline 

scenarios. Exceedances of the AQO for the NO2 annual mean is predicted at 14 receptors in 

2019, 13 receptors in 2020, and no receptors in 2022 or 2030 with or without the proposed 

scheme and developments operational. This decrease is due to improvements in emissions 

from the vehicle fleet over time with the older, more polluting vehicles being taken off the road 

and replaced with newer, cleaner vehicles. 

5.4 All receptors which are predicted to experience an exceedance of the AQO in 2019 and 2020 

are located within the extent of the proposed AQMA. 

5.5 A comparison of the 2022 scenarios, with and without the proposed scheme operating indicated 

that one receptor (R01) is anticipated to experience an increase in annual mean NO2 

concentrations; this receptor is located outside of the AQMA. This increase of 0.2 µg/m3 is 

considered to be negligible and is due to a reduction in vehicle speed between the two 

Page 174



Hogshaw Roundabout, Buxton Project number: 60580883 R2 

AECOM 

22 

 

 

scenarios as vehicles approach the new junction on Waterswallows Road. Four receptors are 

predicted to experience a decrease in annual mean NO2 concentration. Three of these 

receptors (R02, R03 and R04) are located on Waterswallows Road, where the decrease in 

concentrations is due to the re-routing of traffic and a decrease of approximately 5,000 vehicles 

per day. The decrease in concentration of between 2.7 and 3.5 µg/m3 at these receptors is 

limited by the emissions from vehicles using the new arm of the roundabout joining 

Waterswallows Road to the A6. Receptor R02 is located closest to this new road and therefore 

is anticipated to experience the smallest decrease compared to R03, which is located furthest 

from this new road. According to EPUK/IAQM guidance, this equates to slight beneficial 

impact. The remaining receptor anticipated to experience a decrease in concentration of 

0.2µg/m3, R07, is considered negligible. 

5.6 A comparison of the 2030 scenarios, with and without the proposed scheme indicated that one 

receptor, R01 is anticipated to experience an increase in concentration of 0. 2µg/m3. Three 

receptors (R02, R03 and R04) are anticipated to experience a decrease in concentration of 

between 1.5 and 1.9µg/m3. Taking into consideration the magnitude of change and absolute 

concentrations, the impacts are considered to be negligible at all receptors. 

5.7 Lastly a comparison of the 2030 scenarios, with and without the proposed scheme and 

developments indicates that increases in annual mean NO2 concentrations of between 0.1 and 

1.9 µg/m3 are predicted at 23 of the 26 modelled receptors. Decreases in concentrations of 

between 1.3 and 1.7 µg/m3 are predicted at three receptors (R02, R03 and R04). Taking into 

consideration the magnitude of change and absolute concentrations of annual mean 

concentrations, these impacts are considered to be negligible. 

5.8 For the scenarios which considered the potential effects of the proposed scheme only, no 

change in annual mean NO2 concentrations are predicted at receptors within the AQMA. The 

2030 scenario which considered the effects of the proposed scheme and development 

predicted increases in concentration at receptors within the AQMA. However, due to the low 

absolute concentrations the impacts are considered negligible. 

5.9 Taking the above into consideration the overall effect of the proposed scheme and 

developments on air quality is considered to be ‘not-significant’ as the slight beneficial impacts 

predicted at receptors R02-R04 are in an area of existing good air quality. 

 
 

Sensitivity Test 
5.10 The predicted annual mean concentrations of NO2 using the gap analysis approach and the 

long term trends spreadsheet (LTTE6) at the selected sensitive receptors in the seven 

scenarios modelled are listed in Table 7 9. Exceedances of the AQO are indicated in bold. 

5.11 Table 10 provides the predicted change in concentration at the modelled sensitive receptors 

and a description of the predicted impacts. The description o of the impacts was determined 

based on the change in concentration associated with the proposed scheme as well as the 

predicted absolute concentrations, compared with the AQO. 

Table 9. Predicted Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations (µg/m
3
) at Modelled Receptors using 

Long Term Trends (LTT06) 
 

Receptor Base 2019 2020 2022 
Without 
Scheme 

2022 With 
Scheme 

2030 
Without 
Scheme 

2030 With 
Scheme 

2030 With 
Scheme 
and Dev. 

R01 12.0 11.6 11.1 11.3 10.2 10.3 10.4 

R02 15.8 15.2 14.7 11.7 13.6 11.5 11.7 

R03 16.4 15.8 15.3 11.4 14.2 11.4 11.6 

R04 15.8 15.2 14.7 11.5 13.6 11.3 11.5 

R05 10.9 10.5 10.1 10.1 9.2 9.2 9.4 

Page 175



Hogshaw Roundabout, Buxton Project number: 60580883 R2 

AECOM 

23 

 

 

 

Receptor Base 2019 2020 2022 
Without 
Scheme 

2022 With 
Scheme 

2030 
Without 
Scheme 

2030 With 
Scheme 

2030 With 
Scheme 
and Dev. 

R06 9.4 9.0 8.6 8.6 7.8 7.8 7.9 

R07 18.0 17.4 16.9 16.7 15.6 15.6 16.3 

R08 44.1 42.7 41.7 41.7 39.8 39.8 42.8 

R09 44.3 42.8 41.8 41.8 39.9 39.9 42.9 

R10 42.8 41.4 40.4 40.4 38.5 38.5 41.4 

R11 45.5 44.0 43.0 43.0 41.1 41.1 44.2 

R12 44.2 42.8 41.8 41.8 39.8 39.9 42.8 

R13 44.5 43.0 42.0 42.0 40.0 40.1 43.0 

R14 45.0 43.6 42.5 42.6 40.6 40.6 43.6 

R15 38.3 37.0 36.1 36.1 34.3 34.3 36.1 

R16 35.4 34.2 33.4 33.4 31.6 31.6 33.3 

R17 44.8 43.4 42.4 42.4 40.4 40.4 42.8 

R18 45.9 44.4 43.4 43.4 41.4 41.4 43.8 

R19 46.7 45.1 44.1 44.1 42.1 42.1 44.6 

R20 42.8 41.4 40.4 40.4 38.5 38.5 40.8 

R21 47.4 45.8 44.8 44.8 42.8 42.8 45.3 

R22 42.3 41.0 40.0 40.0 38.1 38.1 40.3 

R23 37.1 35.9 35.0 35.0 33.3 33.3 35.1 

R24 42.9 41.5 40.6 40.6 38.6 38.6 40.8 

R25 38.4 37.1 36.2 36.2 34.3 34.3 36.0 

R26 14.4 13.9 13.3 13.3 12.2 12.2 12.3 

 

Table 10. Predicted Changes in Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations between Scenarios (µg/m
3
) 

at Modelled Receptors using Long Term Trends (LTT06) 
 

Receptor Change between 2022 With 
Scheme and Without 

 

Change between 2030 With 
Scheme and Without 

 

Change between 2030 With 
Scheme and Development 
and Without 

 

R01 0.2 Negligible 0.1 Negligible 0.3 Negligible 

R02 -3.0 Slight Beneficial -2.1 Negligible -1.9 Negligible 

R03 -3.9 Slight Beneficial -2.8 Slight Beneficial -2.6 Slight Beneficial 

R04 -3.2 Slight Beneficial -2.3 Slight Beneficial -2.0 Negligible 

R05 <0.1 Negligible <0.1 Negligible 0.2 Negligible 

R06 <0.1 Negligible <0.1 Negligible 0.1 Negligible 

R07 -0.2 Negligible <-0.1 Negligible 0.7 Negligible 

R08 <0.1  <0.1   Substantial 
Adverse  Negligible  Negligible 3.0 

R09 <0.1  <0.1   Substantial 
Adverse  Negligible  Negligible 3.0 

R10 <0.1  <0.1   Substantial 
Adverse  Negligible  Negligible 2.9 

Page 176



Hogshaw Roundabout, Buxton Project number: 60580883 R2 

AECOM 

24 

 

 

Receptor Change between 2022 With 
Scheme and Without 

Change between 2030 With 
Scheme and Without 

Change between 2030 With 
Scheme and Development 
and Without 

 

R11 <0.1  <0.1   Substantial 
Adverse  Negligible  Negligible 3.1 

R12 <0.1  <0.1   Substantial 
Adverse  Negligible  Negligible 3.0 

R13 <0.1  <0.1   Substantial 
Adverse  Negligible  Negligible 3.0 

R14 <0.1  <0.1   Substantial 
Adverse  Negligible  Negligible 3.0 

R15 <0.1 Negligible <0.1 Negligible 1.8 Slight Adverse 

R16 <0.1 Negligible <0.1 Negligible 1.7 Slight Adverse 

R17 <0.1  <0.1   Substantial 
Adverse  Negligible  Negligible 2.4 

R18 <0.1  <0.1   Substantial 
Adverse  Negligible  Negligible 2.4 

R19 <0.1  <0.1   Substantial 
Adverse  Negligible  Negligible 2.5 

R20 <0.1 Negligible <0.1 Negligible 2.2 Moderate Adverse 

R21 <0.1  <0.1   Substantial 
Adverse  Negligible  Negligible 2.5 

R22 <0.1 Negligible <0.1 Negligible 2.2 Moderate Adverse 

R23 <0.1 Negligible <0.1 Negligible 1.8 Slight Adverse 

R24 <0.1 Negligible <0.1 Negligible 2.2 Moderate Adverse 

R25 <0.1 Negligible <0.1 Negligible 1.8 Slight Adverse 

R26 <0.1 Negligible <0.1 Negligible 0.2 Negligible 

 

5.12 The cautious gap analysis approach suggests that if fleet renewal does not progress at the rate 

expected by Defra, exceedances of the AQO for annual mean NO2 could still be experienced in 

2030 within the proposed AQMA. 

5.13 A comparison of the 2022 and 2030 scenarios with and without the proposed scheme indicated 

that the impacts can be described as negligible at all receptors except R03 and R04 in both 

years as well as at R02 in 2030, where decreases in annual mean NO2 concentrations of up to 

3.9 µg/m3 are predicted and described as slightly beneficial. 
 

5.14 A comparison of the 2030 scenario with and without the proposed scheme and developments 

indicated that a slight beneficial impact is predicted at R03. Detrimental impacts are predicted 

at 23 of the 26 receptors; however, due to the higher absolute concentrations these impacts are 

described as substantial adverse at 11 receptors, moderate adverse at 3 receptors and slight 

adverse at 4 receptors. All receptors predicted to experience a substantial adverse and 

moderate adverse impact are located within the AQMA as well as 3 of the receptors anticipated 

to experience a slight adverse impact. It should be noted that the gap analysis approach is 

very cautious, especially when applying it to concentrations so far into the future. In reality, by 

2030, annual mean NO2 concentrations are likely to be lower than those reported in both DM 

and DS scenarios and potentially below the AQO. 

5.15 Taking the above sensitivity test into consideration, the overall effect of the proposed scheme 

on air quality is considered to be ‘not-significant’ as the slight beneficial impacts predicted at 

receptors R02-R04 are in an area of existing good air quality. In contrast the overall effect of 

the proposed scheme and developments on air quality could be considered ‘significant’, subject 

to the conservatism of the gap analysis approach. 

Page 177



Hogshaw Roundabout, Buxton Project number: 60580883 R2 

AECOM 

25 

 

 

Source Apportionment 
5.16 The data presented in Figure 1 illustrates the breakdown of the reported emission sources from 

published Defra background modelling for the average of the two grid squares encompassing 

the proposed scheme and the proposed AQMA for each of the assessment years. 

Figure 1: Contribution of Emission Source to Total NOX Background Concentrations 

5.17 These data indicate that for total NOX concentrations rural sources are a major component, with 
45% attributed to this source in 2019. Road sources contribute a significant proportion, but 

reducing over time, from 30% in 2019 to 18% in 2030. 

5.18 The data in Figure 2 indicate the contribution of different vehicle types over time, extracted from 

Defra’s EFT for Fairfield Road between Queens Road and Lightwood Road. 

Page 178



Hogshaw Roundabout, Buxton Project number: 60580883 R2 

AECOM 

26 

 

 

Figure 2: Contribution of Vehicle Type to Fairfield Road NOX Emissions 

 

5.19 These data indicate that diesel cars are the major contributor to emissions in this area, with 

43% in 2019, reducing to 38% in 2030 DM. A shift toward petrol and alternative fuels (including 

hybrid and electric vehicles) is predicted over this time, with these combined categories 

constituting 6% in 2019 and 14% in 2030. 

Page 179



Hogshaw Roundabout, Buxton Project number: 60580883 R2 

AECOM 

27 

 

 

6. Mitigation Measures 
6.1 The assessment concluded that impact of the proposed scheme is not-significant in the main 

assessment and sensitivity test. As such no project specific operational phase mitigation 

measures are required for the proposed scheme. 

 
 

7. Residual Impacts 
7.1 As no mitigation measures are required for the proposed scheme, the residual effects remain 

as presented in Chapter 5. 

 
 

8. Summary and Conclusion 
8.1 An air quality assessment has been undertaken to determine the potential local air quality 

effects of the proposed Hogshaw Roundabout, a new 4-arm roundabout on the A6, to the north 

of Buxton. The purpose of the proposed scheme is to provide access to future residential 

developments in the area. 

8.2 HPBC is concerned that the proposed scheme and associated developments will result in a 

detrimental effected within the proposed Fairfield Road AQMA. 

8.3 The air quality assessment has been undertaken with reference to EPUK/IAQM (2017) 

‘Guidance on land-use planning and development control: planning for air quality’. The 

potential changes in annual mean nitrogen dioxide concentrations have been determined for 

the following scenarios: 

 Base year (2019) without the proposed scheme (for verification purposes); 

 Future year (2020) without the proposed scheme; 

 Future year (2022) without the proposed scheme; 

 Future year (2022) with the proposed scheme; 

 Future year (2030) without the proposed scheme; 

 Future year (2030) with the proposed scheme; and 

 Future year (2030) with the proposed scheme and with the allocated developments 

(Hogshaw, Waterswallows and Granby Road). 

8.4 With regard to potential impacts during the operational phase, the assessment concludes the 

following: 

 Annual mean NO2 concentrations were predicted to decrease between 2019 and 2022 and 
further to 2030, if the proposed scheme does not go ahead, due to fleet improvements. 

 With the proposed scheme operational in 2022, slight beneficial impacts were predicted at 

receptors on Waterswallows Road, west of the new junction. This is due to the reduction 

in traffic flow as vehicle now use the new road linking Waterswallows Road to the A6 via 

the proposed roundabout. All other receptors, including those within the AQMA, are 

predicted to have negligible impacts. 

 With the proposed scheme operational in 2030, negligible impacts were predicted at all 

receptors. 

 With the proposed scheme operational in 2030 as well as the developments, increases in 

NO2 concentrations were predicted at receptors, including those within the proposed 

AQMA, due to an increase in the number of vehicles using these roads. These changes 

Page 180



Hogshaw Roundabout, Buxton Project number: 60580883 R2 

AECOM 

28 

 

 

are predicted to result in negligible impacts due to the very good air quality predicted in 

2030. 

 A sensitivity test was also undertaken using the cautious long-term trend spreadsheet 

published by Highways England. The sensitivity test concluded at when considering the 

potential impacts of the proposed scheme, although absolute annual mean NO2 

concentrations would be higher, the impacts would still remain negligible or slightly 

beneficial. 

 In contrast, the sensitivity test of the 2030 scenario, which considered the proposed 

scheme and developments, predicted impacts of up to substantial adverse in the AQMA, 

due to the cautious approach this method applied. 

8.5 Overall, the impact of the proposed scheme on local air quality at sensitive receptors is 

considered to be not significant, as is the cumulative impact of the proposed scheme and 

development in the main assessment. The sensitivity test concurred with the outcome of the 

main assessment for the 2022 scenario, but suggested the potential for a greater level of 

impact in the 2030 cumulative scenario, due to the conservatism of the HE gap analysis 

method used. 

8.6 The source apportionment exercise identified rural sources and road sources to be the major 

contributors to background NOX concentrations in the area, with diesel cars being the primary 

contributor to local air quality in the proposed AQMA. 

Page 181



Hogshaw Roundabout, Buxton Project number: 60580883 R2 

AECOM 

29 

 

 

9. References 
Ref 1 Derbyshire County Council https://apps.derbyshire.gov.uk/applications/planning- 

applications/profile.asp?AppCode=CD1/0220/76&AppType=2 (accessed May 2020) 

Ref 2 Council Directive (96/62/EC) of 27 September 1996 on ambient air quality assessment and 

management, Official Journal L 296 , 21/11/1996 P. 0055 - 0063 

Ref 3 Directive (2008/50/EC) of the European Parliament and of the Council of 21 May 2008 on 

ambient air quality and cleaner air for Europe 

Ref 4 Defra (2010) The Air Quality Standards Regulations 2010 

Ref 5 The Stationery Office Limited, (2016); The Air Quality Standards Regulations (Amended), 

(2016). Statutory Instrument No. 1001 

Ref 6 HM Government (1995) Environment Act 

Ref 7 Defra (2007) UK Air Quality Strategy 

Ref 8 Defra (2019) Clean Air Strategy 

Ref 9 IAQM and EPUK, (2017); Guidance on land-use planning and development control: Planning 

for air quality. 2017 

Ref 10 EPUK, (2010); Development Control: Planning for Air Quality (2010 Update): Update guidance 

from Environmental Protection UK on dealing with air quality concerns within the development 

control process. 

Ref 11 Department for Environment and Rural Affairs (2016) Local Air Quality Management Technical 

Guidance (LAQM.TG16) 

Ref 12 Committee On The Medical Effects Of Air Pollutants Statement On The Evidence For The 

Effects Of Nitrogen Dioxide On Health < 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/411756/COMEA 

P_The_evidence_for_the_effects_of_nitrogen_dioxide.pdf > 

Ref 13 National Planning Policy Framework (Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 

Government, 2019) 

Ref 14 Planning Practices Guidance (Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, 

2019), < https://www.gov.uk/guidance/air-quality--3 > accessed 06/05/2020 

Ref 15 High Peak Local Plan Adopted April 2016 (High Peak Borough Council, 2016) 

Ref 16 Land Use Planning & Development Control: Planning for Air Quality (Environmental Protection 

UK and Institute of Air Quality Management, 2017) 

Ref 17 Emissions Factors Toolkit (Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, 2019) < 

https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/review-and-assessment/tools/emissions-factors-toolkit.html > 

accessed 06/05/2020 

Ref 18 Background Mapping data for local authorities (Department for Environment, Food and Rural 

Affairs, 2019) < https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/data/laqm-background-home > accessed 

06/05/2020 

Ref 19 NO2 Adjustment for NOx Sector Removal Tool (Department for Environment, Food and Rural 

Affairs, 2019) < https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/review-and-assessment/tools/background- 

maps.html#NOxsector > accessed 06/05/2020 

Ref 20 NOX to NO2 Calculator (Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, 2019) < 

https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/review-and-assessment/tools/background-maps.html#NOXNO2calc 

> accessed 06/05/2020 

Ref 21 LA 105 (Highways England, 2019) 

Page 182

http://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/411756/COMEA
http://www.gov.uk/guidance/air-quality--3


Hogshaw Roundabout, Buxton Project number: 60580883 R2 

AECOM 

30 

 

 

 

Page 183



Hogshaw Roundabout, Buxton Project number: 60580883 R2 

AECOM 
31 

 

 

 
 

 

Appendix A Proposed Scheme 
Figure 3: Location of the Proposed Scheme 

 

P
age 184



Hogshaw Roundabout, Buxton Project number: 60580883 R2 

AECOM 
32 

 

 

 
 
 

Appendix B Proposed AQMA, Modelled Receptors and 
Monitoring Locations 
Figure 4: Location of Proposed AQMA on Fairfield Road 

P
age 185



Hogshaw Roundabout, Buxton Project number: 60580883 R2 

AECOM 
33 

 

 

 
 

Figure 5: Location of Monitoring Sites and Modelled Receptors in Relation to the Proposed AQMA and Proposed Scheme 

P
age 186



Hogshaw Roundabout, Buxton Project number: 60580883 R2 

AECOM 
34 

 

 

 
 

Appendix C Traffic Data 
Table 11. Traffic Data Used in the Assessment 

Road AADT 

 

2019 2020 

 
2022 Without 

 
2022 With 

 
2030 Without 

 
2030 With 

2030 With 
Scheme and 

  Scheme Scheme Scheme Scheme Dev. %HGV Speed (km/h) 

Fairfield Road north 
of Waterswallows 13,739 
Road 

 
13,834 

 
14,476 

 
14,476 

 
15,936 

 
15,936 

 
16,255 

 
11.4% 

 
80 

New road between 
Fairfield Road and 0 
Waterswallows 
Road 

 

0 

 

0 

 

4,961 

 

0 

 

5,461 

 

6,776 

 

3.6% 

 

48 

New road to new 0 

development 
0 0 0 0 0 1,348 0.0% 48 

Waterswallows 5,231 
Road 

5,268 5,512 551 6,068 607 607 3.6% 48 

Fairfield Road 
between 

        

Waterswallows 16,376 
Road and Queens 
Road 

16,490 17,255 17,255 18,995 18,995 21,338 5.2% 48 

Queens Road 8,501 8,560 8,957 8,957 9,860 9,860 9,860 1.0% 32 

Fairfield Road 
between Queens 21,776 
Road and Bakewell 
Road 

 

21,927 

 

22,944 

 

22,944 

 

25,258 

 

25,258 

 

27,602 

 

5.2% 

 

38 

Bakewell Road 14,456 14,556 15,231 15,231 16,767 16,767 17,939 5.0% 48 

Spring Gardens 14,666 14,768 15,452 15,452 17,011 17,011 18,183 4.6% 38 

P
age 187



Hogshaw Roundabout, Buxton Project number: 60580883 R2 

AECOM 
35 

 

 

 
 

Figure 6: Roads Modelled in the Assessment 

P
age 188



Hogshaw Roundabout, Buxton Project number: 60580883 R2 

AECOM 

36 

 

 

 
 

Appendix D Meteorological Data 
Table 12. Summary Meteorological Data for Leek Thorncliffe, 2019 

 

Parameter Value 

Annual precipitation total (mm) 1055 

Calm (%) 0.3 

Low wind speeds >0 ≤1.5 m/s (%) 12.3 

Maximum Wind Speed (m/s) 16.0 

Average Wind Speed (m/s) 4.6 

Most frequent Wind Direction (deg) 180 

Maximum Temperature (°C) 30.9 

MinimumTemperature (°C) -4.9 

Average Temperature (°C) 8.7 

Average cloud (Octas) 

Source: ADM 

6 

 
Figure 7: Wind Rose for Leek Thorncliffe, 2019 

 

Page 189



Hogshaw Roundabout, Buxton Project number: 60580883 R2 

AECOM 

37 

 

 

Appendix E Model Verification 
The diffusion tubes within 1 km of the Proposed Scheme were vetted for suitability for use in model 

verification. The results of this analysis are presented in Table 13. The model was therefore verified by 

comparison with the NO2 diffusion tubes HP33, HP41, HP42, HP43 and HP44. 

Table 13. Analysis of Suitability of Local Monitors for Model Verification 
 

Monitoring 
Site 

 

Distance from 
Proposed Scheme 

 

Suitable? Reason 

 

HP12 N Discontinued monitoring in 2019 

HP13 N On a residential road for which no traffic data is available 

HP33 Y  

HP41 Y  

HP42 Y  

HP43 Y  

HP44 Y  

 

These monitoring locations were modelled and processed by converting raw road NOX contribution 

outputs to total NO2 concentrations using the NOX to NO2 Calculator, with the appropriate Defra 

background concentrations added. As shown in Table 14, the model under-estimated concentrations 

when compared to the monitoring data and so the modelled results for NO2 were adjusted in 

accordance with the procedure detailed in technical guidance LAQM.TG(16). 

 
Table 14. Comparison of Modelled and Monitored Total NO2 Concentrations, 2019 

Monitor Monitor Type Monitored Total 

  NO2 
Modelled Total NO2 % Difference 

HP33 Diffusion Tube 44.9 24.0 -47% 

HP41 Diffusion Tube 44.4 24.4 -45% 

HP42 Diffusion Tube 50.3 27.6 -45% 

HP43 Diffusion Tube 34.0 23.8 -30% 

HP44 Diffusion Tube 36.2 24.9 -31% 

 

Adjustment is performed on Road NOX contributions. This is the raw model output, but must be 

calculated from the monitored total concentration using the NOX to NO2 Calculator. Road NOX 

contributions are shown in Table 15. 

 
Table 15. Comparison of Road NOX Concentrations, Pre-Adjustment 

 

Monitor Monitored Road NOX Modelled Road NOX % Difference 

HP33 75.4 27.2 -64% 

HP41 74.1 28.1 -62% 

HP42 89.4 34.8 -61% 

HP43 49.0 26.9 -45% 

HP44 54.1 29.2 -46% 

 
The adjustment factor for each site was calculated from a linear regression analysis of NOX 

[monitored, traffic contribution] / NOX [modelled, traffic contribution]. The adjustment factor was found 

to be 2.35. The application of this factor resulted in better agreement between modelled and 

monitored concentrations, as shown in Table 16. 

Page 190



Hogshaw Roundabout, Buxton Project number: 60580883 R2 

AECOM 

38 

 

 

Table 16. Comparison of Road NOX Concentrations, Post-Adjustment 
 

Monitor Monitored Road NOX Modelled Road NOX % Difference 

HP33 75.4 64.0 -15% 

HP41 74.1 66.0 -11% 

HP42 89.4 81.8 -9% 

HP43 49.0 63.2 29% 

HP44 54.1 68.6 27% 

 
This results in all 5 tubes having an adjusted modelled total NO2 concentration within 25% of the 

monitored total NO2 concentrations, as shown in Table 17.The root mean square error (RMSE) gives 

an indication of the uncertainty of the model. This was calculated as being 4.7 µg/m3, which is 12% of 

the AQO. LAQM.TG(16) states that: 

…if an RMSE of 10 µg/m3 or above is determined for a model, the local authority 

would be advised to revisit the model parameters and model verification. Ideally an 

RMSE within 10% of the air quality objective would be derived, which equates to 4 

µg/m
3
 for the annual average NO2 objective. 

Therefore the RMSE calculated for this project is within the acceptable range, and is close to the ideal 
range, which is considered acceptable considering the complexities of the study area. 

 
Table 17. Comparison of Modelled and Monitored Total NO2 Concentrations, Post-Adjustment 

Monitor Monitor Type Monitored Total 
  NO2 

Modelled Total NO2 % Difference 

HP33 Diffusion Tube 44.9 40.3 -10.2 

HP41 Diffusion Tube 44.4 41.1 -7.3 

HP42 Diffusion Tube 50.3 47.4 -5.7 

HP43 Diffusion Tube 34.0 40.0 17.6 

HP44 Diffusion Tube 36.2 42.2 16.6 

Page 191



 

 

Hogshaw Roundabout, Buxton Project number: 60580883 R2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AECOM 
39 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Nichola Egan 

Air Quality Consultant 

 
AECOM Limited 

5th Floor, 2 City Walk 

Leeds LS11 9AR 

United Kingdom 

 
T: +44 (0)113 391 6800 

aecom.com 

Page 192



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 45 

 

 

 

Glossary of Terms 
 

Abbreviation Description 

AQAP Air Quality Action Plan - A detailed description of measures, 
outcomes, achievement dates and implementation methods, 
showing how the local authority intends to achieve air quality limit 
values’ 

AQMA Air Quality Management Area – An area where air pollutant 
concentrations exceed / are likely to exceed the relevant air quality 
objectives. AQMAs are declared for specific pollutants and 
objectives 

ASR Air quality Annual Status Report 

Defra Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 

EU European Union 

LAQM Local Air Quality Management 

NO2 Nitrogen Dioxide 

NOx Nitrogen Oxides 

PM10 Airborne particulate matter with an aerodynamic diameter of 10µm 
(micrometres or microns) or less 

PM2.5 Airborne particulate matter with an aerodynamic diameter of 2.5µm 
or less 

QA/QC Quality Assurance and Quality Control 

SO2 Sulphur Dioxide 

HPBC High Peak Borough Council 

Page 193



High Peak Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2020 46 

 

 

References 

 Local Air Quality Management Technical Guidance LAQM.TG(16). February 

2018. Published by Defra in partnership with the Scottish Government, Welsh 

Assembly Government and Department of the Environment Northern Ireland; 

 Local Air Quality Management Policy Guidance LAQM.PG(16). May 2016. 

Published by Defra in partnership with the Scottish Government, Welsh 

Assembly Government and Department of the Environment Northern Ireland; 

 National Diffusion Tube Bias Adjustment Factor Spreadsheet, version 03/19 

published in March 2019; 

 High Peak Borough Council ASR 2019 

Page 194



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

 

 
 
 
 
High Peak Borough Council 
Air Quality Action Plan 
 
In fulfilment of Part IV of the 
Environment Act 1995 
Local Air Quality Management 
 
 

Page 195



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

 

 

Local Authority 
Officer 

Daniel McCrory (Senior Pollution Specialist) 
Alicia Patterson (Head of Regulatory) 
Mark Trillo (Executive Director) 

Department Environmental Health 

Address Town Hall, Buxton SK17 6DZ 

Telephone 01538 395400  

E-mail Daniel.McCrory@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 

Report Reference 
number 

HPBC Consolidated AQAP 

Date 2019 - 2024 

 

 

Page 196



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

Executive Summary 
 

High Peak Borough Council’s draft Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) has been 

produced as part of our statutory duties required by the Local Air Quality 

Management framework. It outlines the action the Authority will take to improve air 

quality in High Peak between November 2019-2024. 

Air pollution is associated with a number of adverse health impacts and it is 

recognised as a contributing factor in the onset of heart disease and cancer.  

Research would suggest that, additionally, air pollution particularly affects the most 

vulnerable in our society often these are: children and older people, and those with 

heart and lung conditions. Research would further suggest that there is also often a 

strong correlation with issues of equality because areas with poor air quality are also 

often the less affluent areas. 

The cost to society annually from the impacts of particulate matter in the UK is 

estimated to be around £16 billon.  

The source apportionment exercise for the two Air Quality Management Areas 

(AQMAs) declared in High Peak indicated that in:  

 

AQMA No1; Tintwistle - the Council’s priorities should be focused on: reduction of 

emissions from Heavy Duty Vehicles (HDV) and diesel vehicles, and to improve 

traffic flow and reduce congestion along the Woodhead road 

 reduction of emissions from Heavy Duty Vehicles (HDV) and diesel vehicles, 

 to improve traffic flow and reduce congestion along the Woodhead road 

 

AQMA No2; Dinting Vale - the Council’s priorities should be focused on: 

 the reduction of emissions from diesel vehicles (Cars and HDVs), and 

 to improve traffic flow and reduce congestion along the A57, particularly near 

the school.   

 

The Council has developed actions to improve air quality in the Borough, and 

specifically the AQMAs, that can be considered against the following five broad topic 

areas: 

Page 197



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

 Transport measures – changes to road layout or operation; formulation of 

traffic plans; with the aim being to encourage the use of greener modes of 

transport, and/or reduce congestion and associated vehicle emissions; 

 Leading by example measures – measures that HPBC will implement to 

encourage wider behavioural changes in the local population with respect to 

their travel choices. 

 Education, community and partnership measures – provision of 

information to increase community awareness of the challenges faced on 

air quality within the local area, and to facilitate behavioural change. 

 Statutory measures – use of legislation and targeted enforcement to 

control air pollution; and 

 Air quality monitoring – Implement satisfactory air quality monitoring, 

ensuring data is available to track outcomes of the implementation of our 

action plan measures and allow effective management of air quality. 

 

The Council’s priorities are focussed on the reduction of emissions from road traffic 

throughout the District. Regulation of emissions from industry have shown to be 

sufficient such that these sources of emissions are not the significant contributor to 

the problems identified by the Authority in respect of the AQMAs 

The responsibility for implementing Highway improvements rests with Highway 

England, who are in the process of updating the transport data and are undertaking 

further AQ modelling in the AQMA in support of the proposed Trans Pennine 

upgrade. Therefore, any potential mitigation actions concerning improving traffic 

emission or flow cannot be accurately developed until this new information has been 

considered and available.   

In this AQAP the Authority outlines how we plan to effectively tackle air quality issues 

within our control. However, the Authority recognises that there are a large number of 

air quality policy areas that are outside of our influence (such as roads managed by 

Highways England and vehicle emissions standards agreed in Europe), but for which 

we may have useful evidence, and so we will continue to work with regional and 

central government on policies and issues beyond High Peak Borough Council’s 

direct influence. 

Page 198



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

 

Responsibilities and Commitment 

This AQAP was prepared by the Environmental Health Department of High Peak 

Borough Council with the support and agreement of the following officers and 

departments: 

Mark Trillo – Executive Director 

Alicia E Patterson – Head of Regulatory  

Dr Daniel McCrory – Senior Pollution Specialist 

The Authority’s AQAP will be subject to an annual review, appraisal of progress and 

reporting to the relevant Council Committees and Executive. Progress each year will 

be reported in the Annual Status Reports (ASRs) produced by High Peak Borough 

Council, as part of our statutory Local Air Quality Management duties. 

 

If you have any comments on this AQAP please send them to:  

Regulatory Services at: 

Address: Town Hall, Buxton SK17 6DZ 

Telephone: 01538 395400  

Email: Daniel.McCrory@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 

 

Page 199

mailto:Daniel.McCrory@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk


 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

Table of Contents 

Executive Summary ................................................................................................. 1 

Responsibilities and Commitment ..................................................................................... 3 

1 Introduction ...................................................................................................... 6 

2 Summary of Current Air Quality in High Peak Borough Council. ................ 7 

2.1 AQMA No.1; Tintwistle .......................................................................................... 7 

2.1.1 AQMA No1; Description ................................................................................................. 7 

Figure 2.1 AQMA No 1 Tintwistle ............................................................................................... 8 

Figure 2.2 AQMA No 1 Tintwistle; monitoring Locations ........................................................... 9 

Figure 2.3  Church Street (A628) /Bank Street  Junction, East Bound .................................... 10 

Figure 2.4  Church Street (A628) /Bank Street  Junction, West Bound ................................... 10 

Figure 2.5  Pegasus Crossing at Ebenezer Brow .................................................................... 11 

Figure 2.6  Old Road Junction ................................................................................................. 12 

2.2 AQMA No.2; Dinting Vale .....................................................................................12 

2.2.1 AQMA No2; Description ............................................................................................... 12 

Figure 2.9  Old Road Junction ................................................................................................. 13 

Figure 2.7 – AQMA No 2: Dinting Vale ....................................................................................... 14 

Figure 2.8 – AQMA No 2 Dinting Vale and Glossop Monitoring Locations ................................. 15 

2.3 Proposed Schemes impacting on AQMAs No1 & No.2 .........................................16 

2.3.1 Trans-Pennine Upgrade ............................................................................................... 16 

Figure 2.10 Proposed location of Trans-Pennine A57 link Road and GM _ CAZ. .................... 16 

2.3.2 Trans-Pennine Local Impact Report ............................................................................ 18 

2.3.3 Greater Manchester Clean Air Zone ............................................................................ 18 

2.4 Monitoring Results ................................................................................................19 

2.4.1 AQMA No1; Woodhead Road ...................................................................................... 19 

2.4.2 A57 Dinting Vale .......................................................................................................... 20 

3 High Peak Borough Council’s Air Quality Priorities ................................... 21 

3.1 Public Health Context ...........................................................................................21 

3.2 Planning and Policy Context .................................................................................22 

3.2.1 Local Plan (2016 - 2031) .............................................................................................. 22 

3.2.2 Local Transport Plan 2011 - 20126 .............................................................................. 23 

3.2.3 Peak District National Park Core Strategy ................................................................... 23 

3.3 Source Apportionment ..........................................................................................24 

3.3.1 AQMA No1 Woodhead Road ....................................................................................... 25 

3.3.2 AQMA No2 Dinting Vale ............................................................................................... 28 

Figure 3.3.  Source Annual Mean Contribution (µg/m
3
)at 40km .......................................... 28 

3.4 Required Reduction in Emissions .........................................................................30 

3.4.1 Required Reduction in Emissions AQMA No1 ............................................................. 30 

Page 200



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

3.4.2 Required Reduction in Emissions AQMA No2 ............................................................. 30 

3.5 Key Priorities ........................................................................................................31 

3.5.3  Education, community and partnership measures ................................................ 40 

4 Development and Implementation of High Peak Borough Council 

AQAP ....................................................................................................................... 42 

4.1 Consultation and Stakeholder Engagement..........................................................42 

4.2 Steering Group .....................................................................................................42 

5 AQAP Measures ............................................................................................. 43 

Appendix A: Monitoring Results 2019 .................................................................. 52 

Appendix B: Reasons for Not Pursuing Action Plan Measures ......................... 53 

Glossary of Terms .................................................................................................. 55 

5.1.1 Woodhead Road .......................................................................................................... 73 

5.1.2 Results ......................................................................................................................... 74 

Figure 3.1.  Source of emissions between Light and Heavy Duty Vehicles .............................. 74 

Figure 3.2.  Source of emissions between general Vehicle types ............................................. 75 

5.2 Required Reduction in Emissions .........................................................................75 

 

List of Tables 

Table 5.1 ‒ Air Quality Action Plan Measures ........................................................... 45 
 

List of Figures 

Figure 2.1 – AQMA No 1 Tintwistle ......................................................................................................... 8 

Figure 2.2 – AQMA No 1 Tintwistle; monitoring Locations ...................................................................... 9 

Figure 3.1.  Source of emissions between Light and Heavy Duty VehiclesError! Bookmark not defined. 

Figure 3.2.  Source of emissions between general Vehicle types ......... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 201



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

1 Introduction 
 

The Authority’s consolidated Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP)  has been prepared 

following the declaration of  two  Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) for nitrogen 

dioxide (NO2) in High Peak.  The first, AQMA No1, is located along part of the 

Woodhead Road (A628) in Tintwistle and the second, AQMA No2, along part of the 

A57 in Dinting Vale.   

This report outlines the actions that High Peak Borough Council (HPBC – the 

Council) will deliver between 2019-2024 in order to reduce concentrations of air 

pollutants and exposure to air pollution, thereby positively impacting on the health 

and quality of life of residents and visitors to the High Peak. 

It has been developed in recognition of the legal requirement placed on the local 

authority to work towards the Air Quality Strategy (AQS) objectives under Part IV of 

the Environment Act 1995 and relevant regulations made under that part and to meet 

the requirements of the Local Air Quality Management (LAQM) statutory process. 

The Act does not prescribe any timescale for preparing an AQAP. However, the 

Government expects them to be completed within 18 months following the 

designation of any AQMAs. The prime responsibility for preparing and submitting the 

AQAP rests with HPBC; however, there is a requirement on other relevant 

stakeholders to collaborate with HPBC to identify proposals in pursuit of the AQS 

objectives within their respective responsibilities and functions 

This Plan will be reviewed every five years, and progress on measures set out within 

this Plan will be reported annually within High Peak Borough Council’s air quality 

ASR. 

Page 202



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

2 Summary of Current Air Quality in High 
Peak Borough Council.  

 

The latest ASR report from High Peak Borough Council detailing air quality and 

pollution levels across the High Peak in 2019 can be found in Appendix 1: 

 

2.1 AQMA No.1; Tintwistle 

2.1.1 AQMA No1; Description 

The Woodhead Road (A628) is one of the major non-motorway Trans-Pennine 

crossings routes between Manchester and Sheffield in the Peak District and affords a 

shorter route compared to the motorway (M62, M1) route.    It reaches a maximum 

altitude of 1486 feet and approximately, 12,300 vehicles use it daily, with around 13% 

of these being Heavy Goods Vehicles (HGVs).    

Air Quality Monitoring along the A628 in Tintwistle identified exceedances of the 

annual mean NO2 objective at relevant locations immediately adjacent to the road.  

This confirmed the findings of a previous Detailed Assessment and necessitated that 

an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) be declared.    

HPBC Air Quality Management Area No1; Tintwistle covers a 580m stretch of the 

A628 between the Bank Lane / Woodhead Rd Junction and Old Rd/ Woodhead Rd 

Junction and encompasses 16 properties. This is shown in Figure 2.1 and available 

online  https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/local-authorities?la_id=128.  The monitoring 

locations within, and near to the AQMA, are shown in figure 2.2.    

The topography of the AQMA No1 section of the Woodhead Road, is a general 

increasing incline moving Eastbound.  Between Bank Street and Chapel Brow, there 

is a slight incline with gradient between (+) 0 to (+) 2.7% and the speed limit changes 

from 30– 40mph, with vehicles accelerating up a gradient (Figure 2.3).   

Page 203

https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/local-authorities?la_id=128


 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

Figure 2.1 AQMA No 1 Tintwistle 

 

P
age 204



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

Figure 2.2 AQMA No 1 Tintwistle; Monitoring Locations 

P
age 205



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

Figure 2.3  Church Street (A628) /Bank Street Junction, East Bound 

 

 

Westbound, the gradient is a slight downhill, but the area is prone to queuing traffic, 

notably near the Bank Street turn. (Figure 2.4).   

 

Figure 2.4  Church Street (A628) /Bank Street Junction, West Bound 

  

Page 206



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

Chapel Brow to Ebenezer Brow crossing, is around 250m, with the speed limit of 

40mph. The road rises steeply from a gradient of (+) 2.7% to approximately (+) 7-9% 

until just prior to the crossing (Figure 2.5).    

 

Figure 2.5  Pegasus Crossing at Ebenezer Brow  

 
*Traffic lights were being replaced at the time of the picture and were located at the sight of the automated monitor box on the 
left-hand side of the picture 

 

This Ebenezer Brow crossing is a Pegasus crossing (equestrian crossing), which is a 

type of signalised pedestrian crossing, with special consideration for horse riders. 

The traffic lights at the Pegasus crossing mean that, when active,  traffic flow within 

this stretch, which is initially accelerating up a gradient, can potentially be disrupted, 

causing traffic to slow down/ stop and potentially require significant power to pull 

away on a  fairly steep incline (+) 7-9% , particularly for large HGV vehicles. 

This specific location (HP2) has previously recorded the highest emissions of NO2 

along the AQMA, although it is not considered representative of relevant exposure.     

From the Ebenezer Brow crossing to the end of the AQMA, at the junction with old  

road,  the gradient remains around 7% and properties are present on the Northern 

side of the road around 50m from the crossing (HP5) .    

Page 207



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

Figure 2.6  Old Road Junction 

 
 
 

It is considered that the increase in power required to pull up this gradient, 

particularly for HGVs, is likely to significantly increase the emissions from these 

vehicles at these speeds. It is also likely that the slow rates of acceleration 

associated with the larger vehicles may increase congestion as other, lighter vehicles 

are unable to pass these vehicles easily.   

This is discussed further in section 3.3, source apportioning. 

 
 
 

2.2 AQMA No.2; Dinting Vale 

2.2.1 AQMA No2; Description 

Glossop is a principal market town in the High Peak, located approximately 15 miles 

east of Manchester and 24 miles west of Sheffield.  The area is heavily reliant on the 

Trans-Pennine routes, with the A57 and A628 being key arteries connecting Glossop 

to both Greater Manchester and Yorkshire.  

Air Quality Monitoring along the A57 in Dinting Vale identified exceedances of the 

annual mean NO2 objective at relevant locations, immediately adjacent to the road, 

and necessitated that an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) be declared.    

Page 208



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

A further detailed assessment was undertaken in 2019 to delineate the extent of the 

potential exceedances and the area to be included in AQMA.     

HPBC Air Quality Management Area No2; Dinting Vale was declared in December 

2019. It covers a 470m stretch of the A57 between Glossop Road (A626) and Dinting 

Lane, incorporating 36 properties. This is shown in Figure 2.7 and available online  

https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/local-authorities?la_id=128.  The monitoring 

locations within and near to the AQMA are shown in figure 2.8.  

The heavy traffic flow along the A57 around Glossop can lead to congestion notably 

at peak times. This is can be compounded  further in and around the Dinting Vale 

area, by additional factors that affect the traffic flow, such as single-lane entry signal 

junctions or mini-roundabouts, the school and associated traffic, bus stops,  

pedestrian traffic lights and significant on street parking.  An example of this is shown 

below (Figure 2.9). 

Figure 2.9  Old Road Junction 

 

 

Page 209

https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/local-authorities?la_id=128


 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

Figure 2.7 – AQMA No 2: Dinting Vale 

 

P
age 210



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

Figure 2.8 – AQMA No 2 Dinting Vale and Glossop Monitoring Locations 

P
age 211



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

2.3 Proposed Schemes impacting on AQMAs No1 & No2 

2.3.1 Trans-Pennine Upgrade 

Highways England are progressing with the Trans-Pennine Upgrade Programme 

(TPUP), which includes the A5/A628 Mottram Bypass and the A57(T) to A57 Link 

Roads. 

The TPUP Scheme will provide a bypass of Mottram in Longdendale and a new link 

road in an east to west direction from the A57(T) east of Mottram in Longdendale to 

Woolley Bridge, crossing the River Etherow on a newly constructed bridge. A new 

junction would be formed to the west of the existing A57 Woolley Bridge Road.  This 

is shown as the hatched are in Figure 2.10 below,  Full details of the proposed TPUP 

can be found here: https://highwaysengland.co.uk/our-work/north-west/a57-trans-

pennine-upgrade/  

Figure 2.10 Proposed location of Trans-Pennine A57 link Road and GM _ CAZ.   

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AQMA No1 

AQMA No 2 

Trans-Pennine A57 link road 

Border with Proposed GM CAZ 

Page 212

https://highwaysengland.co.uk/our-work/north-west/a57-trans-pennine-upgrade/
https://highwaysengland.co.uk/our-work/north-west/a57-trans-pennine-upgrade/


 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

The TPUP has the potential to result in a range of beneficial and adverse effects for 

Glossop and Tintwistle, including journey times to the strategic road network (the 

M67) and the potential for development that brings about economic benefits along 

the A57 corridor, journey times into Glossop town centre and quality of life for 

residents along the A57.  

The scheme formed part of Highways England Road Investment Strategy Period 1 

(RIS1) which set out the programme for improvements on the strategic road network 

over the period 2015 to 2020.   To undertake the works, Highways England are 

required to make an application for a Development Consent Order (DCO) to the 

Planning Inspectorate (PINS) who will examine the application on behalf of the 

Secretary of State in order to obtain permission to construct the scheme. HPBC (and 

DCC) are consulted as the host authority as part of the statutory process. 

Construction was initially due to commence prior to the end of the RIS1 period, 

however, as confirmed by Highways England in July 2019, this was delayed.  This 

was due to concerns raised by HPBC and DCC at the consultation phase (pre-

submission) about the wider impacts of the scheme on the highway network, 

particularly the A57 through Glossop and the A628 through Tintwistle. This is 

because the Scheme and its likely improvements to connectivity and reduction in 

travel times to and from the Manchester conurbation, could potentially make it more 

attractive to road users in Derbyshire and consequently increase traffic flows through 

the A57 Glossop and the A628 through Tintwistle to access the scheme.  

Highways England, therefore, delayed the submission of the DCO to undertake 

additional monitoring and modelling of traffic impacts and air quality along the A57 

and A628. It would be anticipated that should the new modelling indicate that the 

predicted increases in traffic along the  A57 or A638, are likely to cause an 

associated increase in air quality pollution in the declared AQMAs (or other areas)  

then mitigation measures, included in a Scheme Air Quality Action Plan (SAQAP), 

would be prepared (in accordance with IAN 175/13) to mitigate these impacts. 

SAQAP measures could include reducing the increase in traffic in areas where 

sensitive receptors are significantly affected. 

Final details of the outcome of the additional air quality and traffic modelling 

assessments and a submission date for the DCO have yet to be confirmed by 

Highways England but is currently considered likely to be some time in early 2021.  A 

Page 213



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

further consultation from Highways England on this work and proposals is currently 

expected prior to the submission of the DCO. 

2.3.2 Trans-Pennine Local Impact Report 

To aid the consideration of major road schemes subject to a DOC application the 

Planning Inspectorate encourages Local Authorities to prepare Local Impact Reports 

(LIR) irrespective of whether the local authority considers the development would 

have a positive or negative impact on their area. This will be considered as part of 

the examination of the scheme by the appointed Planning Inspector. The document 

will set out the impacts of the scheme in the opinion of the Borough Council and 

consider issues such as economic impacts and air quality. 

Consultants have been appointed by HPBC and DCC to prepare a Local Impact 

Report (LIR) in response to the anticipated Development. This work is ongoing but 

will inform future versions of this Action Plan.  

2.3.3 Greater Manchester Clean Air Zone 

Glossop and Tintwistle share a border with Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council 

(figure 2.10), which is part of the Greater Manchester (GM) Authorities. GM 

Authorities have received a direction from Government to introduce a Clean Air Plan 

to bring nitrogen dioxide (NO2) levels within legal limits in "the shortest possible time”. 

To achieve this, they are introducing a charging Clean Air Zone (CAZ) Category C, 

across the whole of the GM region.  The  extent of the CAZ  is available at  

https://cleanairgm.com/clean-air-zone-map/  and will operate 7 days a week, 24 

hours a day.  

A CAZ, Category C is a designated area that requires higher polluting commercial 

vehicles to pay a daily charge for each day on which they drive into, out of, within or 

through the CAZ.  The charge will apply if the vehicle does not comply with the 

vehicle emission standards in Government’s CAZ Framework . 

This means any vehicle must comply with the following Euro emission standard:   

• Euro 4 (Euro IV HCVs) petrol engine, 

• Euro 6 (Euro VI HCVs) diesel engine, 

• zero emission vehicle, 

                                                      
 α A vehicle’s Euro standard reflects the exhaust emissions that it produces further information is available at 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/863730/clean-air-zone-framework-feb2020.pdf 

Page 214

https://cleanairgm.com/clean-air-zone-map/


 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

or drivers will have to pay the charge. Some exemptions will exist, e.g. for disabled 

passenger tax class vehicles, military vehicles etc.    

 

 

2.4 Monitoring Results 

2.4.1 AQMA No1; Woodhead Road 

The results from the recent monitoring along the Woodhead Road (2015-2019) are 

shown below in Table 2.1  

 
Table 2.1  Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) Monitoring Results along the A628 

Woodhead Road   
 

Site ID 
NO2 Annual Mean Concentration (µg/m

3
) 

(3)
 

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 

**HP2
(4) 

65.0* 60.2 59.5 - - 

HP3 34.5 32.3 31.9 28.7 25.7 

HP4 34.3 32.0 34.1 27.7 32.6 

HP5 51.8 49.9 50.9 47 37.4 

HP6 35.4 32.1 33 32.8 30.0 

HP7 19.0 20.9 17.1 - - 

HP8 38.6 36.2 46.4 39.3 35.5 

HP9 23.7 23.0 25.6 22.7 21 

HP20 32.0 30.8 38.5 28.4 26.3 

HP30 - - - 28.3 27.3 

HP31 - - - 37.8 35.9 

 
* Bold indicates exceedance of the 40 µg/m

3
 AQS 

** Does not represent relevant exposure   
 
 

Overall, the 2019 results showed a significant improvement in air quality along the 

AQMA, compared to the previous year and no exceedances of the AQS were 

observed.  

The highest levels continue to be HP5 and within the current AQMA but reduced by 

approximately 20% from 2018.  HP8 continues to be high but was below the AQS. 

Similarly, high levels were also observed at one of the new locations (HP31) outside 

of the AQMA slightly further westbound.   

Page 215



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

2.4.2 A57 Dinting Vale   

The results from the recent monitoring along the A57 in Dinting Vale (2015-2019) are 

shown below in Table 2.2 

 
 

Table 2.2  Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) Monitoring Results along Dinting Vale   
 

Site ID 
NO2 Annual Mean Concentration (µg/m

3
) 

(3)
 

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 

HP21
 

- - 44.4 41.3 38.9 

HP22 - - 37.2 33.6 25.7 

HP25 - - - 40.6** 37.0** 

 
* Bold indicates exceedance of the 40 µg/m

3
 AQS 

 

The results for 2019 showed a significant improvement in air quality along the AQMA 

compared to the previous year and no exceedances of the AQS were observed when 

corrected for relevant exposure.   The highest levels continue to be at HP 21 and HP 

25. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 216



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

3 High Peak Borough Council’s Air Quality 
Priorities 

 
 

3.1 Public Health Context 

The Air Quality Indicator in the Public Health Outcomes Framework (England) 

provides further impetus to join up action between the various local authority 

departments which impact on the delivery of air quality improvements. 

To help facilitate this, Defra has commissioned research to develop a toolkit to 

help local authorities and public health professionals tackle air pollution in 

their area7. The toolkit provides a one-stop guide to the latest evidence on air 

pollution, guiding local authorities to use existing tools to appraise the scale 

of the air pollution issue in its area. It also advises local authorities how to 

appropriately prioritise air quality alongside other public health priorities to 

ensure it is on the local agenda. 

Integral to a successful process is the development of communication 

methods for localised air quality and health impact information. Communication 

guides were developed through a series of workshops and interviews. 

Participants included Directors of Public Health, public health professionals, 

local authority air quality managers and members of the public. 

 The toolkit comprises the following key guides: 
 

 Getting to grips with air pollution – the latest evidence and techniques. 
 

 Understanding air pollution in your area. 
 

 Engaging local decision-makers about air pollution. 
 

 Communicating with the public on air pollution; and 
 

 Air Pollution: an emerging public health issue: Briefing for elected 
members. 

 

For HPBC, the fraction of mortality attributable to air pollution is 5%, which is 

similar to the national average of 5.1%.  

 

Page 217



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

3.2 Planning and Policy Context 

There are a number of related policies and strategies at the local and regional level 

that can be tied in directly with the aims of the AQAP. A majority of these policies and 

strategies are focused on transportation issues and, therefore are likely to help 

contribute to overall improvements in air quality across the High Peak area. The 

review of these strategies and policies also assists in not duplicating the work within 

this AQAP, but instead focus on measures outside those considered within these 

strategies and policies, but that still contribute toward their overall aims.  

Local policies contained within the Local Transport Plan for Derbyshire, the Peak 

District National Park Core Strategy and the Local Plan for High Peak all aim to 

reduce traffic across High Peak. These policies are currently being implemented 

through the inclusion of planning conditions.  

 Environmental Health are a consultee on planning applications and routinely monitor 

all applications for potential contribution to air quality to ensure that any potentially 

unacceptable increases in pollutants are identified and mitigated. 

 

3.2.1 Local Plan (2016 - 2031) 

The High Peak Local Plan (2016-2031) was formally adopted in April 2016 and 

provides a framework for delivering development for the period 2016 to 2031, by 

setting out the development strategy, strategic and development management 

policies and land designations for the Borough.  

Several of the previous policies have been updated, to reflect a need to improve the 

environment including air quality: The key policies are: 

 Policy EQ1: Climate Change: The Council will strive to meet part of the 

Borough's future energy demand through renewable or low-carbon energy 

sources (which could be through a variety of technologies, in line with current 

evidence which identifies the feasibility of these forms of energy across the 

Borough). 

 Policy EQ 10 on Pollution Control and Unstable Land states that: “The Council 

will protect people and the environment from unsafe, unhealthy and polluted 

environments. This will be achieved by: Ensuring developments avoid 

Page 218



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

potential adverse effects and only permitting developments that are deemed 

(individually or cumulatively) to result in the following types of pollution 

[including air pollution (including odours or particulate emissions)].  If there are 

any remaining potential adverse effects, they should be mitigated to an 

acceptable level by other environmental controls or measures included in the 

proposals.”  

 Policy CF6 Accessibility and Transport; states that Assessments required to 

accompany relevant proposals under Policy CF6 should include consideration 

of the impact of proposals on air quality,  

 

3.2.2 Local Transport Plan 2011 - 2026 

Derbyshire County Council (DCC) is responsible for producing a statutory Local 

Transport Plan (LTP) which sets out the Council's strategy for transport. Strategy 

between 2011–2026.  The strategy was informed by a strategic environmental 

assessment (SEA) and puts forward several policies and measures under the County 

Council’s jurisdiction that will impact on air quality:  

 Policy TENV3 requires that consideration should be given to the 

appropriateness of providing infrastructure for alternative vehicle technology, 

for example, the installation and operation of charging points for electric/hybrid 

vehicles in new developments. 

 Policy TENV4 Ensure transport elements of developments pay sufficient 

account to environmental issues Interventions to support the local economy in 

this and other settlements. 

 

To support mitigation measures by the above policies, DCC has developed an 

Investment Protocol: Environmental Mitigation and Enhancement – to incorporate 

environmental mitigation and enhancement in all LTP programme areas. 

 

3.2.3 Peak District National Park Core Strategy 

The Peak District National Park Core Strategy includes several policies that will 

impact on air quality:  

Page 219



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

 Policy T1 of the Peak District National Park Core Strategy aims to reduce the 

need to travel and encourages sustainable transport by making the National 

Park’s characteristics the primary criterion in planning and design decisions, 

by deterring cross-park traffic, and by encouraging sustainable transport (Peak 

District National Park Authority, 2011).  

 Policy LC21 of the Peak District Local Plan (Peak District National Park 

Authority, 2001) on pollution and disturbance has been retained. It is designed 

to prevent development that presents a risk of pollution. 

 

 

 

3.3 Source Apportionment 

The AQAP measures presented in this report are intended to be targeted towards the 

predominant sources of emissions within the two AQMAs, with specific focus on 

those emissions sources which potentially contribute to the exceedances of the 

annual mean AQS objective for NO2 within the AQMAs. 

Road Traffic emissions are considered to be the principle source of pollutants for 

both AQMAs.  To better understand the contribution of various emissions sources, to 

the total annual mean NO2 concentrations, a source apportionment exercise was 

undertaken in both AQMAs for both NOx and NO2 using the Emissions Factor Toolkit 

(EFT).  

The EFT is published and updated by Defra and the Devolved Administrations and 

users to calculate road vehicle pollutant emission rates for NOx, PM10, PM2.5  and 

CO2 for a specified year, road type, vehicle speed and vehicle fleet composition. 

Source apportioned nitrogen dioxide concentrations have been calculated taking 

account of the different proportions of nitrogen oxides emitted by different vehicle 

types.  The different proportions have been calculated in-line with guidance provided 

in LAQM.TG16 (Defra, 2016) for both AQMAs. 

 

 

 

Page 220



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

 

The following categories have been included in the source apportionment: 

• Regional background, which the Council is unable to influence. 

• Local background, which the Council may have some influence over.  

and 

• Road Traffic. 

 Cars 

 Lights Good Vehicles (LGV). 

 Buses. 

 Heavy Goods Vehicles (HGVs); and 

 Other vehicles (e.g. Motorcycles). 

 

 

3.3.1 AQMA No1 Woodhead Road 

A source apportionment exercise was carried out by High Peak Borough Council in 

2019.  The source apportionment exercise for AQMA No1, was calculated for each of 

the two receptors with the highest results  in the AQMA (HP05 & HP08) in 2018,  

taking account of the different proportions of nitrogen oxides emitted by different 

vehicle types.  The different proportions have been calculated in-line with guidance 

provided in LAQM.TG16 (Defra, 2016) using the Emissions Factors Toolkit (v8). 

The source portioning exercise was conducted at two speeds for each of the 

receptors. For HP05, 60km (37.3 mph) was used to represent “free flowing traffic”, 

(40mph speed limit) and 10km (6.2mph) to represent stationary/  slow moving traffic  

and a gradient of 6% was applied. For HP08, 40km (24.9mph) was used to represent 

“free flowing traffic”, and 10km (6.2mph) to represent stationary/ slow moving traffic, 

and no gradient was applied.  

The results from the initial source apportionment exercise for HP05 and HP08 are 

shown in Tables 3.1 & 3.2, respectively.  

 

Page 221



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

Table 3.1  Source Annual Mean Contribution (µg/m3) HP5 

Receptor HP5 (10km)  HP5 (60km) 

 NO2 (µg/m3) %  NO2 (µg/m3) % 

Receptor Value (2018): 47  

 

47  

     

Regional Background: 4.4 9.5% 4.4 9.5% 

Local Background: 6.4 13.6% 6.4 13.6% 

Road Traffic     

 Petrol Car: 0.8 1.6% 1.1 2.3% 

 Diesel Car: 8.4 17.9% 9.5 20.2% 

 LGV 7.5 16% 11.2 23.9% 

 HGV 18.9 40.3% 13.9 29.6% 

 Bus / Coach 0.4 0.9% 0.3 0.6% 

 Other 0.1 0.2% 0.1 0.3% 

 

HP5 is located  approximately 50m up gradient from the Pegasus crossing on the 

Woodhead road (Figure 2.6)   The results predict that although HGV’s only account 

for  around 13.5% of total traffic  when traffic is free flowing, the HGV’s contribute 

around 30% of the recorded of the NO2 from the road, with diesel cars and light 

goods vehicles contributing lower, but still a significant, source.    

However, when the speeds are low due to congestion or the operation of the 

Pegasus crossing, HGV’s are the dominant emission source  accounting for over 

40% of emissions, more than  all other traffic sources combined.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 222



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

Table 3.2  Source Annual Mean Contribution (µg/m3) HP08 

Receptor HP8 (10km/hr)  HP8 (40km/hr) 

 NO2 (µg/m3) %  NO2 (µg/m3) % 

Receptor Value (2018): 39.3  

 

39.3  

     

Regional Background: 4.4 11.3% 4.4 11.3% 

Local Background: 6.4 16.3% 6.4 16.3% 

Road Traffic     

 Petrol Car: 0.6 1.5% 0.9 2.3% 

 Diesel Car: 6.5 16.5% 8.5 21.6% 

 LGV 5.8 14.8% 8.8 22.4% 

 HGV 15.1 38.5% 9.9 25.2% 

 Bus / Coach 0.4 0.9% 0.3 0.7% 

 Other 0.1 0.2% 0.1 0.2% 

 

HP8 is located  west bound at the corner of Bank Street /  Woodhead road (Figure 

2.6)   The results of the source portioning exercise are similar to those seen for HP5 

but suggest that although HGV’s are still predicted to be the largest single source of 

emissions this is more similar to the contribution from diesel cars and light goods 

vehicles .   

However, again when the speeds are low, due to congestion HGV’s are the dominant 

emission source accounting for nearly 40% of emissions, more than  all other traffic 

sources combined.  

The above noted the breakdown of traffic figures provided by the DfT is based on a 

2014 road survey, with data extrapolated to 2018 (by DfT). It would be beneficial to 

undertake a more detailed traffic study to improve the source apportionment work 

and ensure it remains accurate, particularly to identify the age (and nature) of the 

vehicles using the road. Currently this work is being undertaken by the Highways 

Agency as part of the TP project, but this work has not yet been published.  

 

Page 223



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

3.3.2 AQMA No2 Dinting Vale 

A source apportionment exercise was carried out by High Peak Borough Council in 

2020.  The Source exercise was determined at each of the two receptors in the 

AQMA (HP21 & HP25) were determined, taking account of the different proportions 

of nitrogen oxides emitted by different vehicle types.  The different proportions have 

been calculated in-line with guidance provided in LAQM.TG16 (Defra, 2016) using 

the Emissions Factors Toolkit  (v 9).  

The source portioning exercise was conducted at two speeds; 40km (24.9mph) to 

represent “free flowing traffic”, and 5km to represent stationary/ slow moving. 

 

Figure 3.3.  Source Annual Mean Contribution (µg/m3)  

Receptor HP21 (5m/hr)  HP21 (40km/hr) 

 NO2 (µg/m3) %  NO2 (µg/m3) % 

Receptor Value (2019): 38.9  

 

38.9  

     

Regional Background: 3.9 10% 3.9 10% 

Local Background: 5.9 15.2% 5.9 15.2% 

Road Traffic     

 Petrol Car: 1.3 3% 2.3 5.9% 

 Diesel Car: 8.9 23% 14.0 35.9% 

 LGV 5.9 15% 8.3 21.3% 

 HGV 10 26% 3.1 8% 

 Bus / Coach 3 8% 1.3 3.3% 

 Other 0.1 0.3% 0.2 0.4% 

 

HP 21 is located east bound on the A57, near Dinting Vale Primary School (figure 

2.10). The results of the source apportionment exercise indicate that when traffic is 

free flowing, cars and light goods vehicles are the primary contributor to road NO2 

(62%).   However, the contribution of the different traffic sources to the total 

emissions changes at lower speeds when the flow is interrupted by congestion or 

Page 224



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

other factors (e.g bus stops). Here it is predicted that cars  and light good vehicles 

still account  for approximately 41- 44% of emissions but HGV’s and buses now  

contribute 34 – 35%  of emissions,  with HGVs the single largest contributor, despite 

only accounting for approximately 4 - 5% of the traffic.  

 

Table 3.4  Source Annual Mean Contribution (µg/m3) HP25 

Receptor HP25 (5m/hr)  HP25 (40km/hr) 

 NO2 (µg/m3) %  NO2 (µg/m3) % 

Receptor Value (2019): 46.3  

 

46.3  

     

Regional Background: 3.9 8.4% 3.9 8.4% 

Local Background: 5.9 12.9% 6.0 12.9% 

Road Traffic     

 Petrol Car: 1.6 3.5% 2.9 6.2% 

 Diesel Car: 11.1 24% 17.5 37.7% 

 LGV 7.4 16% 10.4 22.4% 

 HGV 12.5 26.9% 3.9 8.4% 

 Bus / Coach 3.7 8% 1.6 3.5% 

 Other 0.1 0.3% 0.2 0.4% 

 

HP 25 is located west bound near the junction with A626 Glossop Road. The results 

of the source apportionment exercise indicate a similar pattern of emission sources 

with HP 21, with cars and light goods vehicles being  the primary contributor to road 

NO2  at free flowing times but the contribution of heaver vehicles (HGVs & Buses) is 

predicted to increase significantly. 

The source apportionment exercise has proven valuable to initially identify the 

impacts and vehicle types that are affecting the receptors. However, the complex 

flows of traffic, in this area, particularly east bound means that ideally we would be 

looking to use a more complex dispersion model to assess these contributions more 

accurately. Currently, this work, including updated traffic data and additional 

Page 225



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

monitoring data is being undertaken by Highways England as part of the TP project 

but the results are yet to be published.  

   

3.4 Required Reduction in Emissions 

In line with the methodology presented in Box 7.6 of LAQM.TG(16)16, the necessary 

reduction in Road NOx emissions required to bring each AQMA into compliance is 

calculated below. This is done at each worst-case exposure location, where values 

exceeded the objective.  

3.4.1 Required Reduction in Emissions AQMA No1 

The required reduction in emission was based on HP5 as this was the only location 

that recorded an exceedance in of the objective in 2018 

 

Metric Value (Concentrations as µg/m3) 

Worst-Case Relevant Exposure NO2 Concentration 47 

Equivalent NOx Concentration 79.19 

Background NO2 10.85 

Road NOx – required  61.57 

Road NOx – required reduction 17.62  

Required % Reduction 22.5% 
 
 

3.4.2 Required Reduction in Emissions AQMA No2 

The scale of reduction was undertaken on HP25 as this was the only location that 

recorded an exceedance in 2019. However, it is noted that this is not at a relevant 

receptor, and does fall below the objective when distance corrected 

 
 

Metric Value (Concentrations as µg/m3) 

Worst-Case Relevant Exposure NO2 Concentration 46.3 

Equivalent NOx Concentration 76.73 

Background NO2 9.86 

Road NOx – required  61.59 

Road NOx – required reduction 15.14 

Required % Reduction 19.7% 

Page 226



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

3.5 Key Priorities 

The source apportionment exercise for the two AQMA’s indicated that that for: 

AQMA No1 the Authority’s priorities should be focused on: 

 The reduction of emissions from Heavy Duty Vehicles (HDV) and diesel 

vehicles,  

 Improve traffic flow and reduce congestion along the Woodhead road.   

 

AQMA No2 the Authority’s priorities should be focused on: 

 The reduction of emissions from cars (diesel) and vans and HDV’s 

 Improve traffic flow and reduce congestion along the A57, particularly outside 

the school.   

 

The proposed AQAP measures to achieve these goals can be divided into five 

targeted categories, although there is often considerable overlap between some of 

the categories:  

 Transport measures – changes to road layout or operation; formulation of 

traffic plans; with the aim being to encourage the use of greener modes of 

transport, and/or reduce congestion and associated vehicle emissions; 

 Leading by example measures – measures that HPBC will implement to 

encourage wider behavioural changes in the local population with respect to 

their travel choices; 

 Education, community and partnership measures – provision of information to 

increase community awareness of the challenges faced on air quality within 

the local area, to facilitate behavioural change; 

 Statutory measures – use of legislation and targeted enforcement to control air 

pollution; and 

 Air quality monitoring – ensure satisfactory air quality monitoring data is 

available to track outcomes of the implementation of our action plan measures 

and allow effective management of air quality. 

With the exception of the specific transport measures, most of the proposed 

measures within these categories, are applicable to both AQMA’s. 

Page 227



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

3.5.1 Transport Measures 

3.5.1.1 Transport Measures AQMA No1 

East Bound, these emissions are impacted significantly by the associated gradient on 

this road, and factors that slow down or affect the free flow of traffic  on this gradient 

such as the Pegasus crossing.  

West Bound congestion is linked generally to the heavy flow of through the area 

meaning junctions, notably  the Woodhead Road and New Road Junction and the 

A628/A57T junction in Hollingworth are over capacity and cause tailbacks  traffic 

through the area.   

 

 Highways England  

Highways England is the government company charged with operating, maintaining 

and improving England's motorways and major A roads, including the A628.  The 

implementation of action measures that would directly affect the A628 can 

consequently only be a implemented by Highways England.  The A628 road 

management is undertaken by the Highways England Yorkshire Humberside and the 

North East team. 

In addition, Highways England is also the authority implementing the Trans-Pennine 

Upgrade Programme (see section 2.3.1) which has the potential to alter traffic flows 

on the A628. The application is being undertaken by the Highways England North 

West team.  

Preliminary discussions between Highways England from the North and West teams 

regarding possible transport mitigation measures took place in early 2020 and 

focused on the following possible measures.   

 Potential to reduce the road use by HGV’s, along the A628, by encouraging 

HGVs onto the motorway network around the Peak District National Park, 

such as, implementation on an area weight limit 

 Improvements to the network to reduce congestion; 

o East Bound, the possibility of improvements to the Pegasus crossing 

&/or the incorporation of a passing lane on stepper sections to reduce 

congestion by slow moving vehicles (e.g HGV’s) 

Page 228



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

o West Bound, possible junction improvements / and or traffic light 

timings  

 Means to encourage restrict the use of the road by low emission HGV’s (e.g. 

Euro 6)  

 Means to enable local traffic, encourage the use of greener modes of transport 

(e.g possible installation of EV charge points) 

 

The key conclusions of the meeting were:  

Highways England (North East)- Competent Authority:  

“We have recently completed a review of speed limits on the A64, which has resulted 

in a series of ‘village gateway’ proposals improving consistency and recognition of 

speed limits on the route. This is in line with our Guide to Road Safety Route 

Treatments published in 2018. We are now planning a similar study of the A628. 

Concerns regarding air quality issues and safety at the Old Road junction will be 

added to the planned study. Our current proposal is to start the study for this work 

next year (2021)” As results indicate a general trend of improvement in air quality 

along the A628, this is considered a reasonable time scale to address these issues.  

 

Highways England (North West)- TPUP: 

Are in the process of finalising detailed updated traffic modelling and transport 

exercise assessing the current air quality on the AQMA and the impacts of the 

proposed TPUP. Should the results of the updated modelling and assessment 

indicate a future impact on the AQMA, measures will be put forward to address these 

issues.   

The implementation of direct transport measures therefore, will not commence until 

the publication of these further studies.  This affects the timescale for the full 

adoption of the AQMA.  

 

 Greater Manchester Clean Air Zone 

In December 2020 Government ministers have  agreed to consider extending 

Greater Manchester’s Clean Air Zone (CAZ) charges, to the sections of the 

Page 229



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

A628/A57 in Tameside which form part of the Strategic Road Network, within the 

proposed CAZ boundary. Normally, roads managed by Highways England are 

exempt from CAZ. The extension of any charges to the A628/A57 will be subject to a 

full assessment of the potential impacts, to be led by Highways England. Following 

the assessment ministers will take the final decision on whether or not charging 

should be implemented on the A628/A57. 

The outcome of this decision will have an impact on both AQMAs but notably the 

A628, as concern was raised that, without its inclusion,  it may lead to “rat running” of 

commercial vehicles seeking to divert routes within High Peak to avoid a charge.  For 

example, vehicles may seek to avoid the A57 at Woolley Lane, Hollingworth (and 

therefore, the charge), by diverting through Hadfield and Tintwistle to join the A628 at 

Manchester Road with its junction at New Road, Tintwistle, for journeys that remain 

on the strategic road network within Greater Manchester.  

Moreover, it is hoped that the inclusion of A628/A57 in Tameside will have a positive 

knock on effect, to both the A628  and A57, on emissions from commercial vehicles, 

particularly those that have to pass through Greater Manchester as part of their 

journey, on a regular basis. The inclusion of this stretch, will mean that operators will 

have to either upgrade their vehicles or take an alternative route via the strategic 

road network around High Peak.   

  

3.5.1.2 Transport Measures AQMA No2 

The A57 through Dinting Vale is managed by Derbyshire County Council (DCC) 

Highways Authority.   The implementation of action measures that would directly 

affect the A57 can consequently only be implemented by Derbyshire County Council 

(DCC). 

It is considered that currently there is a need to improve the flow of traffic along the 

A57 in Dinting Vale by looking at a variety of possible junction improvements, notably 

to the Dinting Vale / Simmondley Lane mini-roundabout and Primrose Lane 

roundabouts and improvements to the traffic light timings throughout Glossop.  

DCC and High Peak Brough Council have recently commissioned a Transport impact 

study as part of the Local Impact Report (LIR) in response to the anticipated 

Development Consent Order (DCO) application for the Trans-Pennine Upgrade 

Page 230



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

Programme (the TPUP Scheme). It also forms part of the masterplan for the gateway 

to Glossop area.;  

Several Traffic interventions are identified in the report :  

 Individual junction capacity assessments to determine if changes in traffic flow 

would require amendments to control strategies, lane markings or signal 

timings,  

 Route assessments (particularly of the to remove side-road friction (i.e. review 

of on-street parking, loading areas, taxi ranks, bus stops, pedestrian 

crossings, and illegal parking); 

 Prioritisation of users (i.e. accept a level of congestion for private users and 

instead re-allocate road space for walking, cycling and public transport. 

Priority for buses could also be achieved at signalised junctions via the 

installation of bus detection. 

 Introduce demand management / behavioural change programmes, to make 

greater use of walking, cycling and public transport for local, short trips.  

It is noted though that currently Highways England have not released sufficient traffic 

information in support of the Trans Pennine scheme, and that this may not be 

available until the submission of the DCO. Therefore, the full assessment of the 

potential impacts of the scheme cannot be considered robust until the impact 

assessment are informed by the necessary transport assessment and flow 

information.  

In addition to the above, HPBC has raised the possibility of the relocation of the bus 

stop, which is currently situated East Bound immediately in front of the Dinting Vale 

school. This is considered to be both a direct source of emissions (idling) and may 

reduce traffic speeds immediately in front of the school. 

This is currently under consideration by DCC but they note that currently, they are 

not resourced for this proposal.    

3.5.1.3   Transport Measures; Electric Vehicle Charging Strategy 

As the key source of emissions has been identified from road traffic, notably diesel 

vehicles, the installation of Electric Vehicle charge points across the Borough is 

considered a key component of the AQAP in facilitating both commercial and 

Page 231



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

residential road users to switch from high emission diesel vehicles to less polluting 

alternatives at both AQMAs (and across the Borough as a whole). 

The UK government has pledged to make all new cars and vans effectively zero 

emission by 2040 (The Road to Zero – 2018). By 2050 it plans for almost every car 

on the road to be zero emission.  The transition to zero emission vehicles will be 

mainly consumer and industry led but local authorities have an important role to play 

in facilitating this change. 

Prior to 2018, no networks operated any charge points on public operated car parks 

in the High Peak. The NHS has installed some at their facilities and the others are on 

privately owned land. Therefore, the public have limited options for charging EVs 

when they are visiting or residing in High Peak other than charging their EVs at 

home.  

High Peak Borough Council has been working with Derbyshire County Council, 

Nottingham City Council and BP Chargemaster as part of a D2N2 project known as 

the “Go Ultra Low Programme”, which has the aim to bring electric vehicle (EV) 

charge points to the area.  

The use of Council car parks will demonstrate that High Peak Borough Council is 

leading by example and the publicity will increase awareness of air quality issues 

across the local community. 

The first stage of this project was due to be completed at the end of 2019 and result 

in the installation of rapid charge points for electric vehicles at several Council owned 

Car parks across the Borough including one in Glossop, considered to impact on 

AQMAs No1 & No2. 

These are  

o Sylvan Car Park, Buxton 

o Municipal Buildings Car Park, Glossop 

o Station Road Car Park, Hadfield 

o Hope Valley Car Park, Hope 

 

Funding for a second phase of on street charging was completed at the end of 2020, 

which was specifically aimed at high density housing where residents who may wish 

Page 232



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

to invest in an EV have limited scope to charge their car because of lack of a private 

garage or driveway, therefore require on-street charging 

These are  

o Bernard Street Car park, Glossop 

o Miry Meadow car park, Chapel en le frith 

o Canal Street car park, Whaley Bridge  

o Victoria Park road shops, Fairfield  

o Sylvan car park, Buxton. 

 

It is proposed that HPBC will  continue working with Derbyshire County Council 

(DCC) on the  Low Emission Vehicle Infrastructure(LEVI) Strategy, which is focused   

on the provision and delivery of low emission vehicle infrastructure across the 

Borough. The strategy is being led by the stainable travel team at DCC and is 

available here:   Low Emission Vehicle Infrastructure(LEVI) Strategy 2019-2029 . 

The key goals of the project are to: 

 Work with partners on the provision and delivery of low emission 

vehicle 

 Adopt a partnership approach to trial new LEV technologies and 

explore opportunities to innovate 

 Work through the planning system and with private developers and 

landowners to provide LEVI 

 Adopt a partnership approach to review current parking management 

policies 

 Work with partners to raise awareness of low emission travel 

 Facilitate take up of LEV for its employees 

 Deploy LEV’s within its pool fleet 

 Work with partners to support private industry and public sector 

organisations to deploy LEVs within fleets 

Page 233

https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/site-elements/documents/pdf/environment/climate-change/low-emission-vehicle-infrastructure-strategy.pdf


 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

3.5.1.4   Transport Measures; Green Infrastructure 

One of the key factors identified in the source portioning exercise was the need to 

reduce the reliance on cars for short travel trips, notably around AQMA No2 Dinting 

Vale and provide viable alternatives.  Emphasis needs to be placed on establishing 

and improving the non-motorised access along the A57 and A628 corridors into 

Glossop or the Peak District (via Tintwistle) respectively.   

Derbyshire County Council (DCC) are in the process of developing a Key Cycle 

Network (KCN) throughout the county but is focused leisure, and on joining existing 

trials, such as the Pennine Bridleway National Trail and Transpennine Trail.    

The above noted that there is a lack of cycle and pedestrian connections along A57 

and into the town centre, and a lack of east-west connectivity into Glossop. 

Improvements in cycling routes in and out of Glossop are crucial in adoption of this 

mode of transport The Glossop Gateway project will look at some of the opportunities 

to facilitate an improvement the local cycle network. In particular it has been noted 

that:  

 There are two public right of ways that which run parallel to Glossop Brook 

and the A57.  These could be expanded to include the section of Glossop 

Brook between Dinting Vale and Melandra Road, as well as a section from 

Dinting Lane to Shrewsbury Street (on the edge of Glossop town centre). 

These three sections of public right of way along the brook would then offer an 

off-road path from the TPUP junction into Glossop itself, providing a pleasant 

riverside corridor along which pedestrians and cyclists could travel through the 

Gateway to Glossop to arrive at the town centre. 

This is seen as a key development for green infrastructure.  

In addition, the development of the future green infrastructure should be supported 

by:   

 Sustainable Travel Town Initiatives including a full package of measures to 

promote and encourage more sustainable transport.  

 Business Travel Planning to include encouraging lower carbon HGV 

technologies. 

 promotion and marketing of networks, including production of maps. 

  Provision of cycle training for adults if required.  

Page 234



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

 Vehicle type and fuel choice campaign – awareness raising campaign, 

including providing up-to-date information regarding outlets selling alternative 

fuels. 

 

3.5.1.5   Transport Measures; Public Transport 

Gamesley Station 

Improvements in public transport and getting more cars off the road, notably for 

commuter traffic through Dinting vale (AQMA No2), is seen as a key action measure. 

Transport for Greater Manchester, Derbyshire County Council and High Peak 

Borough Council  are currently working jointly on a strategic outline business case for 

the a new train station at Gamesley, which would offer connections to both 

Manchester and to Glossop, including Dinting Vale (which is the next stop to 

Gamesley)  and help reduce the impact on the local road network.   

 

3.5.2  Leading by example measures 

The measures that we will seek to adopt will be delivered through an appropriate 
Policy response (as detailed at Section 3.3) 
 
These include:   
 

 Review of Environmental Policies in the local plan and further development of 

specific policies around air quality. 

 The first stage of the new High Peak Local plan review is due to be 

implemented in the June 2020 and it is proposed to include a specific AQ 

policy in the new local plan, to address development around AQMAs and also  

to drive forward improvements in local air quality across the Borough. 

 Formally adopt a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) specific to air 

quality.   

 Taxi Licensing Review - review of the current emission standards allowed for 

taxis in the Borough. 

 Green Fleet Review - the Council will engage with the Energy Saving Trust 

who run the Local Government Support Programme to undertake a fleet 

review to identify opportunities to reduce emissions, decarbonise, improve air 

quality and increase electric vehicle adoption of our existing fleet. 

Page 235



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

 Adopting an anti-idling policy / eco-driver training for some essential car users. 

 Securing EV charging points at appropriate places of work 

 Continuing to develop initiatives, such as flexible working, that reduces the 

need for employees to use their cars to get to work 

 Transport Choices’ education campaign  

 Anti-idling campaign 

 

3.5.3  Education, community and partnership measures 

Influencing behavioural change forms a key action plan measure to drive localised 

improvements in air quality. This is particularly important, as improvements through 

infrastructural changes alone are considered unlikely to achieve significant 

improvements in air quality. Behavioural change will also make travel fit for purpose 

in the future by encouraging reductions in the need to travel, more sustainable 

modes of travel and employment of new technology. 

It is proposed that this will be delivered through three areas:  

 

 Business Engagement - Travel Planning, Curriculum, Campaign to increase 

awareness and confidence in cycling and walking, short trip journey options, 

PTP, electric vehicles, local public transport and information on all forms of air 

quality issues and solutions.  Car share and the promotion of funding sources 

available for business to transition to a low emission strategy for fleet vehicles 

saving Trust   

 

 School Engagement - Travel Planning, Curriculum, Campaigns, Initiatives, 

Walking Bus, targeted areas where school traffic impacts on AQMA areas.  

Engagement includes active travel campaigns through an academic annual 

calendar, including anti-idling campaigns and signage around school.   

 

 Local communications campaigns – Local engagement events to reach all 

users of local networks within AQMAs to highlight the short trip opportunities.  

Campaigns to support domestic air pollution awareness, including the 

development of an educational and measures you can do to improve AQ 

Page 236



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

impacts. Specific campaigns to support air pollution awareness from other 

sources e.g. domestic, wood burning and Anti idling Campaigns  

 

This will be delivered with the support of Derbyshire Air Quality Forum (DAQF). 

The DAQF comprises of local authority air quality officers, Derby City Council, 

Derbyshire County Council, Public Health England and County Public Health staff 

and other relevant stakeholders as necessary. DAQF is also a member of the East 

Midlands Air Quality Network (EMAQN 

Whilst the measures stated above and in Table 5.1 will help to contribute 

towards improvements in Air Quality HPBC anticipates that further additional 

measures not yet prescribed will be developed with the support of key stakeholders 

to address air quality issues across the Borough.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 237



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

4 Development and Implementation of High 
Peak Borough Council AQAP 

 

4.1 Consultation and Stakeholder Engagement 

It important for the success of the AQAP to seek involvement from all local 

stakeholders including local residents, community groups and local businesses in the 

drawing up of the AQAP. To this end the Authority has undertaken the following 

stakeholder engagement: 

 Articles in local newspaper 

 Questionnaires distributed directly to households along major roads 

 Drop-in session at Tintwistle Village Hall 

 

Prior to finalising this AQAP, the Authority will further consult with Highways England 

and other local authorities, agencies, businesses and the local community to improve 

local air quality.   

The following is a list of statutory and non-statutory consultees to which the final draft 

Plan is to be sent: 

 Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs; 

 Highways England 

 Derbyshire County Council Highways 

 Derbyshire County Council Public Health 

 Neighbouring local authorities; including Peak Park 

 Local residents within AQMAs; 

 Other relevant local stakeholders. 

 

4.2 Steering Group 

The draft AQAP has been led principally by the Environmental Health team, with the 

support of other senior officers within the Council. It is proposed that a Steering 

Group is set up to discuss the impacts of the AQMA, once further details of the 

Page 238



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

proposed impacts of the Trans Pennine upgrade have been fully established. It is 

proposed that the following are included in the steering group: 

 

 Highways England  

 High Peak Councillors   

 Public Health officers (DCC) 

 Highway Authority (DCC) 

 Peak Park  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5 AQAP Measures 
 

Table 5.1 shows a summary of the High Peak Borough Council AQAP measures.  

Page 239



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2019-2024   

It contains: 

 a list of the actions that form part of the plan 

 the responsible individual and departments/organisations who will deliver this 

action 

 estimated cost of implementing each action (overall cost and cost to the local 

authority)  

 expected benefit in terms of pollutant emission and/or concentration reduction 

 the timescale for implementation 

 how progress will be monitored 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 240



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020        45 

 

Table 5.1 ‒ Air Quality Action Plan Measures 

 

Meas
ure 
No. 

Measure EU Category EU Classification 
Date 
Measure 
Introduced 

Organisatio
ns involved  

Funding 
Source 

Key 
Performance 
Indicator 

Reduction in 
Pollutant / 
Emission from 
Measure 

Progress to 
Date 

Estimated / Actual 
Completion Date 

Comments / 
Barriers to 
implementation 

 

 
Review of  Air 
Quality, Speed 
limits and Road 
Safety along 
A628 
 

 
Traffic 
Management 

 
UTC, Congestion 
management, 
traffic reduction 

 

 

2021 

 

Highways 
England 
(North – 
East) 

 

Highways 
England 

(North – 
East) 

 

Reduction in 
traffic 
congestion 

 

Reduced 
emissions from 
vehicles 

 

Not yet 
commenced 

 

Not yet commenced 

 

 

Assessment of 
impact of the 
proposed TPUP 
Scheme along 
A628 and A57 

 

 
Traffic 
Management 

 
UTC, Congestion 
management, traffic 
reduction 

2017 

Highways 
England 
(North – 
West) 

Highways 
England 

(North – 
East) 

 
 
TBC 

 

 

TBC 

Due to be 
completed in 
2021 

Due to be completed 
in 2021 

Delayed due to 
delay in 
submission 
Development 
Consent Order 
(DCO) 
application for 
the Trans-
Pennine 
Upgrade 
Programme 
(the TPUP 
Scheme). 

 

 

Junction Capacity  
and route 
assessment 
review along A57 
 

 
 
Traffic 
Management 

 
UTC, Congestion 
management, 
traffic reduction 

 

2020  
DCC/ HPBC 

DCC/ 
HPBC 

 

Reduction in 
traffic 
congestion 

Reduced 
Vehicle 
emissions 

Glossop  
Gateway 
Masterplan 
and local 
impact report 
currently being 
drafted  

 Not yet commenced Local Impact 
Report (LIR) 
delayed due to 
delay in 
submission 
Development 
Consent Order 
(DCO) 
application for 
the Trans-
Pennine 
Upgrade 
Programme 
(the TPUP 
Scheme). 

P
age 241



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020        46 

 
 

Installation of 
public rapid EV 
Charging points 
across Brough 

Promoting 
Low Emission 
Transport 

Promote Low 
Emission Vehicles 

 
2018/ 2019 

 
HPBC / 
DCC/NCC 

 
HPBC / 
DCC/NCC 

 
increased 
installation of 
EV charging 
points 

 
Reduced 
Vehicle 
emissions 

 
Phase 1 
complete  

 
Ongoing 

https://www.trans
port 
nottingham.com/
drivi ng/ultra-low- 
emission-vehicles/ 

 
 

Installation of off-
street EV 
Charging points 
across borough 

Promoting 
Low Emission 
Transport 

Promote Low 
Emission Vehicles 

 
2020 

 
HPBC / 
DCC/NCC 

 
HPBC / 
DCC/NCC 

 
U increased 
installation of 
EV charging 
points nknown 

 
Reduced 
Vehicle 
emissions 

 
Phase 2 
Complete 

 
Ongoing 

https://www.transpo
rt 
nottingham.com/dr
ivi ng/ultra-low- 
emission-vehicles/ 

 
Develop Electric 
Vehicle Charging 
Strategy 

Promoting 
Low Emission 
Transport 

Developing 
infrastructure to 
promote Low 
Emission 
Vehicles, EV 
recharging, Gas 
fuel recharging 

2019 
HPBC  / 
DCC/ 

HPBC  / 
DCC/ 

Unknown 
Reduced Vehicle 
emissions 

Near  Ongoing 

https://www.transp
ortnottingham.com
/driving/ultra-low-
emission-vehicles/ 

 
 

Incentivise 
parking for low 
emission vehicles 

Promoting 
Low Emission 
Transport 

Emission based 
parking or permit 
charges 

2021 
SHPBC/DC
C 

None TBC 
Reduced 
emissions from 
vehicles 

 
Parking review 
being 
undertaken for 
the district 
 

 
 
2021 /2022 
 

 
 

 

 

 

Continue to 
promote and 
increase the 
installation of EV 
charging points 
through 
development 
control processes 

 

 
Promoting 
Low Emission 
Transport 

Procuring 
alternative 
Refuelling 
infrastructure 
to promote 
Low Emission 
Vehicles, EV 
recharging, 
Gas fuel 
recharging 

 

2015 

 

HPBC 

 

None 

 
increased 
installation of 
EV charging 
points 

 
Reduced 
emissions from 
vehicles 

 
EV charging 
points are 
conditioned 
through the 
planning 
process, this is 
to be 
strengthened 
by the 
implementatio
n of Air Quality 
supplementary 
planning 
document 
 

 
Operational 

 
 

 

Work to improve 
the cycling 
network around 
A57 into Glossop 

Promoting low 
emission 
transport  

Cycle scheme 
and network  

2020  HPBC/DCC  TBC 
HPBC/D
CC/ 
Grant/ 
HE 
designatr
ed funds  

Additional 
cycling 
schemes  

 
Reduced 
emissions from 
vehicles 

Glossop  
Gateway 
Masterplan 
and local 
impact report 
currently being 
drafted  

 Not yet commenced Local Impact 
Report (LIR) 
delayed due to 
delay in 
submission 
Development 
Consent Order 
(DCO) application 
for the Trans-

P
age 242



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020        47 

Pennine Upgrade 
Programme (the 
TPUP Scheme). 

 

Construction of a 
railway station 
and the return of 
public trains to 
Gamesley Station 

Alternatives to 
private vehicle 
use  

Rail based 
park & ride  

2011  Transport for 
Greater 
Manchester 
/ DCC/ 
HPBC 

Network 
Rail 

Rail facilities 
improved  

Reduced 
emissions from 
vehicles 

Construction 
of a new 
railway station 
with publicly 
accessible 
trains 
available  

Ongoing  Proposals is 
currently being 
considered by 
parliament 

 

Review west 
bound bus stop 
by Dinting Vale 
Primary School  

Traffic 
Management  Other  

2021  DCC  DCC / 
HE 
designat
ed funds 

Bus stop 
reviewed  

It is difficult to 
quantify 
reduction as a 
result of this 
measure but 
implementing 
this measure will 
result in 
reducing traffic 
queues and as 
such reduce 
emissions  

Not yet 
commenced 
Discussions 
have taken 
place  

2021  

A cost of around 
10K has been 
established for this 
proposal 

 

 
Review of Bus 
Vehicle Fleet 
Efficiency  

Promoting 
Low Emission 
Transport 

Promote Low 
Emission Vehicles 

2020 HPPC / 
DCC 
/Energy 
Saving Trust 
/ 

DCC/ 
Greater 
Manchest
er  

Review of 
emission limits 
of buses 
serving Dinting 
Vale Primary 
school  

Reduced 
emissions from 
vehicles 

Discussions 
have taken 
place with 
DCC 
regarding 
available 
funding  

 Not yet commenced The introduction of 
the GM CAZ 
means funding is 
available for bus 
routes serving GM  
for emissions 
improvements  

 

Investigate the 
feasibility of 
implementing a 
CAZ in Glossop 

Traffic 
Management  

Other  2011  HPBC/DCC HPBC/ 
Defra 
Grant 

Feasibility of 
CAZ/LES 
investigated 
and 
implemented if 
possible  

N/A as this 
measure will not 
be pursued at 
this time  

No current 
suitable route 
however 
working with 
Greater 
Manchester 
with their 
proposed CAZ 
and as such 
this may be 
looked at 
further  

Consider at a future 
date  

 

 
 
 

 

Increased Focus 
on AQ in  School 
Travel Plans 

 

Promoting 
Travel 
Alternatives 

School Travel 
Plans 

 
2018/ 2019 

 
 
HPBC/ DCC 
SMDC/ SCC 

 
DCC/HP
BC  

 

No of Schools 
Travel Plans 
approved & 
adopted 

 

Reduced 
emissions from 
vehicles 

 
Travel plans 
ongoing, 
additional AQ 
focus not yet 
introduced   

 

 
ongoing 

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/trans
port-
roads/transport-
plans/sustainable-
travel/school-

P
age 243

https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/transport-roads/transport-plans/sustainable-travel/school-travel-plans/school-travel-plans.aspx
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/transport-roads/transport-plans/sustainable-travel/school-travel-plans/school-travel-plans.aspx
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/transport-roads/transport-plans/sustainable-travel/school-travel-plans/school-travel-plans.aspx
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/transport-roads/transport-plans/sustainable-travel/school-travel-plans/school-travel-plans.aspx
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/transport-roads/transport-plans/sustainable-travel/school-travel-plans/school-travel-plans.aspx
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/transport-roads/transport-plans/sustainable-travel/school-travel-plans/school-travel-plans.aspx


 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020        48 

travel-
plans/school-
travel-plans.aspx 
 

 

 

School based 
educational 
activities 

Promoting 
Travel 
Alternatives / 
Public 
Information 

 
 

Other 

 
 
2018/ 2019 

HPBC/ DCC 
SMDC/ SCC 

DCC/HP
BC 

 

No of schools 
engaged 

 

Through public 
awareness 

 
Not yet 
commenced 

 
 
Not yet commenced 

https://www.staffor
dshire.g 
ov.uk/DoingOurBit
/Get- 
Inspired/Clean-
green-and- 
safe/Air-aware/Air- 
aware.aspx 

 

Anti-idling 
initiatives in 
educational 

settings 

 

Traffic 
Management 

 

Anti-idling 
enforcement 

 
 
2018/ 2019 

 
 
HPBC/ DCC 
SMDC/ SCC 

 
DCC/HP
BC 

 
No of schools 
engaged 

 

Reduced 
emissions from 
vehicles 

 
Not yet 
commenced 

 
 
Not yet commenced 

https://www.staffor
dshire.g 
ov.uk/DoingOurBit
/Get- 
Inspired/Clean-
green-and- 
safe/Air-aware/Air- 
aware.aspx 

 
 
 

 
Business/ 
Workplace 
Travel; 
Planning 

 

Promoting 
Travel 
Alternatives 

 
Workplace Travel 
Planning 

 
 
2018/ 2019 

 
 
DCC/ HPBC 

 
HPBC/D
CC 

 

 
No of 
Business 
Travel Plans 
approved & 
adopted 

 

Reduced 
emissions from 
vehicles 

 

Quantitative 
appraisal is 
on-going 

 
 
Operational 

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/trans
port-
roads/transport-
plans/sustainable-
travel/sustainable-
travel-and-
smarter-
choices.aspx  

 

Business 
/Workplace 
promotion on of 
Low emission 
vehicles  

Vehicle Fleet 
Efficiency 

 
Fleet efficiency and 
recognition schemes 

2020 
HPBC/ 
Energy 
Saving Trust 

HPBC 

No of 
Business 
engaged with 
Energy Saving 
Trust 

Reduced 
emissions from 
vehicles 

 

Quantitative 
appraisal is 
on-going 

 
 
Operational 

To make business 
aware of the 
grants available 
from to reduce 
emissions from 
fleet and impacts 
of GMCAZ  

 
 
 

 
Communication 
initiatives, e.g. 
website 

information 

updates 

 

 

Public 
Information 

 
 

Other 

 
 
2017/18 

 
 
HPBC/ 
SMDC 

 
HPBC 

 
 

New website 

 
Through public 
awareness 

 
Implementatio
n is on- going 

 
 
Operational 

https://www.staffor
dshire.g 
ov.uk/DoingOurBit
/Get- 
Inspired/Clean-
green-and- 
safe/Air-aware/Air- 
aware.aspx 

P
age 244

https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/transport-roads/transport-plans/sustainable-travel/school-travel-plans/school-travel-plans.aspx
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/transport-roads/transport-plans/sustainable-travel/school-travel-plans/school-travel-plans.aspx
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/transport-roads/transport-plans/sustainable-travel/school-travel-plans/school-travel-plans.aspx
https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/DoingOurBit/Get-Inspired/Clean-green-and-safe/Air-aware/Air-aware.aspx
https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/DoingOurBit/Get-Inspired/Clean-green-and-safe/Air-aware/Air-aware.aspx
https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/DoingOurBit/Get-Inspired/Clean-green-and-safe/Air-aware/Air-aware.aspx
https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/DoingOurBit/Get-Inspired/Clean-green-and-safe/Air-aware/Air-aware.aspx
https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/DoingOurBit/Get-Inspired/Clean-green-and-safe/Air-aware/Air-aware.aspx
https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/DoingOurBit/Get-Inspired/Clean-green-and-safe/Air-aware/Air-aware.aspx
https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/DoingOurBit/Get-Inspired/Clean-green-and-safe/Air-aware/Air-aware.aspx
https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/DoingOurBit/Get-Inspired/Clean-green-and-safe/Air-aware/Air-aware.aspx
https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/DoingOurBit/Get-Inspired/Clean-green-and-safe/Air-aware/Air-aware.aspx
https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/DoingOurBit/Get-Inspired/Clean-green-and-safe/Air-aware/Air-aware.aspx
https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/DoingOurBit/Get-Inspired/Clean-green-and-safe/Air-aware/Air-aware.aspx
https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/DoingOurBit/Get-Inspired/Clean-green-and-safe/Air-aware/Air-aware.aspx
https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/DoingOurBit/Get-Inspired/Clean-green-and-safe/Air-aware/Air-aware.aspx
https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/DoingOurBit/Get-Inspired/Clean-green-and-safe/Air-aware/Air-aware.aspx
https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/DoingOurBit/Get-Inspired/Clean-green-and-safe/Air-aware/Air-aware.aspx
https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/DoingOurBit/Get-Inspired/Clean-green-and-safe/Air-aware/Air-aware.aspx
https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/DoingOurBit/Get-Inspired/Clean-green-and-safe/Air-aware/Air-aware.aspx
https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/DoingOurBit/Get-Inspired/Clean-green-and-safe/Air-aware/Air-aware.aspx
https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/DoingOurBit/Get-Inspired/Clean-green-and-safe/Air-aware/Air-aware.aspx
https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/DoingOurBit/Get-Inspired/Clean-green-and-safe/Air-aware/Air-aware.aspx
https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/DoingOurBit/Get-Inspired/Clean-green-and-safe/Air-aware/Air-aware.aspx
https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/DoingOurBit/Get-Inspired/Clean-green-and-safe/Air-aware/Air-aware.aspx
https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/DoingOurBit/Get-Inspired/Clean-green-and-safe/Air-aware/Air-aware.aspx
https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/DoingOurBit/Get-Inspired/Clean-green-and-safe/Air-aware/Air-aware.aspx


 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020        49 

 
 
 

 

Encourage taxis 
licensed by the 
Council to comply 
with vehicle 
emission limits 

 
Promoting 
Low Emission 
Transport 

 

Other 

 
Not yet 
commenced 

HPBC 
 

HPBC 

 
Number of 
LEV Taxis in 
the fleet. All 
licensed taxis 
should meet 
minimum 
emission 
standard 

 
Reduced 
emissions from 
vehicles 

 
This has been 
on hold whilst 
we awaited 
the outcome of 
National 
Guidance. 
Consultation 
with taxi 
drivers 
planned for 
2021 
 

 
Not yet commenced 

 

 
Support the 
procurement of 
greener fleet 

Vehicle Fleet 
Efficiency 

 

Fleet efficiency 
and recognition 
schemes 

 
2019 

 
 
HPBC/ 
Energy 
Saving Trust 

 
 

HPBC/ 
Energy 
Saving 
Trust  

 
Number of 
LEV in the 
fleet 

 
Reduced 
emissions from 
vehicles and 
buildings 

Green Fleet 
Review is on 
going and  

Not known  

 

Review HPBC 
Core Strategy 
PolicyEQ10 
Review 

Policy 
Guidance and 
Development 
Control 

Other policy 2020 HPBC HPBC 
New Policy 
Adopted 

Reduced vehicle 
and building 
emissions 

Implementatio
n on-going 

EQ10 Operational 
Review Ongoing 

None 

 
Review of HPC 
strategies / 
Policies  

Policy 
Guidance and 
Development 
Control 

Other policy 2020 HPBC HPBC 
New Policy 
Adopted 

Reduced 
vehicle and 
building 
emissions 

Implementatio
n on-going 

Review of 
procurement 
Strategies has 
begone  

 

 
Encourage / 
facilitate home-
working 

Promoting 
Travel 
Alternatives 

Workplace Travel 
Planning 

 
 
2015 

 
 
DCC/HPBC 

 
 
DCC/HPB
C 

No of home 
workers 

 
Reduced vehicle 
emissions 

 
 
Ongoing 

 
 
Ongoing 

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/worki
ng_for_us/smarter
_travel/default.asp 

 
Promotion of 
cycling 

Promoting 
Travel 
Alternatives 

Workplace Travel 
Planning 

 
2015 

 
 
DCC/HPBC 

 
 
DCC N/A 

Reduced vehicle 
emissions 

 
Ongoing 

 
Ongoing 

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/leisur
e/countryside/acce
ss/cycling/default.
asp 

 
Promotion of 
walking 

Promoting 
Travel 
Alternatives 

Workplace Travel 
Planning 

 
 
2015 

 
 
DCC/HPBC 

 
 
DCC 
 

N/A 
 
Reduced vehicle 
emissions 

 
 
Ongoing 

 
 
Ongoing 

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/leisur
e/countryside/acce
ss/walking/default.
asp 

 
Car Share 
Derbyshire 

Promoting 
Travel 
Alternatives 

Workplace Travel 
Planning 

 
 
2015 

 
 
DCC/HPBC 

 
DCC 
 

No of users 
 
Reduced vehicle 
emissions 

Ongoing Ongoing 
https://liftshare.co
m/uk/community/d
erbyshire 

P
age 245



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020        50 

 
Promote use of 
rail – Community 
rail partnerships 

Promoting 
Travel 
Alternatives 

Workplace Travel 
Planning 

 
 
 
2015 

 
 
 
DCC/HPBC 

 
 
DCC 
 

N/A 
Reduced vehicle 
emissions 

0ngoing Ongoing 

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/trans
port_roads/public_
transport/communi
ty_rail_partnership
s/default.asp 

 
Public cycle hire 
schemes 

Promoting 
Travel 
Alternatives 

Workplace Travel 
Planning 

 
 
2015 

 
 
DCC/HPBC DCC No of users 

 
A Reduced 
vehicle 
emissions 

0ngoing Ongoing 

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/leisur
e/countryside/acce
ss/cycling/cycle_hi
re/default.asp 

 
Improving Cycle 
network - general 

Promoting 
Travel 
Alternatives 

Workplace Travel 
Planning 

 
 
2015 

 
 
DCC/HPBC 

DCC/ 
Highways 
Agency 

Implementatio
n of cycle 
network 
improvements 

Reduced vehicle 
emissions 

0ngoing Ongoing 

https://www.derby
shire.gov.uk/leisur
e/countryside/acce
ss/cycling/default.
asp 

 

East Midlands 
Air Quality 
Network 
Guidance for 
Developers 
 

Policy 
Guidance and 
Development 
Control 

Air Quality Planning 
and Policy Guidance 

2018 
PHE /East 
Midlands 
Councils 

HPBC/ 
PHE /East 
Midlands 
Councils 

N/A 
Reduction in a 
range of 
pollutants 

Establishes a 
range of 
measures 
expected by 
developers 
Reduction in a 
range of 
pollutants from 
development 

N/A 

 
To be adapted 
locally taken to the 
Planning and 
Health Group on 
completion for 
discussion and 
local adoption and 
implementation 

 
Derbyshire Air 
Quality 
Working Group 

 
Policy 
Guidance and 
Developm ent 
Control 

Derbyshire Groups 
Co- coordinating 
Area wide Strategies 
to reduce emissions 
and improve air 
quality 

2016 
onwards 

Derby City 
Council/ 
DCC/ District 
Councils 

HPBC 
Derby City 
Council/ 
DCC/ 
District 
Councils 

n/a 
Reduction in a 
range of 
pollutants 

Work Plans / 
Action Plans 
Developed 

Ongoing 

Annual report from 
group taken to 
Health and 
Wellbeing Board. 
Annual work plan 
created and a ten 
year Derbyshire 
Air Quality 
Strategy in 
production 

 

Raise 
awareness of 
impacts of coal 
and wood 
burning 

Public 
Information 

Regional Groups 
Co-ordinating 
programmes to 
develop Area-wide 
Strategies to reduce 
emissions and 
improve air quality 

2010 
onwards  

 

HPBC/ 
Derby City 
Council/ 
DCC/ District 
Councils 

HPBC  n/A 
Reduction in a 
range of 
pollutants 

Ongoing Ongoing 

DEFRA Leaflet 
now on Council 
websites (City 
and County). 

In addition, DCC 
Healthy Homes 
Programme 
continues to offer 
grant funding to 
convert coal fires 
to gas central 
heating systems. 

P
age 246



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020        51 

 

Inspect under 
the 
Environmental 
Permit regime 
and enforce 
legislation to 
reduce 
combustion 
processes 

 
Environmental 
Permits 

Introduction/ 
increase of 
environment 
charges through 
permit systems and 
economic 
instruments 

0ngoing 
 
HPBC 

 
HPBC/ 
Fees 
charged to 
Buisness 

 
Installations 
adhering to 
permits and 
enforcement/p
en alties for 
breaches 

 
By restricting 
emissions from 
industrial 
processes 

 
on-going 

 
Continual 

This is standard 
HPBC work in 
Environmental 
Protection 

 
Air quality 
monitoring 

Public 
Information 

Other 
 
 
Ongoing 

 
 
On-going 

 
 
HPBC 

# monitoring 
locations and 
On-time 
submittal of 
ASRs 

N/A 
On-going 
annually 

Annual 

Possibly liaise with 
Defra regarding 
need for additional 
monitoring and/or 
AURN funding. 

Consider 
continuous 
monitoring and AQ 
grant application 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 247



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020        52 

Appendix A:   

 

Latest ARS 

P
age 248



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020        53 

 

Appendix B: Reasons for Not Pursuing Action Plan Measures 

Table B.1 ‒ Action Plan Measures Not Pursued and the Reasons for that Decision 

Action category Action description Reason action is not being pursued (including 
Stakeholder views) 

Transport Measures  Further evaluation of road network impacts 
and implementation of mitigation measures  

Action is temporarily on hold until Highways England have 
completed updated modelling on the proposed impact of the 
Trans Pennine upgrade scheme    

   

   

   

   

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 249



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020        54 

 

P
age 250



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020        55 

Appendix C: Detailed Dispersion Modelling 
Dinting Vale, Glossop 

Introduction 

Measurements indicate that the annual mean nitrogen dioxide objective has been 

exceeded along the A57 in Dinting Vale, Glossop.  High Peak Borough Council 

(HPBC) has therefore decided to undertake a Detailed Assessment of air quality 

within the Dinting Vale area of Glossop. 

The purpose of this Detailed Assessment is to determine whether an exceedance of 

an air quality objective is likely and the geographical extent of that exceedance, 

which will determine the extent of the AQMA that has to be declared. Subsequent to 

the declaration of an AQMA, an Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) should be prepared 

within one year and approved by Defra.  The AQAP will identify measures to improve 

local air quality and to achieve the air quality objectives.   

 

In order to inform the Action Plan process the magnitude of reduction in emissions 

required to achieve the objective has also be calculated. 

 

This report presents a Detailed Assessment, following the findings of HPBC’s 

pollutant monitoring which is described in Section Error! Reference source not 

found..   

Background 

The Air Quality Strategy (Defra, 2007) published by the Department for Environment, 

Food, and Rural Affairs (Defra) and Devolved Administrations, provides the policy 

framework for air quality management and assessment in the UK.  It provides air 

quality standards and objectives for key air pollutants, which are designed to protect 

human health and the environment.  It also sets out how the different sectors: 

industry, transport and local government, can contribute to achieving the air quality 

objectives.  Local authorities are seen to play a particularly important role.  The 

strategy describes the Local Air Quality Management (LAQM) regime that has been 

established, whereby every authority has to carry out regular reviews and 

assessments of air quality in its area to identify whether the objectives have been, or 

Page 251



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020        56 

will be, achieved at relevant locations, by the applicable date.  If this is not the case, 

the authority must declare an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) and prepare an 

action plan which identifies appropriate measures that will be introduced in pursuit of 

the objectives.   

Technical Guidance for LAQM (LAQM.TG16) (Defra, 2016) sets out a streamlined 

approach to the Review and Assessment process.  This prescribes the submission of 

a single Annual Status Report (ASR) which all local authorities in England must 

submit each year by the 30th June.  It should identify new non-compliant areas and 

report progress made within existing AQMA’s.  When an exceedance has been 

identified, the local authority can either use the “Fast Track Option” and immediately 

declare an AQMA or obtain further information and/or data before deciding on the 

declaration of an AQMA.  The latter approach is being treated as a ‘Detailed 

Assessment’ for the purposes of this report1. 

The Air Quality Objectives 

The Government’s Air Quality Strategy (Defra, 2007) provides air quality standards 

and objectives for key air pollutants, which are designed to protect human health and 

the environment. The ‘standards’ are set as concentrations below which health 

effects are unlikely even in sensitive population groups, or below which risks to public 

health would be exceedingly small. They are based purely upon the scientific and 

medical evidence of the effects of a particular pollutant. The ‘objectives’ set out the 

extent to which the Government expects the standards to be achieved by a certain 

date. They take account of the costs, benefits, feasibility and practicality of achieving 

the standards. It also sets out how the different sectors: industry, transport and local 

government, can contribute to achieving the air quality objectives. The objectives are 

prescribed within The Air Quality (England) Regulations 2000 (2000) and The Air 

Quality (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2002 (2002). Table E.1 summarises the 

objectives which are relevant to this report. Studies have shown associations of 

nitrogen dioxide in outdoor air with adverse health effects; respiratory and 

cardiovascular morbidity and mortality.  Evidence associating nitrogen dioxide with 

health effects has strengthened substantially in recently years.  

                                                      
1
  Detailed Assessments were part of the previous approach to LAQM, but they are no longer required in current 

TG16 guidance. 

Page 252



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020        57 

Table D.1:  Air Quality Objectives for Nitrogen Dioxide  

Pollutant Time Period Objective 

Nitrogen Dioxide 

1-hour mean 200 g/m
3
 not to be exceeded more than 18 times a year 

Annual mean 40 g/m
3
 

The air quality objectives only apply where members of the public are likely to be 

regularly present for the averaging time of the objective (i.e. where people will be 

exposed to pollutants). For annual mean objectives, relevant exposure is limited to 

residential properties, schools and hospitals. The 1-hour objective applies at these 

locations as well as at any outdoor location where a member of the public might 

reasonably be expected to stay for 1 hour or more, such as shopping streets, parks 

and sports grounds, as well as bus stations and railway stations that are not fully 

enclosed.  

Measurements across the UK have shown that the 1-hour nitrogen dioxide objective 

is unlikely to be exceeded unless the annual mean nitrogen dioxide concentration is 

greater than 60 µg/m3 (Defra, 2016). Thus, exceedances of 60 µg/m3 as an annual 

mean nitrogen dioxide concentration are used as an indicator of potential 

exceedances of the 1-hour nitrogen dioxide objective. 

Modelling 

Annual mean nitrogen dioxide concentrations have been predicted using detailed 

dispersion modelling (ADMS-Roads v4.1). Details of the model inputs, assumptions 

and the verification are provided in Appendix E, together with the method used to 

derive background concentrations.  Where assumptions have been made, a realistic 

worst-case approach has been adopted. 

The modelling has sought to determine the area within which the annual mean 

nitrogen dioxide objective is likely to have been exceeded.  The model outputs have 

been verified against 2018 data from the diffusion tube monitoring sites HP21, HP22 

and HP25; further details of model verification are supplied in Appendix E.   

Concentrations have been predicted at specified receptor locations along Dinting 

Road and Simmondly Lane (Figure D.1).  The receptors are modelled at the façades 

of buildings considered to represent worst-case locations, in terms of nitrogen dioxide 

concentrations.  All receptors were modelled at a height of 1.5 m, except receptors 6 

and 7 which were modelled at 3.5 m to account for the houses being elevated above 

road level.  

Page 253



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020        58 

 

Figure D.1: Receptor and Monitor Locations 

Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2019.  Ordnance Survey licence number 

100046099.  

Results 

Predicted concentrations exceed the annual mean objective at locations within the 

study area, as shown in Figure D.2.  The figure shows the receptors exceeding 

40 µg/m3 (red), between 36 µg/m3 and 40 µg/m3 (yellow), and below 36 µg/m3 in 

green.   

Page 254



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020        59 

 

Figure D.2: Predicted Annual Mean Nitrogen Dioxide Concentrations (µg/m3) in 
2018 at Ground-Floor Level 

Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2019.  Ordnance Survey licence number 

100046099.  

There are relevant receptors with exceedances, thus an AQMA should be declared.  

The AQMA should include, as a minimum, the receptors which have modelled 

exceedances in 2018.  

Air Quality Improvements Required 

The degree of improvement needed for the annual mean nitrogen dioxide objective to 

be achieved is defined by the difference between the predicted concentration at a 

worst-case relevant exposure location and the objective level (40 μg/m3).   

In terms of describing the reduction in emissions required, it is more useful to 

consider nitrogen oxides (NOx).  The required reduction in local nitrogen oxides 

emission has been calculated in line with guidance presented in LAQM.TG16 (Defra, 

2016).  Table D.2 sets out the required reduction in local emissions of NOx that would 

be required at each of the receptor locations where an exceedance is predicted, for 

the annual mean objective to be achieved. 

Page 255



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020        60 

The annual mean nitrogen dioxide concentrations at receptors 3 to 5, and 8 to 23 are 

predicted to exceed 40 μg/m3 in 2018.  The worst case receptor, receptor 18, 

requires a reduction of 11.6 μg/m3 in order to achieve the objective.  Table D.2 shows 

the receptor locations which are predicted to have experienced exceedances in 

2018, and the NOx emissions which would be required in order to achieve the 

objective.   

Table D.2: Improvement in Annual Mean Nitrogen Dioxide Concentrations 
and Nitrogen Oxides Concentrations Required in 2018 to Meet the Objective 

 

Page 256



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020        61 

Receptor 

Required Reduction in annual 
mean nitrogen dioxide (NO2) 

Required Reduction in annual 
mean nitrogen oxides (NOx) 

µg/m
3
 

% of total 
predicted NO2 

µg/m
3
 

% of total 
predicted NOx 

Receptor 3 2.7 6.3 7.1 10.7 

Receptor 4 2.9 6.8 7.6 11.3 

Receptor 5 7.0 14.9 18.0 23.2 

Receptor 8 2.7 6.3 7.0 10.5 

Receptor 9 2.3 5.4 6.1 9.2 

Receptor 10 1.9 4.5 5.1 7.9 

Receptor 11 1.8 4.3 5.0 7.7 

Receptor 12 1.8 4.3 4.9 7.6 

Receptor 13 2.7 6.3 7.1 10.6 

Receptor 14 4.2 9.5 10.8 15.3 

Receptor 15 4.3 9.7 11.2 15.7 

Receptor 16 4.6 10.3 11.9 16.8 

Receptor 17 9.6 19.4 24.7 29.5 

Receptor 18 11.6 22.5 30.3 33.9 

Receptor 19 9.3 18.9 24.0 28.9 

Receptor 20 9.6 19.4 24.9 29.6 

Receptor 21 9.9 19.8 25.6 30.2 

Receptor 22 1.3 3.1 3.6 5.7 

Receptor 23 1.0 2.4 2.9 4.6 

Conclusions and Recommendations 

A Detailed Assessment has been carried out for nitrogen dioxide at Dinting Vale in 

Glossop.  This area was identified as being at risk of exceeding the annual mean air 

quality objective for nitrogen dioxide through passive diffusion tube monitoring carried 

out by HPBC.  

The Detailed Assessment has been carried out using a combination of monitoring 

data and modelled concentrations. Concentrations of nitrogen dioxide have been 

modelled for 2018 using the ADMS-Roads dispersion model. The model has been 

Page 257



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020        62 

verified against measurements made at three diffusion tube monitoring locations 

which are adjacent to the road network included in the model. 

The assessment has identified that the annual mean nitrogen dioxide objective is 

being exceeded at relevant locations along Dinting Vale, between Glossop Road and 

Simmondly Lane.  It is recommended that an AQMA is declared to include, as a 

minimum, those residential properties that are predicted to be exceeding 40 µg/m3 

(see Figure D.2). The proposed Glossop AQMA area can be seen in Figure D.3. 

 

Figure D.3: Proposed Glossop AQMA 

Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2019.  Ordnance Survey licence number 

100046099.  

It is also recommended that HPBC continues monitoring nitrogen dioxide at the 

existing locations. 

Uncertainty in Road Traffic Modelling Predictions 

There are many components that contribute to the uncertainty of modelling 

predictions.  The road traffic emissions dispersion model used in this assessment is 

dependent upon the traffic data that have been input, which will have inherent 

uncertainties associated with them.  There are then additional uncertainties, as 

models are required to simplify real-world conditions into a series of algorithms. 

Page 258



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020        63 

An important stage in the process is model verification, which involves comparing the 

model output with measured concentrations.  Because the model has been verified 

and adjusted, there can be reasonable confidence in the prediction of 2018 

concentrations. 

Model Inputs 

Predictions have been carried out using the ADMS-Roads dispersion model (v4.1).  

The model requires the user to provide various input data, including emissions from 

each section of road and the road characteristics (including road width, and canyon 

height and porosity, where applicable).  Vehicle emissions have been calculated 

based on vehicle flow, composition and speed data using the EFT (Version 9.0) 

published by Defra (2019c).     

Hourly sequential meteorological data from Emley Moor for 2018 have been used in 

the model.  The Emley Moor meteorological monitoring station is located 

approximately 26 km to the north east of Glossop town centre.  It is deemed to be the 

nearest monitoring station representative of meteorological conditions in the vicinity 

of the study area. The Emley Moor meteorological monitoring station will be 

influenced by the effects of inland meteorology over hilly topography. 

Traffic data for the assessment have been provided by Highways England.  The 

traffic data were provided in the form of am/pm peaks from a traffic survey taken on 

the 20th March 2018. The data was then factored to AADT using government road 

traffic statistics for ‘average daily traffic flow by month’, ‘average traffic distribution by 

day of the week’, and ‘traffic distribution on all roads by time of day and day of the 

week’. Traffic speeds have been determined based on professional judgement, 

taking account of the road layout, speed limits and the proximity to a junction.  The 

traffic data used in this assessment are summarised in Table E.1.  Diurnal flow 

profiles for the traffic have been derived from the national diurnal profiles published 

by DfT (2019b). 

Table E.1:Summary of Traffic Data used in the Detailed Assessments (1)   

Road Link AADT % HDV 

Two-way Flows 

Dinting Vale (West of Glossop Road) 17,730 4.61 

Glossop Road 12,232 2.16 

Dinting Vale (East of Glossop Road) 20,457 4.38 

Page 259



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020        64 

Road Link AADT % HDV 

Two-way Flows 

Dinting Vale (East of Dinting Lane) 20,620 4.32 

Simmondly Lane 4,546 1.69 

Dinting Vale (East of Simmondly Lane) 16,746 3.61 

Primrose Lane 5,216 9.06 

High Street West 16,675 2.81 

Turning Counts 

Glossop Road to Dinting Road (West) 2,215 1.98 

Glossop Road to Dinting Road (East) 3,496 2.45 

Dinting Road (West) to Glossop Road 2,538 1.90 

Dinting Road (East) to Glossop Road 3,984 2.15 

Dinting Road (West) to Dinting Road (East) 6,770 6.36 

Dinting Road (East) to Dinting Road (West) 6,207 4.74 

Notes: 

(1) This is just a summary of the data entered into the model, which have been input as 24-hour AADT 
flows with hourly diurnal flow profiles. 

Figure E.1 shows the road network included within the model for Glossop, along with 

the speed at which each link was modelled, and the width of the modelled canyons.   

Page 260



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020        65 

 

Figure E.1: Modelled Road Network, Canyons & Speed 

Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2019.  Ordnance Survey 
licence number 100046099.  Additional data sourced from third parties, including public sector 
information licensed under the Open Government Licence v1.0.   

Background Concentrations 

Background concentrations of nitrogen dioxide for the study area have been defined 

using the 2017-based national pollution maps published by Defra (2019c).  These 

cover the whole of the UK on a 1x1 km grid and are published for each year from 

2017 until 2030.  The background annual mean nitrogen dioxide maps for 2018 have 

been calibrated against concurrent measurements from national monitoring sites 

(AQC, 2019b).  The calibration factor calculated has also been applied to future year 

backgrounds.  This has resulted in slightly higher predicted nitrogen dioxide 

concentrations for the future assessment year than those derived from the Defra 

maps. The background concentration for the study area for 2018 ranged from 11.5 

μg/m3 to 11.8 μg/m3. 

Page 261



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020        66 

Model Verification 

In order to ensure that ADMS-Roads accurately predicts local concentrations, it is 

necessary to verify the model against local measurements.  

Most nitrogen dioxide (NO2) is produced in the atmosphere by reaction of nitric oxide 

(NO) with ozone.  It is therefore most appropriate to verify the model in terms of 

primary pollutant emissions of nitrogen oxides (NOx = NO + NO2).  The model has 

been run to predict the annual mean NOx concentrations during 2018 at the locations 

of diffusion tube monitoring sites.   

The model output of road-NOx (i.e. the component of total NOx coming from road 

traffic) has been compared with the ‘measured’ road-NOx.  Measured road-NOx has 

been calculated from the measured nitrogen dioxide concentrations and the 

predicted background nitrogen dioxide concentration using the NOx from NO2 

calculator (Version 6.1) available on the Defra LAQM Support website (Defra, 

2018b).   

An adjustment factor has been determined as the slope of the best-fit line between 

the ‘measured’ road contribution and the model derived road contribution, forced 

through zero.  The calculated adjustment factor has been applied to the modelled 

road-NOx concentration to provide adjusted modelled road-NOx concentrations.  The 

adjustment factor applied was 3.1215. 

The total nitrogen dioxide concentrations have then been determined by combining 

the adjusted modelled road-NOx concentrations with the predicted background NO2 

concentration within the NOx to NO2 calculator.   

The results imply that the model has under predicted the road-NOx contribution.  This 

is a common experience with this and most other road traffic emissions dispersion 

models.  The monitors used for verification, and much of the study areas, are within 

street-canyons, where poor dispersion conditions lead to increased concentrations of 

pollutants.  Street-canyons have been modelled, and can be seen in Figure F.1, and 

have been modelled with location specific height and porosity.     

The model has been verified using the results at diffusion tubes HP21, HP22, and 

HP25.  The comparison of the measured road NOx and unadjusted modelled road 

NOx concentrations used to determine the verification factor is shown in Figure E.3.  

A comparison of measured total NO2 to final adjusted modelled total NO2 

concentrations is shown in Figure E.4. 

Page 262



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020        67 

 

Figure E.3: Comparison of Measured Road NOx to Unadjusted Modelled Road 
NOx Concentrations.  The dashed lines show ± 25%. 

 

Figure E.4: Comparison of Measured Total NO2 to Final Adjusted Modelled 
Total NO2 Concentrations.  The dashed lines show ± 25%. 

Model Post-processing 

Page 263



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020        68 

The model predicts road-NOx concentrations at each receptor location.  These 

concentrations have been adjusted using the adjustment factor set out above, which, 

along with the background nitrogen dioxide, has been processed through the NOx to 

NO2 calculator available on the Defra LAQM Support website (Defra, 2018b).  The 

traffic mix within the calculator has been set to “All other urban UK traffic”, which is 

considered suitable for the study area.  The calculator predicts the component of 

nitrogen dioxide based on the adjusted road-NOx and the background nitrogen 

dioxide. 

Sensitivity Test 

The verification factor for the model is relatively high, and this was investigated 

further.  It was discovered that to some extent, the meteorology site used was driving 

this verification factor.  When the model was run with Manchester airport meteorology 

site (located 22.5 km to the south west of the study area), this resulted in a lower 

verification factor (1.86).  The results using Emley Moor meteorology site form the 

basis of the studies results, due to the site being more representative of the 

conditions at the study area. However, it is useful to note that the outcomes of the 

modelling were the same in relation to which receptors were exceeding the objective.  

A comparison of the results calculated using the Manchester airport met site 

sensitivity test, compared with those using the Emley Moor meteorology site is set 

out in Table E.2. 

Table E.2:Comparison of the Official and Sensitivity Test Results (1) 

 

Page 264



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020        69 

Receptor 
Predicted Concentrations using 

Emley Moor Met Site (µg/m
3
) 

Predicted Concentrations using 
Manchester Airport Met Site (µg/m

3
) 

Receptor 1 33.3 34.9 

Receptor 2 31.0 28.7 

Receptor 3 42.7 46.6 

Receptor 4 42.9 47.1 

Receptor 5 47.0 51.3 

Receptor 6 21.1 19.4 

Receptor 7 19.8 18.4 

Receptor 8 42.7 44.7 

Receptor 9 42.3 44.0 

Receptor 10 41.9 43.8 

Receptor 11 41.8 43.8 

Receptor 12 41.8 43.9 

Receptor 13 42.7 44.5 

Receptor 14 44.2 46.2 

Receptor 15 44.3 46.2 

Receptor 16 44.6 46.7 

Receptor 17 49.6 51.7 

Receptor 18 51.6 50.6 

Receptor 19 49.3 51.7 

Receptor 20 49.6 52.0 

Receptor 21 49.9 52.0 

Receptor 22 41.3 42.8 

Receptor 23 41.0 42.5 

Receptor 24 33.5 33.3 

Receptor 25 33.2 33.3 

Receptor 26 33.6 33.8 

Receptor 27 34.1 34.7 

Page 265



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020        70 

Receptor 28 20.4 21.1 

(1) Exceedances shown in bold. 

Table E.2 shows the receptors which are predicted to experience exceedances of the 

annual mean nitrogen dioxide objective are concordant between the main set of 

results, using Emley Moor meteorology site, and the sensitivity test, using 

Manchester Airport meteorology site.  

The recommendation for an AQMA covering the area shown in Figure D.3 is 

therefore considered to be robust. 

Page 266



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020        71 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 267



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020        72 

Glossary of Terms 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Abbreviation Description 

AQAP Air Quality Action Plan - A detailed description of measures, 
outcomes, achievement dates and implementation methods, 
showing how the local authority intends to achieve air quality limit 
values’ 

AQMA Air Quality Management Area – An area where air pollutant 
concentrations exceed / are likely to exceed the relevant air quality 
objectives. AQMAs are declared for specific pollutants and 
objectives 

AQS Air Quality Strategy 

ASR Air quality Annual Status Report 

Defra Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 

EU European Union 

LAQM Local Air Quality Management 

NO2 Nitrogen Dioxide 

NOx Nitrogen Oxides 

PM10 Airborne particulate matter with an aerodynamic diameter of 10µm 
(micrometres or microns) or less 

PM2.5 Airborne particulate matter with an aerodynamic diameter of 2.5µm 
or less 

… … 

 

 

Page 268



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020        73 

Source Apportioning exercise 

To better understand the contribution of various vehicle types a provisional source 

apportionment a source apportionment exercise was undertaken, for both NOx and 

NO2 using the Emissions Factor Toolkit (v 9).  

The Emissions Factors Toolkit (EFT) is published by Defra and the Devolved 

Administrations. The EFT allows users to calculate road vehicle pollutant emission 

rates for NOx, PM10, PM2.5  and CO2 for a specified year, road type, vehicle speed 

and vehicle fleet composition. 

5.1.1 Woodhead Road 

Traffic data used for the assessment was obtained from the department of transport 

(DfT; https://roadtraffic.dft.gov.uk/downloads). EFT set up under ‘Detailed Option 2’. 

To enable source apportionment of Road-NOx emissions, the ‘breakdown by vehicle’ 

and ‘source apportionment’ additional outputs were utilised. 

Two relevant data points were available, one East to the South and one to the North 

of the AQMA. The data point to the North (7373) was considered to be the most 

representative. 

The key data inputs used in the model are shown below; 

Key data inputs:   

 Year: 2018;    

 Source Id:  7373;   

 **Gradient 6% (6% is the highest gradient that can be currently modelled using EFT model)   

 Average Speed 30km/hr (18.5mph) 

 Daily Average Traffic Flow; 12, 272 Vehicles   

% Breakdown of Traffic Flow  

 Car = 64.77%    

 LGV = 21.15%;    

 Rigid HGV= 5.94%  

 Articulated HGV= 7.37%;   

Page 269

https://roadtraffic.dft.gov.uk/downloads


 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020        74 

 Bus & Coach=0.19%;   

 Motorcycle = 0.58% 

5.1.2 Results 

The results from the initial source apportionment exercise are shown in figure 3.1 & 

3.2. 

The initial split between the Heavy duty Vehicles (HGVs & Buses) and the Lighter 

duty vehicles (Cars, LGV’s etc ) indicates that although these only account for  13.5% 

of  all vehicles, they contribute to 42% of the NO2 from the road.   

Splitting the results further into vehicle type (figure 3.2) indicates that the majority 

NO2 of emissions are attributed to diesel vehicles (approximately, 96%).   

The above noted, the breakdown of traffic figures provided by the DfT is based on a 

2014 road survey, with data extrapolated to 2018 (by DfT). It would be beneficial to 

undertake a more detailed traffic study to improve the source apportionment work 

and ensure it remains accurate, particularly to identify the age (and nature) of the 

vehicles using the road. 

Figure 3.1.  Source of emissions between Light and Heavy-Duty Vehicles  

 

 
 
 

Page 270



 High Peak Borough Council 

High Peak Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan - 2020        75 

Figure 3.2.  Source of emissions between general Vehicle types   

 
 

It is understood that as a result of the Trans Pennine project, Highways England 

have undertaken further detailed traffic assessments, source apportionment and 

future modelling of potential impacts of the project .  However, despite several 

requests for this traffic data by HPBC and DCC, this has not yet been made available 

to the authority  

5.2 Required Reduction in Emissions 

The specific reduction in emissions required has not yet been calculated as this 

requires the inclusion of regional and background data   (considered to be a 

constant) and will also be affected by the implementation of the Trans Pennine 

upgrade which may affect the traffic composition. 

 

Page 271



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
 
 
 

HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

The Executive 
 

5 August 2021 
 

 
TITLE: 

 
Anti-Social Behaviour 

 
EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: 

 
Councillor Todd - Executive Councillor for 
Climate Change, Environment and 
Community Safety 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
David Smith – Head of Communities and 
Climate Change 

 
WARDS INVOLVED: 
 

 
All 

 
 

Appendices Attached – Appendix A: Housing Anti-Social Behaviour and 
Harassment Policy; Appendix B Anti-Social Behaviour Policy; Apppendix C: 
Anti-Social Behaviour 

 
1. Reason for the Report 
 
1.1 The Council has committed to reviewing its approach to Community Safety to 

ensure that it is supportive in fighting crime and anti-social behaviour. This 
report helps to deliver that commitment. 

 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the Executive notes the Council’s responsibilities with respect to 
anti-social behaviour. 
 

2.2 That the Executive approves the draft Anti-Social Behaviour Policy. 
 
2.3 That the Executive notes the Anti-Social Behaviour Handbook and assists in 

raising awareness of the handbook within the community. 
 
3. Executive Summary 
 
3.1 A wide variety of behaviour can be defined as ‘anti-social’ if it has a negative 

impact on others. In law, anti-social behaviour is defined as behaviour that 
causes, or is likely to cause alarm, distress or harassment to others (and 
nuisance in the housing context). 
 

Page 273

Agenda Item 6



  

3.2 The Council has a duty to exercise its functions with due regard to the 
impact on anti-social behaviour. The Council has specific duties in 
relation to certain types of behaviours, such as noise nuisance. 

 
3.3 The report presents a draft policy covering the Council’s response to 

anti-social behaviour and also a handbook that is intended to provide 
relevant advice to the residents of High Peak. 

 
 

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 
4.1 The report links to Aim 1 of the Corporate Plan: Supporting our communities to 

create a healthier, safer, cleaner High Peak. In particular, is supports the key 
priority of ‘increased level of community support’ and the Council’s 
commitment to seeking to influence positive outcomes around dealing with 
anti-social behaviour. 
 
 

5. Alternative Options 
 
5.1 The Council could formally adopt the Safer Communities Board’s guidance on 

Community Protection Notices, and the Victims First Process (not 
recommended). However, discussions with the Council’s Heads of Services 
have indicated that these processes would not add anything to the approach 
set out in this report but would increase the demand on current resources, 
could cause confusion for Officers by increasing the number of statutory and 
non-statutory sources of guidance that they have to refer to, and increase the 
risk of the Council being challenged for failing to meet commitments that it 
cannot keep.  

 
6. Implications 
 

6.1
  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
 
The report outlines how the Council will meet its duties under the 
Crime and Disorder Act 1998 and other related legislation. 
 

6.2 Workforce 
 
Officers will be required to have regard to the policy when carrying 
out their duties. 
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
 
The policy applies equally to all. Protected characteristics are 
highlighted as a key factor to be considered when deciding upon 
the appropriate response to reported incidents of anti-social 
behaviour. The ASB Handbook provides guidance on sources of 
support. 

  

Page 274



  

6.4 Financial Considerations 
 
None 
 

6.5 Legal 
 
The report sets out the Council’s duties and powers in relation to 
anti-social behaviour. 
 

6.6 Climate Change 
 
Anti-social behaviour includes behaviour that has a detrimental 
impact on the environment. Actions to tackle such behaviour can 
have a positive impact on the Council’s actions to tackle climate 
change. 
 
 

6.7 
 

Consultation 
 
The policy and accompanying procedure has been developed with 
input from the Heads of Housing, Customer Services and 
Environmental Health. 
 

6.8 
 

Risk Assessment 
 
If the Council does not respond to ASB appropriately then there 
may be a risk of harm to the complainant, and reputational risks. 

 
Neil.W.Rodgers 

Executive Director  (Place) 
 
Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Contact details 

 David Smith 
Head of Communities and Climate Change 
david.smith@highpeak.gov.uk 
 

 
7. Detail 
 
7.1 A wide variety of behaviour can be defined as ‘anti-social’ if it has a negative 

impact on others.  

7.2 The Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act provides two definitions of 
anti-social behaviour (ASB) depending on where it takes place:  

 ASB that occurs within a housing context is defined as behaviour that 
causes or is likely to cause “nuisance or annoyance”. 

 ASB that occurs in public spaces is defined as behaviour that causes or 
is likely to cause “harassment, alarm or distress”.  

 

Page 275



  

7.3 The Housing Act 1996 offers a slightly different definition of ASB in the 
housing context and states that ASB is: 

 
a) conduct that is capable of causing nuisance or annoyance to some 

person (who need not be a particular identified person) and that directly 
or indirectly relates to or affects the landlord's housing management 
functions, or 

(b) conduct that consists of or involves using or threatening to use housing 
accommodation owned or managed by the landlord for an unlawful 
purpose. 

 
7.4 In each case, the definitions describe how someone’s behaviour affects other 

people.  
 
7.5 Nuisance describes behaviour on private property that is lawful but causes 

inconvenience or annoyance for neighbours. Harassment is the repeated 
targeting of a victim with behaviour that is meant to upset them.  

 
7.6 Some problems, such as vandalism and drug dealing, are often described as 

anti-social behaviour but are, in fact, criminal offences. Conversely, there are 
some types of behaviour that may annoy some people but that would 
generally not consider to be antisocial behaviour. Examples include: 

 

 The sound of children playing or a baby crying. 

 Boundary disputes or breaches of covenants. 

 Noise caused by everyday living, such as flushing toilets and closing 
doors. 

 A one-off party. 

 Minor personal arguments and differences. 

 Religious or cultural practice. 

 Parking (including badly parked vehicles). 

 Neighbours doing DIY (at reasonable times of the 

 day). 

 Groups of people in the street or in parks, unless they are being rowdy, 
abusive, causing damage or committing other crimes. 

 
Borough Council Duties and Powers with Respect to Anti-Social Behaviour 
 
7.7 The Council has two general duties in respect of ASB: 
 

 to produce a strategy with other statutory partners for reducing anti-social 
behaviour, which it fulfils through the vehicle of the High Peak 
Community Safety Partnership. 

 to exercise its various functions with due regard to the likely effect of the 
exercise of those functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably 
can to prevent anti-social behaviour (and crime, substance misuse and 
re-offending). 

 
7.8 The Council also has duties as a local housing authority to prepare (i) a policy 

in relation to anti-social behaviour; and (ii) procedures for dealing with 

Page 276



  

occurrences of anti-social behaviour. A copy of the Anti-Social Behaviour and 
Harassment Policy produced in response to this duty is provided at Appendix 
A. 

 
7.9 In addition to these general duties, the council has duties in relation to specific 

types of anti-social behaviour, including duties to: 
 

 serve an abatement notice where the Council is satisfied that a statutory 
nuisance exists or is likely to occur or recur; 

 remove abandoned vehicles in certain circumstances and subject to 
various provisions; 

 promote the licensing objectives, which include the prevention of crime 
and disorder; and the prevention of public nuisance (when functioning as 
a licensing authority); 

 Serve a remedial notice if certain types of high hedges adversely are 
affecting a reasonable complainant's reasonable enjoyment of the 
domestic property. 

 Preserve the right of Council tenants under common law to ‘quiet 
enjoyment’ of their property 

 
7.10 The Council has also been provided with a range of powers that it can use to 

respond to anti-social behaviour. 

 

Anti-Social Behaviour Policy and Handbook 
 
7.11 Appendix B provides a draft Policy on Anti-Social Behaviour. The policy has 

been produced to support the Council’s commitment to making High Peak a 
safe place for all. The policy is intended to assist the Council to follow a 
standard approach to responding to anti-social behaviour within the Borough. 
It recognises that each case is unique and must be considered on its own 
merits but sets out the general principles that will be applied by the Council’s 
officers. 

 
7.12 Derbyshire’s Safer Communities Board has produced guidance on the use of 

Community Protection Notices (one of the tools for addressing anti-social 
behaviour) and on a process for addressing anti-social behaviour (Victims 
First). This is in addition to the statutory guidance issued by the Home Office 
and other protocols and guidance that officers must follow including the Code 
for Crown Prosecutors and the Council’s Enforcement Protocol. The Borough 
Council has taken note of these Safer Communities Board documents whilst 
developing its own policy. 

 
7.13 The handbook at Appendix C provides advice for members of the public and 

others for responding to anti-social behaviour. It is intended to help victims of 
anti-social behaviour identify the most appropriate sources of support. It is 
hoped that this will assist victims to obtain a prompt response to their 
complaint, whilst also reducing the number of calls to the Council about 
incidents that are without the Council’s areas of responsibility. 

 

Page 277



This page is intentionally left blank



Anti Social Behaviour and Harassment Policy Implementation date – November 2013 
Page 1 of 4 

 
 

High Peak Borough Council 
 

Anti-Social Behaviour and Harassment Policy 

 
 

Introduction 
 
High Peak Borough Council provides a Tenants’ Handbook and Tenancy Agreement which defines the 
tenant’s rights and responsibilities with regard to anti-social behaviour (ASB) and harassment:- 
 
You are responsible for your own behaviour and the behaviour of every person (including children) living 
in or visiting your home. You are responsible for them:-  

 in your home; 

 on the land around your home; 

 in shared areas (including stairs, lifts, landings, entrance halls, paved areas, shared gardens, 
parking areas and so on); and 

 in the neighbourhood around your home including any streets and any public buildings (for 
example council offices, High Peak Borough Council offices, libraries, schools, shopping 
centres, community centres and so on).        

 
You, anyone living with you (including children) or anyone visiting your home must not cause a nuisance 
to, annoy or disturb someone else. Examples of things that can cause a nuisance, annoy or disturb 
someone else:-  

 Using or threatening to use violence 

 Behaviour that is a ‘hate incident’ or ‘hate crime’   

 Playing loud music that people can hear outside your home 

 Banging and slamming doors 

 Damaging property 

 Using drugs and drinking alcohol  

 Playing ball games close to properties 

 Skateboarding, rollerblading, cycling, riding mopeds or mini motorbikes on walkways, paths 
and in other shared spaces 

 Dumping rubbish, littering and fly-tipping 

 Being aggressive 

 Dogs barking and dog mess  

 Criminal activity in or around properties 

 People gathering and standing around in the street 

 Spraying or writing graffiti 

 Vandalism 

 Throwing objects out of windows or off balconies 

 Prostitution 

 Not controlling pets 

 Not controlling children living at your home 

 Using airguns and fake guns in and around your home or on walkways, paths and other 
shared areas   

 
You and anyone living with you or visiting your home must not harass any other person. Examples of 
harassment include:- 
 

Page 279



Anti Social Behaviour and Harassment Policy Implementation date – November 2013 
Page 2 of 4 

 A hate incident or hate crime – This is a specific type of harassment, committed against a 
person or their property because of their: 

o ethnic background; 
o nationality; 
o sex or sexual identity;  
o sexuality;  or  
o disability. 

 Harassment committed against a person because: 
o of their age; 
o they are married or in a civil partnership; or 
o they are pregnant.  

 Using or threatening to use violence. 

 Using abusive or insulting words or behaviour. 

 Damaging or threatening to damage another person’s home or belongings. 

 Writing threatening, abusive or insulting graffiti. 

 Doing anything that interferes with the peace, comfort or convenience of other people. 
 
You and anyone living with you must not be violent or threaten to be violent towards any other person 
(whether they are living with you or in another property in the area).  You or anyone living with you must 
not harass or abuse (mentally, emotionally or sexually) anyone or force anyone who lives at the property 
to leave home. 
 
You and anyone living with you (including children) must not be convicted of an offence committed in, or 
in the area around, your home.  We will treat the following offences very seriously. 
 

 Criminal damage 

 Drugs 

 Harassment 

 Violent offences, including sexual offences 

 Theft and fraud 
 
You, anyone living with you (including children) and anyone visiting your home must not use your home 
or the area around it for anything illegal, such as prostitution, selling, storing, growing or manufacturing 
drugs, or selling or storing stolen goods.   
 
You must make sure that you do not allow or encourage other people living with you, or visiting your 
home, to behave as described in paragraphs 2.5b to 2.5f above. 
 
You and anyone living with you must not make false or malicious complaints about the behaviour of 
another person. 
  
 
Aims and Objectives 
 

 To ensure best use of the Council’s limited housing stock 

 To comply with all relevant current and future legal and statutory requirements 

 To provide clear and relevant information to customers regarding their rights and responsibilities 
and those of HPBC as landlord 

 To ensure that the terms and conditions of tenancy agreements are complied with, for the benefit 
of HPBC, customers and the wider community 

 To ensure that those who wilfully breach their tenancy are dealt with proportionately and 
consistently 

 To operate with a firm and consistent approach 

 To deliver our service in accordance with the Respect Charter 

 To resolve problems of ASB and harassment in accordance with the objectives of the Community 
Safety Partnership (CSP) 

Page 280



Anti Social Behaviour and Harassment Policy Implementation date – November 2013 
Page 3 of 4 

 

 To operate in accordance with the Data Protection Act 1984. 
 
 
Operational Principles 
 
The Council will: 

 treat all complaints of ASB and Harassment seriously and investigate them promptly in a 
sympathetic, firm and impartial manner 

 respect the confidentiality of all tenants and customers involved in ASB and harassment cases at 
all times 

 ask customers to support us in resolving the nuisance behaviour problem by keeping records of 
events and in extreme cases, giving evidence in court  

 provide a range of support to victims and witnesses and work with other partners and key 
agencies to make improvements in safety and security where appropriate and possible  

 take account of the needs of vulnerable tenants and those with sensory or physical disabilities 
when managing cases of ASB and harassment 

 work collaboratively with relevant agencies to share information in accordance with the law and 
good practice to protect our customers and communities 

 maintain accurate contemporaneous case records 

 ensure that all new and existing tenants are made aware of their tenancy obligations in terms of 
ASB and harassment  

 develop an agreed action plan with the complainant and partners where relevant, this will include 
a named point of contact, key actions, timescales, feedback process, contacts, objectives and 
outcomes required for resolution 

 provide regular feedback to complainants about progress being made towards resolution of the 
case 

 use an appropriate range of statutory and operational good practice methods to monitor and 
manage ASB and harassment  

 proactively promote independent mediation as a tool to resolve ASB and harassment cases 

 use enforcement action to manage ASB and harassment where proportionate, appropriate and 
necessary  

 provide information relating to the management of ASB and harassment simply, clearly and 
understandably to customers and key stakeholders  

 review ASB and Harassment cases regularly and use this to improve and develop our 
performance and proactive case management  

 ensure that all employees receive regular comprehensive training and guidance to equip them 
with the skills and knowledge necessary to effectively deal with ASB and harassment 

 regularly review our performance monitoring systems  

 engage and consult with residents and other key stakeholders to develop, deliver and review our 
procedures and strategy. 

 use customer feedback to inform and improve the service we provide to those experiencing 
issues relating to ASB and harassment  

 
 
Monitoring 
 
Reports will be presented to the relevant Committee meetings to illustrate how the ASB policy is being 
implemented, monitored and measured and how performance targets are being met at least annually.  
 
 
Responsible Person/s 
 
The Head of Homes and Communities has overall responsibility for the implementation of this policy. 
 
 

Page 281



Anti Social Behaviour and Harassment Policy Implementation date – November 2013 
Page 4 of 4 

Review Date 
 

 Every three years  

 or on the introduction of new legislation/guidance  

 or at the request of the Housing Select Committee  

 or at the request of the Tenant Scrutiny Panel. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 282



  

High Peak Borough Council 
 

Policy on Anti-Social Behaviour 
 

IN BRIEF 

 

Individuals have a right to enjoy their homes and to go about their daily lives 
without being alarmed, distressed, harassed or otherwise caused a nuisance. 
 

A wide variety of behaviour can be defined as ‘anti-social’ if it has a negative 
impact on others.  

 
The Council has two general duties in respect of ASB as well as specific duties 
relating to certain specific types of behaviour. 
 
The Council has powers that it can use to respond to anti-social behaviour. 
Officers must use their discretion based on the material evidence when 
deciding upon the most appropriate course of action. 
 
Partnership working is critically important and the solutions to anti-social 
behaviour problems can rest individually or collectively with a range of 
agencies depending upon the individual circumstances of each incident. 
 
In some cases it will be appropriate for the Council to take the lead and in other 
cases it will be appropriate for the Council to support action by other agencies. 
This will depend upon the facts of each case. 
 
1 Introduction 

 
This policy has been produced to support the Council’s commitment to making High 
Peak a safe place for all. 
 
The purpose of the policy is to ensure that the Council follows a standard approach 
to responding to anti-social behaviour within the Borough. It recognises that each 
case is unique and must be considered on its own merits but sets out the general 
principles that will be applied by the Council’s officers. 
 
The Council has a separate policy covering anti-social behaviour by Council tenants. 
 
2 What is Anti-Social Behaviour 
 
A wide variety of behaviour can be defined as ‘anti-social’ if it has a negative impact 
on others.  

The Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act provides two definitions of 
anti-social behaviour (ASB) depending on where it takes place:  

 ASB that occurs within a housing context is defined as behaviour that causes or 
is likely to cause “nuisance or annoyance”.i  

Page 283



  

 ASB that occurs in public spaces is defined as behaviour that causes or is likely 
to cause “harassment, alarm or distress”.  

 
The Housing Act 1996 offers a slightly different definition of ASB in the housing 
context and states that ASB is: 
a) conduct that is capable of causing nuisance or annoyance to some person (who 

need not be a particular identified person) and that directly or indirectly relates 
to or affects the landlord's housing management functions, or 

(b) conduct that consists of or involves using or threatening to use housing 
accommodation owned or managed by the landlord for an unlawful purpose.ii 

 
In each case, the definitions describe how someone’s behaviour affects other people.  
 
Nuisance describes behaviour on private property that is lawful but causes 
inconvenience or annoyance for neighbours. Harassment means when the victim is 
targeted repeatedly with behaviour that is meant to upset them.  
 
Some problems, such as vandalism and drug dealing, are often described as anti-
social behaviour but are, in fact, criminal offences. Conversely, there are some types 
of behaviour that may annoy some people but that would generally not consider to be 
anti-social behaviour. Examples include: 
 

 The sound of children playing or a baby crying. 

 Boundary disputes or breaches of covenants. 

 Noise caused by everyday living, such as flushing toilets and closing doors. 

 A one-off party. 

 Minor personal arguments and differences. 

 Religious or cultural practice. 

 Parking (including badly parked vehicles). 

 Neighbours doing DIY (at reasonable times of the day). 

 Groups of people in the street or in parks, unless they are being rowdy, abusive, 
causing damage or committing other crimes. 

 
3 Borough Council Duties and Powers with Respect to Anti-Social 

Behaviour 
 
The Council has two general duties in respect of ASB: 
 

 to produce a strategy with other statutory partners for reducing anti-social 
behaviour, which it fulfils through the vehicle of the High Peak Community 
Safety Partnership.iii  

 to exercise its various functions with due regard to the likely effect of the 
exercise of those functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to 
prevent anti-social behaviour (and crime, substance misuse and re-offending). 

 
The Council also has duties as a local housing authority to prepare a policy in relation 
to anti-social behaviour; and procedures for dealing with occurrences of anti-social 
behaviour.iv 
 
In addition to these general duties, the Council has duties in relation to specific types 

Page 284



  

of anti-social behaviour, including duties to: 
 

 serve an abatement notice where the Council is satisfied that a statutory 
nuisance exists or is likely to occur or recur;v 

 remove abandoned vehicles in certain circumstances and subject to various 
provisions;vi 

 promote the licensing objectives, which include the prevention of crime and 
disorder; and the prevention of public nuisance (when functioning as a 
licensing authority);vii 

 serve a remedial notice if certain types of high hedges are adversely  affecting 
a complainant's reasonable enjoyment of the domestic property.viii 

 preserve the right of Council tenants under common law to ‘quiet enjoyment’ of 
their property 

 
The Council has also been provided with a range of powers that it can use to 
respond to anti-social behaviour. The most important powers are found within the 
Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 and allow the Council to: 
 

 Apply for an injunction to prevent an individual from engaging in anti-social 
behaviour; 

 Serve a Community Protection Notice where the conduct of an individual or 
body is unreasonable and is having a detrimental effect, of a persistent or 
continuing nature, on the quality of life of those in the locality; and 

 Make a Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO), where justified, to impose 
restrictions in response to activities carried on in a public place that are 
unreasonable and have, or will have had a detrimental effect on the quality of 
life of those in the locality. 

The power to make a PSPO is only available to district councils, whereas the the 
power to serve a Community Protection Notice can also be utilised by the police and 
the power to apply for an injunction is available to a range of authorities. The Council 
also has a general power to apply for injunctions under Section 222 of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 

The Council also has powers in relation to specific types of anti-social behaviour 
including: 
 

 Serving a warning notice in respect of noise emitted from a dwelling during night 
hours.ix 

 Issuing a Closure Notice and apply for a Closure Order where the use of a 
premise has resulted, or is likely soon to result, in nuisance or disorder.x 

 Revoking of a premise licence.xi   

 Serving a notice requiring an owner to execute works of repair or restoration in 
respect of ruinous and dilapidated buildings and neglected sites that are 
seriously detrimental to the amenities of the neighbourhood.xii 

 Issuing a fixed penalty or prosecuting for fly-posting.xiii 

 Issuing an enforcement note in response to breaches of planning control.xiv 

 Serving a Notice to require proper maintenance of land.xv. 

Page 285



  

 Asking a court to make an order for possession of a Council housexvi (a court 
must make the order if possession is sought on the grounds of anti-social 
behaviour and certain conditions are metxvii). 

 
4 The Council's position 
 
Generally, the Council recognises that: 
 

 Individuals have a right to enjoy their homes and to go about their daily lives 
without being alarmed, distressed, harassed or otherwise caused a nuisance. 

 

 We cannot follow a ‘one size fits all’ model. Anti-social behaviour looks and 
feels different in every neighbourhood and to every victim.  

 

 Partnership working is critically important and the solutions to anti-social 
behaviour problems can rest individually or collectively with a range of agencies 
depending upon the individual circumstances of each incident. 

 

 In some cases it will be appropriate for the Council to take the lead according to 
the facts of the case (normally where the behaviour relates to a council 
function). In other cases it will be appropriate for the Council to support action 
by other agencies. Where the anti-social behaviour relates to another agency’s 
functions and responsibilities, and where the agency has the evidence and 
powers to respond, then the Council will normally expect that agency to take the 
lead. 

 

 The Council’s public realm CCTV system plays an important role in deterring 
and detecting crime. The Council’s leisure provision provides activities that can 
divert people from committing anti-social behaviour. 

 

 The Council will support the Community Safety Partnership to address some of 
the causes of anti-social behaviour, to provide diversionary activity, and to 
provide support for victims. 

 
5 The Council’s Response to Reports of Anti-Social Behaviour 
 
The Council provides two principal methods for reporting anti-social behaviour: 
 

 on-line by completion of a webform; or 

 by telephone to the Council’s Customer Services team.  
 
Members of the public and officers of partner agencies should use these reporting 
mechanisms to make sure that they receive a prompt and appropriate response to 
their enquiry. 
 
The flow chart below shows the process that should be followed following receipt of a 
complaint about anti-social behaviour. 
 
 
 
 

Page 286



  

 
 

Page 287



  

It is important that complaints are triaged appropriately to ensure that they are dealt 
with promptly and appropriately. The VICTIM mnemonic, developed by the Safer 
Communities Board, can help officers to make an initial assessment after receiving 
an ASB complaint: 
 

V Vulnerable victim? 
I Increase in severity/frequency of ASB incidents? 
C Coping strategies failing? 
T Targeted ASB? 
I Impact on quality of life? 
M Multi agency involvement required? 

 
The police should be contacted without delay by telephoning 999 in emergency 
situations. An emergency is where there is: 
 

 Danger to life 

 Use of, or immediate threat of use of, violence 

 A crime in progress 

 Serious injury to a person 

 An offender has just been disturbed at the scene 

 A need for immediate police attendance such as when a crime is about to be 
committed 

 
If the reported anti-social behaviour does not relate to a function of the Council then 
the complainant should be signposted to the appropriate agency and organisation 
that can provide support. This will normally be by providing the complainant with the 
appropriate contact details. In some situations, such as where a person is particularly 
vulnerable, then it would be appropriate for the Council Officer to forward details of 
the problem with the consent of the complainant. Consent is not required if the case 
requires involvement of another agency because of reasonable concerns about the 
health, safety or welfare of an individual. 
 
Once a report has been passed to a Council Service for a response, the Service 
should carry out a thorough assessment of the risks to the individual or others. This 
assessment should be recorded as a case file note depending upon the system that 
each particular service uses. The Risk Assessment and Vulnerability Assessment 
(RAVA) developed by the Derbyshire Safer Communities Board can be found at 
Appendix A. 
 
It is important that any risks that are identified are responded to promptly and all 
actions recorded. In many cases, the response will not require the involvement of 
outside agencies. Where a multi-agency response is required then discussion with 
partner organisations should take place within: 
 

 48 hours in urgent cases where there is a high level of risk 

 10 days in all other cases. 
 
Services should consider whether it is appropriate to follow the Vulnerable Adult Risk 
Management (VARM) process that was developed by the Derbyshire Safeguarding 
Adults Board. The process is designed for the management of risks that may arise 

Page 288



  

when working with adults deemed to have capacity to make decisions for 
themselves, but who are at risk of serious harm or death through: 
 

 self-neglect (Care Act 2014) 

 risk taking behaviour / chaotic lifestyles or 

 refusal of services 
 
The VARM is a multi-agency adult assessment risk management process to: 
 

 identify the relevant risks for the individual 

 discuss and agree agency responsibilities/actions 

 record, monitor and review progress with the agreed action plan 

 agree when the risks have been managed and evaluate the outcome 
 
More details of the VARM process can be found here: 
 
https://www.derbyshiresab.org.uk/professionals/vulnerable-adult-risk-
management.aspx 
 
Where appropriate, victims of anti-social behaviour should be signposted to 
appropriate sources of support. A list of support services will be maintained on the 
Council’s intranet. 
 
6 Public Spaces Protection Orders  
 
The Council will respond positively to requests to introduce Public Spaces Protection 
Orders but will require anyone requesting that an Order be introduced to provide 
evidence to show that (i) the statutory tests have been met and (ii) that there is 
capacity and willingness to enforce the requirements of any order. 
 
7 The Council's Approach to Enforcement 
 
Decisions about enforcement action are largely discretionary, involving judgements 
by the officer in charge of the case. The Officer must ensure that there is sufficient 
reliable and credible evidence, and that enforcement action is in the public interest.xviii 
 
There may be several possible responses that the Council could take depending on 
the nature, seriousness and public interest of the anti-social behaviour. Officers 
should be mindful of the principles set out in the Council’s Enforcement protocol, the 
factors outlined below and any statutory guidance when taking any action. Decisions 
should be made on the basis of material evidence and officers should clearly record 
the reasons for the decision. 
 
Officers will consider a range of factors when considering action including:  
 
Factors relating to the anti-social behaviour 
 

 Nature and Seriousness of the behaviour 

 Whether the behaviour is likely to be continued or repeated. 

 Whether the behaviour has come to light as the result of a complaint or 
information from an outside body. 

Page 289

https://www.derbyshiresab.org.uk/professionals/vulnerable-adult-risk-management.aspx
https://www.derbyshiresab.org.uk/professionals/vulnerable-adult-risk-management.aspx


  

 Whether there has been a blatant disregard of legislation. 

 Whether previous action has been unable to resolve the problem.  
 
Factors relating to the victim: 
 

 The impact on the safety, quality of life, etc of the people affected. 

 Whether the victim was a staff member (the Authority will not tolerate abuse, 
violence, etc directed at staff members and will normally prosecute in such 
circumstances). 

 Whether the behaviour was targeted at the victim because of a protected 
characteristic (age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil 
partnership, race, religion or belief, sex, or sexual orientation) 

 The views of the aggrieved person/people. 

 Impact on the wider community. 
 
Factors relating to the offender: 
 

 The circumstances, state of mind and attitude of the offender. 

 Whether the offender has taken any action to resolve the problem.  

 The degree of culpability.  

 Past conduct and previous history of the individual including previous 
enforcement action taken.  

 
Legal considerations: 
 

 The available alternatives to legal proceedings.  

 The likely penalty as opposed to the cost of investigation. 

 The effect of likely defences and mitigation.  

 The possible wider deterrent effect of taking action. 

 Whether a prosecution could test an important legal point or set a precedent. 

 Whether it would be in the public interest, having regard to all the circumstances 
of the case, to institute legal proceedings. 

 
Comments on this Policy 
 
This policy will be reviewed on a regular basis. Individuals and organisations that 
wish to comment on the policy are invited to send their comments in writing to: 
 
Head of Communities and Climate Change 
High Peak Borough Council 
Buxton Town Hall 
Market Place 
Buxton 
Derbyshire 
SK17 6EL 
 
 

Page 290



  

Appendix A 
 

 
 
 
 

SCB 24 06 2021 
Agenda Item 9 

Controlled 
Name: Address/Tel: 

Date of Birth: Tenure: Owner occupier / Social landlord / Private landlord / Other 
Ethnicity: Landlord: 

Incident No: Case Reference: 

Incident date and time: 

Incident details: 
 

OFFENCE 

1. Other than this occasion - how often do you have problems?   
 

 0 - Isolated incident  
1 - Only occasionally 
2 - Most months 
3 - Most weeks 
4 - Most days 

5 - Daily 

2. Do you think that incidents are happening more often and / or are getting worse?  0 - No  
2 - Yes 

OFFENDER 

3. Do you know the offender(s)?      
 

 0 - No 
1 - Yes 
2 - Know each other well  

4. Do you live close to the offender(s) or location of the incident?   0 - No  
2 - Yes 

5. Is anyone in particular being specifically targeted by this behaviour?   0 - No 

1 - A number of people 
2 - Your family 
3 - You 

6. Is there any reason why you might be targeted eg your faith, nationality, ethnicity, 
sexuality, gender identity or disability? 

 0 - No  
3 - Yes 

7. Do you feel intimidated or harassed by the offender (or their associates)? 
 

 0 - No      
2 - Does not feel harassed but offender  

has history or reputation for harassment 
or violent behaviour  
4 - Has previously been harassed by 
the offender 

6 -Currently being harassed by the 
offender 

IMPACT 

8. How have you been affected by what has happened? 
 
 

 0 - Not at all  
2 - Changed routine or avoid locations 
4 - Distressed 
6 - Affected physical or mental health 

9. Are any children within your household affected?       0 - No  
2 - Yes (Consider safeguarding referral) 

10. In addition to what has happened, do you feel that there is anything that is increasing 
the risk to you, or your household (eg financial, cultural, social)? 

 0 - No  
3 - Yes 

11. Do you have any family, friends or professionals to go to for support? 
 

 0 - Has close support network  
1 – A few people to draw on for support 
3 - Lives alone and is isolated  

VULNERABILITIES 

12. Do you have any mental health issues?  0 - No  
3 - Yes 

13. Do you have any substance misuse issues?  0 - No  
3 - Yes 

14. Are there any other factors that increase your vulnerability eg experiencing or at  

risk of abuse or neglect, learning disabilities, suicide, physical disability? 

 0 - No  

3 - Yes 

SCALE 

15. Are any other agencies involved with this problem?   

16. Do you think anyone else has been affected by what has happened?   

SCORE   

Using your own professional judgement and any additional knowledge of the case, adjust 
the score, if appropriate  Reasons: 

 Approved by: 

TOTAL SCORE   

 

0 to 15 
Standard 

16 to 29 
Medium 

30 + 
High 

 

Assessment Completed by: 
Name: Agency: 

 

Page 291



  

                                            
i
 Section 2 Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 
iiii

 Section 218A(8) Housing Act 1996 (as inserted by s12 of the Anti-social Behaviour Act 2003) 
iii
 Section 6 Crime and Disorder Act 1998 

iv
 Section 218A(1) Housing Act 1996 

v
 Section 80 Environmental Protection Act 1990 

vi
 Section 3 Refuse Disposal (Amenity) Act 1978 

vii
 Section 4 Licensing Act 2003 

viii
 Section 68 Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 

ix
 Section 3 Noise Act 1990 

x
 Sections 76 - 93 Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 

xi
 Section 52 Licensing Act 2003 

xii
 Section 79 Building Act 1984 

xiii
 Section 224 Town and Country Planning Act 1990; Section 43 Anti-Social Beahviour Act 2003. 

xiv
 Section 172 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

xv
 Section 215 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

xvi
 Section 83 Housing Act 1985. 

xvii
 Section 94 Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 

xviii
 CPS 2018 Code for Crown Prosecutors 

Page 292



��-so�al
be�v�ur
��-so�al
be�v�ur

ADVICE ON HOW TO DEAL WITH

ANTISOCIAL BEHAVIOUR

P
age 293



2INTRODUCTION

INTRODUCTION

Everyone would probably agree that people who 
spray graffiti on public buildings, dump rubbish 
or behave in a rowdy or ‘yobbish’ way are acting 
antisocially. Other examples of antisocial behaviour 
include abandoning vehicles in public places, 
regularly holding noisy parties that disturb neighbours 
and throwing fireworks. 

Some of these activities are actually criminal 
offences.

Some of us may see certain activities as harmless, 
but others see them as antisocial behaviour. We 
can get annoyed about a car regularly being parked 
outside our house, or because our neighbours don’t 
cut their grass regularly.

Some of us are happy to see young children playing 
in the street enjoying themselves, while others find 
the noise disturbing. You might think a noisy summer 
barbeque in a neighbour’s garden is antisocial, but 
think it’s good fun if you have been invited.

Some of us are naturally more tolerant than others. 
Most of us know a work colleague, friend or family 
member who easily gets annoyed at small things 
that don’t bother anyone else. You may even be that 
person.

People who are not very tolerant may regularly 
phone the police, the district council or other 
services about things that others wouldn’t think are 
a problem. Others may avoid reporting fairly serious 
incidents because they don’t want to be seen as 

being a bother, or because they are worried about 
what may happen to them if they do.

Getting the balance right can be difficult. 
Understanding what is and what isn’t antisocial 
behaviour depends on how serious the behaviour is 
and how often it happens.

There’s a balance between putting up with behaviour 
that we may personally not agree with, and 
making sure that we tackle behaviour that really is 
antisocial.

It is important that we work together to tackle the 
antisocial behaviour that is affecting people’s quality 
of life.

THIS BOOKLET

Antisocial behaviour can make people feel harassed 
and upset. This booklet gives you information 
about antisocial behaviour and how we can all work 
together to help stop it. 

P
age 294



3CONTENTS

CONTENTS

Introduction 2

This booklet ......................................... 2

What is antisocial behaviour? 4

What can I do? 5

Let the person know that they are causing 
you a problem ...................................... 5

Collect Evidence ................................... 5

Report it ............................................. 6

Personal legal action .............................. 6

Think about the effect your behaviour  
has on others 7

If you’ve been accused of  
antisocial behaviour ............................... 7

Where can I get help? 8

Serious and criminal behaviour .................. 8

Abandoned vehicles ................................ 9

Abuse of vulnerable adults ......................10

Arson ................................................11

Bogus callers  ......................................12

Bonfires .............................................12

Boundary disputes .................................13

Child Abuse .........................................13

Cruelty to animals ................................14

Dangerous Dogs ....................................15

Domestic CCTV  ....................................15

Fireworks  ..........................................16

Fixing or selling cars on the street .............16

Fly-posting .........................................17

Fly-tipping ..........................................17

Graffiti ..............................................18

Hate crime 
(including racial harassment) and hate 
incidents ............................................19

Harmful weeds and non-native plants .........20

High Hedges ........................................21

HPBC Housing Tenants ............................21

Litter ................................................22

Messy gardens ......................................22

Neighbour disputes ................................23

Noise  ...............................................23

Nuisance caused by dogs (dog mess or  
stray dogs)..........................................24

Parking issues ......................................25

Planning Disputes .................................25

Problems with roads ..............................26

Pubs and other premises licensed to sell 
alcohol ..............................................26

Statutory Nuisance (environmental health 
problem) ............................................26

Vandalism 
(Criminal Damage) ................................27

Vehicle-related nuisance .........................27

Support for victims 28

If you want to stay anonymous ..................28

Derbyshire Smart Alert ...........................28

Useful Contacts 29

P
age 295



4WHAT IS ANTISOCIAL BEHAVIOUR?

WHAT IS ANTISOCIAL BEHAVIOUR?

A wide variety of behaviour can be defined as ‘anti-
social’ if it has a negative impact on others. 

Antisocial behaviour (ASB) has two legal definitions 
depending on where it takes place: 

• ASB that occurs within a housing context is 
defined as behaviour that causes or is likely to 
cause “nuisance or annoyance”.

• ASB that occurs in public spaces is defined 
as behaviour that causes or is likely to cause 
“harassment, alarm or distress”.

Both definitions describe how someone’s behaviour 
affects other people.

Nuisance describes behaviour on private property 
that is lawful but causes inconvenience or annoyance 
for neighbours. Those affected by “nuisance” 
behaviour can bring civil proceedings against their 
neighbour and may be able to obtain compensation.

Harassment is the repeated targeting of a victim with 
behaviour that is meant to upset them.

Some problems, such as vandalism and drug dealing, 
are often described as antisocial behaviour but are, 
in fact, criminal offences. 

There are some types of behaviour, that may 
annoy some people, but that we would generally 
not consider to be antisocial behaviour. Examples 
include:

• The sound of children playing or a baby crying.

• Boundary disputes or breaches of covenants.

• Noise caused by everyday living, such as flushing 
toilets and closing doors.

• A one-off party.

• Minor personal arguments and differences.

• Religious or cultural practice.

• Parking (including badly parked vehicles).

• Neighbours doing DIY (at reasonable times of the 
day).

• Groups of people in the street or in parks, unless 
they are being rowdy, abusive, causing damage or 
committing other crimes.

P
age 296



5WHAT CAN I DO?

WHAT CAN I DO?

LET THE PERSON KNOW THAT THEY ARE CAUSING 
YOU A PROBLEM

A useful first step is to speak to the person causing 
the problem, if this is safe and appropriate. Often 
people are not aware that they’re causing a problem 
and will stop their behaviour straight away once they 
realise it is causing a nuisance.

Before you speak to the person, ask yourself the 
following questions.

• Is my complaint reasonable?

• Am I feeling calm? (If not, think about waiting 
until you are calm.)

• What am I going to say? How am I going to say it? 

• What do I want to achieve?

• Is this a good time to raise the issue?

If you’re worried that your neighbour, their partner 
or their visitors could be violent towards you if you 
approach them – do not approach them. Instead, 
get help and advice by contacting one of the 
organisations listed in the section ‘Where can I get 
help?’ on page 9. 

Here are some useful tips to keep in mind when 
talking to someone about the problem that they’re 
causing you.

• Stay calm and be polite and friendly.

• Explain the problem and how it’s affecting you or 
your family.

• Listen to the other person’s point of view.

• Do not interrupt the person when they’re 
speaking, and think about what they are saying.

• Try not to shout, even if the other person does.

• Stay in control and do not become abusive.

• Try and find a middle ground that you both agree 
on.

• If the person is being unreasonable – politely 
leave.

If you feel that you really cannot approach the 
person, you might feel more comfortable writing a 
letter or sending a text. Think carefully before using 
social media: other people can comment and get 
involved if messages are public. Be careful not to 
make the situation worse. Think carefully about how 
they may interpret your words

COLLECT EVIDENCE

We cannot take action against someone just because 
someone else has complained. It’s important that we 
have good proof to show what’s happening and the 
effect it’s having.

This proof could include keeping a diary or log of: 

• when incidents have happened (dates and times of 
the day);

• what happened; and 

• who was involved. 

It could also include photographs and video 
recordings of the incidents. However, always 
take care not to make problems worse by taking 
photographs and so on. Do not put yourself at risk. 
Keep your personal safety in mind.

You can use CCTV cameras, but only within the 
boundaries of your property. If you want to use 
CCTV to record a wider area, you need to get 
advice from the Information Commissioner’s Office 
(www.ico.org.uk) or a solicitor. Council tenants 
need to get written permission before installing 
CCTV at their home https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/
article/1228/Tenant-Alterations

P
age 297

http://www.ico.org.uk
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/1228/Tenant-Alterations
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/1228/Tenant-Alterations


6WHAT CAN I DO?

If you are a victim or witness of antisocial behaviour 
and you are frightened to give evidence because you 
are worried about what will happen to you, you may, 
in certain circumstances, be able to give evidence 
but stay anonymous. 

This type of evidence is called ‘hearsay’. A police 
officer or other professional witness, such as a 
council official, health worker, teacher or doctor can 
also give evidence in court on behalf of a vulnerable 
witness (someone who may be at risk if they give 
evidence, or someone who is vulnerable for other 
reasons, such as physical, emotional or mental-health 
difficulties).

The courts have powers to punish people who 
intimidate witnesses. 

REPORT IT

We believe that everyone has the right to feel safe 
when going about their everyday business.

You can help us to stop antisocial behaviour by letting 
us know when it’s happening. Before you do this, 
think about what you’re experiencing. Is it really 
antisocial behaviour? Or, for example, is it just a 
group of young people ‘hanging around’ but not 
hurting anyone or causing any damage?

If someone’s behaviour continues to upset you, please 
report it. You can get more information on how to 
report problems on page 3.

In an emergency, for example if someone is being 
violent or threatening another person and there is 
a danger to someone’s life, or if a crime is being 
committed, always phone 999 and ask for the police.

PERSONAL LEGAL ACTION

It’s possible for you to take a case to court yourself, 
but you’ll need to be sure you can show there is a 
nuisance of some kind.

This could include disagreements between 
neighbours, parking issues or disagreements about 
boundaries.

If you want to take action yourself, you should first 
get independent legal advice from a solicitor or speak 
to Citizen’s Advice. Legal cover is also provided as 
part of some home insurance policies and, if you are 
a member, you may be able to get some free advice 
from your trade union.

P
age 298



7THINK ABOUT THE EffECT YOUR BEHAVIOUR HAS ON OTHERS

THINK ABOUT THE EffECT YOUR BEHAVIOUR HAS ON OTHERS

It’s important to try to make sure you don’t cause a 
problem for other people. Here are a few tips.

• Get to know your neighbours so you can discuss 
any problem in a reasonable way.

• Let your neighbours know if you are planning a 
party and give them a number to contact you on 
if the party becomes too loud. Better still, invite 
your neighbours if you can.

• Also, let them know if you are planning a 
barbecue, to let off fireworks or light a bonfire. 
That will give them chance to bring their washing 
or pets indoors, or let you know if your plans will 
cause them problems.

• Do not carry out DIY or use noisy domestic 
appliances like vacuum cleaners late at night or 
early in the morning.

• Have your TV, radio and stereo speakers away 
from walls that you share with your neighbours.

• Do not have your TV, radio or stereo too loud, or 
play musical instruments loudly, especially late 
at night, and especially if you live in a flat where 
noise travels more easily.

• If you are losing your hearing, find out about 
hearing aids and equipment from an organisation 
such as the Royal National Institute for Deaf 
People (www.rnid.org.uk)

• Make sure you are not obstructing the footpath 
when you park your car. As a rule, always leave 
enough space for a wheelchair or ‘double buggy’ 
to get past.

• Do not block your neighbours’ or other people’s 
driveways.

• Know where your children are playing, who’s 
supervising them and what they’re doing.

• Keep your dogs and other pets under control.

• Get rid of your rubbish and unwanted items 
properly.

• Be considerate and make sure you behave as you 
would want others to behave towards you and 
your family.

If YOU’VE BEEN ACCUSED Of 
ANTISOCIAL BEHAVIOUR

Think about whether you’re responsible for the upset 
being caused to the person complaining. You may not 
be aware that your behaviour is causing a problem. 
There may be an easy way to solve the problem, such 
as closing your windows when you are playing music, 
or keeping the noise down at night when most people 
are trying to sleep.

If you are able to do so, speak to the person who is 
complaining and follow the same guidance we gave 
you for speaking to someone who is causing you a 
nuisance.

If you feel you’ve been accused unfairly and you are 
not able to sort the problem out with the person 
complaining, contact one of the organisations listed 
on page 3. These organisations may be able to help 
you sort out the problem with the person who has 
complained, or they could refer you to a professional 
mediation service.

If you feel things are not improving, try to collect 
proof that you’re not responsible for the antisocial 
behaviour that you are being accused of.

“The first to apologise is the 
bravest, the first to forgive 
is the strongest, the first to 
forgive is the happiest”
- Unknown

P
age 299

http://www.rnid.org.uk


8WHERE CAN I GET HELP?

WHERE CAN I GET HELP?

This section contains information about who you 
should contact for help if you’re experiencing 
antisocial behaviour.

SERIOUS AND CRIMINAL 
BEHAVIOUR

What do we mean by serious and 
criminal behaviour?

This includes things such as:

• criminal damage, such as damage to property;

• vandalism;

• making threats of violence or being violent;

• drug dealing or drug misuse;

• dangerous dogs;

• harassment, including racial harassment; and

• public disturbances, such as fighting.

Who can help?

You should report things that are serious and against 
the law to the police. 

You can contact Derbyshire Police by phoning their 
non-emergency number on 101.

If it’s an emergency, you should always phone 999. An 
emergency is when:

• someone’s life is in danger, for example in a car 
crash when people in the car need help;

• there’s a risk that someone could seriously hurt 
themselves or somebody else, for example you 
might see somebody threatening somebody else 
with a knife; and

• a crime is happening or is about to happen, for 
example you may see someone breaking into a 
house or people fighting.

You can also give information anonymously (without 
anybody knowing) to Crimestoppers by phoning 0800 
555 111 or visit: https://crimestoppers-uk.org/

P
age 300

https://crimestoppers-uk.org/


9ABANDONED VEHICLES

ABANDONED VEHICLES

What is an abandoned vehicle?

A vehicle is abandoned if it has been left by the 
owner permanently or for a long time when they 
should not do so.

Vehicles do not count as ‘abandoned’ simply because 
they have been parked in the same place for several 
days. 

It is likely that a vehicle is abandoned if:

• it has no registered keeper, is untaxed or does not 
have a current MOT certificate.

• it is stationary for a significant amount of time

• it is significantly damaged, run down or 
unroadworthy – with flat tyres, wheels removed or 
broken windows

• is burned out

• has number plates missing

Who can help?

You can check to see if a vehicle is taxed 
and has a current MOT certificate by visiting: 
www.gov.uk/get-vehicle-information-from-dvla

You can report abandoned vehicles to 
High Peak Borough Council on line at 
www.highpeak.gov.uk/Report_It 

P
age 301

http://www.gov.uk/get-vehicle-information-from-dvla
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/Report_It


10ABUSE Of VULNERABLE ADULTS

ABUSE Of VULNERABLE ADULTS

Abuse is behaviour that can lead to harm or distress, 
for example:

• physical abuse - which can include hitting or 
pushing

• emotional abuse - which can include bullying

• financial abuse - which includes stealing money or 
property

• sexual abuse - which can include sexual activity 
without consent

• neglect - which includes self-neglect, ignoring 
medical, emotional or physical care needs, failure 
to provide access to appropriate health, social 
care or educational services, and the withholding 
of the essentials of life, such as medication, 
adequate food or heating

Derbyshire County Council investigates report of 
abuse relating to adults who have care and support 
needs. Adults with care and support needs may:

• be elderly and frail because of ill-health, disability 
or condition such as dementia

• have a learning disability

• have a physical disability or be blind or deaf

• have mental health needs including dementia

• not have capacity to make some decisions and is 
in need of care and support

Abuse is behaviour towards a person that causes them 
upset, puts them in danger or takes away their rights. 
Neglect is also abuse if it leads to harm or upset.

If you feel you are being abused or know a person you 
think is at risk, it is important to tell someone.

If a crime has been committed or if you’re worried 
about someone’s safety, phone Derbyshire Police 
on 101 (if it is not an emergency) or 999 (if it is a 
emergency).

You can report abuse to Derbyshire County Council by 
phoning 01629 533190.

If you have concerns about the welfare of an 
adult then please contact Derbyshire County 
Council on 01629 533190 or by emailing 
contact.centre@derbyshire.gov.uk

An emergency service is available if you need 
to report high-risk situations overnight or at the 
weekend that cannot wait for the local office to 
open. You can contact the emergency service by 
phoning 01629 532600

You can get more information at 
www.derbyshire.gov.uk

P
age 302

mailto:contact.centre%40derbyshire.gov.uk?subject=
http://www.derbyshire.gov.uk


11ARSON

ARSON

What is arson?

This is when someone sets fire to something on 
purpose, or recklessly starts a fire, that destroys or 
damages property without a lawful reason for doing 
so.

Who can help?

To report a fire that needs putting out, or if you are 
worried that someone might be about to start a fire, 
phone 999 and ask for ‘Fire’ 

If you know who is responsible for deliberately 
starting a fire, please report this to: 

• Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Service (phone 999 and 
ask for ‘Fire’);

• Derbyshire Police by phoning 101; or 

• Crimestoppers by phoning on 0800 555 111 (100% 
anonymous.

You can also phone 01298 608720 to report a fire that 
is now out, and fire officers will investigate what 
caused the fire. By doing this, you could possibly help 
prevent fires starting in the future, as we may be 
able to identify who is responsible.

If you are worried about someone who has a 
fascination with fire and think that this might develop 
into a more serious problem, phone Derbyshire Fire 
and Rescue Service on 01298 608720. P

age 303



12BOGUS CALLERS

BOGUS CALLERS 

What are bogus callers? 

People who call at your home and try to trick (or 
scam) you into having work done that isn’t necessary, 
or they will try to get into your home to steal money 
or valuables.

Who can help?

Reporting doorstep crime can help to protect 
vulnerable people.

If you are worried that you have been scammed or 
tricked by someone, please phone:

Derbyshire Police on 101 or 999 if it’s an emergency.

Action Fraud on 0300 123 2040 
(www.actionfraud.police.uk)

Citizens Advice consumer helpline on 0808 223 1133 
(www.citizensadvice.org.uk), or

Derbyshire Trading Standards 01629 522190.

BONfIRES

What is a bonfire?

A bonfire is a large open-air fire, such as where 
people burn rubbish or as part of a celebration.

A one-off event is unlikely to be classed as a nuisance 
unless the fire is very large or burns for a long time. 
The burning of products such as cables and plastics is 
prohibited.

Someone who lights a fire that creates a danger for 
road users, stops the use of the highway, or results in 
injury to a road user commits an offence.

Who can help?

If you are planning to have a bonfire, you can help 
to make sure that you do not light it if your property 
is surrounded by others and the wind will take the 
smoke onto adjoining properties.

You can also speak to your neighbours before the 
lighting the fire in case they were planning to hang 
the washing or do something else that might be 
affected by the fire.

Household waste material should not be not burnt:

• Use your brown bin to recycle glass, plastic 
(bottles, pots, tubs and trays) food tins, drink 
cans, foil, aerosols, cartons, paper and cardboard

• Use your green bin to recycle food and garden 
plant waste

• Use your black bin for general rubbish

You can also dispose of waste at the household 
recycling centres (tips) in Buxton or Glossop.  
(www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/801/Tips-household-
recycling-centres).

If a bonfire is causing you a nuisance then speaking to 
the person responsible may stop the problem.

If this does not work then High Peak Borough Council 
will investigate complaints of smoke that create a 
‘statutory nuisance’. You can report problems online 
at www.highpeak.gov.uk/Report_It. You will find 
options for reporting household (domestic) nuisance 
and nuisances caused by businesses (commercial 
nuisance).

P
age 304

http://www.actionfraud.police.uk
https://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/801/Tips-household-recycling-centres
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/801/Tips-household-recycling-centres
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/Report_It


13BOUNDARY DISPUTES

BOUNDARY DISPUTES

What do we mean?

Sometimes neighbours disagree about things like who 
owns a wall that needs repairing, who should pay to 
replace a fence or where one property starts and the 
other ends.

People often think they are responsible for the left 
(or right) hand boundary wherever they live, but 
there isn’t any legal basis for this.

Who can help?

The title deeds to the property may provide an 
indication of who is responsible for the boundary and 
where the boundary runs. HM Land Registry may also 
hold useful information: onlinelandregistry.org.uk. 

This information can be difficult to understand and 
may not give a definite answer, so you may need to 
speak to a solicitor or Citizens Advice. You may also 
be able to get legal advice from your home insurer or 
your trade union (if you are a member of one).

A solicitor will also look to see whether there 
is anything to show that someone has taken on 
responsibility for the boundary or whether it has 
historically been jointly maintained. If it has been 
jointly maintained over the years then it is likely 
to be regarded as a party fence/wall and both 
neighbours will be responsible for it. 

CHILD ABUSE

What do we mean by abuse of a 
child?

Serious concerns about the safety of a child or young 
person up to the age of 18.

A child or young person who is being harmed or is at 
risk of being harmed.

A child is living in circumstances where they are 
treated badly and not cared for properly.

Who can help?

If you believe a child is at risk of immediate harm, 
this must be reported to the police on 999.

If you’re worried about the safety of a child, phone 
Derbyshire Safeguarding Children Partnership on 
01629 533190 (Monday to Thursday from 8:30am 
to 5pm and Friday 8:30am to 4:30pm), or, in an 
emergency outside these hours, please phone 01629 
532600.

Other useful contacts include:

• NSPCC Child Protection Helpline on 0808 800 5000 
(www.nspcc.org.uk)

• Childline 0800 1111 (www.childline.org.uk)

P
age 305

https://onlinelandregistry.org.uk
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/
https://www.childline.org.uk/


14CRUELTY TO ANIMALS

CRUELTY TO ANIMALS

What do we mean by cruelty to 
animals?

It is illegal to cause unnecessary suffering to domestic 
animals, farm animals or other protected species.

Animals have five key welfare needs that must be 
met:

• Environment - somewhere suitable to live, rest, 
hide, exercise and explore

• Diet - a suitable diet

• Behaviour – the ability to behave naturally for 
their species, such as digging, flying, jumping, and 
running.

• Companionship - housed with, or apart, from 
other animals as required

• Health - protection from pain, suffering, injury 
and disease.

Who can help?

If you are worried about how an animal is being 
treated, phone the RSPCA’s 24-hour cruelty 
and advice line on 0300 1234 999, or visit 
www.rspca.org.uk.

Derbyshire County Council deal with complaints 
about the health and welfare of livestock on farms, 
in livestock markets, in abattoirs or in transit:  
www.derbyshire.gov.uk/business/trading-standards/
animal-health/animal-health.aspx

For concerns on the welfare of horses please contact 
the RSPCA or World Horse Welfare by phoning 08000 
480 180

P
age 306

https://www.rspca.org.uk/
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/business/trading-standards/animal-health/animal-health.aspx
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/business/trading-standards/animal-health/animal-health.aspx


15DANGEROUS DOGS

DANGEROUS DOGS

What are Dangerous Dogs and 
Banned Dog Breeds?

It is illegal for a dog to be ‘out of control’ or to 
bite or attack someone. It is also an offence if a 
person is worried or afraid (the term is ‘reasonable 
apprehension’) that a dog may bite them. So it’s 
important to ensure that your dog is kept under 
control at all times and in all places.

It is against the law to own certain types of dogs.

Who can help?

If you suspect that your neighbour is keeping a 
banned breed such as a pit bull terrier, please report 
the matter to the police on 101.

If you’re not sure which breeds are banned, 
see the Government’s list of banned dog breeds 
www.gov.uk/control-dog-public/banned-dogs

DOMESTIC CCTV 

What do we mean?

It can be troubling if a neighbours CCTV overlooks all, 
or part of your property and you may feel like this is 
an invasion of your privacy

Who can help?

If you wish to get advice on domestic CCTV concerns 
contact the Information Commissioner (phone 0303 
123 1113 or, at their website www.ico.org.uk).

The inappropriate use of CCTV could also be a 
criminal offence and may need to be reported to the 
police by calling 101.

P
age 307

https://www.gov.uk/control-dog-public/banned-dogs
https://ico.org.uk/


16fIREWORKS

fIREWORKS 

What do we mean?

It is against the law to carry fireworks in public if 
you’re under 18 (unless in the course of employment)

Fireworks must not be sold to anyone who is under 18

F4 firework – industrial fireworks – can only be used 
by professionals at organised events

It is an offence under the Explosives Act 1875 to 
tamper with or modify fireworks

Fireworks must not be let off between 11pm and 
7am, except:

• Chinese New Year, Diwali and New Year’s Eve, 
when the period is extended until 1am, and

• 5th November when the period is extended until 
midnight.

It is illegal to set off fireworks (including sparklers) in 
the street or public place.

Who can help?

You can report problems to do with fireworks to 
Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Service by calling 01298 
608720

You can also report firework related problems to the 
police using tel: 101 (999 in an emergency).

fIXING OR SELLING CARS ON 
THE STREET

What are the rules?

You cannot park two or more cars that are advertised 
for sale on the road within 500m of each other.

You cannot repair, or carry out maintenance, 
servicing, improvement or dismantling of a motor 
vehicle (or of any part of or accessory to a motor 
vehicle) on a road for business purposes or financial 
gain. This does not apply to essential repairs carried 
out within 72 hours of an accident or breakdown.

Who can help?

If a car is causing a nuisance by breaking parking 
laws, for example by parking on double yellow 
lines, visit Derbyshire County Council website at 
www.derbyshire.gov.uk/home.aspx

If a vehicle is parked on the pavement and is causing 
an obstruction, but there are no parking restrictions, 
please phone Derbyshire Police on 101.

P
age 308

https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/home.aspx


17fLY-POSTING

fLY-POSTING

What is fly-Posting?

If you put or post any sign, placard, notice, leaflet, 
banner or anything similar which can be seen from 
the highway or any public place then you may be 
guilty of fly-posting. This includes illegally putting up 
posters on buildings, bus shelters and so on

Who can help?

Report fly-posting online at 
www.highpeak.gov.uk/Report_It.

fLY-TIPPING

What is fly-tipping?

Fly-tipping is illegal dumping of liquid or solid waste 
on land or in water (illegally dumping rubbish). You 
can also be guilty of fly-tipping if you dispose of 
waste by burning.

Householders have a duty to take reasonable 
measures to ensure that any household waste is 
disposed of correctly, such as by using their domestic 
bin or taking to a recycling centre (tip). If the 
waste is given to a third party who is not licensed to 
transport waste or who dumps the waste, then the 
householder commits an offence.

Who can help?

Report fly-tipping online at 
www.highpeak.gov.uk/Report_It.

If you know who is responsible for fly-tipping or fly-
posting, you can report this to the police by phoning 
101, or by phoning Crimestoppers on 0800 555 111.

P
age 309

https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/Report_It
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/Report_It


18GRAffITI

GRAffITI

What is graffiti? 

Graffiti includes drawings, scribbles, messages or 
tags that are painted, written, sprayed or etched 
onto walls or other surfaces  It is a criminal offence 
to graffiti someone else’s property without a lawful 
excuse.

If the graffiti is offensive and directed at members of 
a racial group, then the person responsible will have 
committed an offence of racially-aggravated criminal 
damage.

If the graffiti includes words or images which could 
cause harassment, alarm or distress, then an offence 
may have been committed under the Public Order Act 
1986.

High Peak Borough Council will remove 
graffiti from public buildings and property. To 
report any problems, please report online at 
www.highpeak.gov.uk/Report_It.

If the graffiti is on a property you rent from a social 
housing provider you can also contact them to report 
any problems.

If you know who is responsible for the graffiti, you 
can report this to the police by phoning 101, or by 
phoning Crimestoppers on 0800 555 111.

P
age 310

https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/Report_It


19HATE CRIME

HATE CRIME 
(INCLUDING RACIAL HARASSMENT) AND HATE INCIDENTS

What is a hate crime and what 
is a hate incident?

A hate crime is any criminal offence which is 
perceived by the victim or any other person, to 
be motivated by hostility or prejudice based on a 
person’s:

• race or perceived race;

• religion or perceived religion;

• sexual orientation or perceived sexual orientation;

• disability or perceived disability;

• and any crime motivated by hostility or prejudice 
against a person who is transgender or perceived 
to be transgender.

A hate incident is any incident which the victim, or 
anyone else, thinks is based on someone’s prejudice 
towards them because of their race, religion, 
sexual orientation, disability or because they are 
transgender.

Not all hate incidents will amount to criminal 
offences, but it is equally important that these are 
reported and recorded by the police.

For more information visit www.derbyshire.police.uk/
advice/advice-and-information/hco/hate-crime/

Who can help?

If you are experiencing crime or harassment 
because of your ethnic background, sex, disability, 
sexuality, religion or beliefs, you can report this to 
Derbyshire Police by phoning on 101 (phone 999 in an 
emergency).

Victims or witnesses of hate crime can also 
report incidents to CORE victim support 
www.core-derbyshire.com/types-crime/hate-crime or 
you can call them on 0800 612 6505

P
age 311

https://www.derbyshire.police.uk/advice/advice-and-information/hco/hate-crime/
https://www.derbyshire.police.uk/advice/advice-and-information/hco/hate-crime/
https://www.core-derbyshire.com/types-crime/hate-crime


20HARMfUL WEEDS AND NON-NATIVE PLANTS

HARMfUL WEEDS AND NON-NATIVE PLANTS

What are harmful weeds and non-
native plants?

All landowners have a responsibility to make 
sure harmful weeds and non-native plants with 
the potential to harm people, livestock or the 
environment do not spread to a neighbouring 
property and are treated correctly.

The most common invasive, non-native plants include

• Japanese knotweed

• Giant hogweed

• Himalayan balsam

• Rhododendron ponticum

• New Zealand pigmyweed (this is banned from sale)

You can find more information by visiting:

www.gov.uk/guidance/prevent-the-spread-of-
harmful-invasive-and-non-native-plants

www.nonnativespecies.org/

Who can help? 

If the plants are found on land owned by High Peak 
Borough Council then please report it immediately by 
visiting www.highpeak.gov.uk/

If the plants are growing in the wild, please report it 
to: 

Natural England Enquiries Team, 
Technical Services Natural England, 
County Hall, Spetchley Road, WORCESTER, WR5 2NP

Email: weedenquiries@naturalengland.org.uk

Telephone: 0300 060 3900

P
age 312

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/prevent-the-spread-of-harmful-invasive-and-non-native-plants
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/prevent-the-spread-of-harmful-invasive-and-non-native-plants
http://www.nonnativespecies.org/
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/Report_It
mailto:weedenquiries%40naturalengland.org.uk?subject=


21HIGH HEDGES

HIGH HEDGES

What is a high hedge?

A high hedge is one which:

• is formed by a line of 2 or more trees or shrubs

• is wholly or mainly of evergreen or semi-evergreen 
species

• is over 2 metres tall

• forms a barrier to light or access at heights of 
more than 2 metres above ground level and this is 
not significantly affected by the presence of gaps

Who can help?

You can complain to High Peak Borough Council if 
you and your neighbours are unable to come to an 
agreement about the height of an evergreen hedge. 

Visit www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/587/Resolving-
high-hedge-disputes for more information.

If your disagreement is about a hedge that does not 
meet the description above then please speak to a 
solicitor or Citizens Advice.

HPBC HOUSING TENANTS

Who does this apply to?

If you are a tenant of High Peak Borough Council then 
you can report housing related anti-social behaviour 
to the Council.

Who can help?

Report housing related anti-social behaviour to High 
Peak Borough Council www.highpeak.gov.uk/Report_It 

If your issue relates to serious, or criminal behaviour 
then please contact the Derbyshire police on tel:101 
(999 in an emergency).

More information on all HPBC housing can be found 
on the website www.highpeak.gov.uk

P
age 313

http://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/587/Resolving-high-hedge-disputes
http://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/587/Resolving-high-hedge-disputes
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/Report_It
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk


22LITTER

LITTER

What is litter?

Litter is anything from a crisp packet or cigarette 
butt to a bag of rubbish that is thrown down , 
dropped or discarded in a public place.

Who can help?

Report littering to High Peak Borough Council online 

at www.highpeak.gov.uk/Report_It

MESSY GARDENS

What do we mean?

We sometimes receive complaints about the condition 
of gardens, especially if they are overgrown, or are 
not being regularly maintained. Everyone should try 
to keep their homes and gardens in an acceptable 
condition, otherwise neighbour disputes can arise.

Please see separate sections if you are concerned 
about:

• harmful weeds such as knotweed,

• a build-up of rubbish, animal mess or waste 
materials (Statutory nuisance);

trees and bushes blocking the highway (Problems with 
roads)

Who can help?

Advice on resolving garden related concerns 
can be found on the .Gov website – 
www.gov.uk/how-to-resolve-neighbour-disputes

If you, or the offending occupant, live in a social 
housing property then please report your concerns to 
your landlord (see page 34 for useful contacts). If the 
messy garden belongs to a HPBC property then please 

let us know at www.highpeak.gov.uk/Report_It

P
age 314

https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/Report_It
https://www.gov.uk/how-to-resolve-neighbour-disputes
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/Report_It


23NEIGHBOUR DISPUTES

NEIGHBOUR DISPUTES

What do we mean?

Sometimes people fall out with their neighbours. 
Some of the most common reasons are:

• Boundary disputes, including repair or removal of 
a fence or wall

• Cutting down trees and hedges

• Building an extension or other building

• Parking over someone’s driveway of in “their spot”

• Noise

• Messy gardens/house (or changes to a neighbour’s 
home that you feel may impact on the value of 
your property)

• Responsibility of maintaining or keeping the 
shared amenities clean (for example, shared 
drains and pipes, shared gardens or a communal 
rooftop on a block of flats).

Who can help?

You will find help about all of those issues by looking 
for the individual topics in this booklet.

You can also get advice on how to resolve 
neighbour disputes at the .Gov website at 
www.gov.uk/how-to-resolve-neighbour-disputes

You may also wish to obtain independent advice from 
a solicitor or Citizens Advice.

If you think your neighbour has broken the law - for 
example, they’ve been violent or threatening then 
contact Derbyshire Police. Call 999 if the crime is still 
happening or 101 to report a crime later.

If you think your neighbour’s making trouble 
because of your race, religion, sexuality or other 
characteristic, it could be a hate crime or hate 
incident. More information on hate incidents can be 
found on page 19.

If you, or your neighbour, rent your home from a 
social housing provider you can contact them for 
support as well as reporting incidents to the police. 
The housing provider will check whether your 
neighbour has broken any conditions in their tenancy 
agreement. If you rent from a private landlord, you 
can also tell them about any problems.

NOISE 

What do we mean? 

High Peak Borough Council will investigate:

• dogs barking for long periods of time or frequently 
at unsociable hours

• excessively loud music

• loud work at unsociable times

• continuous ringing burglar alarms

• loud music (pubs and clubs for example)

• activity during unsociable hours

• loud noise from fans or other industrial machinery

• excessively loud working practices (for example 
drilling)

• loud outdoor speakers

• constant hum of fan equipment.

The Council will not investigate one off events 
such as birthday parties, noises that only occur 
occasionally, or children playing outside.

To report a problem to do with noise 
(either from a house or a business), visit 
www.highpeak.gov.uk/Report_It.

If you rent your home from a registered social 
landlord contact them to report problems.

P
age 315

https://www.gov.uk/how-to-resolve-neighbour-disputes
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/Report_It


24NUISANCE CAUSED BY DOGS

NUISANCE CAUSED BY DOGS (DOG MESS OR STRAY DOGS)

What do we mean by nuisance 
caused by dogs?

Stray dogs - A dog that is roaming freely and not 
under the control of any person, irrespective of 
whether it has a home (whether or not the dog wears 
a collar with identification or is microchipped).

Dog Fouling – Dog owners must clean up straight away 
if their dog fouls in a public area. If they do not, then 
they commit an offence.

It is also an offence of your dog is causing a nuisance 
and you are told to put it on a lead by an authorised 
officer (normally a council worker or police officer). 

More details can be found by visiting 
www.highpeak.gov.uk/pspo

Who can help?

You can report dog fouling online to High Peak 
Borough Council at www.highpeak.gov.uk/Report_It.

If you see a stray or roaming dog, you can contact 
High Peak Borough Council on 0345 605 3014 Monday 
to Friday. If you find a stray dog after this time, you 
can take the dog to Manchester Dogs Home (0161 205 
0347). 

More information can be found at:  
www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/6184/Dog-Nuisance-
PSPO-2020/pdf/HPBC_Dog_Nuisance_PSPO_2020.
pdf?m=1603727805733

P
age 316

https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/pspo
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/Report_It
http://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/6184/Dog-Nuisance-PSPO-2020/pdf/HPBC_Dog_Nuisance_PSPO_2020.pdf?m=1603727805733
http://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/6184/Dog-Nuisance-PSPO-2020/pdf/HPBC_Dog_Nuisance_PSPO_2020.pdf?m=1603727805733
http://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/6184/Dog-Nuisance-PSPO-2020/pdf/HPBC_Dog_Nuisance_PSPO_2020.pdf?m=1603727805733


25PARKING ISSUES

PARKING ISSUES

What do we mean?,

People generally tend to park outside their own home 
but no one has an automatic right to do so. It’s not 
always possible and other road users have the right 
to park outside your home providing they are not 
contravening the Highway Code.

The Highway Code asks that people DO NOT park 
their vehicle where it might cause an obstruction 
to other pedestrians or road users, and cites the 
example of not parking in front of another person’s 
driveway.

Who can help?

If a car is causing a nuisance by breaking parking 
laws, for example by parking on double yellow 
lines, visit Derbyshire County Council website at 
www.derbyshire.gov.uk

If a vehicle is parked on the pavement and is causing 
an obstruction, but there are no parking restrictions, 
please phone Derbyshire Police on 101.

If you want advice about road signs or markings, 
please go to Derbyshire County Councils website – 
www.Derbyshire.gov.uk.

If you want to report people driving with no tax 
disc, phone the Driver and Vehicle Licensing Agency 
(DVLA) on 0800 032 5202, or visit www.direct.gov.
uk/en/Motoring/OwningAVehicle/UntaxedVehicle/
DG_4022073.

PLANNING DISPUTES

What do we mean?

You may be concerned that a neighbour has built 
something that affects you or your home. The 
neighbour may require planning permission for things 
like:

• Building an extension or outbuilding

• Creating a driveway and dropped kerb

• Using the property for a different purpose

• Putting up a conservatory

Who can help?

Planning permission may not be necessary if the 
works meet certain conditions. You can check 
the precise rules on the Planning Portal website 
(www.planningportal.co.uk).

High Peak Borough Council may be able to take 
action if someone has carried out works without 
planning permission, has not complied with planning 
conditions, or to tidy up untidy land.

You can report problems at 
www.highpeak.gov.uk/Report_It (look for the 
Planning Enforcement Complaint Form).

P
age 317

http://www.derbyshire.gov.uk
http://www.Derbyshire.gov.uk
http://www.direct.gov.uk/en/Motoring/OwningAVehicle/UntaxedVehicle/DG_4022073
http://www.direct.gov.uk/en/Motoring/OwningAVehicle/UntaxedVehicle/DG_4022073
http://www.direct.gov.uk/en/Motoring/OwningAVehicle/UntaxedVehicle/DG_4022073
http://www.planningportal.co.uk
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/Report_It


26PROBLEMS WITH ROADS

PROBLEMS WITH ROADS

What do we mean?

• Broken street light or road sign,

• potholes,

• damaged pavements,

• faulty traffic lights

• blocked drains, or

• trees or hedges blocking the highway.

Who can help?

Derbyshire County Council by calling 01629 533190 or 
by visiting or at www.Derbyshire.gov.uk

PUBS AND OTHER PREMISES 
LICENSED TO SELL ALCOHOL

What do we mean?

Local residents can request that their licensing 
authority review a premises licence where activities 
at licensed premises are undermining one or more of 
the licensing objectives

• The prevention of crime and disorder

• Public safety

• The prevention of public nuisance; 

• The protection of children from harm.

You can find more information be visiting www.
gov.uk/guidance/alcohol-licensing#community-
involvement-in-licensing

Who can help?

You can report any nuisance caused by premises 
licensed to sell alcohol to High Peak Borough 
Council’s Licensing Team at myforms.highpeak.gov.
uk/CONTACTLICENSING/launch

STATUTORY NUISANCE 
(ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH 
PROBLEM)

What is a statutory nuisance?

Problems that affect health or cause a nuisance are 
described as ‘statutory nuisances’ and include:

• a build-up of rubbish, animal mess or waste 
materials;

• fumes, gases and unpleasant smells;

• noise

• smoke from burning materials; and

• buildings in an unacceptable condition.

Who can help?

You can report problems online at 
www.highpeak.gov.uk/Report_It. You will find options 
for reporting household (domestic) nuisance domestic 
and nuisances caused by businesses (commercial 
nuisance).

If you are a tenant of another social housing provider 
contact them to report problems.

P
age 318

http://www.Derbyshire.gov.uk
http://www.gov.uk/guidance/alcohol-licensing#community-involvement-in-licensing
http://www.gov.uk/guidance/alcohol-licensing#community-involvement-in-licensing
http://www.gov.uk/guidance/alcohol-licensing#community-involvement-in-licensing
https://myforms.highpeak.gov.uk/CONTACTLICENSING/launch
https://myforms.highpeak.gov.uk/CONTACTLICENSING/launch
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/Report_It


27VANDALISM

VANDALISM 
(CRIMINAL DAMAGE)

What is vandalism?

Vandalism or criminal damage is when someone 
illegally destroys or damages someone else’s 
property. 

Who can help?

To report vandalism, phone Derbyshire Police on 101. 
If the vandalism is still taking place, phone 999.

You can also report vandalism, without giving your 
name, to Crimestoppers by phoning 0800 555 111.

If you rent your home from a registered social 
landlord, they can also offer you support regarding 
such issues.

VEHICLE-RELATED NUISANCE

What do we mean by vehicle-
related nuisance?

Vehicles being driven at high speed, or erratically on 
car parks, or on major and minor roads

Who can help?

If you witness people driving irresponsibly, racing or 
making their cars skid call the police on 101 (999 in 
an emergency).

P
age 319



28SUPPORT fOR VICTIMS

SUPPORT fOR VICTIMS

If you are a victim of crime then you can 
obtain emotional support, information or 
practical help by contacting CORE Derbyshire at 
www.core-derbyshire.com/ or by phoning 0800 612 
6505

If you are a victim of domestic abuse, you can get 
help by phoning Safer Derbyshire County Councils 
Domestic Abuse 24-hour helpline on 08000 198 668. 
Or, for more information visit their website www.
saferderbyshire.gov.uk/what-we-do/domestic-abuse/
domestic-abuse.aspx.

You can find other support services listed in the 
Useful Contacts section at the end of this document.

If YOU WANT TO STAY 
ANONYMOUS

You can phone Crimestoppers anonymously about 
any crime that you know about. Anonymous means 
that you do not have to give your name. You can 
phone 0800 555 111. You should report most incidents 
of antisocial behaviour direct to the organisations 
listed in this booklet, but there may be times 
when you want to give information anonymously to 
Crimestoppers, for example if you know anyone who 
is:

• committing crimes;

• breaking the conditions of their criminal behaviour 
orders and/or injunctions;

• responsible for graffiti; 

• dealing, selling, growing or manufacturing drugs;

• regularly driving after drinking alcohol or taking 
drugs; or

• driving with no licence, a suspended licence or 
with no insurance.

DERBYSHIRE SMART ALERT

Derbyshire Alert allows Derbyshire Police, local 
authorities, Neighbourhood Watch and other public 
organisations to keep you informed about issues 
affecting your local area in a timely way. You will 
receive localised messages about crime, engagement 
events, appeals, prevention advice and general 
policing activity.

You can register to receive alerts by visiting 
www.derbyshirealert.co.uk

P
age 320

http://www.core-derbyshire.com/
http://www.saferderbyshire.gov.uk/what-we-do/domestic-abuse/domestic-abuse.aspx
http://www.saferderbyshire.gov.uk/what-we-do/domestic-abuse/domestic-abuse.aspx
http://www.saferderbyshire.gov.uk/what-we-do/domestic-abuse/domestic-abuse.aspx
http://www.derbyshirealert.co.uk


29USEfUL CONTACTS

USEfUL CONTACTS

Adult social care 
(Derbyshire County Council)

01629 533190

Out of hours emergency number 01629 532600

www.Derbyshire.gov.uk

The Bureau  
(Glossop’s Voluntary & Community Network)

01457 865722

https://the-bureau.org.uk/

Email info@the-bureau.org.uk

Citizens Advice
0300 456 8390

www.citizensadvice.org.uk

Childline
0800 1111 

www.childline.org.uk/

Child Exploitation and Online 
Protection (CEOP)
0300 456 8390

www.ceop.police.uk/safety-centre

Child Welfare Concerns 
(Derbyshire County Council)

If you believe the child to be at risk of immediate 
harm, this must be reported to the police on 999  
or 101 

01629 533190

Out of hours emergency number 01629 532600

www.Derbyshire.gov.uk

Connex Community Support 
01298 23970

https://connex.org.uk/

Email admin@connex.org.uk

Crimestoppers
0800 555 111

http://crimestoppers-uk.org/

Derbyshire CORE 
(Victim support service)

0800 612 6505

www.core-derbyshire.com/

support@derbyshirecore.org

Derbyshire County Council
01629 533190

www.derbyshire.gov.uk

Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Service
0300 330 1000 (999 in an emergency)

www.derbys-fire.gov.uk

Email West_Area_Admins@derbys-fire.gov.uk

P
age 321

http://www.Derbyshire.gov.uk
https://the-bureau.org.uk/
mailto:info%40the-bureau.org.uk?subject=
http://www.citizensadvice.org.uk
http://www.childline.org.uk/
http://www.ceop.police.uk/safety-centre
http://www.Derbyshire.gov.uk
https://connex.org.uk/
mailto:admin%40connex.org.uk?subject=
http://crimestoppers-uk.org/
http://www.core-derbyshire.com/
mailto:support%40derbyshirecore.org?subject=
http://www.derbyshire.gov.uk
http://www.derbys-fire.gov.uk
mailto:West_Area_Admins%40derbys-fire.gov.uk?subject=


30USEfUL CONTACTS

Derbyshire Mental Health Helpline and 
Support Service
0800 028 0077

www.derbyshirehealthcareft.nhs.uk/services/
helpline-and-support-service

Derbyshire Police
101 (call 999 in an emergency

www.derbyshire.police.uk

Driver and Vehicle Licensing Agency 
(DVLA)
0800 032 5202

www.gov.uk/government/organisations/driver-and-
vehicle-licensing-agency

.Gov website 
(advice on a range of matters)

www.gov.uk 

High Peak Borough Council
0345 129 7777 or 01298 28400

www.highpeak.gov.uk

High Peak Community & Voluntary 
Support
01663 735350

www.highpeakcvs.org.uk/

Email hello@highpeakcvs.org.uk

High Peak CVS Bereavement Support 
Groups Service
01663 735350

http://highpeakcvs.org.uk/?ID=216

Email hello@highpeakcvs.org.uk

Information Commissioner’s Office
0303 123 1113

www.ico.org.uk 

Mankind 
(information, support and signposting 
service to men suffering from domestic 
abuse)

01823 334244

www.mankind.org.uk/

Mind 
(advice on how to cope in a crisis)

www.mind.org.uk/need-urgent-help/

New Mills & District Volunteer Centre
01663 744196

https://nmvc.org/

Email beverley@nmvc.org

NSPCC Child Protection Helpline
0808 800 5000

www.nspcc.org.uk

P
age 322

http://www.derbyshirehealthcareft.nhs.uk/services/helpline-and-support-service
http://www.derbyshirehealthcareft.nhs.uk/services/helpline-and-support-service
http://www.derbyshire.police.uk
http://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/driver-and-vehicle-licensing-agency
http://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/driver-and-vehicle-licensing-agency
http://www.gov.uk
http://www.highpeak.gov.uk
http://www.highpeakcvs.org.uk/
mailto:hello%40highpeakcvs.org.uk?subject=
http://highpeakcvs.org.uk/?ID=216
mailto:hello%40highpeakcvs.org.uk?subject=
http://www.ico.org.uk
http://www.mankind.org.uk/
http://www.mind.org.uk/need-urgent-help/
https://nmvc.org/
mailto:beverley%40nmvc.org?subject=
http://www.nspcc.org.uk


31USEfUL CONTACTS

RNID 
(National hearing loss charity)

0880 808 0123

www.rnid.org.uk

Email information@rnid.org.uk

Royal Society for the Prevention of 
Cruelty to Animals (RSPCA)
0300 1234 999

www.rspca.org.uk

Samaritans 
116 123

www.samaritans.org

Email jo@samaritans.org

Shout  
(free, confidential, 24/7 text messaging support 

service for anyone who is struggling to cope)

Text 85258

https://giveusashout.org/

Staying Safe 
(resources for people with suicidal thoughts)

www.stayingsafe.net

Talk to Frank 
(information about drugs)

Phone 0300 123 6600

Text 82111

www.talktofrank.com/

frank@talktofrank.com

Victim Support Derbyshire 
0800 612 6505 

out of hours: 08 08 16 89 111

www.victimsupport.org.uk/resources/derbyshire/

Young Minds 
(Stopping young people’s mental health 
reaching crisis point)

Young people, text YM to 85258

Parents Helpline 0808 802 5544

https://youngminds.org.uk/

P
age 323

http://www.rnid.org.uk
mailto:information%40rnid.org.uk?subject=


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 325

Agenda Item 8
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3, 4, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 327

Agenda Item 9
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 335

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 To approve the minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Fourth Quarter Financial, Procurement & Performance Review 2020/21
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C

	5 Update on Air Quality Monitoring
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3

	6 Anti-Social Behaviour
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Introduction
	This booklet
	What is antisocial behaviour?
	What can I do?
	Let the person know that they are causing
you a problem
	Collect Evidence
	Report it
	Personal legal action


	Think about the effect your behaviour has on others
	If you’ve been accused of antisocial behaviour

	Where can I get help?
	Serious and criminal behaviour
	Abandoned vehicles
	Abuse of vulnerable adults
	Arson
	Bogus callers 
	Bonfires
	Boundary disputes
	Child Abuse
	Cruelty to animals
	Dangerous Dogs
	Domestic CCTV 
	Fireworks 
	Fixing or selling cars on the street
	Fly-posting
	Fly-tipping
	Graffiti
	Hate crime
(including racial harassment) and hate incidents
	Harmful weeds and non-native plants
	High Hedges
	HPBC Housing Tenants
	Litter
	Messy gardens
	Neighbour disputes
	Noise 
	Nuisance caused by dogs (dog mess or stray dogs)
	Parking issues
	Planning Disputes
	Problems with roads
	Pubs and other premises licensed to sell alcohol
	Statutory Nuisance (environmental health problem)
	Vandalism
(Criminal Damage)
	Vehicle-related nuisance


	Support for victims
	If you want to stay anonymous
	Derbyshire Smart Alert


	Useful Contacts



	8 To approve the exempt minutes of the previous meeting
	9 Lift Replacement Procurement
	10 Application for write off of non- recoverable debts

